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SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

Our business is subject to numerous material and other risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The principal risks
and uncertainties affecting our business include the following:

• Our business depends heavily on our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ, our lead product, in the United States (“U.S.”) and in other jurisdictions where we may obtain
marketing approval. There is no assurance that our commercialization efforts with respect to LUMRYZ will be successful or that we will be able to generate revenues at the levels or on the
timing we expect, or at levels or on the timing necessary to support our goals.

• Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for LUMRYZ or any future products, if approved, which could make it difficult for us to sell
LUMRYZ or any future products profitably.

• LUMRYZ may not maintain regulatory exclusivities, including orphan drug exclusivity, or the benefits of such exclusivities, which may adversely affect the sales of the product.
• LUMRYZ is subject to ongoing enforcement of post-marketing requirements and we could be subject to substantial penalties, including withdrawal of LUMRYZ from the market, if we fail

to comply with all regulatory requirements. In addition, the terms of the marketing approval of LUMRYZ and ongoing regulation of our product may limit how we manufacture and market
LUMRYZ and compliance with such requirements may involve substantial resources, which could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.

• We incurred a net loss in 2023 and may incur a net loss in 2024; if we are not able to achieve profitability in the future, the value of our shares may fall.
• We may require additional financing, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all, and which may result in dilution of the equity interest of the holders of ordinary shares and

American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”).
• The distribution and sales of LUMRYZ are subject to significant regulatory restrictions, including the requirements of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”) and safety

reporting requirements, and these regulatory requirements subject us to risks and uncertainties, any of which could negatively impact sales of LUMRYZ.
• Disruptions at the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health

concerns could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or
otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

• We rely, and intend to continue to rely, on a limited number of providers for the manufacture and supply of LUMRYZ, and if we experience problems with those suppliers, or they fail to
comply with applicable regulatory requirements or to supply sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, our business would be materially and adversely affected.

• If we cannot adequately protect our intellectual property and proprietary information, we may be unable to effectively compete.
• If we are unable to maintain effective sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, or maintain agreements with third parties to market, sell and distribute LUMRYZ, our business, results of

operations, financial condition and prospects will be materially and adversely affected.
• We cannot be certain that any product candidates will receive marketing approval. Without marketing approval, we will not be able to commercialize any product candidates.
• We may become involved in lawsuits to protect our products and/or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming and/or unsuccessful.
• The price of ADSs representing our ordinary shares has been volatile and may continue to be volatile.
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Cautionary Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Any statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical
facts and may be forward-looking. These statements are often, but are not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “projects,” “potential,” “continue,” and similar expressions, or the negative of these terms, or similar expressions. Accordingly, these statements
involve estimates, assumptions, risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in them. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their
entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout this prospectus, and in particular those factors referenced in the section “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. These
statements relate to future events or our future financial performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• Our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ (sodium oxybate) in the U.S. for the treatment of cataplexy or excessive daytime sleepiness (“EDS”) in adults with narcolepsy;
• Our plans with respect to our commercial infrastructure and marketing, market access and commercial activities;
• Our ability to maintain and receive additional regulatory approvals for LUMRYZ in any other jurisdictions outside the U.S., and any related restrictions, limitations, and/or warnings in the

label of LUMRYZ;
• Our expectations regarding the rate and degree of market acceptance for LUMRYZ;
• Our ability to enter into strategic partnerships for the commercialization, manufacturing and distribution of LUMRYZ in the U.S.;
• Our reliance on a single product, LUMRYZ;
• Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers for the manufacturing of LUMRYZ and certain raw materials used in LUMRYZ and any failure of such suppliers to deliver sufficient

quantities of these raw materials, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, including commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S.;
• Our ability to finance our operations on acceptable terms, either through the raising of capital, the incurrence of convertible or other indebtedness, issuance of equity, royalty-based

financings, or through strategic financing or commercialization partnerships;
• Our expectations regarding the pricing and reimbursement of, and the extent to which patient financial assistance programs are utilized for, LUMRYZ;
• Our expectations about the potential market size and market participation for LUMRYZ;
• Our expectations regarding litigation related to LUMRYZ;
• Our expectations regarding our cash runway to support the commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S.;
• The potential impacts of inflation and rising interest rates on our business and future operating results;
• Our ability to hire and retain key members of our leadership team and other personnel;
• The potential impacts due to global political instability and conflicts, such as terrorism, civil unrest, war and natural disasters in foreign countries on our business, financial condition and

results of operations; and
• Competition existing today or that may arise in the future.

These forward-looking statements are neither promises nor guarantees of future performance due to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other factors more fully discussed in the “Risk Factors”
section in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the risk factors and cautionary statements described in other documents that we file from time to time with the SEC. Given these
uncertainties, readers should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which the statements were made and are not
guarantees of future performance. Except as may be required by applicable law, we do not undertake to update any forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report or the respective
dates of documents incorporated by reference herein or therein that include forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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NOTE REGARDING TRADEMARKS

We own various trademark registrations and applications, and unregistered trademarks, including, but not limited to, AVADEL , LUMRYZ  and RYZUP . Trade names, trademarks and service
marks of other companies appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders. Solely for convenience, the trademarks and trade names in this Annual Report may be referred
to without the ® and ™ symbols, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights thereto.
We do not intend to use or display other companies’ trademarks and trade names to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies.

From time to time, we may use our website, LinkedIn or our X, formerly known as Twitter, account (@AvadelPharma) to distribute material information. Our financial and other material information
is routinely posted to and accessible on the Investors section of our website, available at www.avadel.com. Investors are encouraged to review the Investors section of our website because we may
post material information on that site that is not otherwise disseminated by us. Information that is contained in and can be accessed through our website, our LinkedIn posts or our Twitter posts are
not incorporated into, and does not form a part of, this Annual Report.

TM TM TM
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PART I 

Item 1.        Business. 

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per-share amounts and as otherwise noted)

General Overview

Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (Nasdaq: AVDL) (“Avadel,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) is a biopharmaceutical company. LUMRYZ is an extended-release formulation of sodium oxybate
indicated to be taken once at bedtime for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy.

As of the date of this Annual Report, LUMRYZ is the only commercialized product in our portfolio. We continue to evaluate opportunities to expand our product portfolio.

LUMRYZ

LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA on May 1, 2023 for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. In approving LUMRYZ, the FDA required a REMS for LUMRYZ to help
ensure that the benefits of the drug in the treatment of cataplexy and EDS in adults with narcolepsy outweigh the risks of serious adverse outcomes resulting from inappropriate prescribing, misuse,
abuse, and diversion of the drug. Under this REMS, healthcare providers who prescribe the drug must be specially certified; pharmacies that dispense the drug must be specially certified; and the drug
must be dispensed only to patients who have enrolled in the LUMRYZ REMS and completed all REMS requirements including documentation of safe use conditions, among other requirements.
Additionally, with its approval, the FDA also granted seven years of orphan drug exclusivity to LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy due to a finding of clinical
superiority of LUMRYZ relative to currently marketed oxybate treatments. In particular, the FDA found that LUMRYZ makes a major contribution to patient care over currently marketed, twice-
nightly oxybate treatments by providing a once-nightly dosing regimen that avoids nocturnal arousal to take a second dose. The orphan exclusivity will continue until May 1, 2030. In June 2023, we
announced the U.S. commercial launch of LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults living with narcolepsy.

Numerous LUMRYZ-related U.S. patents have been issued having expiration dates spanning from mid-2037 to early-2042, and there are additional patent applications currently in development
and/or pending at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”), as well as foreign patent offices. We currently have numerous Orange Book listed patents.

We submitted a Supplemental New Drug Application (“sNDA”) for LUMRYZ in the pediatric narcolepsy population in November 2023. The sNDA was accepted by the FDA in January 2024 and an
approval decision is expected in September 2024.

With respect to clinical data generated for LUMRYZ, we conducted a Phase 3 clinical trial of LUMRYZ (the “REST-ON trial”), which was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study that
enrolled 212 patients who received at least one dose of LUMRYZ or placebo, and was conducted in clinical sites in the U.S., Canada, Western Europe and Australia. Positive top line data from the
REST-ON trial were announced on April 27, 2020.

Additionally, our open-label extension/switch study of LUMRYZ (“RESTORE”) examined the long-term safety and maintenance of efficacy of LUMRYZ in patients with narcolepsy who
participated in the REST-ON trial, as well as dosing and preference data for patients who switched from twice-nightly sodium oxybate to once-at-bedtime LUMRYZ, regardless of whether they
participated in the REST-ON trial. In May 2021, inclusion criteria were expanded to allow for oxybate naïve patients to enter the study. An interim safety analysis from the ongoing RESTORE study
showed that LUMRYZ has generally been well-tolerated, with some patients receiving therapy for more than 18 months. In addition, interim data from RESTORE were presented demonstrating that
a high proportion of patients switching from twice-nightly oxybate formulations had difficulty in taking the second dose, with a high proportion (92.5%) stating a preference for the once-at-bedtime
dosing regimen and that most participants switching from twice-nightly oxybate formulations had a stable dose equal to their starting dose. Subsequent interim data showed a preference (94.0%) for
the once-at-bedtime dosing regimen. The last patient visit occurred in October 2023.

A discrete choice experiment (“DCE”) showed that once-at-bedtime dosing, when compared to twice-nightly dosing, was the most important attribute driving both patient and clinician preference for
overall oxybate product choice, as well as patient quality of life and reduction of patient anxiety/stress; dosing frequency (twice-nightly versus once-at-bedtime) was also viewed as a more important
attribute as compared to other attributes assessed, including sodium content. Accompanying the DCE was a
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background survey for both patients and clinicians, which showed that dosing frequency was noted as a significant stressor by both patients and clinicians.

Additional peer-reviewed publications have included data on improvement on disturbed nocturnal sleep (“DNS”), the first DCE and a Plain Language Summary reviewing sodium oxybate and
cardiovascular health, which did not identify a signal of cardiovascular disease in the over twenty years that sodium oxybate has been available.

At the 2023 SLEEP meeting, additional LUMRYZ data, including post-hoc analyses from the pivotal REST-ON trial, interim data from the open-label RESTORE study and real-world evidence
regarding sodium oxybate utilization and co-morbidities were presented. At the World Sleep meeting in October 2023, these data were presented as encores, along with new post-hoc analyses from
the REST-ON trial showing additional clinical efficacy data for LUMRYZ.

A second DCE among clinicians was published in May 2023, showing the dosing regimen was the most important driver of choice, with once-nightly preferred. Post-hoc analyses of narcolepsy Type
1 (“NT1”) and Type 2 (“NT2”) were also published, demonstrating consistent improvements regardless of narcolepsy type. A third plain language summary has been published; most recently
evaluated the improvements of LUMRYZ on DNS.

We believe LUMRYZ has the potential to demonstrate improved dosing compliance, safety, and patient satisfaction over other treatment options for cataplexy or EDS in patients with narcolepsy.

Our Drug Delivery Technologies

We own drug delivery technologies that address formulation challenges, potentially allowing the development of differentiated drug products for administration in various forms (e.g., capsules,
tablets, sachets or liquid suspensions for oral use; or injectables for subcutaneous administration) that could be applied to a broad range of drugs.

A brief discussion of each of our drug delivery technologies is set forth below.

• MICROPUMP. Our MICROPUMP technology allows for the development of modified release solid, oral dosage formulations of drugs. A version of our MICROPUMP technology is being
employed in LUMRYZ.

• LIQUITIME. Our LIQUITIME technology allows for development of modified release oral products in a liquid suspension formulation, which may make such formulations particularly well
suited for children and/or patients having issues swallowing tablets or capsules. Although we own this technology, we are currently not pursuing any commercial pharmaceutical drug
development opportunities using it.

• MEDUSA. Our MEDUSA technology allows for the development of modified-release injectable dosage formulations of drugs (e.g., peptides, polypeptides, proteins, and small molecules).
Although we own this technology, we are currently not pursuing any commercial pharmaceutical drug development opportunities using it.

Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry continues to be intense and is expected to increase. We compete with academic laboratories, research institutions, universities, joint
ventures, and other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including other companies who have approved, or who are developing, niche branded or generic specialty pharmaceutical products
or drug delivery platforms. Furthermore, major technological changes can happen quickly in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Such rapid technological change, or the development by
our competitors of technologically improved or differentiated products, could render our products, product candidates, or drug delivery platforms obsolete or noncompetitive.

LUMRYZ competes with twice-nightly oxybate formulations, as well as a number of daytime wake promoting agents including lisdexamfetamine, detroamphetamine, methylphenidate, amphetamine,
modafinil, and armodafinil, which are widely prescribed, as well as solriamfetol and pitolisant. Generic pharmaceutical products will continue to play a large role in the U.S. healthcare system.
LUMRYZ may face competition from manufacturers of generic twice-nightly oxybate formulations. In January 2023, Hikma Pharmaceuticals plc, announced that it launched an authorized generic
version of Jazz Pharmaceuticals plc’s (“Jazz”) Xyrem (sodium oxybate). In July 2023, Amneal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced that it launched an authorized generic version of Jazz’s Xyrem
(sodium oxybate).
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In addition, there are other products in development that may be approved in the future that could have an impact on the narcolepsy treatment market, including, for example, reboxetine, orexin 2
receptor agonists, flecainide / modafinil combination, histamine H3 antagonists/inverse agonists, or GABAB agonists.

Corporate Information

The Company was incorporated on December 1, 2015 as an Irish private limited company, and re-registered as an Irish public limited company, or plc, on November 21, 2016. Our registered address
is at 10 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, Ireland and our phone number is +353-1-901-5201. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Our website is www.avadel.com, where we make available free of charge our reports (and any exhibits and amendments thereto)
on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. These filings are also available to the public at www.sec.gov. We do
not incorporate the information on or accessible through our website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We currently have five direct wholly-owned subsidiaries: (a) Avadel US Holdings, Inc., (b) Flamel Ireland Limited, which conducts business under the name Avadel Ireland, (c) Avadel Investment
Company Limited, (d) Avadel Finance Ireland Designated Activity Company and (e) Avadel France Holding SAS. Avadel US Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is the holding entity of (i)
Avadel Legacy Pharmaceuticals, LLC, (ii) Avadel Management Corporation, and (iii) Avadel CNS Pharmaceuticals, LLC. Avadel Finance Ireland Designated Activity Company is the holding entity
of Avadel Finance Cayman Limited. Avadel France Holding SAS is the holding entity of Avadel Research SAS. A complete list of our subsidiaries can be found in Exhibit 21.1 to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Intellectual Property

Parts of our product pipeline and strategic alliances utilize our drug delivery platforms and related products of which certain features are the subject of patents or patent applications. We seek patent
protection for our inventions and also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to maintain and develop competitive positions.

• Numerous LUMRYZ-related U.S. patents have been issued having expiration dates spanning from mid-2037 to early-2042, and there are additional patent applications currently in
development and/or pending at the USPTO, as well as foreign patent offices.

The patent positions of biopharmaceutical companies like us are generally uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions. In addition, the coverage claimed in a patent
application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and patent scope can be reinterpreted by the courts after issuance. Moreover, many jurisdictions permit third parties to challenge
issued patents in administrative proceedings, which may result in further narrowing or even cancellation of patent claims. We cannot predict whether the patent applications we are currently pursuing
will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any of our licensed or owned patents will provide sufficient protection from competitors. Any of our licensed or owned
patents may be challenged, circumvented, or invalidated by third parties. For more information, please see the information set forth under the caption “Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property – If
we cannot adequately protect our intellectual property and proprietary information, we may be unable to effectively compete” in the “Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Supplies and Manufacturing

We attempt to maintain multiple suppliers in order to mitigate the risk of shortfall and inability to supply market demand. For LUMRYZ, we currently rely on two suppliers for sourcing our active
pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”).

The API in LUMRYZ, sodium oxybate, is a Schedule I controlled substance in the U.S., and the finished FDA-approved formulation of LUMRYZ is a Schedule III controlled substance in the U.S.
per current federal regulations. As a result, LUMRYZ is subject to regulation by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) under the Controlled Substances Act (“CSA”), and its
manufacturing and distribution are highly restricted. Quotas from the DEA are required in order to manufacture both sodium oxybate and LUMRYZ in the U.S. Similar rules, restrictions and controls
would apply to LUMRYZ in the event LUMRYZ is marketed outside of the U.S.

The API for LUMRYZ is currently manufactured by two source contract development and manufacturing organizations (“CDMOs”) in the U.S. The LUMRYZ drug product for commercial lots is
manufactured by one source CDMO in the U.S. and
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one source CDMO outside of the U.S. We expect to continue to outsource the production of sodium oxybate and drug product for LUMRYZ to current good manufacturing practices (“cGMP”) -
compliant, DEA- and FDA-audited CDMOs pursuant to supply agreements. We may establish supply relationships with additional CDMOs to manufacture API and/or LUMRYZ.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the U.S. at the federal, state, and local level and in other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research and clinical development, testing, manufacture,
quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, marketing, pricing, and export and import of drug
products, such as those we are developing. Generally, before a new drug can be marketed, considerable data demonstrating its quality, safety, and efficacy must be obtained, organized into a format
specific to each regulatory authority, submitted for review, and approved by the regulatory authority.

Drugs are also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and regulations. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local, and
foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements at any time during the product
development process, approval process, or after approval, may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include, among other actions, the regulatory
authority's refusal to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, clinical holds, untitled or warning letters, voluntary product recalls or withdrawals from the market, product seizures,
total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, debarment, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement, or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial
enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

U.S. Drug Development

In the U.S., the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and its implementing regulations. Drugs are also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and
regulations. Drug candidates must be approved by the FDA through the New Drug Application (“NDA”) process before they may be legally marketed in the U.S. The process required by the FDA
before a drug may be marketed in the U.S. generally involves the following:

• completion of extensive preclinical, sometimes referred to as nonclinical, laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies all performed in accordance with applicable regulations,
including the FDA's good laboratory practice (“GLP”) regulations;

• submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”), which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin and must be updated annually;

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with applicable IND and other clinical trial-related regulations, sometimes referred to as good clinical
practices (“GCPs”) to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its proposed indication;

• submission to the FDA of an NDA for a new drug;

• a determination by the FDA to file the NDA for review;

• satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the API and finished drug product are produced to assess compliance with the
FDA's cGMP requirements;

• potential FDA audit of the clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the NDA;

• payment of user fees for FDA review of the NDA; and

• FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the U.S.

The data required to support an NDA are generated in two distinct development stages: preclinical and clinical. The preclinical development stage generally involves synthesizing the active
component, developing the formulation, and determining the manufacturing process, as well as carrying out non-human toxicology, pharmacology, and drug metabolism studies in the laboratory,
which support subsequent clinical testing. The conduct of the preclinical tests must comply with federal regulations, including GLPs. The sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests,
together with manufacturing information,
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analytical data, any available clinical data or literature, and a proposed clinical protocol, to the FDA as part of the IND. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an
investigational drug product to humans. The central focus of an IND submission is on patient safety and the general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for human trials. The IND automatically
becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA raises concerns or questions regarding the proposed clinical trials and places the IND on clinical hold within that 30-day time
period. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before the clinical trial can begin. The FDA also may impose a partial clinical hold that
would limit a trial, for example, to certain doses, for a certain length of time or to a certain number of subjects. The FDA may also impose clinical holds on a drug candidate at any time before or
during clinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that submission of an IND will result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to begin, or that, once begun,
issues will not arise that could cause the trial to be suspended or terminated.

The clinical stage of development involves the administration of the drug candidate to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators, generally physicians not employed by or under
the trial sponsor's control, in accordance with GCPs, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials
are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject selection, and exclusion criteria, and the parameters to be used to monitor
subject safety and assess efficacy. Each protocol, and any subsequent amendments to the protocol, must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Further, each clinical trial must be reviewed and
approved by an independent institutional review board (“IRB”) at or servicing each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted. An IRB is charged with protecting the welfare and rights of
trial participants and considers such items as whether the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also
approves the informed consent form that must be provided to each clinical trial subject or his or her legal representative and must monitor the clinical trial until completed. There are also
requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinical trial results to public registries.

Clinical trials are generally conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined, known as Phase 1, Phase 2, and Phase 3 trials. Phase 1 trials generally involve a small number of
healthy volunteers who are initially exposed to a single dose and then multiple doses of the drug candidate. The primary purpose of these clinical trials is to assess the metabolism, pharmacologic
action, side effects, tolerability, and safety of the drug. Phase 2 clinical trials typically involve studies in disease-affected patients to determine the dose required to produce the desired benefits. At the
same time, safety and further pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics information is collected, as well as identification of possible adverse effects and safety risks and preliminary evaluation of
efficacy. Phase 3 trials generally involve large numbers of patients at multiple sites (from several hundred to several thousand subjects) and are designed to provide the data necessary to demonstrate
the efficacy of the drug for its intended use, its safety in use, and to establish the overall benefit/risk relationship of the drug and provide an adequate basis for physician labeling. The duration of
treatment is often extended to mimic the actual use of a drug during marketing. Generally, two adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 trials are required by the FDA for approval of an NDA. Post-
approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. These trials are used to gain additional experience from the treatment of patients in
the intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials.

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to the FDA. Additionally, written IND safety reports must be submitted to both the FDA and the qualified
investigators for serious and unexpected adverse reactions, any findings from other clinical studies, tests in laboratory animals, in vitro testing that suggests a significant risk for human subjects, or
any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure. The sponsor must submit an IND safety report within 15
calendar days after the sponsor determines that the information qualifies for reporting. The sponsor also must notify the FDA of any unexpected fatal or life-threatening suspected adverse reaction
within seven calendar days after the sponsor's initial receipt of the information. Phase 1, Phase 2, and Phase 3 trials may not be completed successfully within any specified period, if at all. There also
are requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinical trial results to public registries. Information about certain clinical trials, including clinical trial results, must
be submitted within specific timeframes for publication on the www.clinicaltrials.gov website.

The FDA, the IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are being exposed to
an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the IRB's requirements
or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial
sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain
data from the trial. We may also suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives and/or competitive climate. Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete
additional animal
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studies and must also develop additional information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug as well as finalize a process for manufacturing the drug in commercial quantities in
accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the drug candidate and, among other things, cGMPs impose extensive
procedural, substantive, and recordkeeping requirements to ensure and preserve the long-term stability and quality of the final drug product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and
tested, and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the drug candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life.

NDA and the FDA Review Process

Following trial completion, trial data are analyzed to assess safety and efficacy. The results of preclinical studies and clinical trials are then submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA, along with
proposed labeling for the drug and information about the manufacturing process and facilities that will be used to ensure drug quality, results of analytical testing conducted on the chemistry of the
drug, and other relevant information. The NDA is a request for approval to market the drug and must contain adequate evidence of safety and efficacy, which is demonstrated by extensive preclinical
and clinical testing. Data may come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and efficacy of a use of a drug, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies
initiated by investigators. To support marketing approval, the data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and efficacy of the investigational drug product for a
particular indication or indications to the satisfaction of the FDA. FDA approval of an NDA must be obtained before a drug may be offered for sale in the U.S.

Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“PDUFA”), as amended, each NDA must be accompanied by a user fee. The FDA adjusts the PDUFA user fees on an annual basis. PDUFA also imposes
an annual prescription drug product program fee for human drugs. Fee waivers or reductions are available in certain circumstances, including a waiver of the application fee for the first application
filed by a small business. Additionally, no user fees are assessed on NDAs for products designated as orphan drugs, unless the product also includes a non-orphan indication.

Within 60 days following submission of an original NDA, the FDA reviews the application to determine if it is substantially complete before the agency accepts it for filing. The FDA may refuse to
file any NDA that it deems incomplete or not properly reviewable at the time of submission, including for failure to pay required fees, and may request additional information. In this event, the
application must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application also is subject to review before the FDA accepts it for filing. The FDA typically makes a decision on
whether to accept an NDA for filing within 60 days of receipt. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth, substantive review of the NDA. Under the performance goals
established under the PDUFA, the FDA has agreed to review 90% of standard NDAs for new molecular entities (“NMEs”) in ten months from the filing date and 90% of priority NME NDAs in six
months from the filing date. The goals for reviewing standard and priority non-NME NDAs are ten months and six months, respectively, measured from the receipt date of the application. The FDA
does not always meet its PDUFA goal dates for standard and priority NDAs, and the review process is often significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification.

After the NDA submission is accepted for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed drug is safe and effective for its intended use, and whether the
drug is being manufactured in accordance with cGMP to assure and preserve the drug's identity, strength, quality, and purity. The FDA may refer applications for novel drugs or drug candidates that
present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation, and a recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making
decisions. In the course of its review, the FDA may re-analyze the clinical trial data, which could result in extensive discussions between the FDA and the applicant during the review process. The
review and evaluation of an NDA by the FDA is extensive and time consuming and may take longer than originally planned to complete.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA typically conducts a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities for the new drug to determine whether they comply with cGMPs. The FDA will not
approve the drug unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the drug within
required specifications. In addition, before approving an NDA, the FDA may also audit data from clinical trials to ensure compliance with GCP requirements. After the FDA evaluates the application,
manufacturing process, and manufacturing facilities where the drug product and/or its API will be produced, it may issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter. An approval letter
authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete
and the application is not ready for approval. A Complete Response Letter usually describes all of the specific deficiencies in the NDA identified by the FDA. The Complete Response Letter may
require additional clinical data and/or additional pivotal clinical trial(s), and/or other significant, expensive and time-consuming requirements related to clinical trials, preclinical studies, or
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manufacturing. If a Complete Response Letter is issued, the applicant may either resubmit the NDA, addressing all of the deficiencies identified in the letter, challenge the determination set forth in
the letter by requesting a hearing, or withdraw the application. Even if such data and information are submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval.
Data obtained from clinical trials are not always conclusive and the FDA may interpret the same data differently than the applicant.

There is no assurance that the FDA will ultimately approve a drug product for marketing in the U.S. If a drug receives marketing approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific
diseases, dosages, or patient subgroups, or the indications for use may otherwise be limited, which could restrict the commercial value of the drug. Further, the FDA may require that certain
contraindications, warnings, precautions, or adverse events be included in the drug labeling or may condition the approval of the NDA on other changes to the proposed labeling, development of
adequate controls and specifications, or a commitment to conduct post-marketing testing or clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor the effects of approved drugs. For example, the FDA may
require Phase 4 testing which involves clinical trials designed to further assess a drug's safety and may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the safety of approved drugs that have
been commercialized. The FDA may also place other conditions on approvals including the requirement for a REMS to assure the safe use of the drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the
sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician
communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries, and other risk minimization tools. Any of these limitations on approval or marketing
could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription, or dispensing of drugs. Drug approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance with regulatory standards or if problems occur
following initial marketing.

Pediatric Information and Exclusivity

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), as amended, an NDA or supplement to an NDA for a drug that includes a new active ingredient, new indication, new dosage form, new dosing
regimen, or new route of administration must contain data to assess the safety and efficacy of the drug for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and
administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safe and effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for submission of data or full or partial waivers.

A sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a drug subject to PREA must submit an initial Pediatric Study Plan (“PSP”) within 60 days of an end-of-Phase 2 meeting or as may
be agreed between the sponsor and the FDA. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans to conduct, including study objectives and design, age
groups, relevant endpoints, and statistical approach, or a justification for not including such detailed information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of
the requirement to provide data from pediatric studies along with supporting information. The FDA and the sponsor must reach agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can submit amendments to an
agreed-upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be considered based on data collected from preclinical studies, early phase clinical trials, and/or other clinical development
programs.

A drug product can also obtain pediatric exclusivity in the U.S., which is another type of regulatory market exclusivity in the U.S. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, adds an additional six months to
existing exclusivity periods and patent terms. This six-month exclusivity, which runs from the end of other exclusivity protection or patent term, may be granted based on the voluntary completion of
a pediatric trial in accordance with an FDA-issued written request for such a trial.

Orphan Drug Designation

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S., or if it affects 200,000 or more individuals in
the U.S., there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and marketing the drug for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales in the U.S. Orphan drug designation
entitles a party to potential financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages, and user-fee waivers. In addition, if a product receives the first FDA
approval for the indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same
drug for the same indication for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity.

Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet
the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an application for marketing approval. Orphan drug designation does not convey
any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.
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505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

As an alternative path to FDA approval for modifications to formulations or uses of products previously approved by the FDA pursuant to an NDA, an applicant may submit an NDA under Section
505(b)(2) of the FDCA. Section 505(b)(2) was enacted as part of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments and permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval
comes from studies not conducted by, or for, the applicant, and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference. In addition, if the 505(b)(2) applicant can establish that reliance on the
FDA’s previous findings of safety and effectiveness is scientifically and legally appropriate, it may eliminate the need to conduct certain preclinical studies or clinical trials of the new product. The
FDA may also require companies to perform additional bridging studies or measurements, including clinical trials, to support the change from the previously approved reference drug. The FDA may
then approve the new drug candidate for all, or some, of the label indications for which the reference drug has been approved, as well as for any new indication sought by the 505(b)(2) applicant.

Post-Marketing Requirements

Following approval of a new drug, a pharmaceutical company and the approved drug are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, establishment registration and
drug listing, monitoring and recordkeeping activities, reporting to the applicable regulatory authorities of adverse events with the drug, providing the regulatory authorities with updated safety and
efficacy information, drug sampling and distribution requirements, and complying with promotion and advertising requirements, which include, among others, standards for direct-to-consumer
advertising, restrictions on promoting drugs for uses or in patient populations that are not described in the drug’s approved labeling (known as off-label promotion), limitations on industry-sponsored
scientific and educational activities, and requirements for promotional activities involving the internet. Although physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for off-label uses, the FDA takes the
position that manufacturers may not market or promote such off-label uses. Modifications or enhancements to the drug or its labeling or changes of the site or process of manufacture are often subject
to the approval of the FDA and other regulators, which may or may not be received or may result in a lengthy review process.

Prescription drug advertising is subject to federal, state, and foreign regulations. In the U.S., the FDA regulates prescription drug promotion, including direct-to-consumer advertising. Prescription
drug promotional materials must be submitted to the FDA in conjunction with their first use. Any distribution of prescription drugs and pharmaceutical samples must comply with the U.S.
Prescription Drug Marketing Act (“PDMA”), a part of the FDCA. The Drug Supply Chain Security Act (“DSCSA”) was enacted in 2013 with the aim of building an electronic system to identify and
trace certain prescription drugs distributed in the U.S. The DSCSA mandates phased-in and resource-intensive obligations for pharmaceutical manufacturers, wholesale distributors, and dispensers
over a 10-year period that culminated in November 2023. The FDA established a one-year stabilization period from November 2023 to November 2024 for trading partners to continue to build and
validate interoperable systems and processes to meet certain requirements of the DSCSA. The law’s requirements include the quarantine and prompt investigation of a suspect product to determine if
it is illegitimate, and notifying trading partners and the FDA of any illegitimate product. Drug manufacturers and other parties involved in the supply chain for prescription drug products must also
comply with product tracking and tracking requirements, such as placing a unique product identifier on prescription drug packages. This identifier consists of the National Drug Code, serial number,
lot number, and expiration date, in the form of a 2-dimensional data matrix barcode that can be read by humans and machines.

In the U.S., once a drug is approved, its manufacture is subject to comprehensive and continuing regulation by the FDA. FDA regulations require that drugs be manufactured in specific facilities per
the NDA approval and in accordance with cGMP. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical and commercial quantities of our approved drug and drug
candidates in accordance with cGMP regulations. cGMP regulations require among other things, quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and
documentation and the obligation to investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are
required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP
and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. These regulations also
impose certain organizational, procedural, and documentation requirements with respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities. NDA holders using contract manufacturers, laboratories, or
packagers are responsible for the selection and monitoring of qualified firms, and, in certain circumstances, qualified suppliers to these firms. These firms and, where applicable, their suppliers are
subject to inspections by the FDA at any time, and the discovery of violative conditions, including failure to conform to cGMP, could result in enforcement actions that interrupt the operation of any
such facilities or the ability to distribute drugs manufactured, processed, or tested by them.
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The FDA may issue enforcement letters or withdraw the approval of the product if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the drug or
biologic reaches the market. Corrective action could delay drug or biologic distribution and require significant time and financial expenditures. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with
a drug or biologic, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may require revisions to the
approved labeling to add new safety information, including the addition of new warning and contraindications; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or
imposition of distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• mandated corrective advertising or communications with doctors;

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the drug or biologic, suspension of the approval, complete withdrawal of the drug from the market or product recalls;

• fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

• refusal of the FDA to approve applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or revocation of drug or biologic approvals;

• drug or biologic seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of drugs; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

U.S. Marketing Exclusivity

Marketing exclusivity provisions under the FDCA can delay the submission or the approval of certain marketing applications for competing products. The FDCA provides a five-year period of non-
patent marketing exclusivity within the U.S. to the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any
other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an
abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”) or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for another drug based on the same active moiety, regardless of whether the drug is intended for the
same indication as the original innovator drug or for another indication. However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement
to one of the patents listed with the FDA by the innovator NDA holder. The FDCA also provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA, if new clinical
investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application, for example new
indications, dosages, or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the modification for which the drug received approval on the basis of the new clinical investigations and
does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) applications for drugs containing the active agent for the original indication or condition of use. Five-year and three-year exclusivity
will not delay the submission or approval of a full NDA. However, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of reference to all of the preclinical studies and
adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Other Regulatory Matters

Manufacturing, sales, promotion, and other activities following drug approval are also subject to regulation by numerous regulatory authorities in addition to the FDA, including, in the U.S., the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), the DEA for controlled substances, the Consumer Product
Safety Commission, the Federal Trade Commission, the Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, and state and local governments. In the U.S., sales,
marketing, and scientific/educational programs must also comply with state and federal fraud and abuse laws. Pricing and rebate programs must comply with the Medicaid rebate requirements of the
U.S. Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 and more recent requirements in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of
2010 (or collectively, the “ACA”). If drugs are made available to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule of the General Services Administration, additional laws and requirements apply. The
handling of any controlled substances must comply with the U.S. Controlled Substances Act and Controlled Substances Import and Export Act. Drugs must meet applicable child-resistant packaging
requirements under the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act. Manufacturing, sales, promotion, and other activities are also potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair
competition laws.
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We are subject to numerous foreign, federal, state, and local environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage,
treatment, and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. In addition, our leasing and operation of real property may subject us to liability pursuant to certain U.S. environmental laws and
regulations, under which current or previous owners or operators of real property and entities that disposed or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances may be held strictly, jointly, and
severally liable for the cost of investigating or remediating contamination caused by hazardous substance releases, even if they did not know of and were not responsible for the releases.

The distribution of pharmaceutical drugs is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage, and security requirements intended to prevent
the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical drugs.

The failure to comply with regulatory requirements subjects firms to possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements can result
in criminal prosecution, fines, or other penalties, injunctions, voluntary recall or seizure of drugs, total or partial suspension of production, denial or withdrawal of product approvals, or refusal to
allow a firm to enter into supply contracts, including government contracts. In addition, even if a firm complies with the FDA and other requirements, new information regarding the safety or efficacy
of a product could lead the FDA to modify or withdraw product approval. Prohibitions or restrictions on sales or withdrawal of our approved drug or any future products marketed by us could
materially affect our business in an adverse way.

Changes in regulations, statutes, or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example: (i) changes to our manufacturing arrangements; (ii)
additions or modifications to product labeling; (iii) the recall or discontinuation of our product; or (iv) additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could
adversely affect the operation of our business.

Other Regulation

Controlled Substances Regulations

Narcotics and other APIs, such as sodium oxybate, are “controlled substances” under the CSA. The CSA Title II of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, regulates the
manufacture and distribution of narcotics and other controlled substances, including stimulants, depressants and hallucinogens in the U.S. The CSA is administered by the DEA, a division of the U.S.
Department of Justice, and is intended to prevent the abuse or diversion of controlled substances into illicit channels of commerce. The DEA classifies controlled substances into five schedules.
Schedule I substances by definition have a high potential for abuse, have no currently “accepted medical use” in the U.S., lack accepted safety for use under medical supervision, and may not be
prescribed, marketed or sold in the U.S. Pharmaceutical products approved for use in the U.S. may be listed as Schedule II, III, IV or V, with Schedule II substances considered to present the highest
potential for abuse or dependence and Schedule V substances the lowest relative risk of abuse. The API in LUMRYZ, sodium oxybate, is a Schedule I controlled substance in the U.S., and the FDA-
approved LUMRYZ product is a Schedule III controlled substance in the U.S.

For drugs manufactured in the U.S., the DEA establishes annually an aggregate quota for the amount of substances within Schedules I and II that may be manufactured or produced in the U.S. based
on the DEA’s estimate of the quantity needed to meet legitimate medical, scientific, research and industrial needs. The quotas apply equally to the manufacturing of the API and production of dosage
forms. The DEA may adjust aggregate production quotas a few times per year, and individual manufacturing or procurement quotas from time to time during the year, although the DEA has
substantial discretion in whether to make such adjustments for individual companies.

The DEA limits the quantity of certain Schedule I controlled substances that may be manufactured and procured in the U.S. in any given calendar year through a quota system and, as a result, quotas
from the DEA are required in order to manufacture sodium oxybate in the U.S.

The FDA-approved LUMRYZ product is classified as a Schedule III controlled substance and subject to DEA quota requirements as well as state and federal regulations relating to manufacturing,
storage, distribution and physician prescription procedures, including limitations on prescription refills. In addition, the third parties who perform our clinical and commercial manufacturing,
distribution, dispensing and clinical studies for LUMRYZ are required to maintain necessary DEA registrations and state licenses. The DEA periodically inspects facilities for compliance with its
rules and regulations.

Any person or firm that manufactures, distributes, dispenses, imports, or exports any controlled substance (or proposes to do so) must register with the DEA. The applicant must register for a specific
business activity related to controlled substances, including manufacturing or distributing, and may engage in only the activity or activities for which it is registered. The DEA
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conducts periodic inspections of registered establishments that handle controlled substances. Failure to comply with relevant DEA regulations, particularly as manifested in the loss or diversion of
controlled substances, can result in regulatory action including civil penalties, refusal to renew necessary registrations, or proceedings to revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances,
violations can lead to criminal prosecution. In addition to these federal statutory and regulatory obligations, there may be state and local laws and regulations relevant to the handling of controlled
substances or listed chemicals. Governments outside of the U.S. have similar controlled substance laws, regulations and requirements in their respective jurisdictions.

Healthcare Laws

Healthcare providers and third-party payors in the U.S. and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of pharmaceutical products. Arrangements with third-party payors
and customers can expose pharmaceutical manufactures to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute and the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which companies research, sell, market and distribute
pharmaceutical products. In addition, transparency laws and patient privacy laws can apply to the activities of pharmaceutical manufactures. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws
and regulations that can affect a pharmaceutical company’s operations include without limitation:

• The federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or
rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any
good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under the Medicare and Medicaid programs, or other federal healthcare programs. A person or entity can
be found guilty of violating the statute without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services
resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the FCA. Violations are subject to civil and criminal fines and penalties
for each violation, plus up to three times the remuneration involved, imprisonment, and exclusion from government healthcare programs. In addition, the government may assert that a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act or federal civil
monetary penalties. The Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers, and
formulary managers on the other. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, but such exceptions and safe
harbors are drawn narrowly and require strict compliance in order to offer protection;

• The federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the FCA, and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit any person or entity from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, a false, fictitious or fraudulent claim for payment to, or approval by, the federal government or knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record
or statement, including providing inaccurate billing or coding information to customers or promoting a product off-label, material to a false or fraudulent claim to the federal government. As
a result of a modification made by the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, a claim includes “any request or demand” for money or property presented to the federal government.
In addition, manufacturers can be held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or
fraudulent claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the federal government alleging violations of the FCA and to share in
any monetary recovery;

• The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which created federal criminal statutes that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money
or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing
or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services
relating to healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity can be found guilty of violating HIPAA without actual knowledge of the statute or specific
intent to violate it;

• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”), and their respective implementing regulations, which impose, among
other things, specified
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requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information held by covered entities and their business associates as well as their covered
subcontractors. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state
attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in U.S. federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with
pursuing federal civil actions;

• The federal legislation commonly referred to as the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, created under the ACA, and its implementing regulations, which requires certain manufacturers of
drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report
annually to CMS, information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain
other licensed health care practitioners and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;

• Federal government price reporting laws, which require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government programs;

• Federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers; and

• Analogous state laws and regulations, including: state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to our business practices, including, but not limited to, research, distribution,
sales and marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including private insurers; state laws that require pharmaceutical
companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the U.S. federal government, or otherwise
restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state and local laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments
and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; state laws that require the reporting of information related to drug pricing; state and local
laws requiring the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ
from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage and security requirements intended to prevent
the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products.

In the U.S., to help patients afford our approved product, we may utilize programs to assist them, including patient assistance programs and co-pay coupon programs for eligible patients. Government
enforcement agencies have shown increased interest in pharmaceutical companies' product and patient assistance programs, including reimbursement support services, and a number of investigations
into these programs have resulted in significant civil and criminal settlements. In addition, at least one insurer has directed its network pharmacies to no longer accept co-pay coupons for certain
specialty drugs the insurer identified. Our co-pay coupon programs could become the target of similar insurer actions. In addition, in November 2013, the CMS issued guidance to the issuers of
qualified health plans sold through the ACA's marketplaces encouraging such plans to reject patient cost-sharing support from third parties and indicating that the CMS intends to monitor the
provision of such support and may take regulatory action to limit it in the future. The CMS subsequently issued a rule requiring individual market qualified health plans to accept third-party premium
and cost-sharing payments from certain government-related entities. In September 2014, the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) of the HHS issued a Special Advisory Bulletin warning
manufacturers that they may be subject to sanctions under the federal anti-kickback statute and/or civil monetary penalty laws if they do not take appropriate steps to exclude Part D beneficiaries from
using co-pay coupons. Accordingly, companies exclude these Part D beneficiaries from using co-pay coupons. It is possible that changes in insurer policies regarding co-pay coupons and/or the
introduction and enactment of new legislation or regulatory action could restrict or otherwise negatively affect these patient support programs, which could result in fewer patients using affected
products, and therefore could have a material adverse effect on our sales, business, and financial condition.

Third party patient assistance programs that receive financial support from companies have become the subject of enhanced government and regulatory scrutiny. The OIG has established guidelines
that suggest that it is lawful for pharmaceutical manufacturers to make donations to charitable organizations who provide co-pay assistance to Medicare patients, provided that such organizations,
among other things, are bona fide charities, are entirely independent of and not controlled by the manufacturer, provide aid to applicants on a first-come basis according to consistent financial criteria
and do not link aid to use
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of a donor's product. However, donations to patient assistance programs have received some negative publicity and have been the subject of multiple government enforcement actions, related to
allegations regarding their use to promote branded pharmaceutical products over other less costly alternatives. Specifically, in recent years, there have been multiple settlements resulting out of
government claims challenging the legality of their patient assistance programs under a variety of federal and state laws. It is possible that we may make grants to independent charitable foundations
that help financially needy patients with their premium, co-pay, and co-insurance obligations. If we choose to do so, and if we or our vendors or donation recipients are deemed to fail to comply with
relevant laws, regulations or evolving government guidance in the operation of these programs, we could be subject to damages, fines, penalties, or other criminal, civil, or administrative sanctions or
enforcement actions. We cannot ensure that our compliance controls, policies, and procedures will be sufficient to protect against acts of our employees, business partners, or vendors that may violate
the laws or regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Regardless of whether we have complied with the law, a government investigation could impact our business practices, harm our
reputation, divert the attention of management, increase our expenses, and reduce the availability of foundation support for our patients who need assistance.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of any product depend, in part, on the extent to which such product will be covered by third-party payors, such as federal, state, and foreign government healthcare programs, commercial
insurance and managed healthcare organizations, and the level of reimbursement for such product by third-party payors. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to
be provided are made on a plan-by-plan basis. These third-party payors are increasingly reducing coverage and reimbursement for medical products, drugs and services. For products administered
under the supervision of a physician, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often associated with such drugs. Additionally, separate
reimbursement for the product itself or the treatment or procedure in which the product is used may not be available, which may impact physician utilization.

In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, a company may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the
medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of the product, in addition to the costs required to obtain FDA or other comparable regulatory approvals. Additionally, companies may also need to provide
discounts to purchasers, private health plans or government healthcare programs. Nonetheless, product candidates may not be considered medically necessary or cost effective. A decision by a third-
party payor not to cover a product could reduce physician utilization once the product is approved and have a material adverse effect on sales, operations and financial condition. Factors that payors
consider in determining reimbursement are based on whether the product is (i) a covered benefit under its health plan; (ii) safe, effective, and medically necessary; (iii) appropriate for the specific
patient; (iv) cost-effective; and (v) neither experimental nor investigational. Additionally, a third-party payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate
reimbursement rate will be approved. Further, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not assure that other payors will also provide coverage and reimbursement for the
product and the level of coverage and reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor.

The containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of federal, state and foreign governments and the prices of products have been a focus in this effort. Governments have shown significant
interest in implementing cost-containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products. Adoption of price controls and
cost-containment measures and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could further limit a company’s revenue generated from the sale of any
approved products. Coverage policies and third-party payor reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for
which a company or its collaborators receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future. Decreases in third-party reimbursement
for any product or a decision by a third-party payor not to cover a product could reduce physician usage and patient demand for the product and also have a material adverse effect on sales.

Healthcare Reform

In both the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the health care system. Among policy makers and payors in
the U.S. and elsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and/or expanding access. In the
U.S., the pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has been significantly affected by major legislative initiatives. In particular, in 2010, the ACA was enacted, which,
among other things, increased the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, extended the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to utilization of
prescriptions of individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, subjected
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manufacturers to new annual fees and taxes for certain branded prescription drugs, and provided incentives to programs that increase the federal government’s comparative effectiveness research.

In addition, other legislative and regulatory changes have been proposed and adopted in the U.S. since the ACA was enacted:

• The U.S. Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, included aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year. These reductions went into effect on April
1, 2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, will remain in effect through 2031.

• On January 2, 2013, the U.S. American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers and
increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

• On April 13, 2017, CMS published a final rule that gives states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks for insurers in the individual and small group marketplaces, which may have the
effect of relaxing the essential health benefits required under the ACA for plans sold through such marketplaces.

• On May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Act, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for certain patients to access certain investigational new drug
products that have completed a Phase 1 clinical trial and that are undergoing investigation for FDA approval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without
enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded access program. There is no obligation for a pharmaceutical manufacturer to make its drug
products available to eligible patients as a result of the Right to Try Act.

• On May 23, 2019, CMS published a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy for Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020.

• On March 11, 2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 into law, which eliminates the statutory drug rebate cap, currently set at 100% of a drug’s average
manufacturer price, for single source and innovator multiple source drugs, beginning January 1, 2024. Due to the Statutory Pay-As-You-Go Act of 2010, estimated budget deficit increases
resulting from the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, and subsequent legislation, Medicare payments to providers will be further reduced starting in 2025 absent further legislation.

These laws and regulations may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding and otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for our product and any of our product
candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval or the frequency with which any such product or product candidate is prescribed or used.

There has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the U.S. of pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the rising cost of prescription drugs and biologics. In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction
Act of 2022, or the IRA, was signed into law. The IRA includes several provisions that may impact our business, depending on how various aspects of the IRA are implemented. Provisions that may
impact our business include a $2,000 out-of-pocket cap for Medicare Part D beneficiaries, the imposition of new manufacturer financial liability on most drugs in Medicare Part D, permitting the U.S.
government to negotiate Medicare Part B and Part D pricing for certain high-cost drugs and biologics without generic or biosimilar competition, requiring companies to pay rebates to Medicare for
drug prices that increase faster than inflation, and delay until January 1, 2032 the implementation of the HHS rebate rule that would have limited the fees that pharmacy benefit managers can charge.
Further, under the IRA, orphan drugs are exempted from the Medicare drug price negotiation program, but only if they have one orphan designation and for which the only approved indication is for
that disease or condition. If a product receives multiple orphan designations or has multiple approved indications, it may not qualify for the orphan drug exemption. The implementation of the IRA is
currently subject to ongoing litigation challenging the constitutionality of the IRA’s Medicare drug price negotiation program. The effects of the IRA on our business and the healthcare industry in
general is not yet known.

In addition, President Biden has issued multiple executive orders that have sought to reduce prescription drug costs. In February 2023, HHS also issued a proposal in response to an October 2022
executive order from President Biden that includes a proposed prescription drug pricing model that will test whether targeted Medicare payment adjustments will sufficiently incentivize
manufacturers to complete confirmatory trials for drugs approved through the FDA’s accelerated approval pathway. Although a number of these and other proposed measures may require
authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the Biden administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the Biden administration and Congress have
indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs.
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Individual states in the U.S. have also increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement
constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and
bulk purchasing.

Human Capital Resources

At Avadel, the way we work is as important as the results we achieve. Our global organization fosters an entrepreneurial environment, where purpose, innovation, integrity, and collaboration come
together to transform medicines to transform lives. Our organization fosters our culture based on being relentless for patients, having confidence with humility, being courageous, taking insight to
impact and togetherness (the “Avadel Values”). In everything we do, we live the Avadel Values so we can be the best for our patients, our community, and each other. Success for us is defined through
how we improve the lives of patients and how we achieve our objectives as one team.

We are committed to offering employees a rewarding and entrepreneurial work experience where patients are at the center of everything we do. Our people are our greatest competitive advantage, and
our values serve as the foundation of our culture. We consider our relations with our employees to be good and are focused on maintaining a highly engaged and motivated workforce.

Employee Demographics

As of December 31, 2023, we had 154 full-time employees. None of our employees are subject to a union or other collective bargaining agreement. In addition to our employees, we contract with
third parties in certain areas of the business such as clinical, regulatory, and manufacturing. We expect to continue to build and grow our organizational capabilities with a focus on talent attraction,
development, engagement, and retention.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Avadel is committed to fostering a diverse workforce and a culture of inclusion. Avadel pursues fair employment practices in every aspect of its business and is committed to a productive work
environment for its employees. We strive to create a level of connectivity that goes beyond working together. Rooted in the trust we earn every day, our team is inclusive, valuing diverse perspectives
and work every day to lift each other up in pursuit of improving the lives of the patients we serve.

Avadel is committed to facilitating an open, honest, inclusive, transparent, and productive work environment where we work together as ONE team and ONE culture to be our best for patients,
customers, and each other. Avadel is committed to equal employment opportunities and non-discrimination in employment. We believe that all employees and applicants should be treated with
courtesy, dignity, and respect. Avadel does not discriminate in employment on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability, genetic information, marital
status, ancestry, gender, gender identity, pregnancy, status as a covered veteran, or any other characteristic protected by federal, state, and/or local law. It is our intent to comply with federal, state, and
local laws, regulations, and guidelines in our employment practices and in our service to our clients. This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including, but not limited to, hiring,
placement, promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leaves of absence, compensation, and training.

Compensation and Benefits

At Avadel, we prioritize the well-being of our employees by offering a comprehensive benefits package. We know that benefits play an important role in helping to ensure the health and financial
security of our employees.

Our commitment to our employees includes benefit and compensation programs that value the contributions our employees make. We strive to provide pay, benefits, and services that are competitive
and create incentives to attract and retain employees. In addition to competitive pay, we offer bonus and share-based compensation packages for all levels of employees within the organization as well
as a company match for employee retirement programs.

Health and Wellness

Our healthcare plans allow employees to choose what works best for them and their families. We offer competitive health, dental, vision and life insurance for all employees as well as competitive
vacation packages along with time off for holidays and other forms of leave for all employees. Further, we offer a variety of tools allowing employees to prioritize wellness, including retirement
planning, employee stock purchase program, legal services, employee assistance programs, and more.
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Career Growth and Development

We are invested in the development of each of our employees. We provide opportunities to lead and participate in cross-functional teams, coaching, leadership development, and more. We provide
reimbursement to our employees for seminars, conferences and educational and professional training. In alignment with our business strategy, it is our goal to empower all employees to take full
advantage of their professional growth opportunities, to lead them to long-term job satisfaction and organizational success. Through professional development, our employees can broaden their skills
for their current and future roles.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in Avadel involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information included or incorporated by reference in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, before making an investment decision. Avadel’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks.
The market or trading price of Avadel’s securities could decline due to any of these risks. In addition, please read “Cautionary Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, where we describe additional uncertainties associated with Avadel’s business and with the forward-looking statements included or incorporated by reference in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Please note that additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair Avadel’s business and operations.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Lead Product

Our business depends heavily on our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions where we may obtain marketing approval. There is no assurance that
our commercialization efforts with respect to LUMRYZ will be successful or that we will be able to generate revenues at the levels or on the timing we expect, or at levels or on the timing
necessary to support our goals.

In May 2023, LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA for treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. Our business currently depends heavily on our ability to successfully commercialize
LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions where we may obtain marketing approval. We may never be able to successfully
commercialize our product or meet our expectations with respect to revenues. There is no guarantee that the infrastructure, systems, processes, policies, relationships, and materials we have built for
the commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S., or that we may build for other jurisdictions where we may obtain marketing approval, will be sufficient for us to achieve success at the levels we
expect. If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, or if we are unable to do so on commercially reasonable terms,
our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects will be materially adversely affected.

We may encounter issues and challenges in generating sufficient revenues to result in a profit. We may also encounter challenges related to reimbursement of LUMRYZ, including potential
limitations in the scope, breadth, availability, or amount of reimbursement covering LUMRYZ. Similarly, healthcare settings or patients may determine that the financial burdens of treatment are not
acceptable. We may face other limitations or issues related to the price of LUMRYZ. Our results may also be negatively impacted if we have not adequately sized our field teams or our physician
segmentation and targeting strategy is inadequate or if we encounter deficiencies or inefficiencies in our infrastructure or processes. Other factors that may hinder our ability to successfully
commercialize LUMRYZ and generate sufficient revenues to result in a profit, include:

• the acceptance of LUMRYZ by patients and the medical community;
• the differentiation of LUMRYZ from other available approved or investigational drugs and treatments for cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy;
• the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from managed care plans, private insurers, government payors (such as Medicare and Medicaid and similar foreign authorities) and

other third-party payors for LUMRYZ;
• patients’ ability and willingness to pay out-of-pocket for LUMRYZ in the absence of coverage and/or adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
• the ability of our third-party manufacturer(s) to manufacture commercial supplies of LUMRYZ in sufficient quantities at acceptable costs, to remain in good standing with regulatory

agencies, to maintain applicable registrations and licenses, and to maintain commercially viable manufacturing processes that are, to the extent required, compliant with cGMP regulations;
• our ability to remain compliant with laws and regulations that apply to us and our commercial activities;
• FDA- or other foreign regulatory agency-mandated package insert requirements and successful completion of any related FDA or other foreign regulatory agency post-marketing

requirements, including a REMS;
• the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects or other safety issues that patients may experience with LUMRYZ;
• the actual market size for LUMRYZ, which may be different than expected;
• the length of time that patients who are prescribed our drug remain on treatment;
• the sufficiency of our drug supply to meet commercial demand which could be negatively impacted if our projections regarding the potential number of patients are inaccurate, we are subject

to unanticipated regulatory requirements, or our current drug supply is destroyed, or negatively impacted at our manufacturing sites, storage sites, or in transit; and
• our ability to maintain, enforce, and defend third party challenges to our intellectual property rights in and to LUMRYZ.
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Any of these issues could impair our ability to generate sufficient revenues to result in a profit or to meet our expectations with respect to the amount or timing of revenues or profits. Any issues or
hurdles related to our commercialization efforts may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects. There is no guarantee that we will be successful
in our commercialization efforts with respect to LUMRYZ. We may also experience significant fluctuations in sales of LUMRYZ from period to period and, ultimately, we may never generate
sufficient revenues from LUMRYZ to reach or maintain profitability or sustain our anticipated levels of operations.

On March 29, 2023, we entered into a royalty purchase agreement (“RPA”) with RTW Investments, L.P. (“RTW”) that could provide us up to $75,000 of royalty financing in two tranches. The first
tranche of $30,000 became available upon satisfaction of certain conditions which included our first shipment of LUMRYZ. The second tranche is available to use, at our election, if we achieve
quarterly net revenue of $25,000 by the quarter ending June 30, 2024. The second tranche expires if we do not elect to use it by August 31, 2024. On August 1, 2023, we received the first tranche of
$30,000. As a result of receiving the first tranche, we are required to make quarterly royalty payments calculated as 3.75% of worldwide net product revenue of LUMRYZ, up to a total payback of
$75,000. Even if we are able to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ, certain obligations we have to third parties, including, without limitation, our obligation to pay RTW royalties on certain
LUMRYZ revenues under the RPA may reduce our profitability. Any inability on our part to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ in the U.S. and any other international markets where it may be
approved or any significant delay, could have a material adverse impact on our ability to execute upon our business strategy.

If we are unable to establish effective sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for LUMRYZ or enter into agreements with third parties to market, sell and distribute LUMRYZ, or if we are
unable to achieve market acceptance for LUMRYZ, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects will be materially adversely affected.

We received final approval from the FDA for LUMRYZ in May 2023 for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. We are continuing to build the systems, processes, policies,
relationships and materials necessary for the successful commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S. for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. If we are unable to establish
adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, or if we are unable to do so on commercially reasonable terms, our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects will be materially adversely affected. We may encounter issues, delays or other challenges in commercializing LUMRYZ.

We have limited experience in building and managing a commercial team, conducting a comprehensive market analysis, obtaining state licenses and reimbursement, or managing distributors and a
sales force for our medicines. For example, our results may be negatively impacted if we have not adequately sized our field teams or if our targeting strategy is inadequate or if we encounter
deficiencies or inefficiencies in our infrastructure or processes. We will be competing with many companies that currently have extensive and well-funded sales and marketing operations. As a result,
our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ may involve more inherent risk, take longer, and cost more than it would if we were a company with substantial experience in launching
medicines.

We will have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel. If we are unable to, or decide not to, further develop
internal sales, marketing, and commercial distribution capabilities for LUMRYZ in any country or region, we will likely pursue collaborative arrangements regarding the sales and marketing of
LUMRYZ. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to establish or maintain such collaborative arrangements, or if we are able to do so, that they will have effective sales forces. Any
revenue we receive will depend upon the efforts of such third parties. We would have little or no control over the marketing and sales efforts of such third parties, and our revenue from product sales
may be lower than if we had commercialized LUMRYZ ourselves. We also face competition in our search for third parties to assist us with the sales and marketing efforts for our medicines.

Any of these issues could impair our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ or to generate substantial revenues or profits or to meet our expectations with respect to the amount or timing of
revenues or profits. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in our launch or commercialization efforts with respect to LUMRYZ or with respect to any other product candidate that may be
approved in the future.

If the market opportunities for LUMRYZ are smaller than we believe they are, and if we are not able to successfully identify patients and achieve significant market share, our revenues may be
adversely affected and our business may suffer.

LUMRYZ is a formulation of sodium oxybate approved by the FDA to be taken once at bedtime for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. Our estimates of the market
opportunities for LUMRYZ are based on the estimated market size for the twice-nightly administration of sodium oxybate, and our expectations with regard to LUMRYZ’s potential to take
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share of this market segment as well as attract oxybate-naïve patients and patients who have previously discontinued twice-nightly oxybate treatment. These estimates have been derived from a
variety of sources, including scientific literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations, or market research, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies may change the estimated incidence or
prevalence of these diseases. The potential target population for LUMRYZ may turn out to be lower or more difficult to identify than expected. Even if we obtain significant market share for
LUMRYZ in this indication, because the potential target population for LUMRYZ is small, we may never achieve profitability without obtaining marketing approval for additional indications.

Any of these factors may negatively affect our ability to recognize revenues from sales of LUMRYZ and our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and, as a consequence, our business may
suffer.

LUMRYZ may not gain market acceptance.

LUMRYZ may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and medical communities. The degree of market acceptance of LUMRYZ will depend on a number of
factors, including, but not limited to:

• the clinical indications for which LUMRYZ is approved and any restrictions placed upon the product in connection with its approval, including the REMS or any other equivalent obligation
by other regulatory authorities, patient registry requirements or labeling restrictions;

• the prevalence of narcolepsy-related EDS and cataplexy in adults in the U.S.;
• scheduling classification of sodium oxybate as a controlled substance regulated by the DEA;
• demonstration of the clinical safety and efficacy of LUMRYZ;
• the absence of evidence of undesirable side effects of LUMRYZ that delay or extend trials for additional indications or in geographies outside the U.S.;
• acceptance by physicians and patients of LUMRYZ as a safe and effective treatment;
• availability of sufficient product inventory to meet demand;
• physicians’ decisions relating to treatment practices based on availability;
• physician and patient assessment of the burdens associated with obtaining or maintaining the certifications required under the LUMRYZ REMS;
• the lack of regulatory delays or other regulatory actions;
• its cost-effectiveness and related access to payor coverage;
• its potential advantage over alternative treatment methods;
• the availability of third-party reimbursement or other assistance for patients who are uninsured or underinsured; and
• the marketing and distribution support it receives.

If LUMRYZ fails to achieve market acceptance, our ability to generate revenue will be limited, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

LUMRYZ is subject to ongoing enforcement of post-marketing requirements, and we could be subject to substantial penalties, including withdrawal of LUMRYZ from the market, if we fail to
comply with all regulatory requirements. In addition, the terms of the marketing approval of LUMRYZ and ongoing regulation of our product may limit how we manufacture and market
LUMRYZ, and compliance with such requirements may involve substantial resources, which could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.

LUMRYZ, along with the manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical data, labeling, advertising, and promotional activities for LUMRYZ, is subject to continual requirements of and review by
the FDA and other applicable regulatory authorities. These requirements include, but are not limited to, restrictions governing promotion of an approved product, submissions of safety and other post-
marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements, cGMP requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records
and documents, and requirements regarding drug distribution and the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping.

In the U.S., the FDA and other federal and state agencies, including the Department of Justice, closely regulate compliance with all requirements governing prescription drug products, including
requirements pertaining to marketing and promotion of drugs in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling and manufacturing of products in accordance with cGMP requirements.
Violations of such requirements may lead to investigations alleging violations of the FDCA and other statutes, including the FDA and other federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws as well
as state consumer protection laws. Our failure to comply with all regulatory requirements, and later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products,
manufacturers, or manufacturing processes, may yield various results, including:
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• litigation involving patients taking our products;
• restrictions on such products, manufacturers, or manufacturing processes;
• restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;
• restrictions on product distribution or use;
• requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;
• warning or untitled letters;
• withdrawal of the products from the market;
• refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
• voluntary recall of products;
• fines, restitution, or disgorgement of profits or revenues;
• suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;
• damage to relationships with any potential collaborators;
• unfavorable press coverage and damage to our reputation;
• refusal to permit the import or export of our products;
• product seizure; or
• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Non-compliance by us or any future collaborator with regulatory requirements, including safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements related to the development of products for
the pediatric population can also result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the protection of personal information can also
lead to significant penalties and sanctions.

In addition, we and our CDMOs will continue to expend time, money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product surveillance, quality control and
distribution. Under the DSCSA, for certain commercial prescription drug products, manufacturers and other parties involved in the supply chain must also meet chain of distribution requirements and
build electronic, interoperable systems for product tracking and tracing and for notifying the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen, and intentionally adulterated products or other products that are
otherwise unfit for distribution in the U.S. In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products, including samples, is subject to the PDMA, which regulations the distribution of drugs
and drug samples at the federal level, and sets minimum standards for the registration and regulation of drug distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and state laws limit the distribution of
prescription pharmaceutical product samples and impose requirements to ensure accountability in distribution. Prescription drug products must also meet applicable child-resistant packaging
requirements under the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act. We, our CDMOs and other third parties upon whom we rely will be subject to applicable controlled substances laws, regulations and
requirements. Additionally, under the Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act of 2022 (“FDORA”), sponsors of approved drugs must provide 6 months’ notice to the FDA of any changes in marketing
status, such as the withdrawal of a drug, and failure to do so could result in the FDA placing the product on a list of discontinued products, which would revoke the product’s ability to be marketed. If
we are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements, we could have the marketing approvals for LUMRYZ withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our ability to market LUMRYZ
could be limited, which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability and we could be subject to substantial penalties. As a result, the cost of compliance with post-approval
regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

If our competitors develop and market technologies or products that are safer, more effective or less costly than ours, or obtain regulatory approval and market such products before we do, our
commercial opportunity may be diminished or eliminated.

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry is intense and is expected to increase. We compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

The introduction of new products in the U.S. market that compete with, or otherwise disrupt the market for, LUMRYZ or any future product candidates we may develop, if approved, would adversely
affect sales of our products. For example, we expect LUMRYZ to face competition from manufacturers of generic twice-nightly sodium oxybate formulations who have reached settlement
agreements with the current brand product marketer. In January 2023, Hikma Pharmaceuticals plc, announced that they launched an authorized generic version of Jazz’s Xyrem (sodium oxybate). In
July 2023, Amneal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced that it launched an authorized generic version of Jazz’s Xyrem (sodium oxybate). There are other potential future competitive products that could
impact the marketplace. For example, there are some potential competitors who have reached settlement agreements with the current brand product marketer, which allows for entry of other
authorized generics in 2023 and other generic products in 2026, or earlier for both under certain circumstances. Beyond generics, there are other potential future competitive products that could
impact the narcolepsy treatment marketplace.
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If the FDA approves a competitor’s application for a product candidate before our application for a similar product candidate, and grants such competitor a period of exclusivity, the FDA may take
the position that it cannot approve our 505(b)(2) application for a similar product candidate until the exclusivity period expires. Additionally, even if our 505(b)(2) application for a product candidate
is approved first, and we receive a period of statutory marketing exclusivity, we may still be subject to competition from other companies with approved products or approved 505(b)(2) NDAs for
different conditions of use that would not be restricted by a grant of exclusivity to us.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, manufacturing, marketing, managerial and research and development resources and experience than we do. Furthermore,
acquisitions of competing companies by large pharmaceutical companies could enhance our competitors’ resources. Accordingly, our competitors may be able to develop, obtain regulatory approval
and gain market share for their products more rapidly than us.

If the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve generic products that compete with LUMRYZ or any future product candidates, the sales of LUMRYZ and any future product
candidates, if approved, could be adversely affected.

Once an NDA, including a 505(b)(2) NDA, is approved, the product covered becomes a “listed drug” which can be cited by potential competitors in support of approval of an ANDA or subsequent
505(b)(2) application. FDA regulations and other applicable regulations and policies provide incentives to manufacturers to create modified versions of a drug to facilitate the approval of an ANDA
or other application for similar substitutes. If these manufacturers demonstrate that their product has the same active ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of administration, and conditions of
use, or labeling, as our product or any future product candidates, they might only be required to conduct a relatively inexpensive study to show that their generic product is absorbed in the body at the
same rate and to the same extent as, or is bioequivalent to, our product or any future product candidates. In some cases, even this limited bioequivalence testing can be waived by the FDA. Laws have
also been enacted to facilitate the development of generic drugs based off recently approved NDAs. Competition from generic equivalents to our product or any future product candidates could
substantially limit our ability to generate revenues and therefore to obtain a return on the investments we have made in our product or any future product candidates.

With the passage of the CREATES Act, we are exposed to possible litigation and damages by competitors who may claim that we are not providing sufficient quantities of our approved products
on commercially reasonable, market-based terms for testing in support of their ANDAs and 505(b)(2) applications.

In December 2019, former President Trump signed legislation intended to facilitate the development of generic and biosimilar products. The bill, previously known as the CREATES Act, authorizes
sponsors of ANDAs and 505(b)(2) applications to file lawsuits against companies holding NDAs that decline to provide sufficient quantities of an approved reference drug on commercially
reasonable, market-based terms. Drug products on FDA’s drug shortage list are exempt from these new provisions unless the product has been on the list for more than six continuous months or the
FDA determines that the supply of the product will help alleviate or prevent a shortage. For the purposes of the statute, the term “commercially reasonable, market-based terms” is defined as (1) the
nondiscriminatory price at or below the most recent wholesale acquisition cost for the product, (2) a delivery schedule that meets the statutorily defined timetable, and (3) no additional conditions on
the sale.

To bring an action under the statute, an ANDA or 505(b)(2) sponsor must take certain steps to request the reference product, which, in the case of products covered by a REMS with elements to
assure safe use (such as LUMRYZ), include obtaining authorization from the FDA for the acquisition of the reference product. If the sponsor does bring an action for failure to provide a reference
product, there are certain affirmative defenses available to the NDA holder, which must be shown by a preponderance of evidence. If the sponsor prevails in litigation, it is entitled to a court order
directing the NDA holder to provide, without delay, sufficient quantities of the applicable product on commercially reasonable, market-based terms plus reasonable attorney fees and costs.

Additionally, the statutory provisions authorize a U.S. federal court to award the product developer an amount “sufficient to deter” the NDA holder from refusing to provide sufficient product
quantities on commercially reasonable, market-based terms if the court finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the NDA holder did not have a legitimate business justification to delay
providing the product or failed to comply with the court’s order.

Although we intend to comply fully with the terms of these new statutory provisions, we are still exposed to potential litigation and damages by competitors who may claim that we are not providing
sufficient quantities of our approved products on commercially reasonable, market-based terms for testing in support of ANDAs and 505(b)(2) applications. Such litigation
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would subject us to additional costs, damages and reputational harm, which could lead to lower revenues. The CREATES Act may enable generic competition with LUMRYZ and any of our future
product candidates, if approved, which could impact our ability to maximize product revenue.

If we cannot keep pace with the rapid technological change in our industry, we may lose business, and LUMRYZ or future product candidates, if granted final approval by the FDA, and
technologies could become obsolete or noncompetitive.

Our success also depends, in part, on maintaining a competitive position in the development of products and technologies in a rapidly evolving field. Major technological changes can happen quickly
in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. If we cannot maintain competitive products and technologies, our competitors may succeed in developing competing technologies or obtaining
regulatory approval for products before us, and the products of our competitors may gain market acceptance more rapidly than our product and any future product candidates. Such rapid technological
change, or the development by our competitors of technologically improved or different products, could render our product and any future product candidates or technologies obsolete or
noncompetitive.

Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians, prescribers, purchasers, third-party payors, charitable organizations and patients will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and
abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future
earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the U.S. and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of biotechnology and biopharmaceutical products.
Arrangements with third-party payors and customers can expose biotechnology and biopharmaceutical manufacturers to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations,
including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (“AKS”), and the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships
through which such companies sell, market and distribute biotechnology and biopharmaceutical products. In particular, the research of our product candidates, as well as the promotion, sales and
marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and
other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive
programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials. See
the section entitled, “Business — Government Regulation — Healthcare laws”.

The distribution of biopharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage and security requirements intended to
prevent the unauthorized sale of biopharmaceutical products.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and
regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of
investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry.

Ensuring that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that
governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or
other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may
be subject to significant penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs,
individual imprisonment, reputational harm, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become subject to a corporate
integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time consuming, and may require
significant financial and personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired. If any of the
physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions,
including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs and imprisonment. If any of the above occur, our ability to operate our business and our results of operations could be adversely
affected.
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Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for LUMRYZ or any future products, if approved, which could make it difficult for us to sell LUMRYZ or
any future products profitably.

The success of LUMRYZ or any future products, if approved, depends on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors. We cannot be sure that coverage and
reimbursement will be available for, or accurately estimate the potential revenue from, our products or assure that coverage and reimbursement will be available for any product that we may develop,
such as LUMRYZ. See the section entitled, “Business — Government Regulation — Coverage and Reimbursement”.

Patients who are provided medical treatment for their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their treatment. Coverage and adequate
reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance.

Government authorities and other third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs and treatments they will cover and the amount of
reimbursement. Coverage and reimbursement by a third-party depend upon a number of factors.

In the U.S., no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. As a result, obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval of a product from a
government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly process that could require us to provide to each payor supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our
products on a payor-by-payor basis, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained. In the U.S., the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are
typically made by the CMS. CMS decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree.
Even if we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might not be adequate for us to achieve or sustain profitability or may require co-payments that patients
find unacceptably high. Additionally, third-party payors may not cover, or provide adequate reimbursement for, long-term follow-up evaluations required following the use of product candidates,
once approved. Patients are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of their cost. There is significant uncertainty related
to insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with respect to the coverage and reimbursement for
future product candidates, once approved.

Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict
imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the U.S. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts
from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any product we commercialize and, if reimbursement is
available, the level of reimbursement. In addition, many pharmaceutical manufacturers must calculate and report certain price reporting metrics to the government, such as average sales price and best
price. Penalties may apply in some cases when such metrics are not submitted accurately and timely. Further, these prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by
government healthcare programs. Payment methodologies may be subject to changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives.

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and other third-party payors in the U.S. and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level
of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our products. There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the
U.S. with respect to specialty drug pricing practices. Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to,
among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and
reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs.

We expect that healthcare reform measures may be adopted in the future that may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price we receive for any
approved product. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our
products. Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure
whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or
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whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals or clearances of our products, if any, may be.

In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary widely from country to
country. For example, the EU provides options for its Member States to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to
control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost
effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. A Member State may approve a specific price for the medicinal product, or it may instead adopt a system of direct or
indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for
pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for our product or any of our future products. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not
follow price structures of the U.S. and generally prices tend to be significantly lower.

Ongoing healthcare legislative and regulatory reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Changes in regulations, statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example, changes to our manufacturing arrangements; additions or
modifications to product labeling; the recall or discontinuation of our products; or additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the
operation of our business. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory
compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability. See the section entitled, “Business — Government Regulation —
Healthcare Reform”.

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the U.S. and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level of
reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our product or any future products. There has been increasing legislative and
enforcement interest in the U.S. with respect to specialty drug pricing practices. Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state
legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer
patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs.

At the state level, legislatures are increasingly passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biologic product pricing, including price or patient
reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from
other countries and bulk purchasing. Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-party payors or other restrictions could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be
included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could reduce the ultimate demand for our product and any future products or put pressure on our product pricing, which could
negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

These laws, and future state and federal healthcare reform measures may be adopted in the future, any of which may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding and
otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for our product and any future products or the frequency with which any such products are prescribed or used. Additionally, we expect to experience pricing
pressures in connection with the sale of any future products due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations, cost containment initiatives and
additional legislative changes.

If we fail to comply with our reporting and payment obligations under U.S. governmental pricing programs, we could be subject to additional reimbursement requirements, penalties, sanctions
and fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

We participate in the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Federal Supply Schedule (“FSS”) pricing program, and the Tricare Retail (“Tricare”) Pharmacy program and have obligations to report the
average sales price for certain of our drugs. Pricing and rebate calculations are complex, varying across products and programs, and are often subject to interpretation by us,
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governmental or regulatory agencies and the courts, which can change and evolve over time. Civil monetary penalties can be applied if we are found to have knowingly submitted any false price or
product information to the government, if we are found to have made a misrepresentation in the reporting of our average sales price or if we fail to submit the required price data on a timely basis. We
cannot assure you that our submissions will not be found to be incomplete or incorrect.

Pursuant to applicable law, knowing provision of false information in connection with price reporting under the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, FSS or Tricare Retail Pharmacy programs can
subject a manufacturer to civil monetary penalties. These program obligations also contain extensive disclosure and certification requirements. If we overcharge the government in connection with
our arrangements with FSS or Tricare, we are required to refund the difference to the government. Failure to make necessary disclosures and/or to identify contract overcharges can result in
allegations against us under the False Claims Act and other laws and regulations. Unexpected refunds to the government, and responding to a government investigation or enforcement action, would
be expensive and time-consuming, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

LUMRYZ may be found to cause undesirable side effects that limit the commercial profile or result in other significant negative consequences or delay or prevent further development or
regulatory approval with respect to new indications, or cause regulatory authorities to require labeling statements, such as boxed warnings.

Undesirable side effects caused by LUMRYZ could limit the commercial profile of LUMRYZ or result in significant negative consequences such as a more restrictive label or other limitations or
restrictions. Undesirable side effects caused by LUMRYZ could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt non-clinical studies and clinical trials or could result in a more restrictive
label or the delay, denial or withdrawal of regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities.

Clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients and limited duration of exposure, certain side effects of LUMRYZ may only be
uncovered with a significantly larger number of patients exposed to the drug, and those side effects could be serious or life-threatening. For example, we anticipate initiating a clinical trial for
LUMRYZ in idiopathic hypersomnia. If any participants in the trial report any serious adverse events deemed to be related to LUMRYZ, or if LUMRYZ is not observed to have long-term efficacy,
our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects could be adversely affected. If we or others identify undesirable side effects caused by LUMRYZ (or any other drug), a
number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their marketing approval of such drug;
• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “boxed” warning or additions to an existing boxed warning, or a contraindication, including as a result of

inclusion in a class of drugs for a particular disease;
• regulatory authorities may refuse to approve label expansions for additional indications for any approved drug;
• we may be required to change the way such drugs are distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the labeling of the drug;
• regulatory authorities may require a modification of an existing REMS to mitigate risks;
• we may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions;
• we may decide to remove the drug from the marketplace;
• we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or taking the drug; and
• our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of LUMRYZ and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing LUMRYZ and significantly impact
our ability to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ and generate revenues.

We may incur significant liability if governmental authorities allege or determine that we are engaging in commercial activities or promoting LUMRYZ in a way that violates applicable
regulations.

Physicians have the discretion to prescribe drug products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from those approved by the FDA or other applicable regulatory
agencies. Off-label uses are common across medical specialties. Although the FDA and other regulatory agencies do not regulate a physician’s choice of treatments, the FDA and other regulatory
agencies regulate a manufacturer’s communications regarding off-label use and prohibit off-label promotion, as well as the dissemination of false or misleading labeling or promotional materials.
Manufacturers may not promote drugs for off-label uses. Accordingly, we may not promote LUMRYZ in the U.S. for any indications other than for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with
narcolepsy. The FDA and other regulatory and enforcement authorities actively enforce laws and
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regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label uses and the promotion of products for which marketing approval has not been obtained. A company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label
uses, including promoting unapproved dosing regimens, may be subject to significant liability, which may include civil and administrative remedies as well as criminal sanctions.

Notwithstanding regulations related to product promotion, the FDA and other regulatory authorities allow companies to engage in truthful, non-misleading, and non-promotional scientific exchange
concerning their products. We currently, and intend to increasingly, engage in medical education activities and communicate with healthcare providers in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulatory guidance.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of LUMRYZ in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval of LUMRYZ in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of LUMRYZ in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a
failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. For example, while the FDA granted full approval of
LUMRYZ in May 2023 for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy in the U.S., comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions may not approve LUMRYZ in those
countries for the same or similar indication, if at all. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than,
those in the U.S., including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many
jurisdictions outside the U.S., a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our
products is also subject to approval. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and
could delay or prevent the introduction of LUMRYZ in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets or receive applicable marketing approvals, our
market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of LUMRYZ will be harmed.

Laws and regulations governing international operations we have and may expand in the future may preclude us from developing, manufacturing, and selling certain product candidates and
products outside of the U.S. and require us to develop and implement costly compliance programs.

As we seek to expand our operations outside of the U.S., we must dedicate additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we plan to operate. The
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and its Irish equivalent, prohibits any individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment, or offering anything of value, directly or indirectly,
to any foreign official, political party, or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of such third party in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business.
The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the U.S. to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and
fairly reflect all transactions of the company, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international operations.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA presents particular challenges in the pharmaceutical
industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign officials. Certain payments to hospitals in connection
with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions. Similar laws in other countries, such as the U.K.
Bribery Act 2010, may apply to our operations.

Various laws, regulations, and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the U.S., or the sharing with certain non-U.S. nationals, of information classified for national security
purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. As we expand our presence outside of the U.S. in key European markets, we must dedicate additional resources to
comply with these laws, and such laws may preclude us from developing, manufacturing, or selling certain product candidates and products outside of the U.S., which could limit our growth potential
and increase our development costs.
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The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties and suspension or debarment from government contracting. The SEC
also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violations of the FCPA's accounting provisions.

Governments outside of the U.S. tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.

In some countries, particularly the countries of Europe, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental
authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing authorization for a product. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a
clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of LUMRYZ to other available therapies. If we seek approval for LUMRYZ outside of the U.S. and reimbursement of LUMRYZ is unavailable or
limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed.

Failure to comply with domestic and international privacy and security laws could result in the imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties.

The costs of compliance with privacy and security laws, including protecting electronically stored information from cyber-attacks, and potential liability associated with any compliance failures could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are subject to various domestic and international privacy and security regulations, including but not limited to, HIPAA
and the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) (Regulation EU 2016/679). HIPAA mandates, among other things, the adoption of uniform standards for the electronic exchange of
information in common healthcare transactions, as well as standards relating to the privacy and security of individually identifiable health information, which require the adoption of administrative,
physical and technical safeguards to protect such information. In addition, many U.S. states have enacted comparable laws addressing the privacy and security of health information, some of which
are more stringent than HIPAA. GDPR requires us to ensure personal data collected by us is gathered legally and under strict conditions and to protect such personal data from misuse and
exploitation. If we fail to comply with HIPAA, GDPR or other similar laws, we will face significant fines and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular indication and fail to capitalize on indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial, managerial and research and development resources, we must prioritize our research programs and will need to focus LUMRYZ on the potential treatment of
certain indications or in certain populations. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities for other populations or indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. For
example, we anticipate initiating a clinical trial for LUMRYZ in idiopathic hypersomnia in 2024. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on profitable market
opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs, including evaluating LUMRYZ in additional indications, may not yield any commercially viable products or
result in additional approvals for LUMRYZ. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for LUMRYZ, we may also relinquish valuable rights to LUMRYZ through
collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to LUMRYZ. Any such
event could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Product Candidate Development

Clinical development of drugs is costly and time-consuming, and the outcomes are uncertain. A failure to prove that LUMRYZ or any future product candidates are safe and effective in clinical
trials could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Clinical trials are expensive and can take many years to complete, and the outcome is uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. The results of preclinical studies and
early clinical trials of product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and
efficacy traits despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical testing.

In addition to issues relating to the results generated in clinical trials, clinical trials can be delayed or halted for a variety of reasons, including delay or failure in:
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• obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;
• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (“CROs”) and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may

vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;
• obtaining institutional review board or ethics committee approval at each site;
• recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;
• having patients complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;
• clinical sites dropping out of a trial;
• adding new sites; or
• obtaining clinical materials or manufacturing sufficient quantities of our candidates for use in clinical trials.

We cannot be certain that a product candidate will receive marketing approval. Without marketing approval, we will not be able to commercialize a product candidate.

We may devote significant financial resources and business efforts to the development of product candidates. We cannot be certain that any current or future product candidates will receive marketing
approval.

The development of a product candidate and issues relating to its approval and marketing are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the U.S. and by comparable regulatory authorities in other
countries. We are not permitted to market a product candidate in the U.S. until we receive approval of an NDA by the FDA. The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign
authorities is unpredictable but typically takes years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including the substantial discretion of regulatory authorities.
In addition, approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may
vary among jurisdictions.

An NDA must include extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to establish a product candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each desired indication. An NDA must also
include significant information regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and controls for the product candidate. Obtaining approval of an NDA is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and we
may not be successful in obtaining approval. Any delay or setback in obtaining final approval or the commercialization of a product candidate may adversely affect our business.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons. For example, the FDA:

• could determine that we cannot rely on the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway or other pathways we may select, as applicable, for a product candidate;
• could determine that the information provided was inadequate, contained clinical deficiencies or otherwise failed to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of a product candidate for any

indication;
• may not find the data from bioequivalence studies and/or clinical trials sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or to obtain marketing approval in the U.S., including any findings

that the clinical and other benefits of a product candidate outweigh their safety risks;
• may disagree with our trial design or our interpretation of data from preclinical studies, bioequivalence studies and/or clinical trials, or may change the requirements for approval even after it

has reviewed and commented on the design for our trials;
• may determine that we have identified the wrong listed drug or drugs or that approval of our Section 505(b)(2) application for a product candidate is blocked by patent or non-patent

exclusivity of the listed drug or drugs or of other previously approved drugs with the same conditions of approval as our product candidate, as applicable;
• may identify deficiencies in the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we enter into agreements for the manufacturing of a product candidate;
• may audit some or all of our clinical research study sites to determine the integrity of our data and may reject any or all of such data;
• may approve a product candidate for fewer or more limited indications than we request, or may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-approval clinical trials;
• may not determine that a product candidate is clinically superior to any previously approved same drug;
• may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations; or
• may not approve the labeling claims that we believe are necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a product candidate.
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Even if a product is approved, the FDA may limit the indications for which the product may be marketed, require extensive warnings on the product labeling or require expensive and time-consuming
clinical trials and/or reporting as conditions of approval. Regulators of other countries and jurisdictions have their own procedures for the approval of product candidates with which we must comply
prior to marketing in those countries or jurisdictions.

We have received marketing approval from the FDA for LUMRYZ in the U.S. and will evaluate filing potentially elsewhere. We determined, following FDA consultation, that the 505(b)(2) approval
pathway, which permits an NDA applicant to rely on the FDA’s previous findings of safety or effectiveness and data from studies that were not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the
applicant has not obtained a right of reference, was the appropriate pathway for the LUMRYZ NDA. There can be no assurances, however, that similar approval pathways outside of the U.S., will be
available for LUMRYZ or that the FDA or other regulatory authorities will approve any future product candidates through an application based on such pathways. We have also submitted a sNDA for
LUMRYZ in the pediatric narcolepsy population in November 2023. The sNDA was accepted by the FDA in January 2024 and an approval decision is expected in September 2024. We cannot be
certain this sNDA will be approved by the FDA.

Obtaining regulatory approval for marketing of a product candidate in one country does not ensure that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval in any other country. In addition, delays in
approvals or rejections of marketing applications in the U.S. or other countries may be based upon many factors, including regulatory requests for additional analysis, reports, data, preclinical studies
and clinical trials, regulatory questions regarding different interpretations of data and results, changes in regulatory policy during the period of product development and the emergence of new
information regarding a product candidate.

Our current and future product candidates may not reach the commercial market for a number of reasons.

Drug development is an inherently uncertain process with a high risk of failure at every stage of development. Successful research and development of pharmaceutical products is difficult, expensive
and time consuming. Many product candidates fail to reach the market. Our success will depend on the development and successful commercialization of new drugs and products that utilize our drug
delivery technologies.

Even if product candidates and drug delivery technologies appear promising during development, there may not be successful commercial applications developed for them for a number of reasons,
including:

• the FDA, the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”), the competent authority of a European Union (“EU”) Member State or an IRB, or an Ethics Committee (EU equivalent to IRB), or our
partners may delay or halt applicable clinical trials;

• we or our partners may face slower than expected rate of patient recruitment and enrollment in clinical trials, or may devote insufficient funding to the clinical trials;
• drug delivery technologies and drug products may be found to be ineffective or to cause harmful side effects, or may fail during any stage of pre-clinical testing or clinical trials;
• we or our partners may find that certain products cannot be manufactured on a commercial scale and, therefore, may not be economical or feasible to produce;
• we or our partners may face delays in completing our clinical trials due to circumstances outside of our control, including natural disasters, labor or civil unrest, global health concerns or

pandemics or acts of war or terrorism; or
• product candidates could fail to obtain regulatory approval or, if approved, could fail to achieve market acceptance, could fail to be included within the pricing and reimbursement schemes of

the U.S. or EU Member States, or could be precluded from commercialization by proprietary rights of third parties.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements

We incurred a net loss in 2023 and may incur a net loss in 2024, and if we are not able to achieve profitability in the future, the value of our shares may fall.

We incurred a net loss of $160,276 for the year ended December 31, 2023. We may not become profitable in the near future and may never achieve profitability. The amount of our future net losses or
net profitability will depend, in part, on the rate of our future expenditures and our ability to recognize revenues from the commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S. We have devoted significant
financial resources to research and development, including our clinical development activities, the pursuit of regulatory approval and commercial launch for LUMRYZ. Our future revenues will
depend upon the size of any markets in which LUMRYZ and any future products receive approval, and our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance,
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reimbursement from third-party payors and adequate market share for our product and any future products in those markets. In addition, we have significantly increased our sales organization and
supporting commercial infrastructure to support the commercial launch of LUMRYZ and, accordingly, we will continue to incur significant expenses related to the commercialization of LUMRYZ.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the commercialization of pharmaceutical products, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become
profitable, if at all. Our ability to operate profitably depends upon a number of factors, many of which are beyond our direct control. These factors include:

• our ability to obtain, build and expand manufacturing capacity, including capacity at third-party manufacturers;
• the effectiveness of our sales and marketing strategy;
• the demand and market size for LUMRYZ;
• the level of product and price competition for LUMRYZ;
• our ability to develop new partnerships and additional commercial applications for LUMRYZ and any future product candidates;
• the timely receipt of approval for the commercialization of LUMRYZ outside the U.S.;
• the potential expansion of LUMRYZ into other populations;
• our ability to control our costs;
• the initiation of additional research, preclinical, clinical or other programs as we seek to identify and validate additional product candidates;
• our ability to acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;
• our ability to maintain, protect and expand our intellectual property portfolio; and
• general economic conditions.

Even though the FDA granted final approval of our NDA for LUMRYZ in May 2023 for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy, we may never recognize revenue in amounts
sufficient to achieve and maintain profitability. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, such that a period-to-period comparison of our results of
operations may not be a good indication of our future performance. In any particular quarter or quarters, our operating results could be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which
could cause our stock price to decline.

We may require additional financing to successfully commercialize LUMRYZ and implement our operating plans, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all, and which may result
in dilution of the equity interest of the holders of ADSs.

We may require additional financing to fund the commercialization of LUMRYZ and possible development or acquisition of new products and businesses. We may consume available resources more
rapidly than currently anticipated, resulting in the need for additional funding. Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely
affect our ability to commercialize LUMRYZ. If we cannot obtain financing when needed, or obtain it on favorable terms, we may be required to curtail our plans to continue to develop drug delivery
technologies, develop new products, or acquire additional products and businesses. Other factors that will affect future capital requirements and may require us to seek additional financing include:

• the development and acquisition of new products and drug delivery technologies;
• the progress of our research and product development programs; and
• the timing of, and amounts received from, future product sales, product development fees and licensing revenue and royalties.

If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to significantly reduce or refocus our product development efforts, resulting in loss of sales, increased costs and reduced revenues.
Alternatively, to obtain needed funds for acquisitions or operations, we may seek to issue additional ADSs representing our ordinary shares, or issue equity-linked debt, or we may choose to issue
preferred shares, in either case through public or private financings. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us and, in the case of such equity or equity-linked financings,
may result in dilution to the holders of ADSs. We could also be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners, and we may be required to relinquish rights to our product or
future product candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects.

We may be required to or choose to obtain further funding through public equity or equity linked offerings, debt financings, royalty-based financing arrangements, collaborations and licensing
arrangements or other sources. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, convertible debt securities or other equity-based derivative securities, investors will
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be diluted, and new investors could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our ADSs. Furthermore, the issuance of additional securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our ADSs to decline and existing shareholders may not agree with our financing plans or the terms of such financings. If we raise
additional funds through collaborations or marketing, distribution or licensing, or royalty-based financing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to future revenue
streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.

Our ability to obtain additional financing may be limited by the terms of our financing arrangements and the provisions of Irish law.

Restrictions in our existing and future financing arrangements and mandatory provisions of Irish law may adversely affect our ability to obtain additional financing. For example, future debt
agreements or other financing arrangements may include covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified transactions, including prohibiting us from incurring additional secured or unsecured
debt, paying dividends or redeeming equity securities or similar or more restrictive terms that limit our ability to raise additional financing when needed. In addition, Irish law requires that our
directors must have specific authority from shareholders to allot and issue new shares generally, or to issue new shares for cash to new shareholders without offering such shares to existing
shareholders pro-rata to their existing holdings (including, in each case, rights to subscribe for or otherwise acquire any shares), even where such shares form part of our authorized but unissued share
capital. At our 2021 annual general meeting of shareholders, our shareholders renewed such authorizations, subject to certain parameters, for a period expiring December 20, 2026. If we are unable to
obtain renewal of such authorization from our shareholders, our ability to use our authorized but unissued share capital to effect or to obtain additional financing, could be adversely affected. Irish law
also provides that, in the event of an actual or potential takeover offer being made for us, various actions, including issuing shares, options or convertible securities, material acquisitions or disposals,
entering into contracts other than in the ordinary course of business or any action, other than seeking alternative offers, may be prohibited unless approved by our shareholders or the Irish Takeover
Panel. These restrictions may prevent or delay us from taking actions that we believe are in our best interest or from obtaining financing on favorable terms, in adequate amounts or at all, which may
adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

Our net loss and use of cash in operating activities may limit our ability to fully pursue our business strategy.

We reported net loss of $160,276 in 2023. We reported cash used in operating activities of $128,511. Cash and marketable securities as of December 31, 2023 totaled $105,111. Our business strategy
is to primarily focus on the commercialization of LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy in the U.S. The successful pursuit of all components of our strategy will
require substantial financial resources, and there can be no assurance that our existing cash and marketable securities assets and the cash generated by our operations will be adequate for these
purposes. Failure to implement any component of our strategy may prevent us from achieving profitability in the future or may otherwise have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operation.

Risks Related to Regulation

The distribution and sale of LUMRYZ are subject to significant regulatory restrictions, including the requirements of a REMS and safety reporting requirements, and these regulatory
requirements subject us to risks and uncertainties, any of which could negatively impact sales of LUMRYZ.

The API of LUMRYZ is sodium oxybate, a central nervous system depressant known to be associated with facilitated sexual assault as well as with respiratory depression and other serious side
effects. As a result, the FDA requires that sponsors of sodium oxybate products, such as LUMRYZ, maintain a REMS to help ensure that the benefits of the drug outweigh the serious risks of the
drug. As a part of the final approval granted by the FDA for LUMRYZ, the FDA required a REMS for LUMRYZ, which, among other requirements, imposes controls and restrictions on the
distribution of the product in the U.S. Any failure to demonstrate our substantial compliance with such REMS obligations, including as a result of business or other interruptions, or a determination
by the FDA that the REMS is not meeting its goals, could result in enforcement action by the FDA, lead to changes in our REMS obligations, negatively affect sales of LUMRYZ, result in additional
costs and expenses for us or require us to invest a significant amount of resources, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
growth prospects.

We cannot predict whether the FDA will request, seek to require or ultimately require modifications to, or impose additional requirements on, the REMS for LUMRYZ in the future. Any
modifications approved, required or rejected by the FDA could change the safety profile of LUMRYZ, and have a significant negative impact in terms of product liability, public acceptance of
LUMRYZ for treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy, and prescribers’ willingness to prescribe, and patients’
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willingness to take, LUMRYZ, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Modifications approved, required or rejected by the FDA could also make it more difficult or
expensive for us to distribute LUMRYZ, make distribution easier for sodium oxybate competitors, disrupt continuity of care for LUMRYZ patients or negatively affect sales of LUMRYZ in the U.S.

Pharmaceutical companies, including their agents and employees, are required to monitor adverse events occurring during the use of their products and report them to the FDA. As required by the
FDA, and similarly for other regulatory agencies, the adverse event information that we collect for LUMRYZ must be regularly reported to the FDA and could result in the FDA requiring changes to
LUMRYZ’s labeling, including additional warnings or boxed warnings, or requiring us to take other actions that could have an adverse effect on patient and prescriber acceptance of LUMRYZ.

Any failure to demonstrate our substantial compliance with a REMS required for LUMRYZ or any other applicable regulatory requirements to the satisfaction of the FDA or another regulatory
authority could result in such regulatory authorities taking actions in the future which could have a material adverse effect on sodium oxybate product sales and therefore on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Disruptions at the FDA, the DEA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other
personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on
which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept
the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC and
other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities, is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and
unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA, DEA and other agencies may also increase the time necessary for new product candidates to be reviewed or approved by necessary government agencies, which would
adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to
furlough critical FDA, SEC and other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely
review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public
markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

LUMRYZ may not maintain regulatory exclusivities, including orphan drug exclusivity, or the benefits of such exclusivities, which may adversely affect the sales of the product.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, as amended, the FDA may designate a drug as an orphan drug if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is defined as a patient population of fewer than
200,000 individuals in the U.S., or a patient population of 200,000 or more where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug for the rare disease or condition will be
recovered from sales of the drug in the U.S. Generally, if a drug with orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for the disease or condition for which it has such
designation, the drug is entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which precludes the FDA from approving another marketing application for the same drug for the same disease or condition for
seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as if the FDA concludes that a subsequent same drug is clinically superior to the first approved orphan drug through greater safety, greater
effectiveness, or a major contribution to patient care.

LUMRYZ obtained orphan drug designation for the treatment of narcolepsy from the FDA in January 2018. Upon the approval of LUMRYZ in May 2023 by the FDA for the treatment of cataplexy
or EDS in adults with narcolepsy and a finding of clinical superiority of LUMRYZ relative to marketed oxybate products, the FDA granted LUMRYZ seven years of orphan drug exclusivity.
Accordingly, the FDA cannot approve a subsequent sponsor’s same drug as LUMRYZ for the same indication until May 2030, subject to certain exceptions. Even though we have obtained orphan
drug exclusivity for LUMRYZ, that exclusivity may not effectively protect LUMRYZ from competition because different drugs can be approved for the same condition. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that third parties will not attempt to disrupt the commercialization of LUMRYZ through litigation. Any orphan drug exclusive marketing rights may be lost if the FDA later determines that
the request for designation was materially defective or if we are unable to assure sufficient quantity of LUMRYZ to meet the needs of patients with the particular rare disease or condition. The FDA
may reevaluate its regulations and policies under the Orphan Drug Act. We do not know if, when or how the FDA may change the orphan drug regulations and policies in the future, and it is
uncertain how
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any changes might affect our business. Depending on what changes, the FDA may make to its orphan drug regulations and policies, our business could be adversely impacted.

The API in LUMRYZ, sodium oxybate, is a controlled substance subject to U.S. federal and state controlled substance laws and regulations and applicable controlled substance legislation in
other countries, and our failure, or the failure of third-parties on whom we rely, to comply with these laws and regulations, or the cost of compliance with these laws and regulations, could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects.

LUMRYZ contains a controlled substance as defined in the CSA. Controlled substances are subject to a number of requirements and restrictions under the CSA and implementing regulations,
including certain registration, security, recordkeeping, reporting, manufacturing and procurement quotas, import, export and other requirements administered by the DEA. The DEA classifies
controlled substances into five schedules: Schedule I, II, III, IV or V. Schedule I substances by definition have a high potential for abuse, no currently “accepted medical use” in the U.S., lack
accepted safety for use under medical supervision, and may not be prescribed, marketed or sold in the U.S. Pharmaceutical products approved for use in the U.S. which contain a controlled substance
are listed as Schedule II, III, IV or V, with Schedule II substances considered to present the highest potential for abuse or dependence and Schedule V substances the lowest relative risk of abuse
among such substances. Schedule I and II drugs are subject to the strictest controls under the CSA, including manufacturing and procurement quotas, heightened security requirements and additional
criteria for importation. The API of LUMRYZ, sodium oxybate, is regulated by the DEA as a Schedule I controlled substance, and FDA-approved products containing sodium oxybate, including
LUMRYZ, are currently Schedule III.

Individual states have also established controlled substance laws and regulations. Although state-controlled substances laws often mirror federal law, they may separately schedule our product or
future product candidate(s). We or our partners may also be required to obtain separate state registrations, permits or licenses in order to be able to manufacture, research, distribute, import, export,
administer or prescribe controlled substances for clinical trials or commercial sale, and failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements could lead to enforcement and sanctions by the states in
addition to those from the DEA or otherwise arising under federal law.

U.S. facilities conducting research, manufacturing, distributing, importing or exporting, or dispensing of controlled substances must be registered (licensed) to perform these activities and must
comply with the security, control, recordkeeping and reporting obligations under the CSA, DEA regulations and corresponding state requirements. DEA and state regulatory bodies conduct periodic
inspections of certain registered establishments that handle controlled substances. Obtaining and maintaining the necessary registrations, obtaining and maintaining quotas and complying with the
regulatory obligations may result in delay of the importation, export, manufacturing, distribution or research of our product and any future product candidates or products. Furthermore, failure to
maintain compliance with the CSA and DEA and state regulations by us or any of our contractors, distributors or pharmacies can result in regulatory action that could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we change any third-party upon whom we rely to conduct our research, manufacturing, distributing, importing, exporting,
or dispensing activities, doing so will result in additional costs and expenses and may take a significant amount of time, and we may be unsuccessful in identifying a new, satisfactory third-party, any
of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. DEA and state regulatory bodies may seek civil penalties, refuse to renew necessary
registrations, or initiate proceedings to restrict, suspend or revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances, violations could lead to criminal penalties.

Because LUMRYZ contains sodium oxybate, to conduct clinical trials with LUMRYZ in the U.S. for additional indications beyond what the FDA has already approved, each of our research sites
must submit a research protocol to the DEA and obtain and maintain a DEA researcher registration that allows those sites to handle and dispense LUMRYZ and to obtain the product candidate. If the
DEA delays or denies the grant of a researcher registration to one or more research sites, the clinical trial could be significantly delayed, and we could lose clinical trial sites. In the event the product
candidate would be made outside the U.S., the importer for the clinical trials must also obtain a Schedule I importer registration and an import permit for each import.

We and our manufacturing partners in the U.S. are subject to the DEA’s annual manufacturing and procurement quota requirements. The annual quota allocated to us or our U.S. manufacturing
partners for sodium oxybate may not be sufficient to meet commercial demand of LUMRYZ. Consequently, any delay or refusal by the DEA in establishing our, or U.S. manufacturing partner’s,
procurement and/or production quota for controlled substances could delay or stop our commercial activities and future development/clinical activities, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position and results of operations.
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LUMRYZ is classified as a Schedule III substance based on current applicable regulations, which allows an importer to import it for commercial purposes if it obtains the appropriate registrations and
licenses from the DEA, including an importer registration and files an application for an import permit for each import. The DEA provides annual assessments/estimates to the International Narcotics
Control Board, which guides the DEA in the amounts of controlled substances that the DEA authorizes to be imported. To the extent an importer is utilized for commercial purposes, failure by any
current importer or future importer that we identify as an importer, if any are available, to obtain and maintain the necessary import authority from the DEA and other applicable regulatory
authorities, including specific quantities, could affect the availability of LUMRYZ and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Governments outside of the U.S. have similar controlled substance laws, regulations and requirements in their respective jurisdictions, and our failure, or the failure of third parties upon whom we
rely, to comply with applicable controlled substance laws, regulations and requirements or secure necessary authorizations would result in similar risks to those described above.

We are required to obtain regulatory approval of any proposed product names for our product candidates, and any failure or delay associated with such approval may adversely impact our
business.

Any name we intend to use for our product candidates will require approval from the FDA or other regulatory authorities in jurisdictions where we may seek approval regardless of whether we have
secured a trademark registration from the USPTO or similar protection in other jurisdictions. The FDA and other regulatory authorities each typically conduct a review of proposed product names,
including an evaluation of potential for confusion with other product names. The FDA or other regulatory authorities in jurisdictions where we may seek approval may object to any product name we
submit if, for example, it believes the name inappropriately implies medical claims. If the FDA or other regulatory authorities in jurisdictions where we may seek approval objects to any of our
proposed product names, we may be required to adopt an alternative name for our product candidates. There is no guarantee we will be able to use the same proprietary name for a product in each
jurisdiction where we market that product. If we adopt an alternative name, we would lose the benefit of any existing trademark applications for such product and may be required to expend
significant additional resources in an effort to identify a suitable product name that would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existing rights of third parties and be acceptable to
the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Final acceptance of a proposed proprietary name occurs as part of the final approval of a drug product. We may be unable to build a successful brand identity
for a new proprietary name or trademark in a timely manner or at all, which would limit our ability to commercialize a product.

Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely, and intend to continue to rely on a limited number of providers for the development, manufacture and supply of LUMRYZ, and if we experience problems with these suppliers, or they
fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or to supply sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, our business would be materially and adversely affected.

Currently, we use a limited number of providers for the development, supply of clinical materials and supply of commercial batches for our product, LUMRYZ. We do not own or operate
manufacturing facilities for clinical or commercial manufacture of LUMRYZ. We have limited personnel with experience in drug manufacturing, and we lack the capabilities to manufacture
LUMRYZ on a clinical or commercial scale. There can be no assurance that our clinical development or commercial product supplies will not be limited, interrupted, or of satisfactory quality or
continue to be available at acceptable quantities or prices to meet demand. If the supplies of these products or materials were interrupted for any reason (including but not limited to, natural disasters,
labor or civil unrest, global health concerns or pandemics or acts of war or terrorism, delays at the manufacturer, delays related to quality control, and delays related to the supply chain),our
manufacturing, clinical development or commercial activities of LUMRYZ (or any future product or product candidate) could be delayed. These delays could be extensive and expensive, especially
in situations where a substitution was not readily available or required variations of existing regulatory approvals and certifications or additional regulatory approval.

Additionally, our third-party suppliers may not be required to, or may be unable to, provide us with any guaranteed minimum production levels or have sufficient dedicated capacity for our drug.
Failure to obtain adequate supplies in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We contract with third parties for the manufacture of LUMRYZ for clinical testing and commercialization, and expect to continue to do so for any future products and product candidates. This
reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of LUMRYZ or any future products or product candidates, or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which
could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

We do not currently own or operate, nor do we have any plans to establish in the future, any manufacturing facilities. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the manufacture of
LUMRYZ for clinical testing and commercial manufacture of LUMRYZ as well as any other future products and product candidates we develop. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that
we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products, or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development and
commercialization efforts.

The facilities used by CDMOs generally must be inspected by the FDA pursuant to pre-approval inspections conducted as a part of the FDA’s review of an NDA. We do not control the manufacturing
process of, and will be completely dependent on, our CDMOs for compliance with cGMPs in connection with the manufacture of LUMRYZ and any future products and product candidates. If our
CDMOs cannot successfully manufacture materials that conform to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and any other applicable regulatory authorities, they will not
be able to pass regulatory inspections and/or maintain regulatory compliance for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over the ability of our CDMOs to maintain adequate
quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority finds deficiencies with or does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of
LUMRYZ or any future products or product candidates, or if it finds deficiencies or withdraws any such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would
significantly impact our ability to market LUMRYZ or any future product or develop and obtain regulatory approval for any future product candidates, if granted final approval by the FDA or other
applicable regulatory authority.

CDMOs upon whom we rely are also required to comply with the CSA, DEA regulations and other applicable controlled substance laws, regulations and requirements in other countries, where
applicable, including those relating to licensing and registration requirements. The inability of our CDMOs to maintain compliance with applicable controlled substance laws, regulations and
requirements and obtain and maintain the necessary licenses and registrations could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our clinical trials, commercial activities, financial
position and results of operations.

If any CDMO with whom we contract fails to perform its obligations, we may be forced to enter into an agreement with a different CDMO, which we may not be able to do on reasonable terms, if at
all. In such scenario, our clinical trials or commercial supply could be delayed significantly as we establish alternative supply sources. In some cases, the technical skills required to manufacture a
product or product candidate may be unique or proprietary to the original CDMO and we may have difficulty, or there may be contractual restrictions prohibiting us from, transferring such skills to a
back-up or alternate supplier, or we may be unable to transfer such skills at all. In addition, if we are required to change CDMOs for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new CDMO
maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all applicable regulations, including those relating to controlled substances. We will also need to verify, such as
through a manufacturing comparability study, that any new manufacturing process will produce a product or product candidate according to the specifications previously submitted to or approved by
the FDA or other regulatory authority. The delays associated with the verification of a new CDMO could negatively affect our ability to commercialize a product or develop a product candidate in a
timely manner or within budget. Furthermore, a CDMO may possess technology related to the manufacture of a product or product candidate that such CDMO owns independently. This would
increase our reliance on such CDMO and may require us to obtain a license from such CDMO in order to have another CDMO manufacture the product or product candidate. In addition, in the case
of CDMOs that supply a product or product candidate, changes in manufacturers often involve changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could require that we conduct bridging
studies between our supply from the prior CDMO and that of any new manufacturer.

Further, our failure, or the failure of our third party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions,
civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which
could significantly and adversely affect our business and supplies of a product or product candidates.

We may be unable to establish agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish agreements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on
third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including:
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• reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
• the possible breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party;
• the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and
• the possible termination or non-renewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us.

A product or product candidate we develop may compete with other product candidates and approved products of other parties for access to manufacturing facilities. There are a limited number of
manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. Any performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical
development, marketing approval or commercialization efforts. If our current CDMOs cannot perform as agreed, we may be required to replace such manufacturers. We may incur added costs and
delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacement. Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of LUMRYZ and any future products may adversely affect
our future profit margins and our ability to commercialize such products on a timely and competitive basis.

We outsource important activities to consultants, advisors and outside contractors.

We outsource many key functions of our business and therefore rely on a substantial number of consultants, advisors and outside contractors. If we are unable to effectively manage our outsourced
activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by such third parties is compromised for any reason, our development activities may be extended, delayed or terminated which would
have an adverse effect on our development program and our business.

We depend on key personnel to execute our business plan. If we cannot attract and retain key personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business plan.

We are highly dependent on the expertise of Gregory Divis, our Chief Executive Officer, Thomas McHugh, our Chief Financial Officer, and Richard Kim, our Chief Commercial Officer, as well as
the other key members of our management, legal, scientific, clinical and commercial team. Although we have entered into employment letter agreements with our executive officers, each of them
may terminate their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel will also be critical to our success. The loss of the services of our executive officers or other
key employees could impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy.
Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth
of skills and experience required to successfully develop, gain regulatory approval of and commercialize drugs. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire,
train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience
competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions.

We have substantially increased our number of employees over the last year, and we expect to expand our organization as a result of the commercialization of LUMRYZ. As a result, we may
experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could disrupt our operations.

As of December 31, 2023, we had 154 full-time employees. Our full-time employee base increased substantially in 2023 to advance the commercialization of LUMRYZ in the U.S. Our management
may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to
effectively manage the expansion of our operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced
productivity among remaining employees. Our growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of additional
product candidates. If our management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected, our ability to recognize and/or grow revenues could be reduced
and we may not be able to execute our business strategy. Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize LUMRYZ and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to
effectively manage any future growth.
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We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials, and if they do not properly and successfully perform their contractual, legal and regulatory duties, we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approvals for or commercialize any future product candidates.

We rely on CROs and other third parties to assist us in designing, managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying out our clinical trials, including with respect to site selection, contract negotiation and
data management. We do not control these third parties and, as a result, they may not treat our clinical trials as a high priority, which could result in delays. We are responsible for confirming that each
of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its general investigational plan and protocol, as well as the FDA’s and foreign regulatory agencies’ requirements, commonly referred to as good
clinical practices, for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to ensure that the data and results are credible and accurate and that the trial participants are adequately protected.
The FDA and foreign regulatory agencies enforce good clinical practices through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we, CROs or other third parties
assisting us or our trial sites fail to comply with applicable good clinical practices, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable, and the FDA or its non-U.S. counterparts
may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that, upon inspection, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies will determine
that any of our clinical trials comply with good clinical practices.

If third parties do not successfully carry out their duties under their agreements with us, if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to failure to adhere to our clinical
protocols, including dosing requirements, or regulatory requirements, or if they otherwise fail to comply with clinical trial protocols or meet expected deadlines, our clinical trials may not meet
regulatory requirements. If our clinical trials do not meet regulatory requirements or if these third parties need to be replaced, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated. If
any of these events occur, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of any future product candidates or succeed in our efforts to create approved line extensions for certain of our existing
products or generate additional useful clinical data in support of these products.

If we or our partners fail to comply with these laws and regulations, the FDA, or other foreign regulatory agencies, may take actions that could significantly restrict or prohibit commercial distribution
of LUMRYZ or the clinical development of any future product candidates. If the FDA or other foreign regulatory authorities determine we are not in compliance with these laws and regulations, they
could, among other things:

• issue warning letters;
• impose fines;
• seize products or request or order recalls;
• issue injunctions to stop future sales of products;
• refuse to permit products to be imported into, or exported out of a particular country;
• suspend or limit our production;
• withdraw or vary approval of marketing applications;
• withdraw approval of marketing applications; and
• initiate criminal prosecutions.

We may rely on collaborations with third parties to commercialize LUMRYZ and any future products. Such strategy involves risks that could impair our prospects for realizing profits from such
products.

We expect that commercialization of LUMRYZ and any future products outside of the U.S. may require collaboration with third-party partners involving strategic alliances, licenses, product
divestitures or other arrangements. We may not be successful in entering into such collaborations on favorable terms, if at all, or our collaboration partners may not adequately perform under such
arrangements, and as a result our ability to commercialize these products will be negatively affected and our prospects will be impaired.

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the
collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s own evaluation of a potential collaboration. Such factors a potential
collaborator will use to evaluate a collaboration may include the design or results of clinical trials, the likelihood of final approval by foreign regulatory authorities, the potential market for LUMRYZ
or any future products, the potential of competing products, the existence of uncertainty with respect to our ownership of our intellectual property, which can exist if there is a challenge to such
ownership without regard to the merits of the challenge and industry and market conditions generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative products, product candidates or technologies for
similar indications that may be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with
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us for LUMRYZ or any future product or product candidates. The terms of any additional collaborations or other arrangements that we may establish may not be favorable to us.

We may also be restricted under collaboration agreements from entering into future agreements on certain terms with potential collaborators. Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to
negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential
future collaborators.

We may not be able to negotiate additional collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the development of any future product
candidates for which we are seeking to collaborate, reduce or delay its development program, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase
our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our
own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to develop future drug candidates,
commercialize LUMRYZ outside of the U.S. or bring any future products to market and generate product revenue.

In addition, any future collaborations we enter into may not be successful. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators.
Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources they will apply to these collaborations. Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement
regarding clinical development and commercialization matters can lead to delays in the product development process or commercializing the applicable product and, in some cases, termination of the
collaboration arrangement. These disagreements can be difficult to resolve if neither party has final decision-making authority. Collaborations with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies and
other third parties often are terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any such termination or expiration would adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we cannot adequately protect our intellectual property and proprietary information, we may be unable to effectively compete.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to obtain and enforce patents and other intellectual property rights for LUMRYZ, as well as future products, product candidates and technology (including
our drug delivery technologies) and to preserve our trade secrets and other proprietary information. If we cannot do so, our competitors may exploit our technologies and deprive us of the ability to
realize revenues and profits from our LUMRYZ, future products and product candidates, and technologies.

To the extent our product and any future products and product candidates may benefit from protections afforded by patents, we face the risk that patent law relating to the scope of claims in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology fields is continually evolving and can be the subject of uncertainty and may change in a way that would limit protection. If challenged, a court or other body may
determine that our patents may not be valid or enforceable. For example, our patents may not protect us against challenges by companies that submit drug marketing applications to the FDA, or the
competent authorities of EU Member States or other jurisdictions in which we may attempt to compete, in particular, where such applications rely, at least in part, on safety and efficacy data from our
product or any future product or product candidate. In addition, competitors may obtain patents that may have an adverse effect on our ability to conduct business, or they may discover ways to
circumvent our patents. The scope of any patent protection may not be sufficiently broad to cover our product or any future product or product candidate, or to exclude competing products. Any
patent applications we have made or may make relating to our potential products or technologies may not result in patents being issued. Even after issuance, our patents may be challenged in the
courts or patent offices in the U.S. and elsewhere. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which
could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical product candidates, or limit the duration of the patent protection of LUMRYZ or a future product or product
candidate. Further, patent protection once obtained is limited in time, after which competitors may use the claimed invention without obtaining a license from us. Because of the time required to
obtain regulatory marketing approval, the remaining period of effective patent protection for a marketed product is frequently substantially shorter than the full duration of the patent. While a patent
term extension can be requested under certain circumstances, the grant of such a request is not guaranteed.
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Our partnerships with third parties expose us to risks that they will claim intellectual property rights on our inventions or fail to keep our unpatented inventions and proprietary information
confidential.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adversely affected and our business would be harmed.

We also rely on trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets and know-how to develop, maintain and strengthen our competitive position.

We rely, in part, on confidentiality agreements with our employees, suppliers, consultants, advisors and partners to protect trade secrets, know-how and proprietary information related to, for example,
current and future products, product candidates, and manufacturing processes. These agreements may not provide adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary
information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure, or if others lawfully develop the information. If these agreements are breached, we cannot be certain we will have adequate remedies.
Further, we cannot guarantee that third parties will not know, discover or independently develop equivalent trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information, or that they will not gain access
to our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information or disclose same to the public. Therefore, we cannot guarantee we can maintain and protect our trade secrets, know-how and other
proprietary information. Misappropriation or other loss of our intellectual property would adversely affect our competitive position and may cause us to incur substantial litigation or other costs.

If we and our partners do not adequately protect the trademarks and trade names for our current and future products, then we and our partners may not be able to build name recognition in our
markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our competitors or other third parties may challenge, infringe or circumvent the trademarks or trade names for our current and future products. We and our partners may not be able to protect these
trademarks and trade names. In addition, if the trademark or trade name for a product infringes the valid rights of others, we or our partners may be forced to stop using the trademark or trade name,
which we need for name recognition in our markets of interest. If we cannot establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we and our partners may not be able to compete
effectively, and our business may be adversely affected.

Changes in U.S. or ex-U.S. patent laws could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect current and future products.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation thereof in the U.S. or in ex-U.S. jurisdictions could increase uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of issued patents. For example, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act of 2011 (“AIA”), changed the previous U.S. “first-to-invent” system to the current system that awards a
patent to the “first-inventor-to-file” for an application for a patentable invention. This change alters the pool of available materials that can be used to challenge patents in the U.S. and limits the
ability to rely on prior research to lay claim to patent rights. Under the current system, disputes are resolved through new derivation proceedings, and the AIA includes mechanisms to allow
challenges to issued patents in reexamination, inter partes review and post grant proceedings. The AIA also includes bases and procedures that may make it easier for competitors to challenge our
patents, which could result in increased competition and have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The AIA may also make it harder to challenge third-party patents and
place greater importance on being the first inventor to file a patent application on an invention. The AIA amendments to patent filing and litigation procedures in the U.S. may result in litigation being
more complex and expensive and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel.

In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of pharmaceuticals may be particularly uncertain. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S.
federal courts, and the USPTO, or by similarly legislative, judicial, and regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that
could have a material adverse effect on our existing patent portfolio and our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property in the future.
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Third parties may claim that our current or future product infringes their rights, and we may incur significant costs resolving these claims. Additionally, legal proceedings related to such claims
could materially delay or otherwise adversely affect commercialization plans related to such product.

Third parties may claim infringement of their patents and other intellectual property rights by the manufacture, use, import, offer for sale or sale of a commercial product. Further, in connection with
us seeking regulatory approval for a product candidate, a third party may allege that our product candidate infringes its patents or other intellectual property rights and file suit to delay/prevent
regulatory approval and/or commercialization of such product. In response to any claim of infringement, we may choose or be forced to seek licenses, defend infringement actions or challenge the
validity or enforceability of those patent rights in court or administrative proceedings. If we cannot obtain required licenses on commercially reasonably terms, or at all, are found liable for
infringement or are not able to have such patent rights declared invalid or unenforceable, our business could be materially harmed. We may be subject to claims (and even held liable) for significant
monetary damages (including enhanced damages and/or attorneys’ fees), encounter significant delays in bringing products to market or be precluded from the manufacture, use, import, offer for sale
or sale of products or methods of drug delivery covered by the patents of others. Even if a license is available, it may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or may be non-exclusive,
which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. We may not have identified, or be able to identify in the future, U.S. or non-U.S. patents that pose a risk of
potential infringement claims.

In addition to the possibility of intellectual property infringement claims, a third party could submit a citizen’s petition to the FDA requesting relief that, if granted, could materially adversely affect
the NDA and/or underlying product candidate. For example, such a third-party petition could, if granted, materially adversely affect the likelihood and/or timing of NDA approval, content of final
product labeling, and/or resulting regulatory exclusivity (if any) for such product.

Parties making claims against us may be able to sustain the costs of patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any claims, with or
without merit, that our product, future products or future product candidates infringe proprietary rights of third parties could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation or divert the efforts of our
technical and management personnel, any of which could disrupt our relationships with our partners and could significantly harm our financial positions and operating results.

An NDA submitted under Section 505(b)(2) subjects us to the risk that we may be subject to a patent infringement lawsuit that would delay or prevent the review or approval of any future
product candidates.

Section 505(b)(2) permits the submission of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval comes from preclinical studies or clinical trials that were not conducted by, or for,
the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference. A 505(b)(2) NDA enables the applicant to reference published literature for which the applicant does not have a right of
reference and the FDA’s previous findings of safety and effectiveness for a previously approved drug.

For 505(b)(2) NDAs, the patent certification and related provisions of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments apply. Accordingly, if the applicant relies for approval on the safety or effectiveness
information for a previously approved drug, referred to as a listed drug, the applicant is required to include patent certifications in its 505(b)(2) NDA regarding any applicable patents covering the
listed drug. If there are applicable patents listed in the FDA publication Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly known as the Orange Book, for the listed
drug, and the applicant seeks to obtain approval prior to the expiration of one or more of those patents, the applicant is required to submit a Paragraph IV certification indicating their belief that the
relevant patents are invalid or unenforceable or will not be infringed by the manufacture, import, use, offer for sale or sale of the product that is the subject of the 505(b)(2) application. Otherwise, the
505(b)(2) NDA cannot be approved by the FDA until the expiration of any patents listed in the Orange Book for the listed drug. There can be no assurance that we will not be required to submit a
Paragraph IV certification in respect of any future product candidates for which we seek approval under Section 505(b)(2).

Following any Paragraph IV certification that may be required, an applicant will be required to provide notice of that certification to the NDA holder and patent owner. Under the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments, the patent owner may file a patent infringement lawsuit after receiving such notice. If a patent infringement lawsuit is filed within 45 days of the patent owner’s or NDA holder’s receipt
of notice (whichever is later), a one-time, automatic stay of the FDA’s ability to approve the 505(b)(2) NDA is triggered, which typically extends for 30 months unless patent litigation is resolved in
favor of the Paragraph IV filer, the patent is removed from FDA’s orange book or the patent expires before that time. Accordingly, we may invest a significant amount of time and expense in the
development of one or more product candidates only to be subject to significant delay and patent litigation before such product candidates, if approved, may be commercialized, if at all.
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In addition, a 505(b)(2) NDA will not be approved until any applicable non-patent exclusivity listed in the Orange Book for the listed drug, or for any other drug with the same protected conditions of
approval as our product, has expired. The FDA also may require us to perform one or more additional clinical trials or measurements to support the change from the listed drug, which could be time
consuming and could substantially delay our achievement of regulatory approval. The FDA also may reject any future 505(b)(2) NDAs and require us to submit traditional NDAs under Section
505(b)(1), which would require extensive data to establish safety and effectiveness of the product for the proposed use and could cause delay and additional costs. In addition, the FDA could reject
any future 505(b)(2) application and require us to submit a Section 505(b)(1) NDA or a Section 505(j) ANDA if, before the submission of our 505(b)(2) application, the FDA approves an application
for a product that is pharmaceutically equivalent to ours and determines that our product is inappropriate for review through the 505(b)(2) pathway. These factors, among others, may limit our ability
to commercialize any future product candidates, if approved, successfully.

If we or our partners are required to obtain licenses from third parties, our revenues and royalties on any future commercialized products could be reduced.

The development of certain products based on our drug delivery technologies may require the use of raw materials (e.g., proprietary excipient), active ingredients, drugs (e.g., proprietary proteins) or
technologies developed by third parties. The extent to which efforts by other researchers have resulted or will result in patents and the extent to which we or our partners are forced to obtain licenses
from others, if available, on commercially reasonable terms is currently unknown. If we or our partners must obtain licenses from third parties, fees may be required for such licenses, which could
reduce the net revenues and royalties we receive on any future commercialized products that incorporate our drug delivery technologies.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect the competitive position of our product or any future products for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the U.S., if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a utility patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date.
Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product or any future products are obtained, once the patent life has
expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products, including generics or biosimilars. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new
product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates, if approved, are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may
not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent
agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or applications will be due to be paid to the USPTO and various governmental patent
agencies outside of the U.S. in several stages over the lifetime of the patents and/or applications. We rely on our outside counsel to coordinate payment of these fees due to patent agencies. The
USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application
process. We employ reputable law firms and other professionals to help us comply, and in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with
the applicable rules. However, there are situations in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights
in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market and this circumstance would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product and any future products and product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and intellectual
property rights in some countries outside the U.S. can be less extensive than those in the U.S. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries
outside the U.S., or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not
obtained patent protection to develop their own products and may also export infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S.
These products may compete with our product and any future products, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
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Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in non-U.S. jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain
developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us to stop infringement of our patents or
marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in non-U.S. jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of
not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially
meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property we
develop or license.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of health epidemics, in regions where we or third parties on which we rely have significant manufacturing facilities, concentrations of
potential clinical trial sites or other business operations.

Health epidemics in regions where we have concentrations of potential clinical trial sites or other business operations could adversely affect our business, including by causing significant disruption
in the operations of third parties upon whom we rely. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic presented a substantial public health and economic challenge around the world and affected employees,
patients, communities and business operations, as well as the economy and financial markets.

Health epidemics could continue to produce significant and prolonged disruption of, or volatility in, global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future
negatively affect our liquidity. In addition, to the extent the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affect our business and results of operations, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section.

We are currently operating in a period of economic uncertainty and capital markets disruption, which has been significantly impacted by geopolitical instability, ongoing military conflicts,
including the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the conflict in Israel, and high inflation and rising interest rates, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

U.S. and global markets are experiencing volatility and disruption caused by economic uncertainty, including as a result of the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict and the effects of sanctions imposed
on Russia as a result of the conflict, as well as the recent conflict in Israel and the Gaza Strip. In February 2022, a full-scale military invasion of Ukraine by Russian troops began. Although the length
and impact of the ongoing military conflict is highly unpredictable, the conflict in Ukraine has led to market disruptions, including significant volatility in commodity prices, credit and capital
markets, as well as supply chain interruptions, which has contributed to record inflation globally. In addition, global markets may experience additional disruptions as a result of the current armed
conflict in Israel and the Gaza Strip, with Israel having declared war on Hamas, a U.S. designated Foreign Terrorist Organization, due to recent attacks. We are continuing to monitor inflation, the
situations in Ukraine and Israel and global capital markets and assessing their potential impact on our business, including the impact on the supply chains we rely on for the manufacture of LUMRYZ
or other future product candidates.

Although, to date, our business has not been materially impacted by the events described above, geopolitical tensions, or record inflation, it is impossible to predict the extent to which our operations
will be impacted in the short and long term, or the ways in which such matters may impact our business. The extent and duration of the conflicts in Ukraine and Israel, geopolitical tensions, record
inflation and resulting market disruptions are impossible to predict but could be substantial. Any such disruptions may also magnify the impact of other risks we face.

Risks Related to Litigation and Legal Matters

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or other intellectual property. If we were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering our product or any future product or
product candidate, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent is invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the U.S., defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability
are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, written description or non-
enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability
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assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution. There is
risk that a court could rule in favor of the defendant with respect to such a counterclaim of patent invalidity and/or unenforceability.

Interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patents or
patent applications. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed if the
prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or if a non-exclusive license is offered and our competitors gain access to the same technology. Our defense of
litigation or interference or derivation proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees. In addition, the uncertainties
associated with litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our clinical trials, continue our research programs, license necessary technology
from third parties, or enter into development partnerships that would help us bring future product candidates, if approved, to market.

Because of the substantial amount of discovery that can occur in connection with intellectual property-related litigation and/or administrative proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation/proceeding. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings
or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our shares.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties or that our employees have
wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

We employ or may employ individuals who were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.
Although we endeavor to ensure that our employees, consultants and independent contractors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to
claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary
information, of any of our employee’s former employer or other third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying
any awarded monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel, which could adversely impact our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and/or be a distraction to management and other employees.

We and companies to which we have licensed or will license any future products or technologies and subcontractors we engage or may engage for services related to the development and
manufacturing of our product or any future product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities. Our and their failure to meet strict regulatory
requirements could adversely affect our business.

We, and companies to which we may license any future product or technologies, as well as companies acting as subcontractors for our product developments, including but not limited to non-clinical,
pre-clinical and clinical studies, and manufacturing, are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, other U.S. authorities and equivalent non-U.S. regulatory authorities, particularly the European
Commission and the competent authorities of EU Member States. Those regulatory authorities may conduct periodic audits or inspections of the applicable facilities to monitor compliance with
regulatory standards, and we remain responsible for the compliance of our subcontractors. If the FDA or another regulatory authority finds failure to comply with applicable regulations, the authority
may institute a wide variety of enforcement actions, including:

• warning letters or untitled letters;
• fines and civil penalties;
• delays in clearing or approving, or refusal to clear or approve, products;
• withdrawal, suspension or variation of approval of products; product recall or seizure;
• orders to the competent authorities of EU Member States to withdraw or vary national authorization;
• orders for physician notification or device repair, replacement or refund;
• interruption of production;
• operating restrictions;
• injunctions; and
• criminal prosecution.
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Any adverse action by a competent regulatory agency could lead to unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such action and may impair our ability to produce and market applicable products,
which could significantly impact our revenues and royalties that we would be eligible to receive from our potential customers.

We may face product liability claims related to our product or future products, or claims related to clinical trials for any future product candidates.

The testing, including through clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing, and the use of our product and any future products and product candidates may expose us to potential product liability and
other claims. If any such claims against us are successful, we may be required to make significant compensation payments. Any indemnification that we have obtained, or may obtain, from CROs or
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies or hospitals conducting human clinical trials on our behalf may not protect us from product liability claims or from the costs of related litigation.
Insurance coverage is expensive and difficult to obtain, and we may be unable to obtain coverage in the future on acceptable terms, if at all. We currently maintain general liability insurance and
product liability insurance. We cannot be certain that the coverage limits of our insurance policies or those of our strategic partners will be adequate. If we are unable to obtain sufficient insurance at
an acceptable cost, a product liability claim or recall could adversely affect our financial condition.

Similarly, any indemnification we have obtained, or may obtain, from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with whom we are manufacturing our current product or developing, or will
develop, any future products may not protect us from product liability claims from the consumers of those products or from the costs of related litigation.

If we use hazardous biological and/or chemical materials in a manner that causes injury, we may be liable for significant damages.

Our research, development and manufacturing activities involve the controlled use of potentially harmful biological and/or chemical materials, and are subject to U.S., EU, state, national and local
laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of those materials and specified waste products. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury
from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials, including fires and/or explosions, storage tank leaks and ruptures and discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances. These
operating risks can cause personal injury, property damage and environmental contamination, and may result in the shutdown of affected facilities and the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. The
occurrence of any of these events may significantly reduce the productivity and profitability of a particular manufacturing facility and adversely affect our operating results.

We currently maintain property, business interruption and casualty insurance with limits that we believe to be commercially reasonable but may be inadequate to cover any actual liability or damages.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The price of ADSs representing our ordinary shares has been volatile and may continue to be volatile.

The trading price of ADSs representing our ordinary shares has been, and is likely to continue to be, highly volatile. The market value of an investment in ADSs may fall sharply at any time due to
this volatility. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the closing sale price of ADSs as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market ranged from $6.41 to $16.48. During the year ended December 31,
2022, the closing sale price of ADSs as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market ranged from $1.07 to $10.00. The market prices for securities of drug delivery, specialty pharma, biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies historically have been highly volatile. Factors that could adversely affect our share price include, among others:

• fluctuations in our operating results;
• the success of our LUMRYZ sales and anticipated product revenue;
• the success of competitive products or technologies;
• announcements of technological partnerships, innovations or new products by us or our competitors;
• actions with respect to the acquisition of new or complementary businesses;
• governmental regulations;
• developments in patent or other proprietary rights owned by us or others;
• public concern as to the safety of drug delivery technologies developed by us or drugs developed by others using our technologies;
• the results of pre-clinical testing and clinical studies or trials by us or our competitors;
• adverse events related to LUMRYZ or any future products or product candidates;
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• lack of efficacy of LUMRYZ or any future products or product candidates;
• litigation;
• decisions by our pharmaceutical and biotechnology company partners relating to products that may incorporate our technologies;
• the perception by the market of specialty pharma, biotechnology, and high technology companies generally;
• general market conditions, including the impact of the current financial environment; and
• the dilutive impact of any new equity or convertible debt securities we may issue or have issued.

If we pay dividends, the dividends may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax.

In certain circumstances, as an Irish tax resident company, we may be required to deduct Irish dividend withholding tax (currently at the rate of 25%) from dividends paid to its shareholders.
Shareholders who are resident in the U.S., EU countries (other than Ireland) or other countries with which Ireland has signed a tax treaty (whether the treaty has been ratified or not) generally should
not be subject to Irish withholding tax so long as the shareholder (a) where the shareholder is a body corporate, is not under the control of persons resident in Ireland and (b) has provided its broker,
for onward transmission to our qualifying intermediary or other designated agent (in the case of shares held beneficially), or us or our transfer agent (in the case of shares held directly), with all the
necessary documentation by the appropriate due date prior to payment of the dividend. However, some shareholders may be subject to dividend withholding tax, which could adversely affect the
price of ordinary shares and ADSs.

General Risk Factors

Provisions of our articles of association could delay or prevent a third-party’s effort to acquire us.

Our articles of association could delay, defer or prevent a third-party from acquiring us, even where such a transaction would be beneficial to the holders of ADSs, or could otherwise adversely affect
the price of ADSs. For example, certain provisions of our articles of association:

• permit our board of directors to issue preferred shares with such rights and preferences as they may designate, subject to applicable law;
• impose advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and director nominations to be considered at annual shareholder meetings; and
• require the approval of a supermajority of the voting power of our shares entitled to vote at a general meeting of shareholders to amend or repeal any provisions of our articles of association.

We believe these provisions, if implemented in compliance with applicable law, may provide some protection to holders of ADSs from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics. These provisions
are not intended to make us immune from takeovers. They will, however, apply even if some holders of ADSs consider an offer to be beneficial and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our
Board of Directors determines is in the best interest of the holders of ADSs. Certain of these provisions may also prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors.

In addition, mandatory provisions of Irish law could prevent or delay an acquisition of the Company by a third party. For example, Irish law does not permit shareholders of an Irish public limited
company to take action by written consent with less than unanimous consent. In addition, an effort to acquire us may be subject to various provisions of Irish law relating to mandatory bids, voluntary
bids, requirements to make a cash offer and minimum price requirements, as well as substantial acquisition rules and rules requiring the disclosure of interests in ADSs in certain circumstances.

These provisions may discourage potential takeover attempts or bids for our ordinary shares at a premium over the market price or they may adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and
other rights of the holders of, ADSs. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for holders of ADSs to elect directors other than the candidates nominated by
our board of directors and could depress affect the market price of ADSs.

Irish law differs from the laws in effect in the U.S. and might afford less protection to the holders of ADSs and any actual or potential takeover offer for the Company will be subject to Irish
Takeover Rules.

Holders of ADSs could have more difficulty protecting their interests than would the shareholders of a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the U.S. As an Irish-incorporated company, we are
governed by Irish law, including the Irish Companies Act 2014 and the Irish Takeover Rules, which differs in some significant, and possibly material, respects from provisions set forth
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in various U.S. state laws applicable to U.S. corporations and their shareholders, including provisions relating to interested directors, mergers and acquisitions, takeovers, shareholder lawsuits and
indemnification of directors. The duties of directors and officers of an Irish company are generally owed to the company only. Therefore, under Irish law shareholders of Irish companies do not
generally have a right to commence a legal action against directors or officers and may only do so in limited circumstances. Directors of an Irish company must act with due care and skill, honestly
and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the company. Directors must not put themselves in a position in which their duties to the company and their personal interests conflict and must
disclose any personal interest in any contract or arrangement with the company or any of our subsidiaries. A director or officer can be held personally liable to the company in respect of a breach of
duty to the company.

It may not be possible to enforce court judgments obtained in the U.S. against us in Ireland based on the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there is some
uncertainty as to whether the courts of Ireland would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against us or our directors or officers based on the civil liabilities provisions of U.S.
federal or state securities laws or hear actions against us or those persons based on those laws. We have been advised that the U.S. currently does not have a treaty with Ireland providing for the
reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any U.S. federal or state court based on civil
liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities laws, would not automatically be enforceable in Ireland.

In addition, any actual or potential takeover offer for our company will be subject to the Irish Takeover Rules. Under the Irish Takeover Rules, during the course of an offer or at any earlier time
during which our Board has reason to believe that an offer for our company may be imminent, the Board will not be permitted to take any action, other than seeking alternative offers, which might
frustrate the making of an offer for our ordinary shares unless we obtain approval from our shareholders or from the Irish Takeover Panel for such action. Potentially frustrating actions that are
prohibited during the course of an offer, or at any earlier time during which our Board has reason to believe an offer is or may be imminent, include (i) the issuance of shares, options or convertible
securities or the redemption or purchase of own shares, (ii) material acquisitions or disposals, (iii) entering into contracts other than in the ordinary course of business or (iv) any action, other than
seeking alternative offers, which may result in frustration of an offer. Accordingly, if these restrictions become applicable to us, we may be unable to take, or may be delayed in taking, certain actions,
in connection with a financing, commercial or strategic transaction or otherwise, that we believe are in the best interest of the Company.

Judgments of U.S. courts, including those predicated on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the U.S., may not be enforceable in Irish courts.

An investor in the U.S. may find it difficult to:
• effect service of process within the U.S. against us and our non-U.S. resident directors and officers;
• enforce U.S. court judgments based upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against us and our non-U.S. resident directors and officers in Ireland; or
• bring an original action in an Irish court to enforce liabilities based upon the U.S. federal securities laws against us and our non-U.S. resident directors and officers.

Judgments of U.S. courts, including those predicated on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the U.S., may not be enforceable in Cayman Islands courts.

We have been advised by our Cayman Islands legal counsel, Maples and Calder, that the courts of the Cayman Islands are unlikely (i) to recognize or enforce against us judgments of courts of the
U.S. predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the U.S. or any State; and (ii) in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands, to impose liabilities against us predicated
upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the U.S. or any State, so far as the liabilities imposed by those provisions are penal in nature. In those circumstances, although there is no
statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the U.S., the courts of the Cayman Islands will recognize and enforce a foreign money judgment of a foreign court of competent
jurisdiction without retrial on the merits based on the principle that a judgment of a competent foreign court imposes upon the judgment debtor an obligation to pay the sum for which judgment has
been given provided certain conditions are met. For a foreign judgment to be enforced in the Cayman Islands, such judgment must be final and conclusive and for a liquidated sum, and must not be in
respect of taxes or a fine or penalty, inconsistent with a Cayman Islands judgment in respect of the same matter, impeachable on the grounds of fraud or obtained in a manner, and or be of a kind the
enforcement of which is, contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands (awards of punitive or multiple damages may well be held to be contrary to public policy). A Cayman
Islands Court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought elsewhere.
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Holders of ADSs have fewer rights than shareholders and have to act through the Depositary to exercise those rights.

Holders of ADSs do not have the same rights as shareholders and, accordingly, cannot exercise rights of shareholders against us. The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary (the “Depositary”), is
the registered shareholder of the deposited shares underlying the ADSs. Therefore, holders of ADSs will generally have to exercise the rights attached to those shares through the Depositary. We will
use reasonable efforts to request that the Depositary notify the holders of ADSs of upcoming votes and ask for voting instructions from them. If a holder fails to return a voting instruction card to the
Depositary by the date established by the Depositary for receipt of such voting instructions, or if the Depositary receives an improperly completed or blank voting instruction card, or if the voting
instructions included in the voting instruction card are illegible or unclear, then such holder will be deemed to have instructed the Depositary to vote its shares, and the Depositary shall vote such
shares in favor of any resolution proposed or approved by our Board of Directors and against any resolution not so proposed or approved.

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise confidential information and expose us to liability and cause our business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store on our networks various intellectual property including our proprietary business information and that of customers, suppliers and business
partners. The secure maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Despite our security measures, our information systems and infrastructure
may be vulnerable to disruptions such as computer hacking, phishing attacks, ransomware, dissemination of computer viruses, worms and other destructive or disruptive software, attacks by hackers
or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or
stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, investigations by regulatory authorities in the U.S. and EU Member States, disruption to
our operations and damage to our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business.

We could suffer financial loss or the loss of valuable confidential information. Although we develop and maintain systems and controls designed to prevent these events from occurring and we have a
process to identify and mitigate threats, the development and maintenance of these systems, controls and processes is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies change and
efforts to overcome security measures become increasingly sophisticated. Moreover, despite our efforts, the possibility of these events occurring cannot be eliminated entirely and there can be no
assurance that any measures we take will prevent cyber-attacks or security breaches that could adversely affect our business.

We have broad discretion in the use of our cash and may not use it effectively.

Our management has broad discretion in the use of our cash and may not apply our cash in ways that ultimately increases the value of any investment in our securities. We currently intend to use our
cash to fund marketing activities for LUMRYZ, to fund clinical trials for product candidates, to fund research and development activities for potential new product candidates, and for working capital,
capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. As in the past, we expect to invest our excess cash in available-for-sale marketable securities, including corporate bonds, U.S. government
securities, other fixed income securities and equities; and these investments may not yield a favorable return. If we do not invest or apply our cash effectively, our financial position and the price of
ADSs may decline.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends and cannot assure the holders of our ADSs that we will make dividend payments in the future.

We have never declared or paid a cash dividend on any of our ordinary shares or ADSs and do not anticipate declaring cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Declaration of dividends will be at the
sole discretion of our Board of Directors and depend upon, among other things, future earnings, if any, the operating and financial condition of our business, our capital requirements, general business
conditions and such other factors as our Board of Directors deems relevant.

Our effective tax rate could be highly volatile and could adversely affect our operating results.

Our future effective tax rate may be adversely affected by a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including:

• the jurisdictions in which profits are determined to be earned and taxed;
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• changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
• changes in share-based compensation expense;
• changes in domestic or international tax laws or the interpretation of such tax laws;
• changes in available tax credits;
• adjustments to estimated taxes upon finalization of various tax returns; and
• the resolution of issues arising from tax audits with various tax authorities.

Any significant increase in our future effective tax rates could impact our results of operations for future periods adversely.

Changes in tax law could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Changes to applicable U.S. or foreign tax laws and regulations, or their interpretation and application (which changes
may have retroactive application), including with respect to net operating losses and research and development tax credits, could adversely affect us or holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs. In
recent years, many such changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. Future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow,
financial condition or results of operations. We urge investors to consult with their legal and tax advisors regarding the implications of potential changes in tax laws on an investment in our ordinary
shares or ADSs.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $212,426 of net operating losses in the U.S. Of the $212,426 of net operating losses in the U.S., $10,365 were acquired due to the acquisition of FSC Therapeutics
and FSC Laboratories, Inc., (collectively “FSC”) and $195,595 are due to the losses at Avadel US Holdings, Inc. The portion due to the acquisition of FSC will expire in 2034 through 2035 and will
not be fully utilized before they expire.

Under U.S. federal tax legislation enacted in 2017, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”), U.S. federal net operating losses incurred in 2018 and in future years may be carried
forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such U.S. federal net operating losses is limited. Under Sections 382 and 383 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) if a corporation
undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage-point cumulative change (by value) in the equity ownership of certain shareholders over a rolling three-year
period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating losses and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change taxable income or taxes may be limited. We may also experience
ownership changes as a result of this offering or future issuances of our stock or as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which are outside our control. We have completed an
analysis to determine that no events have been triggered in the past. If any ownership changes are determined to be triggered in the future, our ability to use our current net operating losses to offset
post-change taxable income or taxes would be subject to limitation. We will be unable to use our net operating losses if we do not attain profitability sufficient to offset our available net operating
losses prior to their expiration.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $111,647 of net operating losses in Ireland that do not have an expiration date. While these losses do not have an expiration date, substantial changes
in the activities performed in these jurisdictions could have an impact on our ability to utilize these tax attributes in the future.

U.S. Holders of ordinary shares or ADSs may suffer adverse U.S. tax consequences if we are classified as a passive foreign investment company.

Generally, if, for any taxable year, at least 75% of our gross income is passive income, or at least 50% of the value of our assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the
production of passive income, including cash, we would be characterized as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. For purposes of these tests, passive
income includes dividends, interest, and gains from the sale or exchange of investment property and rents and royalties other than rents and royalties that are received from unrelated parties in
connection with the active conduct of a trade or business. Our status as a PFIC depends on the composition of our income and the composition and value of our assets (for which purpose the total
value of our assets may be determined in part by the market value of the ordinary shares or ADSs, which are subject to change) from time to time. If we are characterized as a PFIC, U.S. Holders (as
defined below under “Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations for U.S. Holders”) of ordinary shares or ADSs may suffer materially adverse tax consequences, including having gains
realized on the sale of ordinary shares or ADSs treated as ordinary income, rather than capital gain, the loss of the preferential rate applicable to dividends received on ordinary shares or ADSs by
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individuals who are U.S. Holders, and having interest charges apply to distributions by us and the proceeds of sales of ordinary shares or ADSs.

We believe that we were not a PFIC for the taxable year ending December 31, 2023 and, based on the expected value of our assets, including any goodwill, and the expected nature and composition
of our income and assets, we expect that we will not be a PFIC for our current taxable year. However, our status as a PFIC is a fact-intensive determination subject to various uncertainties, and we
cannot provide any assurances regarding our PFIC status for the current, prior or future taxable years.

Certain U.S. Holders that own 10 percent or more of the vote or value of ordinary shares or ADSs may suffer adverse U.S. tax consequences because our non-U.S. subsidiaries are expected to be
classified as controlled foreign corporations.

Each ‘‘Ten Percent Shareholder’’ (as defined below) in a non-U.S. corporation that is classified as a ‘‘controlled foreign corporation,’’ or a CFC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes generally is
required to include in income for U.S. federal tax purposes such Ten Percent Shareholder’s pro rata share of the CFC’s ‘‘Subpart F income’’ and investment of earnings in U.S. property, even if the
CFC has made no distributions to its shareholders. Subpart F income generally includes dividends, interest, rents, royalties, ‘‘global intangible low-taxed income,’’ gains from the sale of securities
and income from certain transactions with related parties. In addition, a Ten Percent Shareholder that realizes gain from the sale or exchange of shares in a CFC may be required to classify a portion
of such gain as dividend income rather than capital gain. A non-U.S. corporation generally will be classified as a CFC for U.S. federal income tax purposes if Ten Percent Shareholders own, directly
or indirectly, more than 50% of either the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of such corporation entitled to vote or of the total value of the stock of such corporation. A ‘‘Ten Percent
Shareholder’’ is a U.S. person (as defined by the Code) who owns or is considered to own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote or 10% or more of
the total value of all classes of stock of such corporation.

We believe that we were not a CFC in the 2023 taxable year, but that our non-U.S. subsidiaries were CFCs in the 2023 taxable year. We anticipate that our non-U.S. subsidiaries will remain CFCs in
the 2024 taxable year, and it is possible that we may become a CFC in the 2024 taxable year or in a subsequent taxable year. The determination of CFC status is complex and includes attribution
rules, the application of which is not entirely certain. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the potential adverse U.S. tax consequences of becoming a Ten Percent
Shareholder in a CFC, including the possibility and consequences of becoming a Ten Percent Shareholder in one or more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries that are anticipated to be treated as CFCs. If we
are classified as both a CFC and a PFIC, we generally will not be treated as a PFIC with respect to those U.S. Holders that meet the definition of a Ten Percent Shareholder during the period in which
we are a CFC, subject to certain exceptions.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance requirements, including establishing and
maintaining internal controls over financial reporting. We may be exposed to potential risks if we are unable to comply the requirements to maintain internal controls over financial reporting or
if we identify material weaknesses.

As a company, publicly-listed in the U.S., we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and the listing rules of the Nasdaq
Stock Market ("Nasdaq"), and incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses to comply with applicable requirements. These rules impose various requirements on public companies, including
requiring certain corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our
legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

For example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act") requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal controls for financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures. In particular, we must perform system and process evaluations and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Such compliance may require that we incur substantial accounting expenses and expend significant
management efforts.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that information we must disclose in reports we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules
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and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the
controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Sales of a substantial number of ADSs by us or existing security holders in the public market could cause our share price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of ADSs by us or existing security holders in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur could depress the market price of ADSs and could impair
our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of ADSs. In addition, the sale of
substantial amounts of ADSs could adversely impact its price. As of February 26, 2024, we had outstanding 90,577 ordinary shares, 5,194 ordinary shares issuable upon conversion of our preferred
shares, options to purchase 10,246 ordinary shares or ADSs, with an average exercise price of $7.30, and unsettled restricted shares and performance shares relating to 38 ordinary shares. The sale or
the availability for sale of a large number of ADSs in the public market could cause the price of ADSs to decline.

Because we expect we will need to raise additional capital to fund our future activities, we may in the future sell substantial amounts of ADSs or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
ordinary shares.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have control over these analysts.
There can be no assurance that existing analysts will continue to provide research coverage or that new analysts will begin to provide research coverage. Although we have obtained analyst coverage,
if one or more of the analysts covering our business downgrade their evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our stock, we could
lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

A transfer of ordinary shares may be subject to Irish stamp duty.

Transfers of ordinary shares (as opposed to ADSs) could be subject to Irish stamp duty (currently at the rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid or the market value of the shares acquired). Payment
of Irish stamp duty is generally a legal obligation of the transferee. Although transfers of ADSs are not subject to Irish stamp duty, the potential for stamp duty to arise on transfers of ordinary shares
could adversely affect the price of our ordinary shares or ADSs.

Our business is affected by macroeconomic conditions, including rising inflation, interest rates and supply chain constraints.

Various macroeconomic factors could adversely affect our business and the results of our operations and financial condition, including changes in inflation, interest rates and overall economic
conditions and uncertainties such as those resulting from the current and future conditions in the global financial markets. Recent supply chain constraints have led to higher inflation, which if
sustained could have a negative impact on any future product candidate development, commercialization activities for LUMRYZ and any future products, and operations. If inflation or other factors
were to significantly increase our business costs, our ability to develop our current pipeline and new therapeutic products may be negatively affected. Interest rates, the liquidity of the credit markets
and the volatility of the capital markets could also affect the operation of our business and our ability to raise capital on favorable terms, or at all, in order to fund our operations. Similarly, these
macroeconomic factors could affect the ability of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers to manufacture clinical trial and commercial materials.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional
counterparties, could adversely affect the Company’s current and projected business operations and its financial condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial
services industry or the financial services industry
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generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems.

Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led to a decline in the trading value of previously issued government securities with interest rates below current market interest rates. Although the
U.S. Department of Treasury, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and Federal Reserve Board have announced a program to provide up to $25 billion of loans to financial institutions
secured by certain of such government securities held by financial institutions to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such instruments, widespread demands for customer withdrawals or
other liquidity needs of financial institutions for immediately liquidity may exceed the capacity of such program. Additionally, there is no guarantee that the U.S. Department of Treasury, FDIC and
Federal Reserve Board will provide access to uninsured funds in the future in the event of the closure of other banks or financial institutions, or that they would do so in a timely fashion.

Although we assess our banking and customer relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts adequate to finance or
capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be significantly impaired by factors that affect the Company, the financial institutions with which the Company has credit
agreements or arrangements directly, or the financial services industry or economy in general. These factors could include, among others, events such as liquidity constraints or failures, the ability to
perform obligations under various types of financial, credit or liquidity agreements or arrangements, disruptions or instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or
negative expectations about the prospects for companies in the financial services industry. These factors could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which the
Company has financial or business relationships, but could also include factors involving financial markets or the financial services industry generally.

The results of events or concerns that involve one or more of these factors could include a variety of material and adverse impacts on our current and projected business operations and our financial
condition and results of operations. These could include, but may not be limited to, the following:

• Delayed access to deposits or other financial assets or the uninsured loss of deposits or other financial assets;
• Delayed or lost access to, or reductions in borrowings available under revolving existing credit facilities or other working capital sources and/or delays, inability or reductions in the

Company’s ability to refund, roll over or extend the maturity of, or enter into new credit facilities or other working capital resources;
• Potential or actual breach of contractual obligations that require the Company to maintain letters of credit or other credit support arrangements;
• Potential or actual breach of financial covenants in our credit agreements or credit arrangements;
• Potential or actual breach of our long-term debt obligations;
• Potential or actual cross-defaults in other credit agreements, credit arrangements or operating or financing agreements; or
• Termination of cash management arrangements and/or delays in accessing or actual loss of funds subject to cash management arrangements.

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates or costs and tighter
financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any
decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact our ability to meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other
obligations, result in breaches of our financial and/or contractual obligations or result in violations of federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from
the factors described above or other related or similar factors not described above, could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and
financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None.

Item 1C.    Cybersecurity.

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy
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At Avadel, we recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing risks from cybersecurity threats. We have implemented a cybersecurity risk management process in accordance with
our risk profile and business that is informed by industry standards.

We maintain cybersecurity policies and procedures as part of our overall risk management process. We leverage the support of third-party information technology and security providers, including for
periodic security testing and risk assessments which are designed to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks. We perform cybersecurity risk analyses of select third-party service providers and
maintain an incident response and notification plan designed to assist us in identifying, responding to, and recovering from cybersecurity incidents.

We did not experience any material cybersecurity threats or incidents for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Governance Related to Cybersecurity Risk

Our Senior Director of Information Technology (“IT”), who reports to the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for the strategic leadership and direction of the Company’s cybersecurity program.
The Senior Director of IT has over 30 years of professional experience in IT, including the development of data protection strategies, identification of cybersecurity matters, management of IT
environments, (including corresponding data relied on in the environment), and timely deployment of responses to cybersecurity incidents. Further, the Senior Director of IT has education related
qualifications specific to cybersecurity, including a Master of Science in Cybersecurity Management.

As part of the Company’s incident response and notification plan, the Senior Director of IT has a process to assess potential cybersecurity incidents through a cybersecurity incident decision matrix.
The Senior Director of IT escalates cybersecurity incidents to our Cybersecurity Response Committee, which consists of key members of executive management. The Cybersecurity Response
Committee, informed by information and recommendations from the Senior Director of IT, determines appropriate actions and responses, as needed.

The audit committee of our Board of Directors has responsibility for oversight of the Company’s cybersecurity risk management and receives cybersecurity updates from management at regularly
scheduled meetings.

Item 2.        Properties.

We have commercial and administrative activities located in Chesterfield, Missouri. Our current office space consists of 24,236 square feet, and the lease expires in 2025.

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding our investment
activities and principal capital expenditures over the last two years.

Item 3.        Legal Proceedings.

For information regarding legal proceedings we are involved in, see Note 14: Contingent Liabilities and Commitments to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4.        Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 
Common Stock Data (per share):
 
The principal trading market for our securities in ADSs is the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “AVDL”. There is no foreign trading market for our ordinary shares, ADSs or any other equity
security issued by us. Each ADS represents one ordinary share, nominal value $0.01. The Bank of New York Mellon is the Depositary for the ADSs.
 
As of February 26, 2024, there were 90,577 ordinary shares outstanding, and our closing stock price was $12.99 per share.
  
Holders

As of February 26, 2024, there were 58 holders of record of our ordinary shares and accounts registered with The Bank of New York Mellon, the Depositary of our ADS program, as holders of ADSs,
one of which is registered to the Depositary Trust Corporation (“DTC”). Because our ADSs are generally held of record by brokers, nominees and other institutions as participants in DTC on behalf
of the beneficial owners of such ADSs, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial owners of the ADSs held by these record holders.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid a cash dividend on any of our shares and do not anticipate declaring cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Irish taxes applicable to U.S. holders

The following is a general summary of the main Irish tax considerations applicable to the purchase, ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares by U.S. holders. It is based on existing Irish law
and practices in effect on February 26, 2024, and on correspondence with the Irish Revenue Commissioners. Legislative, administrative or judicial changes may modify the tax consequences
described below.

The statements do not constitute tax advice and are intended only as a general guide. Furthermore, this information applies only to our ordinary shares held as capital assets and does not apply to all
categories of shareholders, such as dealers in securities, trustees, insurance companies, collective investment schemes and shareholders who acquire, or who are deemed to acquire, their ordinary
shares by virtue of an office or employment. This summary is not exhaustive and shareholders should consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences in Ireland, or other relevant
jurisdictions where we operate, including the acquisition, ownership and disposition of ordinary shares.

Withholding tax on dividends

While we have no current plans to pay dividends, dividends on our ordinary shares would generally be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax (“DWT”) at 25%, unless an exemption applies. In
advance of payment of any dividends, we intend to seek confirmation from the Irish Revenue Commissioners that dividends on our ordinary shares that are owned by residents of the U.S. and held
beneficially through the Depositary Trust Company (“DTC”) would not be expected to be subject to DWT provided that the address of the beneficial owner of the ordinary shares in the records of the
broker is in the U.S.
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Dividends on our ordinary shares that are owned by residents of the U.S. and held directly (outside of DTC) will not be subject to DWT provided that the shareholder (a) where the shareholder is a
body corporate, is not under the control of persons resident
in Ireland and (b) has completed the appropriate Irish DWT form and this form remains valid. Such shareholders must provide the appropriate Irish DWT form to our transfer agent at least seven
business days before the record date for the first dividend payment to which they are entitled.

If any shareholder who is resident in the U.S. receives a dividend subject to DWT, he or she should generally be able to make an application for a refund from the Irish Revenue Commissioners on the
prescribed form.

Income tax on dividends

Irish income tax, if any, may arise in respect of dividends paid by us. However, a shareholder who is neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and who is entitled to an exemption from DWT,
generally has no liability for Irish income tax or to the universal social charge on a dividend from us, unless he or she holds his or her ordinary shares through a branch or agency in Ireland which
carries out a trade on his or her behalf.

Irish tax on capital gains

A shareholder who is neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and does not hold our ordinary shares in connection with a trade or business carried on by such shareholder in Ireland through a
branch or agency, should not be within the scope of the charge to Irish tax on capital gains on a disposal of our ordinary shares.

A shareholder who is an individual and who is temporarily not resident in Ireland may, under Irish anti-avoidance legislation, still be liable for Irish tax on capital gains on any chargeable gain
realized upon the disposal of our ordinary shares during the period in which such individual is a non-resident.

Capital acquisitions tax

Irish capital acquisitions tax (“CAT”) is comprised principally of gift tax and inheritance tax. CAT could apply to a gift or inheritance of our ordinary shares irrespective of the place of residence,
ordinary residence or domicile of the parties. This is because our ordinary shares are regarded as property situated in Ireland as our share register must be held in Ireland. The person who receives the
gift or inheritance has primary liability for CAT.

CAT is levied at a rate of 33% above certain tax‑free thresholds. The appropriate tax‑free threshold is dependent upon (i) the relationship between the donor and the recipient, and (ii) the aggregation
of the values of previous gifts and inheritances received by the recipient from persons within the same category of relationship for CAT purposes. Gifts and inheritances passing between spouses are
exempt from CAT. Children currently have a tax-free threshold of €335,000 in respect of taxable gifts or inheritances received from their parents. Our shareholders should consult their own tax
advisers as to whether CAT is creditable or deductible in computing any domestic tax liabilities.

Stamp duty

Irish stamp duty may become payable in respect of ordinary share transfers. However, a transfer of our ordinary shares from a seller who holds shares through DTC to a buyer who holds the acquired
shares through DTC should not be subject to Irish stamp duty. A transfer of our ordinary shares (i) by a seller who holds ordinary shares outside of DTC to any buyer, or (ii) by a seller who holds the
ordinary shares through DTC to a buyer who holds the acquired ordinary shares outside of DTC, may be subject to Irish stamp duty, which is currently at the rate of 1% of the price paid or the market
value of the ordinary shares acquired, if greater. The person accountable for payment of stamp duty is the buyer or, in the case of a transfer by way of a gift or for less than market value, all parties to
the transfer.

A shareholder who holds ordinary shares outside of DTC may transfer those ordinary shares into DTC without giving rise to Irish stamp duty provided that the shareholder would be the beneficial
owner of the related book‑entry interest in those ordinary shares recorded in the systems of DTC, and in exactly the same proportions, as a result of the transfer and at the time of the transfer into
DTC there is no sale of those book‑entry interests to a third party being contemplated by the shareholder. Similarly, a shareholder who holds ordinary shares through DTC may transfer those ordinary
shares out of DTC without giving rise to Irish stamp duty provided that the shareholder would be the beneficial owner of the ordinary shares, and in exactly the same proportions, as a result of the
transfer, and at the time of the transfer out of DTC there is no sale of those ordinary shares to a third party being contemplated by the shareholder. In order for the share registrar to be satisfied as to
the application of this Irish stamp duty treatment where relevant, the shareholder must confirm to us that the shareholder would be the beneficial
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owner of the related book‑entry interest in those ordinary shares recorded in the systems of DTC, and in exactly the same proportions or vice‑versa, as a result of the transfer and there is no
agreement for the sale of the related book‑entry interest or the ordinary shares or an interest in the ordinary shares, as the case may be, by the shareholder to a third party being contemplated.

Share Performance Graph
 
The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year return provided to shareholders of Avadel’s ADSs relative to the cumulative total returns of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq
Biotechnology Index. We believe these indices are the most appropriate indices against which the total shareholder return of Avadel should be measured. The Nasdaq Biotechnology Index has been
selected because it is an index of U.S. quoted biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our ADSs
and in each of the indexes on January 1, 2019 and our relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2023. The comparisons shown in the graph are based upon historical data and we caution
that the stock price performance shown in the graph is not indicative of, or intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our stock.

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary set forth in any of our filings under the Securities
Act or the Exchange Act that might incorporate future filings, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in whole or in part, this performance graph shall not be incorporated by reference into any
such filings except as may be expressly set forth by specific reference in any such filing.

Item 6.        Reserved.

Not Applicable.
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Item 7.        Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

(In thousands, except per share data) 

You should read the discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations set forth in this Item 7 together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, and reference is
made to the “Cautionary Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” set forth immediately following the Table of Contents of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information
on the forward looking statements herein. In addition, you should read the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Information pertaining to fiscal year 2021 was included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, on pages 69 through 82, under Part II, Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which was filed with the SEC on March 29, 2023.
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Overview 

Nature of Operations

Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (Nasdaq: AVDL) (“Avadel,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) is a biopharmaceutical company. LUMRYZ is an extended-release formulation of sodium oxybate
indicated to be taken once at bedtime for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy.

As of the date of this Annual Report, LUMRYZ is the only commercialized product in our portfolio. We continue to evaluate opportunities to expand our product portfolio.

LUMRYZ

LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA on May 1, 2023 for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy. In approving LUMRYZ, the FDA required a REMS for LUMRYZ to help
ensure that the benefits of the drug in the treatment of cataplexy and EDS in adults with narcolepsy outweigh the risks of serious adverse outcomes resulting from inappropriate prescribing, misuse,
abuse, and diversion of the drug. Under this REMS, healthcare providers who prescribe the drug must be specially certified; pharmacies that dispense the drug must be specially certified; and the drug
must be dispensed only to patients who have enrolled in the LUMRYZ REMS and completed all REMS requirements including documentation of safe use conditions, among other requirements.
Additionally, with its approval, the FDA also granted seven years of orphan drug exclusivity to LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults with narcolepsy due to a finding of clinical
superiority of LUMRYZ relative to currently marketed oxybate treatments. In particular, the FDA found that LUMRYZ makes a major contribution to patient care over currently marketed, twice-
nightly oxybate treatments by providing a once-nightly dosing regimen that avoids nocturnal arousal to take a second dose. The orphan exclusivity will continue until May 1, 2030. In June 2023, we
announced the U.S. commercial launch of LUMRYZ for the treatment of cataplexy or EDS in adults living with narcolepsy.

Numerous LUMRYZ-related U.S. patents have been issued having expiration dates spanning from mid-2037 to early-2042, and there are additional patent applications currently in development
and/or pending at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”), as well as foreign patent offices. We currently have numerous Orange Book listed patents.

We submitted a Supplemental New Drug Application (“sNDA”) for LUMRYZ in the pediatric narcolepsy population in November 2023. The sNDA was accepted by the FDA in January 2024 and an
approval decision is expected in September 2024.

With respect to clinical data generated for LUMRYZ, we conducted a Phase 3 clinical trial of LUMRYZ (the “REST-ON trial”), which was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study that
enrolled 212 patients who received at least one dose of LUMRYZ or placebo, and was conducted in clinical sites in the U.S., Canada, Western Europe and Australia. Positive top line data from the
REST-ON trial were announced on April 27, 2020.

Additionally, our open-label extension/switch study of LUMRYZ (“RESTORE”) examined the long-term safety and maintenance of efficacy of LUMRYZ in patients with narcolepsy who
participated in the REST-ON trial, as well as dosing and preference data for patients who switched from twice-nightly sodium oxybate to once-at-bedtime LUMRYZ, regardless of whether they
participated in the REST-ON trial. In May 2021, inclusion criteria were expanded to allow for oxybate naïve patients to enter the study. An interim safety analysis from the ongoing RESTORE study
showed that LUMRYZ has generally been well-tolerated, with some patients receiving therapy for more than 18 months. In addition, interim data from RESTORE were presented demonstrating that
a high proportion of patients switching from twice-nightly oxybate formulations had difficulty in taking the second dose, with a high proportion (92.5%) stating a preference for the once-at-bedtime
dosing regimen and that most participants switching from twice-nightly oxybate formulations had a stable dose equal to their starting dose. Subsequent interim data showed a preference (94.0%) for
the once-at-bedtime dosing regimen. The last patient visit occurred in October 2023.

A discrete choice experiment (“DCE”) showed that once-at-bedtime dosing, when compared to twice-nightly dosing, was the most important attribute driving both patient and clinician preference for
overall oxybate product choice, as well as patient quality of life and reduction of patient anxiety/stress; dosing frequency (twice-nightly versus once-at-bedtime) was also viewed as a more important
attribute as compared to other attributes assessed, including sodium content. Accompanying the DCE was a background survey for both patients and clinicians, which showed that dosing frequency
was noted as a significant stressor by both patients and clinicians.
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Additional peer-reviewed publications have included data on improvement on disturbed nocturnal sleep (“DNS”), the first DCE and a Plain Language Summary reviewing sodium oxybate and
cardiovascular health, which did not identify a signal of cardiovascular disease in the over twenty years that sodium oxybate has been available.

At the 2023 SLEEP meeting, additional LUMRYZ data, including post-hoc analyses from the pivotal REST-ON trial, interim data from the open-label RESTORE study and real-world evidence
regarding sodium oxybate utilization and co-morbidities were presented. At the World Sleep meeting in October 2023, these data were presented as encores, along with new post-hoc analyses from
the REST-ON trial showing additional clinical efficacy data for LUMRYZ.

A second DCE among clinicians was published in May 2023, showing the dosing regimen was the most important driver of choice, with once-nightly preferred. Post-hoc analyses of narcolepsy Type
1 (“NT1”) and Type 2 (“NT2”) were also published, demonstrating consistent improvements regardless of narcolepsy type. A third plain language summary has been published; most recently
evaluated the improvements of LUMRYZ on DNS.

We believe LUMRYZ has the potential to demonstrate improved dosing compliance, safety, and patient satisfaction over other treatment options for cataplexy or EDS in patients with narcolepsy.

Key Business Trends and Highlights 

In operating our business and monitoring our performance, we consider a number of performance measures, as well as trends affecting our industry as a whole, which include the following: 

• Healthcare and Regulatory Reform: Various health care reform laws in the U.S. may impact our ability to successfully commercialize our products and technologies. The success of our
commercialization efforts may depend on the extent to which the government health administration authorities, the health insurance funds in the E.U. Member States, private health insurers
and other third-party payers in the U.S. will reimburse consumers for the cost of healthcare products and services.

• Competition and Technological Change: Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry continues to be intense and is expected to increase. We compete with academic
laboratories, research institutions, universities, joint ventures, and other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including other companies developing niche branded or generic
specialty pharmaceutical products or drug delivery platforms. Furthermore, major technological changes can happen quickly in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Such rapid
technological change, or the development by our competitors of technologically improved or differentiated products, could render our products, product candidates, or drug delivery platforms
obsolete or noncompetitive.

• Pricing Environment for Pharmaceuticals: The pricing environment continues to be in the political spotlight in the U.S. As a result, the need to obtain and maintain appropriate pricing for
pharmaceutical products may become more challenging due to, among other things, the attention being paid to healthcare cost containment and other austerity measures in the U.S. and
worldwide.

• Generics Playing a Larger Role in Healthcare: Generic pharmaceutical products will continue to play a large role in the U.S. healthcare system. LUMRYZ may face competition from
manufacturers of generic twice-nightly sodium oxybate formulations. In January 2023, Hikma Pharmaceuticals plc, announced that it launched an authorized generic version of Jazz
Pharmaceuticals plc’s (“Jazz”) Xyrem (sodium oxybate). In July 2023, Amneal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced that it launched an authorized generic version of Jazz’s Xyrem (sodium
oxybate).

• Access to and Cost of Capital: Similar to other businesses in our industry and at our stage of development, we will continue to rely on external sources of capital to fund our business. The
process of raising capital and the associated cost of such capital for a company of our financial profile can be difficult and potentially expensive. If the need were to arise to raise additional
capital, access to that capital may be difficult, expensive and/or dilutive and, as a result, could create liquidity challenges for us.

• Continuing Net Loss from Operations: We have a recent history of generating losses from operations and expect to continue generating losses until we are able to generate revenues
sufficient to generate positive cash flow from the commercialization of LUMRYZ. LUMRYZ is the only commercialized product in our portfolio, and we will incur substantial expenses to
continue our commercial launch of LUMRYZ.
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Financial Highlights

Highlights of our consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

• Net product revenue was $27,963 for the year ended December 31, 2023. LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA on May 1, 2023 and we began shipping product to our customers in June 2023.

• Operating loss was $137,849 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to operating loss of $98,561 for the year ended December 31, 2022. Selling, general & administrative expenses
increased $77,189 during the year ended December 31, 2023, driven by increased headcount and costs associated with the commercial launch of LUMRYZ and higher legal fees. Research
and development expenses decreased $7,439 during the year ended December 31, 2023, driven by lower pre-commercial LUMRYZ related costs of $11,500 that we began capitalizing to
inventory in May 2023 upon FDA approval of LUMRYZ. Prior to FDA approval these costs were recorded as research and development expense. This was offset by an increase of $3,300 in
pre-commercial product related costs for new research and development activity.

• Net loss was $160,276 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to net loss of $137,464 in the same period last year.

• Diluted net loss per share was $2.00 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to diluted net loss per share of $2.29 in the same period last year.

• Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities increased by $8,612 to $105,111 at December 31, 2023 from $96,499 at December 31, 2022. This increase was driven primarily by net
proceeds of $134,151 received in exchange for issuing 12,205 ordinary shares, nominal value $0.01 per share (“Ordinary Shares”) in the form of ADSs and 4,706 Series B Non-Voting
Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series B Preferred Shares”) in the April 3, 2023 public offering, proceeds of $30,000 received for the first tranche of the royalty purchase agreement, net
proceeds of $11,913 from the sale of ADSs through an Open Market Sale Agreement  with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”) with respect to an at-the-market offering program (“ATM Program”)
under which we may offer and sell our ADSs through Jefferies as our sales agent and $2,293 of proceeds from stock option exercises and employee share purchase plan issuances, offset by
net cash used in operating activities of $128,511, cash settlement of $17,500 for our 4.50% exchangeable senior notes that matured in February 2023 (the “February 2023 Notes”), cash
settlement of $21,165 for our 4.50% exchangeable senior notes that matured in October 2023 (the “October 2023 Notes”) and debt issuance costs of $4,357.

SM
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to use judgment in making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods
presented.

We have identified certain policies and estimates as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our past or present results of operations. These policies and estimates are considered
critical because they had a material impact, or they have the potential to have a material impact, on our consolidated financial statements and because they require us to make significant judgments,
assumptions or estimates. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions made when accounting for the items described below were reasonable, based on information available at the time
they were made. However, actual results may differ from those estimates, and these differences may be material. For a complete list of significant accounting policies, see Note 1: Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue. We sell products to specialty pharmacies and consider those specialty pharmacies to be our customers. Under ASC 606, revenue from product sales is recognized when the customer obtains
control of the product, which occurs typically upon receipt by the customer. Our gross product sales are subject to a variety of price adjustments to arrive at reported net product revenue. These
adjustments include estimates of payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns and are estimated based on contractual arrangements,
historical trends, expected utilization of such products and other judgments and analysis.

Product Sales

Revenue from product sales are recognized when the customer obtains control of our product and our performance obligations are met, which occurs typically upon receipt of delivery to the
customer. As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, our gross product sales are subject to a variety of price adjustments in arriving at reported net product revenue. These adjustments include
estimates of payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns and are estimated based on contractual arrangements, historical trends,
expected utilization of such products and other judgments and analysis.

Reserves for Variable Consideration

Revenues from product sales are recorded at the estimated net selling price, which includes reserves for estimated variable consideration to reduce gross product sales to net product revenue resulting
from payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns. These reserves are based on the amounts earned or to be claimed on the related
sales and are classified as reductions of accounts receivable if the amount is payable to the customer. The reserves are classified as a liability if the amount is payable to a party other than a customer.
Where appropriate, these estimated reserves take into consideration relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data,
historical trends, current and expected patient demand and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect our best estimates to reduce gross selling price to net
selling price. The actual net selling price ultimately may differ from our estimates.

Payment Discounts and Specialty Pharmacy Fees

Payment discounts and specialty pharmacy fees represent the estimated obligations resulting from contractual commitments with our customers. We offer customers discounts off of list price and fees
for the distribution of our products. Reserves for these discounts and fees are established in the same period that the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of gross product sales and
accounts receivable.

Patient Assistance Programs

We offer certain patient assistance programs. We have multiple programs to assist patients, including patient financial assistance programs. We estimate a reserve for these patient financial assistance
programs primarily based on expected utilization by patients. These reserves are established in the same period that the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of gross product sales.

Rebates
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Rebates and other fees represent the estimated obligations resulting from agreements with payors. We estimate a reserve for rebates and other fees based on contractual rates and estimates regarding
our expectations of future patient utilization rates. These reserves are established in the same period that the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of gross product sales.

Product Returns

We maintain a returns policy that offers customers a right to return product within a defined period before and after the expiration date of that product. We record the estimate of product returns as a
reduction of gross product sales in the period the related product revenue was recognized.

Income Taxes. Our income tax (benefit) provision, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s best estimate of current and future taxes to be
paid. We are subject to income taxes in Ireland, France and the U.S. Significant judgments and estimates are required in the determination of the consolidated income tax (benefit) provision.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements, which will result in taxable or deductible
amounts in the future. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets in the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income or loss, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. The assumptions about future taxable income or loss
require the use of significant judgment and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying businesses. The Company's cumulative loss position is significant
negative evidence in assessing the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. Given the weight of objectively verifiable historical losses from operations, the Company continues to
record a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets in 2023. The Company will be able to reverse the valuation allowance when it has shown its ability to generate taxable income on a
consistent basis in future periods. The valuation allowance does not have an impact on the Company's ability to utilize any net operating losses or other tax attributes to offset cash taxes payable as
these items are still eligible to be used.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across our global operations. A tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation
processes, on the basis of the technical merits.

We record unrecognized tax benefits as liabilities and adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Because of the
complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the unrecognized tax benefit liabilities. These
differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new information is available.

We have not recorded a deferred tax liability for any income or withholding taxes that may arise as the result of the distribution of unremitted earnings within our Company. As of December 31, 2023,
we had unremitted earnings of $3,854 outside of Ireland as measured on a U.S. GAAP basis. Based on our estimates that future domestic cash generation will be sufficient to meet future domestic
cash needs along with our specific plans for reinvestment, we have not recorded a deferred tax liability for any income or withholding taxes that may arise from a distribution that would qualify as a
dividend for tax purposes. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of deferred tax liability on such remittances, if any. We believe that our estimates for deferred income taxes and the amount of
benefits recognized for uncertain tax positions are appropriate based on current facts and circumstances.
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Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition consideration over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We have determined that we operate in a single segment and
have a single reporting unit associated with the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products. We elected to make November 30 the annual impairment assessment date for
goodwill. However, we could be required to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill outside of the required annual assessment if, among other things, we experience disruptions to the business,
unexpected significant declines in operating results, divestiture of a significant component of the business or a sustained decline in market capitalization.

We can test for goodwill impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether a quantitative goodwill test is necessary or we can elect to forgo the qualitative assessment and
perform the quantitative goodwill test. We elected to perform a qualitative assessment of goodwill in 2023. Upon performing the qualitative assessment of goodwill, qualitative factors are assessed to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying amount. We elected to perform a quantitative goodwill test in 2022. Upon performing the quantitative goodwill
test, if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill.

Based on the results of the annual qualitative assessment of goodwill for 2023, we concluded it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount and
therefore, did not perform a quantitative goodwill test or record an impairment.

The Company continuously monitors for events and circumstances that could negatively impact the key assumptions in determining fair value. While the Company believes the judgments and
assumptions used in the goodwill impairment assessment are reasonable, different assumptions or changes in general industry or market and macro-economic conditions could change the estimated
fair values and, therefore, future impairment charges could be required, which could be material to the consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations

The following is a summary of our financial results (in thousands, except per share amounts): 

Years Ended December 31,
Change

 2023 vs. 2022
Comparative Statements of Loss: 2023 2022 $ %

Net product revenue $ 27,963 $ — $ 27,963 n/a
Cost of products sold 846 — 846 n/a

Gross profit 27,117 — 27,117 n/a
Operating expenses: — 

Research and development expenses 13,261 20,700 (7,439) (35.9)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 151,705 74,516 77,189 103.6 %
Restructuring expense — 3,345 (3,345) (100.0)%

Total operating expenses 164,966 98,561 66,405 67.4 %
Operating loss (137,849) (98,561) (39,288) 39.9 %

Investment and other income (expense), net 87 (536) 623 (116.2)%
Interest expense (9,886) (12,342) 2,456 (19.9)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt (13,129) — (13,129) n/a

Loss before income taxes (160,777) (111,439) (49,338) 44.3 %
Income tax (benefit) provision (501) 26,025 (26,526) (101.9)%

Net loss $ (160,276) $ (137,464) $ (22,812) 16.6 %

Net loss per share - diluted $ (2.00) $ (2.29) $ 0.29 (12.7)%

 
Years Ended December 31,

Change
 2023 vs. 2022
Gross Profit: 2023 2022 $ %

Net product revenue $ 27,963 $ — $ 27,963 n/a
Cost of products sold 846 — 846 n/a

Gross profit $ 27,117 $ — $ 27,117 n/a
Gross profit as a percentage of net product revenue 97.0 % n/a 97.0 % n/a

Net product revenue was $27,963 during the year ended December 31, 2023. LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA on May 1, 2023 and we began shipping product to our customers in June 2023.
Products sold during the year ended December 31, 2023 includes inventory that was expensed as research and development prior to FDA approval.

 Change
Years Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022

Research and Development Expenses: 2023 2022 $ %

Research and development expenses $ 13,261 $ 20,700 $ (7,439) (35.9)%

 

Research and development expenses decreased $7,439 or 35.9% during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022. This decrease was driven by lower pre-
commercial LUMRYZ related costs of $11,500 that we began capitalizing to inventory in May 2023 upon FDA approval of LUMRYZ. Prior to FDA approval these costs were recorded as research
and development expense. This was offset by an increase of $3,300 in pre-commercial product related costs for new research and development activity.
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 Change
Years Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses: 2023 2022 $ %

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 151,705 $ 74,516 $ 77,189 103.6 %

 
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $77,189 or 103.6% during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022. This increase was driven primarily by
higher costs associated with the commercial launch of LUMRYZ of $18,800, higher compensation costs of $18,700 due to increased headcount, higher marketing and market research activities of
$17,000, and higher legal fees of $15,900. Selling, general, and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2023 also includes a $7,800 cumulative adjustment for certain
compensation awards tied to the achievement of performance conditions, which became probable during the year. We also incurred costs related to financing activities of approximately $1,300 in the
current period.

In the prior period, we incurred costs of approximately $5,450 related to the exchange of $117,375 of our February 2023 Notes for a new series of October 2023 Notes that did not recur in the current
period. In the prior period, we realized benefit from the reversal of approximately $2,300 of previously recorded compensation costs for employees affected by our 2022 corporate restructuring plan
that was implemented in June 2022 and did not recur in the current period.

Change
 Years Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022
Interest Expense: 2023 2022 $ %

Interest expense $ (9,886) $ (12,342) $ 2,456 (19.9)%

Interest expense decreased $2,456 or 19.9% for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022. This decrease was driven primarily by a $6,400 decrease in amortization
of debt discount and debt issuance costs as a result of the extinguishment of $96,188 of our October 2023 Notes, offset by $3,743 increase in interest expense for our royalty financing obligation. See
Note 10: Long-term debt and Note 11: Royalty Financing Obligation to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
details.

 
Years Ended December 31,

Change
 2023 vs. 2022
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt: 2023 2022 $ %

Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (13,129) $ — $ (13,129) n/a

Over the course of April 3 and April 4, 2023, we completed an exchange of $96,188 of our $117,375 October 2023 Notes for $106,268 of a new series of 6.0% exchangeable notes due April 2027
(the “April 2027 Notes”). We accounted for the exchange of the October 2023 Notes for the April 2027 Notes as an extinguishment of $96,188 of our October 2023 Notes. We recorded a loss on the
extinguishment of $13,129 as a result of the exchange. See Note 10: Long-term debt to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for further details.

Change
 Years Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision: 2023 2022 $ %

Income tax (benefit) provision $ (501) $ 26,025 $ (26,526) (101.9)%
Percentage of loss before income taxes 0.3 % (23.4)%   

 
The income tax benefit was $501 for the year ended December 31, 2023 resulting in an effective tax rate of 0.3%. The income tax provision was $26,025 for the year ended December 31, 2022
resulting in an effective tax rate of (23.4)%. The change in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 when compared to the same period in 2022 is primarily driven by the valuation
allowances recorded against net deferred tax assets established beginning in the second quarter of 2022.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Overview of Sources and Uses of Cash

Our ability to generate revenue started following the launch of LUMRYZ in June 2023. For the twelve month period ending December 31, 2024, we project that our fixed commitments will include
(i) payments on our royalty financing obligation, (ii) capital commitments, and (iii) lease payments. We project that our long-term fixed commitments will include (i) payments on our royalty
financing obligation, (ii) capital commitments, and (iii) lease payments.

Risk Management 

The adequacy of our cash resources depends on the outcome of certain business conditions including the cost of our LUMRYZ ongoing commercial launch, our cost structure, and other factors set
forth in “Risk Factors” within Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We will need to commit substantial resources to support the commercialization of LUMRYZ which could result in
future losses or otherwise limit our opportunities or affect our ability to operate our business. Our assumptions concerning the outcome of certain business conditions may prove to be wrong or other
factors may adversely affect our business, and as a result we could exhaust or significantly decrease our available cash and marketable securities balances which could, among other things, force us to
raise additional funds and/or force us to reduce our expenses, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, we are unable to estimate the near or long term
impacts of inflation, and rising interest rates, which may have a material adverse impact on our business.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, along with cash anticipated from sales of LUMRYZ, provides sufficient capital to meet our operating, royalty obligation and
capital requirements for the next twelve months following the date of this Annual Report.

Debt Arrangements

On February 1, 2023, we paid $17,500 in cash to settle the remaining principal balance of our February 2023 Notes.

Over the course of April 3 and April 4, 2023, we completed an exchange of $96,188 of our $117,375 October 2023 Notes for $106,268 of the April 2027 Notes. The remaining $21,187 aggregate
principal amount of the October 2023 Notes matured on October 2, 2023 and were settled with a combination of cash and ADSs in October 2023. The aggregate amount of cash and ADSs delivered
to holders for the October 2023 Notes, including accrued interest was $21,641 and 408 ADSs, respectively.

On May 31, 2023, we exercised our option to exchange (the “Mandatory Exchange”) $106,268 of aggregate principal amount of the April 2027 Notes, which represents all of the April 2027 Notes
outstanding under the Indenture. The aggregate amount of ADSs and cash in respect of accrued and unpaid interest delivered to holders of Notes in the Mandatory Exchange was 12,347 ADSs and
$1,470, respectively. The Mandatory Exchange closed on June 26, 2023.

On March 29, 2023, we entered into a royalty purchase agreement (“RPA”) with RTW Investments, L.P. (“RTW”) that could provide the Company up to $75,000 of royalty financing in two tranches.
On August 1, 2023, the Company received the first tranche of $30,000. As a result of receiving the first tranche, we are required to make quarterly royalty payments calculated as 3.75% of worldwide
net product revenue of LUMRYZ, up to a total payback of $75,000.

Capital Commitments  

We have a five year commitment with a contract manufacturer of approximately $2,700 to $4,200 per year as determined by the terms of the agreement with the contract manufacturer.

At December 31, 2023, we have leases for office space and a production suite. We have a current obligation of $1,091 due within one year and a long-term obligation of $1,953 due between January
1, 2025 and December 31, 2028. See Note 9: Leases to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further details for further
details.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, as reflected in the consolidated statements of cash flows, are summarized in the following table: 
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 Years Ended December 31, Change
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By 2023 2022 $ %

Operating activities $ (128,511) $ (70,304) $ (58,207) 82.8 %
Investing activities (50,093) 79,698 (129,791) (162.9)%
Financing activities 135,335 14,543 120,792 830.6 %

Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities was $128,511 for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to cash used in operating activities of $70,304 in the prior year. Net cash used in operating
activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was driven by net loss of $160,276 and unfavorable changes in working capital of $2,999, offset by favorable non-cash adjustments of $34,764 due to
the loss on extinguishment of debt and share-based compensation expense. For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was driven by net loss of $137,464, partially
offset by favorable non-cash adjustments of $42,625 and favorable changes in working capital of $24,535.

The December 31, 2022 net favorable change in working capital was driven by the receipt of $29,058 of tax refund claims associated with the carryback of 2019 losses during the period which was
offset by the timing of payments made related to our accounts payable and accrual balances.

Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities was $50,093 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $79,698 in the prior year. Net cash used in investing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was due to net purchases of marketable securities in excess of proceeds received from the excess of sales of $50,093. Net cash provided by investing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by net proceeds from sales of marketable securities of $80,414.

Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $135,335 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash provided by financing activities of $14,543 in the prior year. Net cash provided by
financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was a result of net proceeds of $134,151 received in exchange for issuing 12,205 ordinary shares and 4,706 Series B Preferred Shares in the
April 3, 2023 public offering, proceeds of $30,000 received for the first tranche of the RPA, net proceeds of $11,913 from the sale of ADSs through the ATM Program and $2,293 of proceeds from
stock option exercises and employee share purchase plan issuances, offset by settlement of the October 2023 Notes of $21,165, settlement of the February 2023 Notes of $17,500 and debt issuance
costs of $4,357. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by net proceeds of $25,318 from the sale of ADSs through the ATM program and $2,682
of proceeds from stock option exercises and employee share purchase plan issuances, offset by the payment of $8,653 for the early extinguishment of a portion of the February 2023 Notes in
November 2022 and payment of $4,804 of debt issuance costs.

Other Matters 

Litigation  

We are subject to potential liabilities generally incidental to our business arising out of present and future lawsuits and claims related to product liability, personal injury, contract, commercial,
intellectual property, tax, employment, compliance and other matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. We accrue for potential liabilities when it is probable that future costs (including
legal fees and expenses) will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no contingent liabilities with respect to any litigation,
arbitration or administrative or other proceeding that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity. For
information regarding legal proceedings we are involved in, see Note 14: Contingent Liabilities and Commitments to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

-72-



Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk as a result of our portfolio of marketable securities. The primary objectives of our investment policy are as follows: safety and preservation of principal and
diversification of risk; liquidity of investments sufficient to meet cash flow requirements; and competitive yield. Although our investments are subject to market risk, our investment policy specifies
credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or certain types of investment. Our investment policy allows us to maintain a
portfolio of cash equivalents and marketable securities in a variety of instruments, including U.S. federal government and federal agency securities, European Government bonds, corporate bonds or
commercial paper issued by U.S. or European corporations, money market instruments, certain qualifying money market mutual funds, certain repurchase agreements, tax-exempt obligations of
states, agencies, and municipalities in the U.S. and Europe, and equities. A hypothetical 50 basis point change in interest rates would not result in a material decrease or increase in the fair value of
our securities due to the general short-term nature of our investment portfolio.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as the functional currency financial statements of a non-U.S. subsidiary is translated to U.S. dollars. The assets and liabilities of this non-U.S.
subsidiary having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar is translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date, and at the average exchange rate for the
reporting period for revenue and expense accounts. The cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment is recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’
equity (deficit). The reported results of this non-U.S. subsidiary will be influenced by their translation into U.S. dollars by currency movements against the U.S. dollar. Our primary currency
translation exposure is related to one subsidiary that has functional currencies denominated in euro. A 10% strengthening/weakening in the rates used to translate the results of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries that have functional currencies denominated in euro as of December 31, 2023 would have had an immaterial impact on net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Transactional exposure arises where transactions occur in currencies other than the functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of
the transaction. The resulting monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the appropriate functional currency at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and the resulting gains and
losses are reported in investment and other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of loss. As of December 31, 2023, our primary exposure is to transaction risk related to euro net
monetary assets and liabilities held by subsidiaries with a U.S. dollar functional currency. Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains resulting from transactional exposure were immaterial for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Inflation Risk

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our costs of labor and supplies and the costs of our third parties we rely on for the development, manufacture and supply of our products. We do not believe
that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023. Although we do not believe that inflation has had a material
impact on our financial position or results of operations to date, we may experience some effect in the near future (especially if inflation rates continue to rise) due to an impact on the costs to conduct
clinical trials, the costs to commercially launch LUMRYZ, labor costs we incur to attract and retain qualified personnel, and other operational costs. Inflationary costs could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 8.         Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 
 

AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS

(In thousands, except per share data) 
 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

Net product revenue $ 27,963 $ — $ — 
Cost of products sold 846 — — 

Gross profit 27,117 — — 
Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses 13,261 20,700 17,104 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 151,705 74,516 68,495 
Restructuring expense (income) — 3,345 (53)

Total operating expenses 164,966 98,561 85,546 
Operating loss (137,849) (98,561) (85,546)

Investment and other income (expense), net 87 (536) 2,343 
Interest expense (9,886) (12,342) (9,942)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (13,129) — — 

Loss before income taxes (160,777) (111,439) (93,145)
Income tax (benefit) provision (501) 26,025 (15,816)

Net loss $ (160,276) $ (137,464) $ (77,329)

Net loss per share - basic $ (2.00) $ (2.29) $ (1.32)
Net loss per share - diluted (2.00) (2.29) (1.32)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic 80,174 60,094 58,535 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - diluted 80,174 60,094 58,535 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

-74-



AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)
 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (160,276) $ (137,464) $ (77,329)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 331 (597) (1,228)
Net other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax benefit of $0, $0, and $214, respectively 2,843 (1,804) (1,661)

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 3,174 (2,401) (2,889)
Total comprehensive loss $ (157,102) $ (139,865) $ (80,218)

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)

 December 31,
 2023 2022

ASSETS   
Current assets:   
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,167 $ 73,981 
Marketable securities 73,944 22,518 
Accounts receivable, net 12,103 — 
Inventories 10,380 — 
Research and development tax credit receivable 1,322 2,248 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,286 2,096 

Total current assets 134,202 100,843 
Property and equipment, net 585 839 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2,591 1,713 
Goodwill 16,836 16,836 
Research and development tax credit receivable 332 1,232 
Other non-current assets 10,152 11,322 

Total assets $ 164,698 $ 132,785 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)   
Current liabilities:   
Current portion of long-term debt $ — $ 37,668 
Current portion of operating lease liability 934 960 
Accounts payable 11,433 7,890 
Accrued expenses 24,227 7,334 
Other current liabilities 261 1,941 

Total current liabilities 36,855 55,793 
Long-term debt — 91,614 
Long-term operating lease liability 1,690 780 
Royalty financing obligation 32,760 — 
Other non-current liabilities 5,654 5,743 
Total liabilities 76,959 153,930 

Shareholders’ equity (deficit):   
Preferred shares, nominal value of $0.01 per share; 50,000 shares authorized; 5,194 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and
488 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 52 5 
Ordinary shares, nominal value of $0.01 per share; 500,000 shares authorized; 89,825 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and
62,878 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 898 628 
Additional paid-in capital 855,452 589,783 
Accumulated deficit (745,496) (585,220)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (23,167) (26,341)

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) 87,739 (21,145)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $ 164,698 $ 132,785 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands) 

 Ordinary shares Preferred shares Additional Accumulated

Accumulated
other

 comprehensive
Total

shareholders’
 Shares Amount Shares Amount paid-in capital deficit loss equity (deficit)

Balance, December 31, 2020 58,396 $ 583 488 $ 5 $ 566,916 $ (384,187) $ (21,051) $ 162,266 

Impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 — — — — (26,699) 13,760 — (12,939)
Net loss — — — — — (77,329) — (77,329)
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (2,889) (2,889)
Exercise of stock options 48 1 — — 168 — — 169 
Vesting of restricted shares 159 2 — — (2) — — — 
Employee share purchase plan share issuance 17 — — — 94 — — 94 
Share-based compensation expense — — — — 8,872 — — 8,872 

Balance, December 31, 2021 58,620 $ 586 488 $ 5 $ 549,349 $ (447,756) $ (23,940) $ 78,244 

Net loss — — — — — (137,464) — (137,464)
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (2,401) (2,401)
Change in fair value of October 2023 Notes conversion feature — — — — 5,508 — — 5,508 
Issuance of common stock under at-the-market offering program, net of
issuance costs 3,588 36 — — 25,282 — — 25,318 
Amortization of deferred issuance costs — — — — (45) — — (45)
Exercise of stock options 451 4 — — 2,456 — — 2,460 
Vesting of restricted shares 144 1 — — (1) — — — 
Employee share purchase plan share issuance 75 1 — — 221 — — 222 
Share-based compensation expense — — — — 7,013 — — 7,013 

Balance, December 31, 2022 62,878 $ 628 488 $ 5 $ 589,783 $ (585,220) $ (26,341) $ (21,145)

Net loss — — — — — (160,276) — (160,276)
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 3,174 3,174 
Issuance of common stock under at-the-market offering program, net of
issuance costs 1,564 16 — — 11,897 — — 11,913 
Amortization of deferred issuance costs — — — — (16) — — (16)
April 2023 public offering, net of issuance costs 12,205 122 4,706 47 133,982 — — 134,151 
Mandatory Exchange of April 2027 Notes, net of issuance costs 12,347 123 — — 101,689 — — 101,812 
Settlement of October 2023 Notes 408 4 — — 18 — — 22 
Exercise of stock options 343 4 — — 2,058 — — 2,062 
Vesting of restricted shares 33 — — — — — — — 
Employee share purchase plan share issuance 47 1 — — 230 — — 231 
Share-based compensation expense — — — — 15,811 — — 15,811 

Balance, December 31, 2023 89,825 $ 898 5,194 $ 52 $ 855,452 $ (745,496) $ (23,167) $ 87,739 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands) 
 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net loss $ (160,276) $ (137,464) $ (77,329)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   
Depreciation and amortization 1,766 1,493 815 
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs 2,796 6,052 1,248 
Changes in deferred taxes — 26,025 (15,666)
Share-based compensation expense 15,811 7,013 8,872 
Loss on extinguishment of debt 13,129 — — 
Other adjustments 1,262 2,042 1,055 

Net changes in assets and liabilities   
Accounts receivable (12,103) — — 
Inventories (9,532) — — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,127) 30,815 (439)
Research and development tax credit receivable 1,884 30 2,796 
Accounts payable & other current liabilities 1,545 (3,108) 4,232 
Accrued expenses 16,892 227 895 
Other assets and liabilities 1,442 (3,429) (3,789)

Net cash used in operating activities (128,511) (70,304) (77,310)

Cash flows from investing activities:   
Purchases of property and equipment — (716) (26)
Proceeds from the disposition of the Hospital Products — — 16,500 
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 187,136 83,828 102,224 
Purchases of marketable securities (237,229) (3,414) (61,769)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (50,093) 79,698 56,929 

Cash flows from financing activities:   
Proceeds from April 2023 public offering, net of issuance costs 134,151 — — 
Payments for February 2023 Notes (17,500) (8,653) — 
Payments for October 2023 Notes (21,165) — — 
Payments for debt issuance costs (4,357) (4,804) — 
Proceeds from royalty purchase agreement 30,000 — — 
Proceeds from issuance of shares off the at-the-market offering program 11,913 25,318 — 
Proceeds from stock option exercises and employee share purchase plan 2,293 2,682 263 

Net cash provided by financing activities 135,335 14,543 263 

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 455 (664) (896)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (42,814) 23,273 (21,014)
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 73,981 50,708 71,722 
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 $ 31,167 $ 73,981 $ 50,708 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:   
Interest paid $ 5,250 $ 9,660 $ 6,469 
Income taxes (refunded) paid, net — (29,058) 76 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except per share data)

NOTE 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations. Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (Nasdaq: AVDL) (“Avadel,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) is a biopharmaceutical company. The Company is registered as an Irish public
limited company. The Company’s headquarters are in Dublin, Ireland with operations in Dublin, Ireland and St. Louis, Missouri, United States (“U.S.”).

LUMRYZ is an extended-release formulation of sodium oxybate indicated to be taken once at bedtime for the treatment of cataplexy or excessive daytime sleepiness (“EDS”) in adults with
narcolepsy. LUMRYZ was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) on May 1, 2023. The FDA also granted Orphan Drug Exclusivity to LUMRYZ for a period of seven years
until May 1, 2030. In June 2023, the Company commercially launched LUMRYZ in the U.S.

In approving LUMRYZ, the FDA required a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”) for LUMRYZ to help ensure that the benefits of the drug in the treatment of cataplexy and EDS in
adults with narcolepsy outweigh the risks of serious adverse outcomes resulting from inappropriate prescribing, misuse, abuse, and diversion of the drug. Under this REMS, healthcare providers who
prescribe the drug must be specially certified; pharmacies, that dispense the drug must be specially certified; and the drug must be dispensed only to patients who have enrolled in the LUMRYZ
REMS and completed all REMS requirements including documentation of safe use conditions, among other requirements.

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company’s only commercialized product is LUMRYZ. The Company continues to evaluate opportunities to expand its product portfolio.

Liquidity. The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”) applicable to a going concern,
which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

On March 29, 2023, the Company and Avadel CNS Pharmaceuticals, LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Avadel CNS”), entered into a royalty purchase agreement (“RPA”)
with RTW Investments, L.P. (“RTW”) that could provide the Company up to $75,000 of royalty financing in two tranches. The first tranche of $30,000 became available upon satisfaction of certain
conditions which included the Company’s first shipment of LUMRYZ. The second tranche is available to use, at the Company’s election, if it achieves quarterly net revenue of $25,000 by the quarter
ending June 30, 2024. The second tranche expires if the Company does not elect to use it by August 31, 2024. On August 1, 2023, the Company received the first tranche of $30,000.

At March 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding $117,375 aggregate principal amount of its 4.50% exchangeable senior notes due October 2023 (the “October 2023 Notes”). Over the course of
April 3 and April 4, 2023, Avadel Finance Cayman Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Issuer”), completed an exchange of
$96,188 of its $117,375 October 2023 Notes for $106,268 of a new series of 6.0% exchangeable notes due April 2027 (the “April 2027 Notes”). The Issuer settled, with a combination of cash and
American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), the remaining $21,187 aggregate principal amount of the October 2023 Notes in October 2023. The aggregate amount of cash and ADSs delivered to holders
for the October 2023 Notes, including accrued interest was $21,641 and 408 ADSs, respectively.

On April 3, 2023, the Company completed the sale of 12,205 ordinary shares, nominal value $0.01 per share (“Ordinary Shares”) in the form of ADSs and 4,706 Series B Non-Voting Convertible
Preferred Shares (“Series B Preferred Shares”) in an underwritten public offering. The Company received proceeds, net of underwriter fees and issuance costs of $134,151.

On May 31, 2023 and in accordance with the terms of the Indenture of the April 2027 Notes (the “Indenture”), dated as of April 3, 2023, the Issuer exercised its option to exchange (the “Mandatory
Exchange”) $106,268 of aggregate principal amount of the April 2027 Notes, which represents all of the April 2027 Notes outstanding under the Indenture. The Mandatory Exchange consideration
per one thousand dollars of principal April 2027 Notes exchanged consisted of 116.1846 of the Company’s ADSs, representing a corresponding number of the Company’s ordinary shares, nominal
value $0.01 per share, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon. The aggregate amount of ADSs and cash in respect of accrued and unpaid interest delivered to holders of Notes in the Mandatory
Exchange was 12,347 ADSs and $1,470, respectively. The Mandatory Exchange closed on June 26, 2023.
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Basis of Presentation. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., the requirements of Form 10-K and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications are made to prior year amounts whenever necessary to conform with the current year presentation. Certain reclassifications have been made within Note 13: Other Assets and
Liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2022 to condense line items of the same nature into a single line.

Concentrations of Risk. A significant portion of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are held at two financial institutions. Due to their size, the Company believes these
financial institutions represent minimal credit risk. The Company has not experienced any losses on its cash, cash equivalents, or marketable securities.

The Company is subject to credit risk from its accounts receivable related to the sale of LUMRYZ. The Company extends credit to its customers, specialty pharmacies. Customer creditworthiness is
monitored, and collateral is not required. Amounts owed to the Company are presented net of an allowance that includes an assessment of expected credit losses. An allowance for credit losses is
established based on expected losses. Expected losses are estimated by reviewing individual accounts, considering aging, financial condition of the debtor, payment history, current and forecast
economic conditions and other relevant factors. To the extent that the Company identifies that any individual customer's credit quality has deteriorated, the Company establishes allowances based on
the individual risk characteristics of that customer. The Company makes concerted efforts to collect all outstanding balances due from customers; however, amounts are written off against the
allowance when the related balances are no longer deemed collectible. As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not recognize any allowances for credit losses. As of December 31, 2023, three
customers accounted for 100% of gross accounts receivable, Caremark LLC (“Caremark”), which accounted for 52% of gross accounts receivable; Accredo Health Group, Inc. (“Accredo”), which
accounted for 28% of gross accounts receivable; and Optum Frontier Therapies LLC (“Optum”), which accounted for 20% of gross accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did
not have accounts receivable.

The Company attempts to maintain multiple suppliers for its active pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”) and manufacturing in order to mitigate the risk of shortfall and inability to supply market
demand, but is subject to risk due to a limited number of providers. The API is currently manufactured by two source contract development and manufacturing organizations (“CDMOs”) in the U.S.
The drug product for commercial lots is manufactured by one source CDMO in the U.S. and one source CDMO outside of the U.S.

Revenue. Revenue includes sales of LUMRYZ. ASC 606 applies to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other standards, such as leases, insurance,
collaboration arrangements and financial instruments. Under ASC 606, an entity recognizes revenue when the performance obligations to the customer have been satisfied through the transfer of
control of the goods or services. To determine the appropriate revenue recognition for arrangements that the Company believes are within the scope of ASC 606, we perform the following five steps:
(i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The Company applies the five-step model to contracts only when the Company and its
customer’s rights and obligations under the contract can be determined, the contract has commercial substance, and it is probable that the Company will collect the consideration it is entitled to in
exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. For contracts that are determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company identifies the promised goods or services in the
contract to determine if they are separate performance obligations or if they should be bundled with other goods and services into a single performance obligation. The Company then recognizes as
revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

Product Sales

The Company sells LUMRYZ to specialty pharmacies and considers those specialty pharmacies to be its customers. Under ASC 606, revenue from product sales is recognized when the customer
obtains control of the product, which occurs typically upon receipt by the customer. The Company’s gross product sales are subject to a variety of price adjustments to arrive at reported net product
revenue. These adjustments include estimates of payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns and are estimated based on contractual
arrangements, historical trends, expected utilization of such products and other judgments and analysis.
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Reserves for Variable Consideration

Revenues from product sales are recorded at the estimated net selling price, which includes reserves for estimated variable consideration to reduce gross product sales to net product revenue resulting
from payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns. These reserves are based on the amounts earned or to be claimed on the related
sales and are classified as reductions of accounts receivable if the amount is payable to the customer. The reserves are classified as a liability if the amount is payable to a party other than a customer.
Where appropriate, these estimated reserves take into consideration relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data,
historical trends, current and expected patient demand and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect the Company’s best estimates to reduce gross selling price
to net selling price. The actual net selling price ultimately may differ from our estimates.

Cost of Products Sold. Cost of products sold includes the cost of the API, manufacturing and distribution costs, packaging costs and freight. LUMRYZ was approved by the FDA on May 1, 2023 and
the Company began shipping product to its customers in June 2023. Products sold includes inventory purchased or produced that was expensed as research and development costs prior to FDA
approval.

Inventories. Inventories consist of raw materials, work in process and finished products, which are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first- out method. Raw materials
used in the production of pre-clinical and clinical products are expensed as research and development costs. The Company establishes reserves for inventory estimated to be obsolete, unmarketable or
slow-moving on a case by case basis.

The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with products when future commercialization is considered probable and the future economic benefit is expected to be realized, which is typically
when regulatory approval is obtained for a drug candidate. As such, the Company began capitalizing costs related to inventory in May 2023 upon FDA approval of LUMRYZ. Manufacturing costs
associated with inventory purchased or produced prior to FDA approval were recorded as research and development expense in prior periods. Accordingly, cost of products sold in the near term will
likely be lower than in later periods given the sales of pre-approval inventory will carry little to no manufacturing costs as such costs were previously expensed to research and development.

Research and Development (“R&D”). R&D expenses consist primarily of costs related to outside services, personnel expenses, clinical studies and other R&D expenses. Outside services and
clinical studies costs relate primarily to services performed by clinical research organizations and related clinical or development manufacturing costs, materials and supplies, filing fees, regulatory
support, and other third-party fees. Personnel expenses relate primarily to salaries, benefits and share-based compensation. Other R&D expenses primarily include overhead allocations consisting of
various support and facilities-related costs. R&D expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. Raw materials used in the production of pre-clinical and clinical products are expensed as R&D
costs.  

The Company recognizes refundable R&D tax credits received for spending on innovative R&D as an offset of R&D expenses.

Advertising Expenses. The Company expenses the costs of advertising as incurred. Branded advertising expenses were $6,452 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Branded advertising expenses
were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Share-based Compensation. The Company accounts for share-based compensation based on the estimated grant-date fair value. The fair value of stock options is estimated using Black-Scholes
option-pricing valuation models (“Black-Scholes model”). As required by the Black-Scholes model, estimates are made of the underlying volatility of Avadel stock, a risk-free rate and an expected
term of the option or warrant. The Company estimates the expected term using a simplified method, as the Company does not have enough historical exercise data for a majority of such options upon
which to estimate an expected term. The Company recognizes compensation cost, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, using the accelerated method over the requisite service period of the award.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, the Company determines deferred tax assets and liabilities on the basis of the differences between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred
tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
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The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, the Company considers
all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent
operations. If the Company determines that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, the Company would make an adjustment to the
deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2023, the Company's cumulative loss position was significant negative evidence in
assessing the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. Given the weight of objectively verifiable historical losses from operations, the Company continues to record a full valuation
allowance on its deferred tax assets. The Company will be able to reverse the valuation allowance when it has shown its ability to generate taxable income on a consistent basis in future periods. The
valuation allowance does not have an impact on the Company's ability to utilize any net operating losses or other tax attributes to offset cash taxes payable as these items are still eligible to be used.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) the Company determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the
basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is
more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax expense line in the consolidated statements of loss. Accrued interest and penalties are included
on the related tax liability line in the consolidated balance sheets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash on deposit and fixed term deposits which are highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three
months.  

Marketable Securities. The Company’s marketable securities are considered to be available for sale and are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity (deficit), with the exception of unrealized gains and losses on equity instruments and allowances for expected credit
losses, if any, which are reported in earnings in the current period. The cost of securities sold is based upon the specific identification method.  

For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company assesses whether it intends to sell or if it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security
before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value. If the criteria are not
met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value has resulted from a credit loss or other factors. In making this assessment, management considers, among other factors, the extent to
which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security. If this assessment indicates that a
credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present value of the cash flows expected to
be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized
costs basis.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Software, office and computer equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and fittings 2-10 years

 
Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition consideration over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company has determined that it operates in a single
segment and have a single reporting unit associated with the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually and when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company determined that no impairment of goodwill existed at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets include fixed assets and right of use assets at contract manufacturing organizations. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever conditions indicate
that the carrying value of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Such impairment tests are based on a comparison of the pretax undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset to the
recorded value of the asset or other market-based value approaches. If impairment is indicated, the asset value is written down to its market value if readily determinable or its estimated fair value
based on discounted cash flows. Any significant changes in business or market conditions that vary from current expectations could have an impact on
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the fair value of these assets and any potential associated impairment. Certain long-lived assets are amortized using the straight-line method over a five year useful life. Total amortization expense of
long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $588, $391 and $0, respectively.

Lease Obligations. The Company determines if a contract is a lease at the inception of the arrangement. Right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based
on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. For this purpose, the Company considers only payments that are fixed and determinable at the time of commencement. The
Company reviews all options to extend, terminate, or purchase its right-of-use assets at the inception of the lease and will include these options in the lease term when they are reasonably certain of
being exercised. Short term leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet and the associated lease payments are recognized in the consolidated statements of
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company’s lease contracts do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. The Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate is based on
information available at the inception of the lease. The Company’s lease agreements may contain variable costs such as common area maintenance, insurance, real estate taxes or other costs. Variable
lease costs are expensed as incurred on the consolidated statements of loss.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses during the periods presented. These estimates and assumptions are based on the best information available to management and depending on the nature of the
estimate can require significant judgments. Changes to these estimates and judgments can have and have had a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of loss and balance sheets.
Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

NOTE 2: Newly Issued Accounting Standards 

Previously Adopted Accounting Guidance

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes, as part of its overall simplification initiative to reduce costs and complexity of applying accounting standards while maintaining or improving the usefulness of the information provided to
users of financial statements. The FASB’s amendments primarily impacted ASC 740, Income Taxes, and may impact both interim and annual reporting periods. ASU 2019-12 was effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years and early adoption was permitted. The Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2021.
Adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging- Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), to
reduce the complexity associated with applying U.S. GAAP principles for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. The amendments in this ASU reduced the number
of accounting models for convertible instruments and expand the existing disclosure requirements over earnings per share as it relates to convertible instruments. Convertible debt will be accounted
for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost, as long as no other features require bifurcation and recognition as derivatives. The update also required the if-converted method to be used for
convertible instruments and the effect of potential share settlement be included in the diluted earnings per share calculation when an instrument may be settled in cash or shares. This ASU was
effective for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2022 and interim periods therein. Early adoption was permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The amendments
may be adopted through either a modified retrospective method, or a fully retrospective method.

The Company elected to early adopt ASU 2020-06 as of January 1, 2021 using a modified retrospective method. The Company’s 4.50% exchangeable senior notes due 2023 were a convertible
instrument with a cash-conversion feature that was accounted for within the scope of Subtopic 470-20. The Company calculated the cumulative-effect adjustment as of January 1, 2021 by comparing
(i) the historical amortization schedule for the 2023 Notes through December 31, 2020 and (ii) an updated amortization schedule wherein the conversion feature within the 2023 Notes would not be
separated as an equity component and subsequently recognized as non-cash interest expense under ASC 835-30. The adoption resulted in a $26,699 decrease in additional paid-in capital, a $12,939
increase in long-term debt, and a $13,760 increase to the opening balance of retained earnings.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax
disclosures. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning
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after December 15, 2024. Adoption of ASU 2023-09 will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

NOTE 3: Revenue Recognition

The Company’s source of net product revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023 consists solely of sales of LUMRYZ in the U.S.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, three customers accounted for 100% of sales. The following table presents a summary of the percentage of total gross sales to customers:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
Sales by Customer: 2023

Accredo 41 %
Caremark 39 %
Optum 20 %

The Company had no net product revenue during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

NOTE 4: Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to measure certain assets and liabilities at fair value, either upon initial recognition or for subsequent accounting or reporting. For example, the Company uses fair value
extensively when accounting for and reporting certain financial instruments, when measuring certain contingent consideration liabilities and in the initial recognition of net assets acquired in a
business combination. Fair value is estimated by applying the hierarchy described below, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within
the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement.

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as a market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions that marketplace participants would use
in pricing an asset or liability. When estimating fair value, depending on the nature and complexity of the asset or liability, the Company may generally use one or each of the following techniques:  

• Income approach, which is based on the present value of a future stream of net cash flows.

• Market approach, which is based on market prices and other information from market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.

As a basis for considering the assumptions used in these techniques, the standard establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:  

• Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

• Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted
prices that are directly or indirectly observable, or inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other means.

• Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that reflect estimates and assumptions.
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The following table summarizes the financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis classified in the fair value hierarchy (Level 1, 2 or 3) based on the inputs used for valuation in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets:

As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
Fair Value Measurements: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Marketable securities (see Note 5)
Mutual and money market funds $ — $ — $ — $ 22,518 $ — $ — 
Government securities - U.S. 73,944 — — — — — 
Total assets $ 73,944 $ — $ — $ 22,518 $ — $ — 

A review of fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification for certain financial assets or
liabilities. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, there were no transfers in and out of Level 1, 2, or 3. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the
Company did not recognize any allowances for credit losses.

Some of the Company’s financial instruments, such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, are reflected in the balance sheet at carrying value, which approximates
fair value due to their short-term nature.

Royalty Financing Obligation

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the royalty financing obligation under the RPA approximated its fair value and was measured using the estimates of forecasted net product revenue
based on current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data, historical trends, current and expected patient demand and forecasted customer
buying and payment patterns (Level 3 inputs). See Note 11: Royalty Financing Obligation for additional information regarding the Company’s royalty financing obligation.

NOTE 5: Marketable Securities 

The Company has investments in available-for-sale debt securities that are recorded at fair market value. The change in the fair value of available-for-sale debt investments is recorded as accumulated
other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity (deficit), net of income tax effects. As of December 31, 2023, the Company considered any decreases in fair value on its marketable securities to be
driven by factors other than credit risk, including market risk.

The following tables show the Company’s available-for-sale securities’ adjusted cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value by significant investment category as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

2023
Marketable Securities: Adjusted Cost Unrealized Gains Unrealized Losses Fair Value

Government securities - U.S. $ 72,990 $ 954 $ — $ 73,944 
Total $ 72,990 $ 954 $ — $ 73,944 

2022
Marketable Securities: Adjusted Cost Unrealized Gains Unrealized Losses Fair Value

Mutual and money market funds $ 24,407 $ — $ (1,889) $ 22,518 
Total $ 24,407 $ — $ (1,889) $ 22,518 

The Company determines realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable securities on a specific identification method. The Company reflects these gains and losses as a component of investment
and other income (expense), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of loss.

The Company recognized gross realized gains of $988, $584 and $174 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These realized gains were offset by realized
losses of $2,791, $2,338 and $275 for the twelve-months ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the Company’s investments in marketable debt securities, accounted for as available-for-sale debt securities and classified by the
contractual maturity date of the securities as of December 31, 2023:

Maturities
Marketable Debt Securities: Less than 1 Year 1-5 Years 5-10 Years Greater than 10 Years Total

Government securities - U.S. $ 73,944 $ — $ — $ — $ 73,944 
Total $ 73,944 $ — $ — $ — $ 73,944 

The Company has classified its investment in available-for-sale marketable debt securities as current assets in the consolidated balance sheets as the securities need to be available for use, if required,
to fund current operations. There are no restrictions on the sale of any securities in the Company’s investment portfolio.

NOTE 6: Inventories

The principal categories of inventories at December 31, 2023 were comprised of the following:

Inventory: 2023

Raw materials and supplies $ 5,291 
Work in process 2,037 
Finished goods 3,052 
Total $ 10,380 

The Company had no capitalized inventories at December 31, 2022. The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with products when future commercialization is considered probable and the
future economic benefit is expected to be realized, which is typically when regulatory approval is obtained for a drug candidate. As such, the Company began capitalizing costs related to inventory in
May 2023 upon FDA approval of LUMRYZ. Manufacturing costs associated with inventory purchased or produced prior to FDA approval were recorded as research and development expense in
prior periods.

NOTE 7: Property and Equipment, net

The principal categories of property and equipment, net at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are as follows: 

Property and Equipment, net: 2023 2022

Software, office and computer equipment $ 832 $ 832 
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 634 634 
Less - accumulated depreciation (881) (627)
Total $ 585 $ 839 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $254, $162 and $97, respectively. 

NOTE 8: Goodwill

The Company’s goodwill is $16,836 at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

No impairment loss related to goodwill was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 or 2022.

NOTE 9: Leases

The Company leases office space and a production suite. All leased facilities are classified as operating leases with remaining lease terms between one and five years. The Company determines if a
contract is a lease at the inception of the arrangement. The Company reviews all options to extend, terminate, or purchase its right-of-use assets at the inception of the lease and will include these
options in the lease term when they are reasonably certain of being exercised. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material variable lease
payments. For the Company’s leased production suite, contract consideration was allocated to lease and non-lease components on the basis of relative standalone price.
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The components of lease costs, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of loss for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were
as follows:

Lease cost: 2023 2022 2021

Operating lease costs $ 1,039 $ 1,028 $ 821 
Sublease income (123) (116) (110)

Total lease cost $ 916 $ 912 $ 711 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company increased its operating lease liabilities by $1,803 due to an increase in the lease term for the production suite, offset by $1,036 for cash paid.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company reduced its operating lease liabilities by $963 for cash paid.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s operating leases have a weighted-average remaining lease term of 3.7 years and a weighted-average discount rate of 7.8%. The Company’s lease contracts
do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. The Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate is based on information available at the inception of the lease.

Maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities were as follows:

Maturities: Operating Leases

2024 $ 1,091 
2025 683 
2026 477 
2027 477 
2028 316 
Thereafter — 
Total lease payments 3,044 
Less: interest (420)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 2,624 

 
NOTE 10: Long-Term Debt 

The Company had no exchangeable senior notes as of December 31, 2023. Long-term debt as of December 31, 2022 is summarized as follows:

Exchangeable Senior Notes: 2022
Principal amount of 4.50% exchangeable senior notes due October 2023 $ 117,375 
Principal amount of 4.50% exchangeable senior notes due February 2023 17,500 
Less: unamortized debt discount and issuance costs, net (5,593)
Net carrying amount of liability component 129,282 
Less: current maturities, net of $1,019 unamortized debt discount and issuance costs (37,668)
     Long-term debt $ 91,614 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the total interest expense for exchangeable senior notes was $6,143, $12,342 and $9,942, respectively, with coupon interest expense of
$3,347, $6,405 and $6,469 for each period, respectively, and the amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount of $2,796, $6,052 and $1,248 for each period, respectively.

February 2023 Notes

On February 16, 2018, the Issuer issued $125,000 aggregate principal amount of its 4.50% exchangeable senior notes due February 2023 (the “February 2023 Notes”) in a private placement (the
“Offering”) to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. In connection with the Offering, the Issuer granted the initial purchasers of the February 2023 Notes a 30-
day option to purchase up to an additional $18,750 aggregate principal amount of the February 2023 Notes,
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which was fully exercised on February 16, 2018. Net proceeds received by the Company, after issuance costs and discounts, were approximately $137,560. The February 2023 Notes were the
Company’s senior unsecured obligations and ranked equally in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness and effectively junior to any of the
Company’s existing and future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.

October 2023 Notes

On April 5, 2022, the Issuer completed the exchange of $117,375 of its February 2023 Notes for a new series of its October 2023 Notes (the “2022 Exchange Transaction”). The remaining $26,375
aggregate principal amount of the February 2023 Notes were not exchanged and maintained a maturity date of February 1, 2023. On November 4, 2022, the Company repurchased $8,875 of its
February 2023 Notes and on the maturity date of February 1, 2023, the Company repaid, with cash on hand, the remaining $17,500 aggregate principal amount of its February 2023 Notes.

The Company accounted for the October 2023 Notes as a modification to the February 2023 Notes. The Company paid $4,804 in fees to note holders of the October 2023 Notes that are amortized
over the remaining term of the October 2023 Notes. The Company paid approximately $5,450 in fees to third parties that were expensed as part of the completed 2022 Exchange Transaction.
Additionally, the fair value of the unseparated, embedded conversion feature increased by $5,508, which reduced the carrying amount of the convertible debt instrument as an unamortized debt
discount, with a corresponding increase in additional paid-in capital. The $5,508 was amortized over the remaining term of the October 2023 Notes as a component of interest expense.

Over the course of April 3 and April 4, 2023, the Issuer completed an exchange of $96,188 of its $117,375 October 2023 Notes for $106,268 of the April 2027 Notes. The remaining $21,187
aggregate principal amount of the October 2023 Notes matured on October 2, 2023. The Issuer settled, with a combination of cash and ADSs, the remaining $21,187 aggregate principal amount of
the October 2023 Notes in October 2023. The aggregate amount of cash and ADSs delivered to holders for the October 2023 Notes and accrued and unpaid interest was $21,641 and 408 ADSs,
respectively.

April 2027 Notes

The Company accounted for the exchange of the October 2023 Notes for the April 2027 Notes as an extinguishment of $96,188 of its October 2023 Notes. The Company recorded a loss on the
extinguishment of $13,129 as a result of the exchange.

On June 26, 2023, and in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the Company completed the Mandatory Exchange of $106,268 of aggregate principal amount of the April 2027 Notes, which
represents all of the April 2027 Notes outstanding under the Indenture. The Mandatory Exchange consideration per one thousand dollars of principal Notes exchanged consisted of 116.1846 of ADSs
representing a corresponding number of the Company’s ordinary shares, nominal value $0.01 per share, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon. The aggregate amount of ADSs and cash in respect
of accrued and unpaid interest delivered to holders of Notes in the Mandatory Exchange was 12,347 ADSs and $1,470, respectively.

NOTE 11: Royalty Financing Obligation

On March 29, 2023, the Company and Avadel CNS entered into the RPA with RTW that could provide the Company up to $75,000 of royalty financing in two tranches. The first tranche of $30,000
became available upon satisfaction of certain conditions which included the Company’s first shipment of LUMRYZ. The second tranche is available to use, at the Company’s election, if it achieves
quarterly net revenue of $25,000 by the quarter ending June 30, 2024. The second tranche expires if the Company does not elect to use it by August 31, 2024.

On August 1, 2023, the Company received the first tranche of $30,000. As a result of receiving the first tranche, the Company is required to make quarterly royalty payments calculated as 3.75% of
worldwide net product revenue of LUMRYZ, up to a total payback of $75,000.

The RPA is recorded as a royalty financing obligation on the consolidated balance sheet based on the Company’s evaluation of the terms of the RPA. The accounts receivable and inventory balances
of LUMRYZ are pledged as collateral for the RPA. There are no subjective acceleration clauses or provisions, and there are no covenants in violation or other clauses that would cause the full amount
of the royalty financing obligation to be callable. As such, the RPA is recorded as a long-term obligation on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company imputes interest using the effective interest method and records interest expense based on the unamortized royalty financing obligation. The Company’s estimate of the interest rate
under the RPA is based primarily on forecasted net revenue and the calculated amounts and timing of net royalty payments to reach the total payback of $75,000. As of
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December 31, 2023 the effective interest rate is estimated as 30.4%. The Company will account for changes in the imputed interest rate resulting from changes in forecasted net product revenue using
the prospective method.

The following table shows the activity within the royalty financing obligation account for the period ended December 31, 2023.

Royalty Financing Obligation: 2023
Royalty financing obligation – beginning balance $ — 
Receipt of the first tranche of the royalty financing obligation 30,000 
Accretion of imputed interest expense on royalty financing obligation 3,743 
Less: royalty payments made to RTW (253)
Royalty financing obligation – ending balance 33,490 
Less: royalty payable to RTW classified within accrued expenses (730)
Royalty financing obligation, non-current $ 32,760 

The accretion of imputed interest expense is reflected as interest expense in the consolidated statements of loss.

NOTE 12: Income Taxes

The components of (loss) income before income taxes for the following years ended December 31, are as follows: 

(Loss) Income Before Income Taxes: 2023 2022 2021

Ireland $ (45,689) $ (53,717) $ (36,631)
U.S. (114,942) (57,755) (56,687)
France (146) 33 173 
Total loss before income taxes $ (160,777) $ (111,439) $ (93,145)

The income tax (benefit) provision consists of the following for the years ended December 31:  

 Income Tax (Benefit) Provision: 2023 2022 2021

Current:   
U.S. - State $ (661) $ — $ 60 

Total current (661) — 60 

Deferred:   
U.S. - Federal — 25,896 (15,876)
U.S. - State 160 129 — 

Total deferred 160 26,025 (15,876)

Income tax (benefit) provision $ (501) $ 26,025 $ (15,816)

The reconciliation between income taxes at the statutory rate and the Company’s (benefit) provision for income taxes is as follows for the following years ended December 31: 
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 Reconciliation to Effective Income Tax Rate: 2023 2022 2021

Income tax (benefit) provision - at statutory tax rate $ (20,097) $ (13,916) $ (11,642)
Differences in international tax rates (6,341) (9,921) (8,950)
Change in valuation allowances 24,332 48,734 4,296 
Nondeductible share-based compensation 798 1,424 645 
Unrealized tax benefits 160 258 239 
State and local taxes (net of federal) (5,614) (4,467) 60 
Nondeductible interest expense 4,362 4,239 2,173 
Orphan drug and R&D tax credit 899 — (1,524)
Other 1,000 (326) (1,113)

Income tax (benefit) provision - at effective income tax rate $ (501) $ 26,025 $ (15,816)

In 2023, the income tax benefit was $501, a change of $26,526 from income tax provision of $26,025. The change in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 is primarily driven
by the valuation allowances recorded against our deferred tax assets during the prior period. The effective tax rate for 2021 was impacted by the geographic mix of earnings.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in Ireland, France, U.S. and various states. The Company is no longer subject to Irish, French, U.S. Federal, and state and local
examinations for years before 2019.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits for the twelve months ended December 31:

 Unrecognized Tax Benefit Activity 2023 2022 2021

Balance at January 1: $ 3,143 $ 3,143 $ 3,143 
Increases for tax positions of prior years — — — 
Statute of limitations expiration (108) — — 
Settlements — — — 

Balance at December 31: $ 3,035 $ 3,143 $ 3,143 

The Company expects that within the next twelve months the unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by an immaterial amount and the interest could increase by an immaterial amount.

At December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, there are $3,035, $3,143,and $2,483 of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would affect the annual effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax provision. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company
recognized approximately $268, $258 and $239 in interest and penalties. The Company had approximately $2,372, $2,103, and $1,777 for the payment of interest and penalties accrued at
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
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Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities) 

Deferred income tax provisions reflect the effect of temporary differences between consolidated financial statement and tax reporting of income and expense items. The net deferred tax assets
(liabilities) at December 31, 2023 and 2022 resulted from the following temporary differences: 

 Net Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities: 2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:   
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 71,051 $ 53,393 
Royalty income 8,378 — 
Share-based compensation 7,347 4,684 
Orphan drug and R&D tax credit 4,065 4,964 
Capitalized research costs 1,738 2,108 
Interest expense carryforward 1,368 1,216 
Other 1,322 1,521 
Amortization 1,159 3,541 

Gross deferred tax assets 96,428 71,427 

Deferred tax liabilities:   
Prepaid expenses — (86)

Gross deferred tax liabilities — (86)

Less: valuation allowances (96,428) (71,341)

Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — 

At December 31, 2023, the Company had $111,647 of net operating losses in Ireland that do not have an expiration date and $212,426 of net operating losses and $5,469 163(j) carryforwards in the
U.S. Of the $212,426 of net operating losses in the U.S., $10,365 were acquired due to the acquisition of FSC Therapeutics and FSC Laboratories, Inc., (collectively “FSC”) and $195,595 are due to
the losses at US Holdings, of which $6,466 are state net operating losses. The portion due to the acquisition of FSC will expire in 2034 through 2035. The remaining U.S. net operating loss and 163(j)
carryforwards do not have an expiration date. A valuation allowance is recorded if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
This assessment is based on an evaluation of the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a net
increase to the valuation allowance related primarily to current year net operating losses of $25,087. The U.S. net operating losses are subject to an annual limitation as a result of the FSC acquisition
under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and will not be fully utilized before they expire. In addition to net operating losses and 163(j) carryforwards, the Company has U.S. Orphan Drug tax credit
carryforwards of $3,059 as well as U.S. Research and Development credits of $1,005. The Orphan Drug Credit and Research and Development credits will expire in 2040 through 2043.

The Company's cumulative loss position is significant negative evidence in assessing the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. Given the weight of objectively verifiable historical
losses from operations, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. The Company will be able to reverse the valuation allowance when it has shown its ability to
generate taxable income on a consistent basis in future periods. The valuation allowance does not have an impact on the Company's ability to utilize any net operating losses or other tax attributes to
offset cash taxes payable as these items are still eligible to be used.

The Company recorded a valuation allowance against all of its net operating losses in Ireland, France and the U.S. as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company intends to continue maintaining a
full valuation allowance on the Irish, French and U.S. net operating losses until there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these allowances.

At December 31, 2023, the Company has unremitted earnings of $3,854 outside of Ireland as measured on a U.S. GAAP basis. Whereas the measure of earnings for purposes of taxation of a
distribution may be different for tax purposes, these earnings, which are considered to be invested indefinitely, would become subject to income tax if they were remitted as dividends or if the
Company were to sell its stock in the subsidiaries, net of any prior income taxes paid. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of deferred tax liability on such earnings, if any.
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R&D Tax Credits Receivable 

The French and Irish governments provide tax credits to companies for spending on innovative R&D. These credits are recorded as an offset of R&D expenses and are credited against income taxes
payable in years after being incurred or, if not so utilized, are recoverable in cash after a specified period of time, which may differ depending on the tax credit regime. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company’s net research tax credit receivable amounts to $1,654 and represents a French gross research tax credit of $837 and an Irish gross research tax credit of $817. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company’s net research tax credit receivable amounts to $3,480 and represents a French gross research tax credit of $2,912 and an Irish gross research tax credit of $568.

NOTE 13: Other Assets and Liabilities 

Various other assets and liabilities are summarized for the years ended December 31, as follows: 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets: 2023 2022

Prepaid and other expenses $ 4,373 $ 1,523 
Other 913 573 
Total $ 5,286 $ 2,096 

Other Non-Current Assets: 2023 2022

Right of use assets at contract manufacturing organizations $ 9,905 $ 10,686 
Other 247 636 
Total  $ 10,152 $ 11,322 

 

Accrued Expenses: 2023 2022

Accrued professional fees $ 11,767 $ 4,040 
Accrued compensation 7,492 1,613 
Reserve for variable consideration 4,044 — 
Royalty payable to RTW 730 — 
Accrued outsourced contract costs 194 1,208 
Accrued restructuring — 473 
Total $ 24,227 $ 7,334 

Other Current Liabilities: 2023 2022

Other $ 261 $ 292 
Accrued interest — 1,649 
Total $ 261 $ 1,941 

 

Other Non-Current Liabilities: 2023 2022

Tax liabilities $ 5,407 $ 5,246 
Other 247 497 
Total $ 5,654 $ 5,743 
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NOTE 14: Contingent Liabilities and Commitments 

Litigation  

The Company is subject to potential liabilities generally incidental to its business arising out of present and future lawsuits and claims related to product liability, personal injury, contract,
commercial, intellectual property, tax, employment, compliance and other matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues for potential liabilities when it is probable that
future costs (including legal fees and expenses) will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no contingent liabilities with
respect to any litigation, arbitration or administrative or other proceeding that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations, cash flows or liquidity.

First Jazz Complaint

On May 12, 2021, Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Jazz”) filed a formal complaint (the “First Complaint”) initiating a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware (the “Court”)
against Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, Avadel US Holdings, Inc., Avadel Management Corporation, Avadel Legacy Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Avadel Specialty Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Avadel CNS
Pharmaceuticals, LLC (collectively, the “Avadel Parties”). In the First Complaint, Jazz alleges the sodium oxybate product (“Proposed Product”) described in the NDA owned by Avadel CNS
Pharmaceuticals, LLC (“Avadel CNS”) will infringe at least one claim of U.S. Patent No. 8731963, 10758488, 10813885, 10959956 and/or 10966931 (collectively, the “patents-in-suit”). The First
Complaint further includes typical relief requests such as preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, monetary damages and attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses.

On June 3, 2021, the Avadel Parties timely filed their Answer and Counterclaims (the “Avadel Answer”) with the Court in response to the First Complaint. The Avadel Answer generally denies the
allegations set forth in the First Complaint, includes numerous affirmative defenses (including, but not limited to, non-infringement and invalidity of the patents-in-suit), and asserts a number of
counterclaims seeking i) a declaratory judgment of non-infringement of each patent-in-suit, and ii) a declaratory judgment of invalidity of each patent-in-suit.

On June 18, 2021, Jazz filed its Answer (“Jazz Answer”) with the Court in response to the Avadel Answer. The Jazz Answer generally denies the allegations set forth in the Avadel Answer and sets
forth a single affirmative defense asserting that Avadel has failed to state a claim for which relief can be granted.

On June 21, 2021, the Court issued an oral order requiring the parties to i) confer regarding proposed dates to be included in the Court’s scheduling order for the case, and ii) submit a proposed order,
including a proposal for the length and timing of trial, to the Court by no later than July 21, 2021.

On July 30, 2021, the Court issued a scheduling order establishing timing for litigation events including i) a claim construction hearing date of August 2, 2022, and ii) a trial date of October 30, 2023.

On October 18, 2021, consistent with the scheduling order, Jazz filed a status update with the Court indicating that Jazz did not intend to file a preliminary injunction with the Court at this time. Jazz
further indicated that it would provide the Court with an update regarding whether preliminary injunction proceedings may be necessary after receiving further information regarding the FDA’s action
on Avadel CNS’s NDA.

On January 4, 2022, the Court entered an agreed order dismissing this case with respect to Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, Avadel US Holdings, Inc., Avadel Specialty Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Avadel
Legacy Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Avadel Management Corporation. A corresponding order was entered in the two below cases on the same day.

On February 25, 2022, Jazz filed an amended Answer to the Avadel Parties’ Counterclaims (“the Jazz First Amended Answer”). The Jazz First Amended Answer is substantially similar to the Jazz
Answer except insofar as it adds an affirmative defense for judicial estoppel and unclean hands. Corresponding amended answers were filed in the two below cases on the same day.

On June 23, 2022, Avadel CNS filed a Renewed Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, with respect to its counterclaim against Jazz seeking to have U.S. Patent No. 8731963 (the “REMS Patent”)
delisted from the Orange Book and seeking to have the motion resolved concurrent with the parties’ Markman hearing on August 31, 2022. On July 7, 2022, Jazz filed a response styled as Objections
to Avadel CNS’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. On July 14, 2022, Avadel CNS replied to Jazz’s response, and on July 21, 2022, Avadel CNS requested oral argument on its delisting motion
simultaneous with the Markman
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hearing. On August 24, 2022, the Court ordered Jazz to respond substantively to Avadel CNS’ motion, which Jazz did on August 26, 2022. Avadel CNS filed its reply on August 28, 2022.

On August 23, 2022, the Markman hearing was postponed. On September 7, 2022, the case was reassigned to a new judge, and the Markman hearing was held on October 25, 2022. At the Markman
hearing, Avadel CNS reiterated its request for an expedited hearing on the Renewed Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings for the delisting of the REMS Patent. On October 28, 2022, the Court
granted Avadel CNS’ request and scheduled the hearing for November 15, 2022.

The Court held the Markman hearing on November 15, 2022 and issued a claim construction ruling on November 18, 2022. Also on November 18, 2022 the Court granted Avadel’s Renewed Motion
for Judgment on the Pleadings and ordered Jazz to request delisting of the REMS Patent from the Orange Book. On November 22, 2022, Jazz appealed that decision and on December 14, 2022, the
Federal Circuit issued a stay of the delisting order until further notice. Oral argument was held February 14, 2023. On February 24, 2023, the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Court
affirmed the previous ruling from the Court, ordering the delisting of the REMS Patent from the Orange Book, which has since occurred. On March 7, 2023, in response to a joint stipulation filed by
the parties, the Court issued an order dismissing Jazz’s infringement claims against the Avadel Parties relating to the REMS Patent as well as Avadel Parties’ noninfringement and invalidity
counterclaims relating to the REMS Patent.

On March 15, 2023, the parties submitted a Stipulation and Proposed Order Modifying the Case Schedule to accommodate additional claim construction proceedings. That stipulation remains
pending before the Court. On April 26, 2023, the parties filed their Supplemental Joint Claim Construction Brief.

On July 3, 2023, the Court issued a modified scheduling order establishing a new trial date of February 26, 2024.

On July 21, 2023, in response to a Court order, the parties submitted a Stipulation and Proposed Order Modifying the Case Schedule with an updated proposed schedule to accommodate additional
claim construction proceedings. On August 4, 2023, the Court entered a modified version of the parties’ proposed schedule, which was revised on August 28, 2023. The parties’ Second Supplemental
Joint Claim Construction Brief was filed on October 10, 2023, and a Markman hearing regarding the disputed terms occurred on November 1, 2023. The Court issued its claim construction order on
December 15, 2023.

On August 15, 2023, Avadel renewed its request to consolidate this litigation with the litigation described in the Avadel Complaint below. On November 3, 2023, the Court denied that request.

On November 30, 2023, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. The parties filed opposition briefs on December 15, 2023. The parties filed reply briefs on December 22, 2024. On
February 14, 2024, the Court denied the parties’ summary judgment motions. On February 15, 2024, the Court held its Pretrial Conference, in advance of the ongoing February 26, 2024 trial.

Second Jazz Complaint

On August 4, 2021, Jazz filed another formal complaint (the “Second Complaint”) initiating a lawsuit in the Court against the Avadel Parties. In the Second Complaint, Jazz alleges the Proposed
Product described in the NDA owned by Avadel CNS will infringe at least one claim of U.S. Patent No. 11077079. The Second Complaint further includes typical relief requests such as preliminary
and permanent injunctive relief, monetary damages and attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses.

On September 9, 2021, the Avadel Parties timely filed their Answer and Counterclaims (the “Second Avadel Answer”) with the Court in response to the Second Complaint. The Second Avadel
Answer generally denies the allegations set forth in the Second Complaint, includes numerous affirmative defenses (including, but not limited to, non-infringement and invalidity of the patent-in-
suit), and asserts a number of counterclaims seeking i) a declaratory judgment of non-infringement of the patent-in-suit, and ii) a declaratory judgment of invalidity of the patent-in-suit.

On October 22, 2021, the Court issued an oral order stating that this case should proceed on the same schedule as the case filed on May 12, 2021.

On September 7, 2022, the case was reassigned to a new judge.

Third Jazz Complaint

On November 10, 2021, Jazz filed another formal complaint (the “Third Complaint”) initiating a lawsuit in the Court against the Avadel Parties. In the Third Complaint, Jazz alleges the Proposed
Product described in the NDA owned by Avadel CNS
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will infringe at least one claim of U.S. Patent No. 11147782. The Third Complaint further includes typical relief requests such as preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, monetary damages and
attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses. This case will proceed on the same schedule as the cases associated with the First and Second Complaints above.

On December 21, 2021, the Court entered a revised schedule for the First, Second and Third Complaints, setting a new claim construction date of August 31, 2022.

On January 7, 2022, Avadel CNS timely filed its Answer and Counterclaims (the “Third Avadel Answer”) with the Court in response to the Third Complaint. The Third Avadel Answer generally
denies the allegations set forth in the Third Complaint, includes numerous affirmative defenses (including, but not limited to, non-infringement and invalidity of the patent-in-suit), and asserts a
number of counterclaims seeking i) a declaratory judgment of non-infringement of the patent-in-suit, and ii) a declaratory judgment of invalidity/unenforceability of the patent-in-suit.

On September 7, 2022, the case was reassigned to a new judge.

Fourth Jazz Complaint

On July 15, 2022, Jazz filed another formal complaint (the “Fourth Complaint”) initiating a lawsuit in the Court against Avadel CNS. In the Fourth Complaint, Jazz alleges the Proposed Product
described in the NDA owned by Avadel CNS will infringe at least one claim of the REMS Patent, which was asserted in the First Complaint. The FDA required Avadel CNS to file a Paragraph IV
certification against the REMS Patent, which Avadel CNS did under protest, consistent with its Renewed Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings for the delisting of the REMS Patent from the Orange
Book, which was later ordered to be delisted in the above First Jazz Complaint action. Avadel CNS provided the required notice of its Paragraph IV certification to Jazz, and Jazz reasserted the
REMS Patent in a separate action following receipt of that notice. The Fourth Complaint further includes typical relief requests such as preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, monetary
damages and attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses.

On September 7, 2022, the case was reassigned to a new judge.

On September 21, 2022, Jazz served the Fourth Complaint. On October 21, 2022, Avadel CNS timely filed its Answer and Counterclaims (the “Fourth Avadel Answer”) with the Court in response to
the Fourth Complaint. The Fourth Avadel Answer generally denies the allegations set forth in the Fourth Complaint, includes numerous affirmative defenses (including, but not limited to, non-
infringement and invalidity of the patent-in-suit), and asserts a number of counterclaims for i) a declaratory judgment of non-infringement of the patent-in-suit, ii) a declaratory judgment of
invalidity/unenforceability of the patent-in-suit, iii) delisting of the patent-in-suit from the Orange Book; iv) monopolization under the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890 (the “Sherman Act”); and v)
attempted monopolization under the Sherman Act.

On December 9, 2022, Jazz filed a Motion to Dismiss Avadel’s Antitrust Counterclaims. Avadel filed its opposition brief on December 27, 2022, and Jazz filed its reply brief on January 6, 2022. On
January 11, 2023, Avadel filed a request for oral argument on the motion, which is still pending.

On March 6, 2023, the parties filed a stipulation of dismissal, dismissing Jazz’s claims with respect to the REMS Patent and Avadel CNS’s related non-infringement and invalidity counterclaims. The
Court entered that stipulation on March 7, 2023.

On May 19, 2023, the Court issued a scheduling order establishing timing for litigation events including i) completion of fact discovery by March 14, 2024, and ii) a deadline for case dispositive
motions of September 20, 2024. On January 23, 2024, the parties submitted a stipulation to extend the case schedule. On January 24, 2024, the Court ordered an extension of the case schedule,
including i) completion of fact discovery by June 20, 2024 and ii) a deadline for case dispositive motions by January 31, 2025. On January 24, 2024, the Court issued an order setting a pretrial
conference for October 30, 2025 and a 5-day trial to begin on November 3, 2025.

On June 29, 2023, Jazz filed a Motion to Stay the case, pending resolution of its Motion to Dismiss. Briefing on that Motion to Stay closed on August 10, 2023.

Avadel Complaint

On April 14, 2022, Avadel CNS and Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (collectively the “Avadel Plaintiffs”) filed a formal complaint (the “Avadel Complaint”) initiating a lawsuit in the Court against Jazz
and Jazz Pharmaceuticals Ireland Ltd. (collectively, the “Jazz Parties”). In the Avadel Complaint, the Avadel Plaintiffs allege that the Jazz Parties breached certain confidential disclosure agreements
and misappropriated certain of the Avadel Plaintiffs’ trade secrets. The Avadel Complaint further
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includes typical relief requests such as injunctive relief, monetary damages and attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses, as well as seeking correction of inventorship of certain Jazz patents, for which the
Jazz Parties claim ownership, to include former Avadel Plaintiffs’ scientists.

On June 2, 2022, Jazz answered the Avadel Complaint. The Answer generally denies the allegations set forth in the Avadel Complaint and includes various affirmative defenses.

On July 8, 2022, Jazz filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings seeking to have all Counts dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The Avadel Plaintiffs’ response
to that Motion was filed with the Court on July 29, 2022. Jazz’s reply was filed with the Court on August 5, 2022. On February 2, 2023, the Court held a hearing on Jazz’s Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings.

On September 7, 2022, the case was reassigned to a new judge.

On February 2, 2023, the Court held a hearing on Jazz’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

On July 18, 2023, the Court denied Jazz’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

On August 15, 2023, the parties submitted competing proposed scheduling orders, and Avadel requested consolidation with the above First Jazz Complaint litigation. That request for consolidation
was denied on November 3, 2023.

On November 17, 2023, the parties submitted an updated joint proposed scheduling order. On January 30, 2024, the parties agreed to a 6-week stay of discovery and submitted a proposed stipulation
extending certain case deadlines to accommodate the same. On February 9, 2024, the parties submitted an updated proposed scheduling order consistent with that stipulation, setting the close of fact
discovery for August 9, 2024 and a trial date of December 15, 2025. That proposed scheduling order remains pending before the Court as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Jazz’s Administrative Procedure Act Complaint

On June 22, 2023, Jazz filed an Administrative Procedure Act suit against the FDA, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Secretary of Health and Human Services and the
Commissioner of Food and Drugs (the “Federal Defendants”) in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia (the “DC Court”) related to the NDA for LUMRYZ. This suit alleges that
the FDA’s approval of LUMRYZ was an unlawful agency action and asks the DC Court to set aside FDA’s approval of LUMRYZ. On June 28, 2023, the DC Court granted Avadel CNS’s unopposed
motion to intervene in the case to defend the FDA’s decision. On August 14, 2023, the Court entered a scheduling order establishing timing for litigation events including early summary judgment
briefing closing December 22, 2023. On September 22, 2023, Jazz filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. On October 20, 2023, the FDA and Avadel filed their Cross Motions for Summary
Judgment. Briefing on the parties’ motions closed January 4, 2024. On February 14, 2024, the Court set hearing for oral argument on the parties’ motions for February 27, 2024. On February 21,
2024, the Court rescheduled the oral argument to April 9, 2024.

Material Commitments  

The Company has a five year commitment with a contract manufacturer of approximately $2,700 to $4,200 per year as determined by the terms of the agreement with the contract manufacturer.

Guarantees

The fair values of the Company’s guarantee to Deerfield Capital L.P. (“Deerfield”) and the guarantee received by the Company from Armistice Capital Master Fund, Ltd. largely offset and when
combined are not material.

Deerfield Guarantee

In connection with the Company’s February 2018 divestiture of its pediatric assets, including four pediatric commercial stage assets – Karbinal™ ER, Cefaclor, Flexichamber™ and AcipHex®
Sprinkle™ (“FSC products”), to Cerecor, Inc. (“Cerecor”), the Company guaranteed to Deerfield a quarterly royalty payment of 15% on net sales of the FSC products through February 6, 2026
(“FSC Product Royalties”), in an aggregate amount of up to approximately $10,300. Given the Company’s explicit guarantee to Deerfield, the Company recorded the guarantee in accordance with
ASC 460. The balance of this guarantee liability was $501 at December 31, 2023. This liability is being amortized proportionately based on undiscounted cash outflows through the remainder of the
contract with Deerfield.
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Armistice Guarantee

In connection with the Company’s February 2018 divestiture of the pediatric assets, Armistice Capital Master Fund, Ltd., the majority shareholder of Cerecor, guaranteed to the Company the FSC
Product Royalties. The Company recorded the guarantee in accordance with ASC 460. The balance of this guarantee asset was $495 at December 31, 2023. This asset is being amortized
proportionately based on undiscounted cash outflows through the remainder of the contract with Deerfield noted above.

NOTE 15: Equity Instruments and Transactions

Capital Shares

The Company has 500,000 shares of authorized ordinary shares with a nominal value of $0.01 per ordinary share. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 89,825 ordinary shares issued and
outstanding, respectively. The Board of Directors is authorized to issue preferred shares in series, and with respect to each series, to fix its designation, relative rights (including voting, dividend,
conversion, sinking fund, and redemption rights), preferences (including dividends and liquidation) and limitations. The Company has 50,000 shares of authorized preferred shares, $0.01 nominal
value, of which 5,194 are currently issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3

In February 2020, the Company filed with the SEC a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the “2020 Shelf Registration Statement”) (File No. 333-236258) that allows issuance and sale by
the Company, from time to time, of:

a. up to $250,000 in aggregate of Ordinary Shares, each of which may be represented by ADSs, preferred shares, nominal value US$0.01 per share (the “Preferred Shares”), debt securities (the
“Debt Securities”), warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, ADSs, Preferred Shares and/or Debt Securities (the “Warrants”), and/or units consisting of Ordinary Shares, ADSs, Preferred
Shares, one or more Debt Securities or Warrants in one or more series, in any combination, pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Shelf Registration Statement, the base prospectus contained in
the 2020 Shelf Registration Statement (the “2020 Base Prospectus”), and any amendments or supplements thereto; including

b. up to $50,000 of ADSs that may be issued and sold from time to time pursuant to the terms of an Open Market Sale Agreement , entered into with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”) in February
2020 (the “Sales Agreement”), the 2020 Shelf Registration Statement, the 2020 Base Prospectus and the terms of the sales agreement prospectus contained in the 2020 Shelf Registration
Statement. The Company agreed to pay Jefferies a commission up to 3.0% of the aggregate gross sales proceeds of such ADSs.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company issued and sold 3,588 ADSs, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $25,318, pursuant to the Sales Agreement. No
ADSs were issued and sold from the 2020 Base Prospectus during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The 2020 Shelf Registration Statement expired on February 14, 2023.

In August 2022, the Company filed with the SEC a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the “2022 Shelf Registration Statement”) (File No. 333-267198) that allows issuance and sale by the
Company, from time to time, of:

a. up to $500,000 in aggregate of Ordinary Shares, each of which may be represented by ADSs, Preferred Shares, Debt Securities, Warrants, and/or units consisting of Ordinary Shares, ADSs,
Preferred Shares, one or more Debt Securities or Warrants in one or more series, in any combination, pursuant to the terms of the 2022 Shelf Registration Statement, the base prospectus
contained in the 2022 Shelf Registration Statement (the “2022 Base Prospectus”), and any amendments or supplements thereto; including

b. up to $100,000 of ADSs that may be issued and sold from time to time pursuant to the Sales Agreement, the 2022 Shelf Registration Statement, the 2022 Base Prospectus and the terms of
the sales agreement prospectus contained in the 2022 Shelf Registration Statement.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company issued and sold 1,564 ADSs, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $11,913, pursuant to the Sales Agreement. The Company may offer
and sell up to an additional $96,064 of ADSs under the ATM Program that remains available for sale pursuant to the 2022 Base Prospectus.

SM
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The transactions costs associated with the 2022 Shelf Registration Statement totaled $192, of which $135 remain recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets at December 31, 2023.

April 2023 Public Offering

On April 3, 2023, the Company completed the sale of 12,205 Ordinary Shares in the form of ADSs and 4,706 Series B Preferred Shares in an underwritten public offering. The Company received
proceeds, net of underwriter fees and issuance costs of $134,151.

NOTE 16: Share-Based Compensation 

Compensation expense included in the Company’s consolidated statements of loss for all share-based compensation arrangements was as follows for the periods ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, respectively:

Share-based Compensation Expense: 2023 2022 2021

Selling, general and administrative $ 15,248 $ 6,844 $ 8,114 
Research and development 563 169 758 
Total share-based compensation expense $ 15,811 $ 7,013 $ 8,872 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company expects $13,962 of unrecognized expense related to granted, but non-vested share-based compensation arrangements to be incurred in future periods. This
expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.5 years. 

In 2022, the Company granted options with performance conditions to employees of which 50% vest upon the achievement of certain commercial milestones related to LUMRYZ and the other 50%
vest one year following achievement of those milestones (“2022 Performance Options”). In May 2023, the achievement of the milestones related to the 2022 Performance Options became probable,
and the Company recognized the compensation costs that would have been recognized had the performance factor been considered probable since the inception of the award. In June 2023,
achievement of these milestones was met and 50% of the 2022 Performance Options vested. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recognized $6,996 in share-based compensation for the 2022
Performance Options.

The excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation recorded by the Company was not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Upon exercise of stock options, or upon the issuance of restricted share awards or performance share unit awards, the Company issues new shares. 

At December 31, 2023, there were 6,883 shares authorized for stock option grants, restricted share award grants, and performance share unit award grants in subsequent periods. 

Inducement Plan

In November 2021, the Board of Directors approved the Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2021 Inducement Plan (the “Inducement Plan”), which allows the Company to grant equity awards to induce
highly-qualified prospective officers and employees who are not currently employed by the Company to accept employment and provide them with a proprietary interest in the Company. The
maximum number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the Plan is 1,500 shares. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 348 shares available for issuance under this Inducement
Plan in subsequent periods.

Determining the Fair Value of Stock Options

The Company measures the total fair value of stock options on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and recognizes each grant’s fair value as compensation expense over the
period that the option vests. Other than the 2022 Performance Options described above, options are granted to employees of the Company and become exercisable ratably over four years following
the grant date and expire ten years after the grant date. Prior to 2021, the Company issued stock options to its Board of Directors as compensation for services rendered that are exercisable ratably
over three years following the grant date, and expire ten years after the grant date. Beginning in 2021, the Company issued stock options to its Board of Directors as
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compensation for services rendered and are exercisable one year following the grant date and expire ten years after the grant date.

The weighted-average assumptions under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for stock option grants as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:   

Stock Option Assumptions: 2023 2022 2021

Stock option grants:   
Expected term (years) 6.2 6.1 6.2
Expected volatility 100.1 % 93.4 % 73.9 %
Risk-free interest rate 3.9 % 2.7 % 1.1 %
Expected dividend yield — — — 

Expected term: The expected term of the options represents the period of time between the grant date and the time the options are either exercised or forfeited, including an estimate of future
forfeitures for outstanding options. Given the limited historical data, the simplified method has been used to calculate the expected life. 

Expected volatility: The expected volatility is calculated based on an average of the historical volatility of the Company’s stock price for a period approximating the expected term. 

Risk-free interest rate: The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant and a maturity that approximates the expected term. 

Expected dividend yield: The Company has not distributed any dividends since its inception and have no plan to distribute dividends in the foreseeable future. 

Stock Options 

A summary of the combined stock option activity and other data for the Company’s stock option plans for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:   

 Stock Option Activity and Other Data:
Number of Stock

 Options
Weighted Average

 Exercise Price per Share

Weighted Average
 Remaining

 Contractual Life
Aggregate

 Intrinsic Value

Stock options outstanding, January 1, 2023 9,304 $ 6.67   
Granted 1,437 11.34   
Exercised (342) 6.02   
Forfeited (96) 12.58   
Expired (4) 7.36 

Stock options outstanding, December 31, 2023 10,299 $ 7.29 7.2 $ 811 
Stock options exercisable, December 31, 2023 6,337 $ 6.82 6.3 $ 627 

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $2,612, $877, and $249, respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $9.14, $4.02, and $5.36 per share, respectively. 

Restricted Share Awards 

Restricted share awards represent Company shares issued free of charge to employees of the Company as compensation for services rendered. The Company measures the total fair value of restricted
share awards on the grant date using the Company’s stock price at the time of the grant. Restricted share awards granted to employees vest over a four-year period; one-fourth (1/4) on each
anniversary of the grant date. Compensation expense for such awards granted is recognized over the applicable vesting period. 

A summary of the Company’s restricted share awards as of December 31, 2023, and changes during the year then ended, is reflected in the table below. 
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Restricted Share Activity and Other Data: Number of Restricted Share Awards
Weighted Average Grant Date

Fair Value

Non-vested restricted share awards outstanding, January 1, 2023 56 $ 7.95 
Granted — — 
Vested (33) 7.77 
Forfeited — — 

Non-vested restricted share awards outstanding, December 31, 2023 23 $ 8.20 

No restricted share awards were granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The weighted average grant date fair value of restricted share awards granted during the year ended
December 31, 2021 was $8.22 per share.

Performance Share Units Awards

Performance share units awards (“PSUs”) represent Company shares issued free of charge to employees of the Company as compensation for achieving specified results. The Company measures the
total fair value of performance share unit awards on the grant date using the Company’s stock price at the time of the grant. In 2021, the Company granted performance share awards of which 50%
vest upon achievement of certain corporate objectives and the second 50% vests one year following achievement of those objectives (“2021 PSU awards”). The objectives of the 2021 PSU awards
were not met and the 2021 PSU awards were forfeited in 2022. The Company did not recognize any share-based compensation expense related to the 2021 PSU awards. The weighted average grant
date fair value of performance share awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 was $8.20 per share. No performance share awards were granted during the year ended December 31,
2022. 

As of December 31, 2023, there were 555 performance share awards that did not have an accounting grant date due to the discretionary nature of the performance criteria. Accordingly, no grant date
fair value was established and there were no performance share awards considered granted during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Employee Share Purchase Plan

In 2017, the Board of Directors approved the Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2017 Avadel Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The total number of Company ordinary shares, nominal value $0.01
per share, or ADSs representing such ordinary shares (collectively, “Shares”) which may be issued under the ESPP is 1,000. The purchase price at which a share will be issued or sold for a given
offering period will be established by the Compensation Committee of the Board (“Committee”) (and may differ among participants, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion) but will in
no event be less than 85% of the lesser of: (a) the fair market value of a Share on the offering date; or (b) the fair market value of a Share on the purchase date. During the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021 the Company issued 47, 75, and 17 ordinary shares to employees, respectively. Expense related to the ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
immaterial.

NOTE 17: Net Loss Per Share 

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss -
diluted by the diluted number of shares outstanding during each period. Except where the result would be anti-dilutive to net loss, diluted net loss per share would be calculated assuming the impact
of the conversion of the February 2023 Notes and the October 2023 Notes (together, the “2023 Notes”), the conversion of the Company’s preferred shares, the exercise of outstanding equity
compensation awards, and ordinary shares expected to be issued under the Company’s ESPP.

The Company had a choice to settle the conversion obligations under the 2023 Notes in cash, shares or any combination of the two. The Company utilized the if-converted method to reflect the
impact of the conversion of the 2023 Notes, unless the result was anti-dilutive. This method assumed the conversion of the 2023 Notes into shares of the Company’s ordinary shares and reflected the
elimination of the interest expense related to the 2023 Notes.

The dilutive effect of the stock options, restricted stock units, preferred shares and ordinary shares expected to be issued under the Company’s ESPP has been calculated using the treasury stock
method.

A reconciliation of basic and diluted net loss per share, together with the related shares outstanding in thousands for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, is as follows:
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Net Loss Per Share: 2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (160,276) $ (137,464) $ (77,329)

Weighted average shares:   
Basic shares 80,174 60,094 58,535 
Effect of dilutive securities—employee and director equity awards outstanding — — — 

Diluted shares 80,174 60,094 58,535 

Net loss per share - basic $ (2.00) $ (2.29) $ (1.32)
Net loss per share - diluted $ (2.00) $ (2.29) $ (1.32)

Potential ordinary shares of 513, 17,941, 15,327 and were excluded from the calculation of weighted average shares for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 respectively, because
either their effect was considered to be anti-dilutive or they were related to shares from PSUs for which the contingent vesting condition had not been achieved. For the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, the effects of dilutive securities were entirely excluded from the calculation of net loss per share as a net loss was reported in these periods. 

NOTE 18: Comprehensive Loss

The following table shows the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, net of immaterial tax effects:

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss: 2023 2022 2021

Foreign currency translation adjustment:  
Beginning balance $ (24,452) $ (23,855) $ (22,627)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) 331 (597) (1,228)
Balance at December 31, $ (24,121) $ (24,452) $ (23,855)

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net  
Beginning balance $ (1,889) $ (85) $ 1,576 

Net other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax benefit of $0, $0, and $214, respectively 2,843 (1,804) (1,661)
Balance at December 31, $ 954 $ (1,889) $ (85)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, $ (23,167) $ (26,341) $ (23,940)

The effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss was immaterial for all periods presented.

NOTE 19: Segment Information

The Company has determined that it operates in one segment, the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products, including controlled-release therapeutic products based on its
proprietary polymer based technology. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The CEO reviews profit and loss information on a consolidated basis
to assess performance and make overall operating decisions as well as resource allocations. All products are included in one segment because the Company’s products have similar economic and
other characteristics, including the nature of the products and production processes, type of customers, distribution methods and regulatory environment.
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Non-monetary long-lived assets primarily consist of property and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and operating right-of use-assets. The following table summarizes non-monetary long-lived
assets by geographic region as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Long-lived Assets by Geographic Region: 2023 2022

U.S. $ 18,413 $ 19,414 
Ireland 11,751 11,296 
Total $ 30,164 $ 30,710 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 the related consolidated statements of loss,
comprehensive loss, shareholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item
15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated February 29, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Net Product Revenue- Reserves for Variable Consideration– Patient Financial Assistance Programs and Rebates – Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company's revenue from product sales is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606 ("ASC 606") when the
customer obtains control of the product. The Company’s gross product sales are subject to a variety of price adjustments to arrive at reported net product revenue. These adjustments include estimates
of payment discounts, specialty pharmacy fees, patient financial assistance programs, rebates and product returns and are estimated based on contractual arrangements, historical trends, expected
utilization of such products and other judgments and analysis. The Company estimates a reserve for patient financial assistance programs primarily based on expected utilization by patients. The
Company estimates a reserve for rebates based on contractual rates and estimates regarding their expectations of future patient utilization rates. Where appropriate, these estimated reserves take into
consideration relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data, historical trends, current and expected patient demand
and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Given the complexity and
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judgment involved in determining the significant assumptions used in estimating the reserve for patient financial assistance programs and rebates, auditing such estimates required a high degree of
auditor judgment and increased extent of audit effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the reserve for patient financial assistance programs and rebates included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over management’s process to account for variable consideration associated with the reserve for patient financial assistance programs and rebates,
including underlying assumptions and key inputs into the Company's process to calculate the patient financial assistance programs and rebate accruals.

• We evaluated the Company's methodology and assumptions in developing the reserves for patient financial assistance programs and rebates accrual models, including assessing the
completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by management in their estimates.

• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the reserve for patient financial assistance programs and rebates.

• We performed retrospective reviews comparing management’s estimates of the expected reserve for patient financial assistance programs and rebates to actual amounts incurred subsequent
to the dates of estimation, to evaluate management's ability to accurately forecast the reserves.

/s/ Deloitte and Touche LLP
St. Louis, Missouri  
February 29, 2024  

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated February 29, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte and Touche LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 29, 2024
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Item 9.         Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of the Company, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2023, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to provide reasonable assurance
that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Based on their evaluation, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective as of December 31, 2023.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2023,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent auditors have issued their auditors’ report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. That report appears above in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Other Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred
during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Item 9B.     Other Information. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Company’s directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) adopted, terminated or modified a Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C.     Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. 

Not applicable.
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PART III 

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because we intend to file our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 annual general meeting of
shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (our “Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement”), not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information to be included in our Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 10.     Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

Information regarding Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance is hereby incorporated by reference to our Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement, which we intend to file with the SEC
within 120 days after December 31, 2023. 

Item 11.     Executive Compensation. 

Information regarding Executive Compensation is hereby incorporated by reference to our Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days after December 31,
2023. 

Item 12.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

Information regarding Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters is hereby incorporated by reference to our Definitive 2024 Proxy
Statement, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2023. 

Item 13.     Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

Information regarding Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence is hereby incorporated by reference to our Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement, which we intend to file
with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2023. 

Item 14.     Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 

Our independent public accounting firm is Deloitte and Touche LLP, St. Louis, Missouri (PCAOB Auditor ID: 34).

Information regarding Principal Accountant Fees and Services is hereby incorporated by reference to our Definitive 2024 Proxy Statement, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days after
December 31, 2023. 
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PART IV
 
Item 15.     Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

1.    Financial Statements

See Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of Part II of this Report.

2.    Financial Statement Schedules

See below for Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. All other schedules are omitted as they are not applicable, not required or the information is included in the consolidated financial
statements or related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Schedule II
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands) 

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:
Balance, 

Beginning of Period
Additions

(a)
Deductions

(b)
Other Changes

(c)
Balance, 

End of Period

2023 $ 71,341 $ 30,918 $ (6,586) $ 755 $ 96,428 
2022 $ 24,025 $ 48,734 $ — $ (1,418) $ 71,341 
2021 $ 21,624 $ 4,235 $ (51) $ (1,783) $ 24,025 

 
a. Additions to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance relate to movements on certain French, Irish and U.S. deferred tax assets where we continue to maintain a valuation allowance until

sufficient positive evidence exists to support reversal.

b. Deductions to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance include movements relating to utilization of net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards, release in valuation allowance and
other movements including adjustments following finalization of tax returns.

c. Other changes to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance including currency translation adjustments recorded directly in equity, account method changes and the impact of corporate
restructuring.

3. Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and Item 15(b) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the signature page of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are incorporated by reference herein.

Item 16.     Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.

Index to Exhibits

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description

3.1 Constitution (containing the Memorandum and Articles of Association) of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (incorporated by reference to Appendix 15 of Exhibit 2.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on July 1, 2016)

3.2 Certificate of Designation of Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Shares of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, dated February 20, 2020 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on February 24, 2020)
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3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series B Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Shares of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, dated March 29, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on March 30, 2023)

4.1
Deposit Agreement dated as of January 3, 2017 among Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, The Bank of New York, as Depositary, and holders from time to time of
American Depositary Shares issued thereunder (including as an exhibit the form of American Depositary Receipt) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K12B, filed on January 4, 2017 and amended January 6, 2017)

4.2 Description of Securities (filed herewith)

10.1*
Exclusive License Agreement by and between Perrigo Pharma International DAC (f/k/a Elan Pharma International Limited) and Flamel Ireland Limited dated
September 30, 2015, as amended by the First Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement dated December 21, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 9, 2021)

10.2 Office Lease Agreement by and between Grove II LLC and Eclat Pharmaceuticals LLC dated October 5, 2015, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 9, 2021)

10.3‡ December 2015 Stock Option Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015, filed on March 15, 2016)

10.4‡ Form of Stock Option Grant Letter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015, filed on March 15, 2016)

10.5‡ Rules Governing the Free Share Plan - August 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement (No. 333-213154) on Form
S-8, filed on August 16, 2016)

10.6‡ August 2016 Stock Option Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement (No. 333-213154) on Form S-8, filed on
August 16, 2016)

10.7‡ August 2016 Stock Warrant Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement (No. 333-213154) on Form S-8, filed on
August 16, 2016)

10.8‡ Form of stock option grant letter for 2016 Stock Option Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2016, filed on March 28, 2017)

10.9‡ Amended Employment Agreement dated as of June 3, 2019 between Avadel Management Corporation and Gregory J. Divis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on June 5, 2019)

10.10‡ First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2022, between Avadel Management Corporation and Gregory J. Divis (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q, for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed on November 9, 2022)

10.11‡ Employment Agreement dated as of May 15, 2020 between Avadel Management Corporation and Thomas S. McHugh (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 10, 2020)
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10.12‡ First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2022, between Avadel Management Corporation and Thomas S. McHugh (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q, for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed on November 9, 2022)

10.13*
Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Cerecor, Inc. and Avadel Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc., Avadel Pediatrics, Inc., FSC Therapeutics, LLC, Avadel US
Holdings, Inc. and Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc dated as of February 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed on March 16, 2018)

10.14* Guarantee by Avadel US Holdings, Inc. and Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc in favor of Deerfield CSF, LLC, Peter Steelman and James Flynn dated as of February 16,
2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed on March 16, 2018)

10.15* Guarantee by Armistice Capital Master Fund, Ltd. in favor of Avadel US Holdings, Inc. dated as of February 16, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed on March 16, 2018)

10.16‡ Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2017 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan and related equity award agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 9, 2021)

10.17‡ Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2020 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 9, 2021)

10.18‡ Amendment to the Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2020 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s current
report on Form 8-K, filed August 3, 2023)

10.19‡ Employment Agreement dated as of February 15, 2021 between Avadel Management Corporation and Richard Kim (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, filed on May 10, 2021)

10.20‡ First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2022, between Avadel Management Corporation and Richard Kim (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q, for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed on November 9, 2022)

10.21 Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc 2021 Inducement Plan and related equity award agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed on March 16, 2022)

10.22+^ Manufacturing Agreement by and between Flamel Ireland Limited and Recipharm Pessac, dated as of October 1, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21
to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed on March 29, 2023)

10.23+^ Generic API Supply Agreement by and between Euticals Inc. and Avadel CNS Pharmaceuticals, LLC, dated as of January 2, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.22 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed on March 29, 2023)

10.24+^ Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated March 29, 2023, between Avadel CNS Pharmaceuticals, LLC, the Company, Flamel Ireland Ltd., and RTW Royalty II DAC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on March 30, 2023)

10.25+^ Generic API Supply Agreement and Manufacturing Agreement by and between Catalent Pharma Solutions LLC and Flamel Ireland Limited, dated as of March 29,
2018 (filed herewith)
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14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (filed herewith)

14.2 Financial Integrity Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.2 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, filed on March 7, 2017)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith)

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP (filed herewith)

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to USC Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished
herewith)

32.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to USC Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished
herewith)

97.1‡ Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc Compensation Recovery Policy (filed herewith)

101.INS Inline XBRL Instant Document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101.*) (filed herewith)

* Confidential treatment has been requested for the redacted portions of this agreement. A complete copy of the agreement, including the redacted portions, has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

# The representations and warranties contained in this agreement were made only for purposes of the transactions contemplated by the agreement as of specific dates and may have been qualified by certain disclosures
between the parties and a contractual standard of materiality different from those generally applicable under securities laws, among other limitations. The representations and warranties were made for purposes of
allocating contractual risk between the parties to the agreement and should not be relied upon as a disclosure of factual information relating to the Company, the Investors or the transaction described in the Current Report
on Form 8-K.

‡ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

+ Certain exhibits and schedules to these agreements have been omitted pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish copies of any of the exhibits and schedules to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.

^ Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted because they are not material and the registrant customarily and actually treats that information as private or confidential.
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(1) This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the registrant under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
 
  Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc
Dated: February 29, 2024 By: /s/ Gregory J. Divis
  Name:   Gregory J. Divis
  Title:    Chief Executive Officer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY

 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of Geoffrey M. Glass, Eric J. Ende, Mark A. McCamish, MD, Ph.D., Linda S. Palczuk, and Peter J. Thornton, by their respective
signatures below, irrevocably constitutes and appoints Gregory J. Divis and Thomas S. McHugh, and each of them individually acting alone without the other, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or either of them, or their or his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ Gregory J. Divis  Director, Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive Officer  February 29, 2024
Gregory J. Divis    
     
/s/ Thomas S. McHugh  Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer  February 29, 2024
Thomas S. McHugh    
     
/s/ Geoffrey M. Glass  Non-Executive Chairman of the Board and Director  February 29, 2024
Geoffrey M. Glass    
     
/s/ Dr. Eric J. Ende  Director  February 29, 2024
Dr. Eric J. Ende     
     
/s/ Mark A. McCamish, MD, Ph.D.  Director  February 29, 2024
Mark A. McCamish, MD, Ph.D.     

/s/ Linda S. Palczuk  Director  February 29, 2024
Linda S. Palczuk     

/s/ Peter J. Thornton  Director  February 29, 2024
Peter J. Thornton     
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Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

The following description of the registered securities of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (“Avadel,” “we” or “our”) summarizes the material terms and provisions of our ordinary shares, which may be represented by
American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, and preferred shares. The following description of our share capital does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, our memorandum and articles
of association (the “Avadel Constitution”), which is incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.2 to this Form 10-K , and by applicable law.

The following description includes comparisons of certain provisions of the Avadel Constitution and Irish law applicable to us and the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, the law under which many
publicly listed companies in the United States are incorporated. Because such statements are summaries, they do not address all aspects of Irish law that may be relevant to us and our shareholders or all aspects of
Delaware law which may differ from Irish law, and they are not intended to be a complete discussion of the respective rights.

General

Our authorized share capital is $5,500,000 divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of $0.01 each and 50,000,000 preferred shares with a nominal value of $0.01 each, plus €25,000 divided into
25,000 deferred non-voting ordinary shares with a nominal value of €1.00 each.

Ordinary Shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders. The holders of our ordinary shares do not have any cumulative voting rights.
Holders of our ordinary shares are entitled to receive ratably any dividends declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose, subject to any preferential dividend rights of any outstanding
convertible preferred shares. Our ordinary shares have no preemptive rights, conversion rights or other subscription rights or redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Our ordinary shares are not for trading and only registered in connection with the listing of American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the trading symbol “AVDL.”

The transfer agent and registrar for our ordinary shares is Computershare Ireland.

Preferred Shares

The Avadel Constitution empowers our Board of Directors, without action by our shareholders, to issue up to 50,000,000 preferred shares from time to time in one or more classes or series. Our Board of Directors is
authorized, without obtaining any vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of shares, unless expressly provided by the terms of that class or series of shares, to provide from time to time for the issuance of other
classes or series of shares and to establish the characteristics of each class or series, including the number of shares, designations, relative voting rights, dividend rights, liquidation and other rights, redemption, repurchase
or exchange rights and any other preferences and relative, participating, optional or other rights and limitations not inconsistent with applicable law. Our Board of Directors has designated 487,614 of the 50,000,000
authorized preferred shares as Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Shares (the “Series A Preferred”) and 4,705,882 of the 50,000,000 authorized preferred shares as Series B Non-Voting Convertible Preferred
Shares (the “Series B Preferred” and together with the Series A Preferred, the “Designated Preferred Shares”).

Conversion. Our Designated Preferred Shares have a nominal value of $0.01 per share and are convertible, from time to time at the option of the holder thereof, into one ordinary share, except that a holder will be
prohibited from converting shares of Designated Preferred Shares into ordinary shares if, as a result of such conversion, such holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own more than 9.99% of the total
number of ordinary shares then issued and outstanding.

Liquidation Preference. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, our assets available for distribution shall be distributed among the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, Series B Preferred Shares
and ordinary shares, pro rata based on the number of shares held by each such holder, treating for this purpose all such securities as if they had been converted to ordinary shares.

Voting. Designated Preferred Shares prior to their conversion to ordinary shares will generally have no voting rights, provided that, except as required by law, the consent of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of Series A Preferred Shares will be required to amend the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares if such amendment would adversely affect the Series A Preferred Shares and the consent of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Shares will be required to amend the terms of the Series B Preferred Shares if such amendment would adversely affect the Series B Preferred Shares.

Dividends. Designated Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive dividends at a rate equal to (on an as-if-converted-to-ordinary share basis), and in the same form and manner as, dividends actually paid on ordinary
shares.

Redemption. Designated Preferred Shares are not entitled to any redemption rights or mandatory sinking fund or analogous fund provisions.

 



Listing. There is no established public trading market for the Designated Preferred Shares, and we do not expect a market to develop. In addition, we do not intend to apply for listing of the Designated Preferred
Shares on The Nasdaq Global Market or on any national securities or other nationally recognized trading system.

Warrants

We may issue warrants for the purchase of our ordinary shares, preferred shares or debt securities or any combination thereof. Warrants may be issued independently or together with our ordinary shares, preferred shares or
debt securities and may be attached to or separate from any offered securities. To the extent warrants that we issue are to be publicly-traded, each series of such warrants will be issued under a separate warrant agreement
to be entered into between us and a bank or trust company, as warrant agent. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with such warrants. The warrant agent will not have any obligation or relationship
of agency or trust for or with any holders or beneficial owners of warrants. This summary of certain provisions of the warrants is not complete. For the terms of a particular series of warrants, you should refer to the
prospectus supplement for that series of warrants and the warrant agreement for that particular series.

Anti-Takeover Provisions of Irish Law

Business Combinations with Interested Shareholders

The Avadel Constitution includes a provision similar to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested shareholder for a
period of three years following the date the person became an interested shareholder, unless, in general:

• our Board of Directors approved the transaction which resulted in the shareholder becoming an interested shareholder;

• upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the shareholder becoming an interested shareholder, the shareholder owned at least 85% of the voting shares outstanding at the time of commencement of
such transaction, excluding for purposes of determining the number of voting shares outstanding (but not the outstanding voting shares owned by the interested shareholder), voting shares owned by persons who
are directors and also officers and by certain employee share plans; or

• the business combination is approved by our Board of Directors and authorized at an annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the
outstanding voting shares that are not owned by the interested shareholder.

A “business combination” is generally defined as a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested shareholder. An “interested shareholder” is generally defined as a person
who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the date in question, owned 15% or more of our outstanding voting shares.

Irish Takeover Rules and Substantial Acquisition Rules

A transaction in which a third party seeks to acquire 30% or more of our voting rights will be governed by the Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997 and the Irish Takeover Rules made thereunder, the Irish Takeover Panel Act,
1997, Takeover Rules, 2022 (the “Irish Takeover Rules”), and will be regulated by the Irish Takeover Panel. The “General Principles” of the Irish Takeover Rules and certain important aspects of the Irish Takeover Rules
are described below.

General Principles

The Irish Takeover Rules are built on the following General Principles which will apply to any transaction regulated by the Irish Takeover Panel:

• in the event of an offer, all holders of securities of the target company must be afforded equivalent treatment and, if a person acquires control of a company, the other holders of securities must be protected;

• the holders of securities in the target company must have sufficient time and information to enable them to reach a properly informed decision on the offer; where it advises the holders of securities, the Board of
Directors of the target company must give its views on the effects of the implementation of the offer on employment, employment conditions and the locations of the target company’s place of business;

• a target company’s Board of Directors must act in the interests of that company as a whole and must not deny the holders of securities the opportunity to decide on the merits of the offer;

• false markets must not be created in the securities of the target company, the bidder or any other company concerned by the offer in such a way that the rise or fall of the prices of the securities becomes artificial
and the normal functioning of the markets is distorted;

• a bidder can only announce an offer after ensuring that he or she can fulfill in full any cash consideration offered, if such is offered, and after taking all reasonable measures to secure the implementation of any
other type of consideration;
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• a target company may not be hindered in the conduct of its affairs longer than is reasonable by an offer for its securities; and

• a “substantial acquisition” of securities, whether such acquisition is to be effected by one transaction or a series of transactions, shall take place only at an acceptable speed and shall be subject to adequate and
timely disclosure.

Mandatory Bid

Under certain circumstances, a person who acquires shares, or other voting securities, of a company may be required under the Irish Takeover Rules to make a mandatory cash offer for the remaining outstanding voting
securities in that company at a price not less than the highest price paid for the securities by the acquiror, or any parties acting in concert with the acquiror, during the previous 12 months. This mandatory bid requirement
is triggered if an acquisition of securities would increase the aggregate holding of an acquiror, including the holdings of any parties acting in concert with the acquiror, to securities representing 30% or more of the voting
rights in a company, unless the Irish Takeover Panel otherwise consents. An acquisition of securities by a person holding, together with its concert parties, securities representing between 30% and 50% of the voting rights
in a company would also trigger the mandatory bid requirement if, after giving effect to the acquisition, the percentage of the voting rights held by that person, together with its concert parties, would increase by 0.05%
within a 12-month period. Any person, excluding any parties acting in concert with the holder, holding securities representing more than 50% of the voting rights of a company is not subject to these mandatory offer
requirements in purchasing additional securities.

Voluntary Bid; Requirements to Make a Cash Offer and Minimum Price Requirement

If a person makes a voluntary offer to acquire our outstanding ordinary shares, the offer price must not be less than the highest price paid for our ordinary shares by the bidder or its concert parties during the three-month
period prior to the commencement of the offer period. The Irish Takeover Panel has the power to extend the “look back” period to 12 months if the Irish Takeover Panel, taking into account the General Principles, believes
it is appropriate to do so.

If the bidder or any of its concert parties has acquired our ordinary shares (1) during the 12-month period prior to the commencement of the offer period that represent more than 10% of our total ordinary shares or (2) at
any time after the commencement of the offer period, the offer must be in cash or accompanied by a full cash alternative and the price per ordinary share must not be less than the highest price paid by the bidder or its
concert parties during, in the case of clause (1), the 12-month period prior to the commencement of the offer period or, in the case of (2), the offer period. The Irish Takeover Panel may apply this Rule to a bidder who,
together with its concert parties, has acquired less than 10% of our total ordinary shares in the 12-month period prior to the commencement of the offer period if the Irish Takeover Panel, taking into account the General
Principles, considers it just and proper to do so.

An offer period will generally commence from the date of the first announcement of the offer or proposed offer.

Substantial Acquisition Rules

The Irish Takeover Rules also contain rules governing substantial acquisitions of shares and other voting securities which restrict the speed at which a person may increase his or her holding of shares and rights over shares
to an aggregate of between 15% and 30% of the voting rights of the company. Except in certain circumstances, an acquisition or series of acquisitions of shares or rights over shares representing 10% or more of the voting
rights of the company is prohibited, if such acquisition(s), when aggregated with shares or rights already held, would result in the acquirer holding 15% or more but less than 30% of the voting rights of the company and
such acquisitions are made within a period of seven days. These rules also require accelerated disclosure of acquisitions of shares or rights over shares relating to such holdings.

Frustrating Action

Under the Irish Takeover Rules, our Board of Directors is not permitted to take any action that might frustrate an offer for our shares during the course of an offer or at any earlier time during which our Board of Directors
has reason to believe that such an offer is or may be imminent, subject to certain exceptions. Potentially frustrating actions such as (1) the issue of shares, options, restricted share units or convertible securities or the
redemption or purchase of own securities, (2) material acquisitions or disposals, (3) entering into contracts other than in the ordinary course of business or (4) any action, other than seeking alternative offers, which may
result in frustration of an offer, are prohibited during the course of an offer or at any earlier time during which our Board of Directors has reason to believe an offer is or may be imminent. Exceptions to this prohibition are
available where:

(a)    the action is approved by our shareholders at a general meeting; or

(b)    the Irish Takeover Panel has given its consent, where:

(i)    it is satisfied the action would not constitute frustrating action;

(ii)    our shareholders holding more than 50% of the voting rights state in writing that they approve the proposed action and would vote in favor of it at a general meeting;

(iii)    the action is taken in accordance with a contract entered into prior to the announcement of the offer, or any earlier time at which our Board of Directors considered the offer to be imminent; or
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(iv)    the decision to take such action was made before the announcement of the offer and either has been at least partially implemented or is in the ordinary course of business.

Shareholders’ Rights Plan

Irish law does not expressly authorize or prohibit companies from issuing share purchase rights or adopting a shareholder rights plan as an anti-takeover measure. However, there is no directly relevant case law on the
validity of such plans under Irish law. In addition, such a plan would be subject to the Irish Takeover Rules and the General Principles underlying the Irish Takeover Rules. The Avadel Constitution allows our Board of
Directors to adopt a shareholder rights plan upon such terms and conditions as our Board of Directors deems expedient and in the best interests of us, subject to applicable law.

Subject to the Irish Takeover Rules, our Board of Directors also has power to issue any of our authorized and unissued shares on such terms and conditions as it may determine and any such action should be taken in our
best interests. It is possible, however, that the terms and conditions of any issue of preference shares could discourage a takeover or other transaction that holders of some or a majority of the ordinary shares believe to be
in their best interests or in which holders might receive a premium for their shares over the then-market price of the shares.

Disclosure of Interests in Shares

Under the Irish Companies Act, our shareholders must notify us if, as a result of a transaction, the shareholder will become interested in three percent or more of our voting shares, or if as a result of a transaction a
shareholder who was interested in three percent or more of our voting shares ceases to be so interested. Where a shareholder is interested in three percent or more of our voting shares, the shareholder must notify us of any
alteration of his or her interest that brings his or her total holding through the nearest whole percentage number, whether an increase or a reduction. The relevant percentage figure is calculated by reference to the aggregate
nominal value of the voting shares in which the shareholder is interested as a proportion of the entire nominal value of our issued share capital (or any such class of share capital in issue). Where the percentage level of the
shareholder’s interest does not amount to a whole percentage, this figure may be rounded down to the next whole number. We must be notified within five business days of the transaction or alteration of the shareholder’s
interests that gave rise to the notification requirement. If a shareholder fails to comply with these notification requirements, the shareholder’s rights in respect of any of our shares it holds will not be enforceable, either
directly or indirectly. However, such person may apply to the court to have the rights attaching to such shares reinstated.

In addition to these disclosure requirements, we, under the Irish Companies Act, may, by notice in writing, require a person whom we know or have reasonable cause to believe to be, or at any time during the three years
immediately preceding the date on which such notice is issued to have been, interested in shares comprised in our relevant share capital to (i) indicate whether or not it is the case and (ii) where such person holds or has
during that time held an interest in our shares, to provide additional information, including the person’s own past or present interests in our shares. If the recipient of the notice fails to respond within the reasonable time
period specified in the notice, we may apply to the Irish court for an order directing that the affected shares be subject to certain restrictions, as prescribed by the Irish Companies Act, as follows:

• any transfer of those shares or, in the case of unissued shares, any transfer of the right to be issued with shares and any issue of shares, shall be void;

• no voting rights shall be exercisable in respect of those shares;

• no further shares shall be issued in right of those shares or in pursuance of any offer made to the holder of those shares; and

• no payment shall be made of any sums due from us on those shares, whether in respect of capital or otherwise.

The court may also order that shares subject to any of these restrictions be sold with the restrictions terminating upon the completion of the sale.

In the event we are in an offer period pursuant to the Irish Takeover Rules, accelerated disclosure provisions apply for persons holding an interest in our securities of one percent or more.

Differences in Corporate Law

As a public limited company incorporated under the laws of Ireland, the rights of our shareholders are governed by applicable Irish law, including the Irish Companies Act, and not by the law of any U.S. state. As a result,
our directors and shareholders are subject to different responsibilities, rights and privileges than are applicable to directors and shareholders of U.S. corporations. The applicable provisions of the Irish Companies Act
differ from laws applicable to U.S. corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of certain differences between the provisions of the Irish Companies Act applicable to us and the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware relating to shareholders’ rights and protections. The applicable provisions in respect of the Company under the Avadel Constitution is also set out where relevant. This summary is not
intended to be a complete discussion of the respective rights and it is qualified in its entirety by reference to Delaware law and Irish law. You are also urged to carefully read the relevant provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and the Irish Companies Act for a more complete understanding of the differences between Delaware and Irish law.
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Ireland Delaware
Number of Directors The Irish Companies Act provides for a minimum of two directors. The Avadel

Constitution provides for a minimum of two directors and a maximum of 13. Our
shareholders may from time to time increase or reduce the maximum number, or
increase the minimum number, of directors by ordinary resolution. Our Board of
Directors determines the number of directors within the range of two to 13.

Under Delaware law, a corporation must have at least one director and the
number of directors shall be fixed by or in the manner provided in the bylaws.

Removal of Directors Under the Irish Companies Act, the shareholders may, by ordinary resolution,
remove a director from office before the expiration of his or her term, at a
meeting held on no less than 28 days’ notice and at which the director is entitled
to be heard. Because of this provision of the Irish Companies Act, a director
may be so removed before the expiration of his or her period of office.

The power of removal is without prejudice to any claim for damages for breach
of contract (e.g., employment contract) that the director may have against the
Company in respect of his or her removal.

The Avadel Constitution also provides that the office of a director will also be
vacated if the director is restricted or disqualified to act as a director under the
Irish Companies Act; resigns his or her office by notice in writing to us or in
writing offers to resign and the directors resolve to accept such offer; or is
requested to resign in writing by not less than 75% of the other directors.

Under Delaware law, any director or the entire board of directors may be
removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then
entitled to vote at an election of directors, except (i) unless the certificate of
incorporation provides otherwise, in the case of a corporation whose board of
directors is classified, stockholders may effect such removal only for cause, or
(ii) in the case of a corporation having cumulative voting, if less than the entire
board of directors is to be removed, no director may be removed without cause if
the votes cast against his removal would be sufficient to elect him if then
cumulatively voted at an election of the entire board of directors, or, if there are
classes of directors, at an election of the class of directors of which he is a part.

Vacancies on the Board of Directors Any vacancy on our Board of Directors, including a vacancy resulting from an
increase in the number of directors or from the death, resignation, retirement,
disqualification or removal of a director, shall be deemed a casual vacancy.
Subject to the terms of any one or more classes or series of preferred shares, any
casual vacancy shall only be filled by the decision of a majority of our Board of
Directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present and provided that the
appointment does not cause the number of directors to exceed any number fixed
by or in accordance with the Avadel Constitution as the maximum number of
directors.

Any director of a class of directors elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an
increase in the number of directors of such class shall hold office for the
remaining term of that class. Any director elected to fill a vacancy not resulting
from an increase in the number of directors shall have the same remaining term
as that of his predecessor. A director retiring at a meeting shall retain office until
the close or adjournment of the meeting.

Under Delaware law, vacancies and newly created directorships may be filled by
a majority of the directors then in office (even though less than a quorum) or by a
sole remaining director unless (i) otherwise provided in the certificate of
incorporation or bylaws of the corporation or (ii) the certificate of incorporation
directs that a particular class of stock is to elect such director, in which case a
majority of the other directors elected by such class, or a sole remaining director
elected by such class, will fill such vacancy.
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Annual General Meeting We are required to hold annual general meetings at intervals of no more than
fifteen months after the previous annual general meeting, provided that an
annual general meeting is held in each calendar year following our first annual
general meeting, no more than nine months after our fiscal year-end.

The only matters which must, as a matter of Irish company law, be transacted at
an annual general meeting are the consideration of the Irish statutory financial
statements, the report of the directors, the report of the auditors on those
statements and that report and a review by the members of our affairs. If no
resolution is made in respect of the reappointment of an auditor at an annual
general meeting, the previous auditor will be deemed to have continued in
office.

Under Delaware law, the annual meeting of stockholders shall be held at such
place, on such date and at such time as may be designated from time to time by
the board of directors or as provided in the certificate of incorporation or by the
bylaws.

General Meeting Our extraordinary general meetings may be convened by (i) our Board of
Directors, (ii) on requisition of shareholders holding not less than 10% of our
paid up share capital carrying voting rights or (iii) on requisition of our auditors.
Extraordinary general meetings are generally held for the purposes of approving
shareholder resolutions as may be required from time to time.

If our directors become aware that our net assets are half or less of the amount
of our called-up share capital, our directors must convene an extraordinary
general meeting of our shareholders not later than 28 days from the date that
they learn of this fact. This meeting must be convened for the purposes of
considering whether any, and if so what, measures should be taken to address
the situation.

Under Delaware law, special meetings of the stockholders may be called by the
board of directors or by such person or persons as may be authorized by the
certificate of incorporation or by the bylaws.

Notice of General Meetings Notice of a general meeting must be given to all our shareholders and to our
auditors. The articles of association provide that the maximum notice period is
60 clear days. The minimum notice periods are 21 clear days’ notice in writing
for an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general meeting to approve a
special resolution and 14 clear days’ notice in writing for any other
extraordinary general meeting. General meetings may be called by shorter
notice, but only with the consent of our auditors and all of our shareholders
entitled to attend and vote thereat. Because of the 21-day and 14-day
requirements described in this paragraph, the articles of association include
provisions reflecting these requirements of Irish law.

 
In the case of an extraordinary general meeting convened by our shareholders,
the proposed purpose of the meeting must be set out in the requisition notice.
Upon receipt of this requisition notice, our Board of Directors has 21 days to
convene a meeting of our shareholders to vote on the matters set out in the
requisition notice. This meeting must be held within two months of the receipt
of the requisition notice. If our Board of Directors does not convene the meeting
within such 21-day period, the requisitioning shareholders, or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, which meeting must be held within three months
of the receipt of the requisition notice.

Under Delaware law, special meetings of the stockholders may be called by the
board of directors or by such person or persons as may be authorized by the
certificate of incorporation or by the bylaws.
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Quorum The presence, in person or by proxy, of five or more persons holding or
representing by proxy at least a majority in nominal value of the class or, at any
adjourned meeting of such holders, one holder holding or representing by proxy
at least a majority in nominal value of the issued shares of the class constitutes a
quorum for the conduct of business. No business may take place at a general
meeting if a quorum is not present in person or by proxy. Our Board of Directors
has no authority to waive quorum requirements stipulated in the Avadel
Constitution. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted as present for
purposes of determining whether there is a quorum in respect of the proposals.

The certificate of incorporation or bylaws may specify the number of shares, the
holders of which shall be present or represented by proxy at any meeting in order
to constitute a quorum, but in no event shall a quorum consist of less than one
third of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting. In the absence of such
specification in the certificate of incorporation or bylaws, a majority of the shares
entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a
quorum at a meeting of stockholders.

Proxy Under Irish law, a shareholder may designate another person to attend, speak
and vote at a general meeting of the company on their behalf by proxy, which
proxy need not be a shareholder.

Where interests in shares are held by a nominee trust company, this company
may exercise the rights of the beneficial holders on their behalf as their proxy.

Voting rights may be exercised by shareholders registered in the share register as
of the record date for the meeting or by a duly appointed proxy of such a
registered shareholder, which proxy need not be a shareholder. Where interests
in shares are held by a nominee trust company, this company may exercise the
rights of the beneficial holders on their behalf as their proxy. All proxies must
be appointed in accordance with the Avadel Constitution. The Avadel
Constitution permits the appointment of proxies by our shareholders to be
notified to us electronically, when permitted by our directors.

Under Delaware law, at any meeting of stockholders, a stockholder may
designate another person to act for such stockholder by proxy, but no such proxy
shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy
provides for a longer period. A director of a Delaware corporation may not issue
a proxy representing the director’s voting rights as a director.
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Issue of New Shares As a matter of Irish law, the directors of a company may issue new shares
without shareholder approval once authorized to do so by its constitution or by a
simple majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of shareholders, referred
to under Irish law as an “ordinary resolution.” Accordingly, upon incorporation,
the Avadel Constitution authorized the Board to issue new ordinary and
preferred shares without shareholder approval, subject to the maximum
authorized share capital contained in the Avadel Constitution, for an initial
period of five years from the date of adoption of the Avadel Constitution,
expiring on December 20, 2021. At the annual general meeting of shareholders
held on August 3, 2021, this authorization was renewed by shareholders for a
further period of five years expiring December 20, 2026. The authorized share
capital may be increased or reduced by a resolution approved by an ordinary
resolution adopted by our shareholders at a general meeting. Similarly, the
authorization renewed at the 2021 annual general meeting may be further
renewed by shareholders by way of subsequent ordinary resolution. The
authority to issue new ordinary and preferred shares provides us with the
flexibility to consider and respond to future business needs and opportunities as
they arise from time to time, including in connection with capital raising,
financing and acquisition transactions or opportunities.

Under the Avadel Constitution, our Board of Directors has discretion as to the
terms attaching to any preferred shares, including as to voting, dividend and
conversion rights and priority relative to other classes of shares with respect to
dividends and upon a liquidation.

Notwithstanding this authority, under the Irish Takeover Rules our Board of
Directors would not be permitted to issue any of our shares, including preferred
shares, during a period when an offer has been made for us or is believed to be
imminent unless the issue is (i) approved by our shareholders at a general
meeting; (ii) consented to by the Irish Takeover Panel on the basis it would not
constitute action frustrating the offer; (iii) consented to by the Irish Takeover
Panel and approved by the holders of more than 50% of our shares carrying
voting rights; (iv) consented to by the Irish Takeover Panel in circumstances
where a contract for the issue of the shares had been entered into prior to that
period; or (v) consented to by the Irish Takeover Panel in circumstances where
the issue of the shares was decided by our directors prior to that period and
either action has been taken to implement the issuance (whether in part or in
full) prior to such period or the issuance was otherwise in the ordinary course of
business.

Under Delaware law, if the company’s certificate of incorporation so provides,
the directors have the power to authorize the issuance of additional stock. The
directors may authorize capital stock to be issued for consideration consisting of
cash, any tangible or intangible property or any benefit to the company or any
combination thereof.
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Preemptive Rights Under Irish law, unless otherwise authorized, when an Irish public limited
company issues shares for cash, it is required first to offer those shares on the
same or more favorable terms to existing shareholders of the company on a pro
rata basis, commonly referred to as the statutory preemption right. Upon
incorporation, as permitted under Irish law, the Avadel Constitution opted out of
these preemption rights for an initial period of five years from the date of
adoption of the Avadel Constitution, expiring on December 20, 2021. At the
annual general meeting of shareholders held on August 3, 2021, this opt-out was
renewed by shareholders for a further period of five years expiring December 20,
2026. This opt-out may be further renewed by shareholders by way of a
subsequent resolution approved by at least 75% of the votes cast at a general
meeting of shareholders, referred to under Irish law as a “special resolution.” If
the opt-out is not renewed, shares issued for cash must be offered to pre-existing
shareholders of Avadel plc pro rata to their existing shareholding before the
shares can be issued (subject to limited exceptions). The statutory preemption
rights do not apply where shares are issued for non-cash consideration and do not
apply to the issue of non-equity shares (that is, shares that have the right to
participate only up to a specified amount in any income or capital distribution).

Under Delaware law, shareholders have no preemptive rights to subscribe to
additional issues of stock or to any security convertible into such stock unless,
and except to the extent that, such rights are expressly provided for in the
certificate of incorporation.

Authority to Allot Under the Avadel Constitution, we may issue shares subject to the maximum
authorized share capital contained in the Avadel Constitution. The authorized
share capital may be increased or reduced by a resolution approved by a simple
majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of our shareholders, referred to
under Irish law as an “ordinary resolution.” Our authorized share capital may be
divided into shares of such nominal value as the resolution shall prescribe. As a
matter of Irish law, the directors of a company may issue new ordinary or
preferred shares without shareholder approval once authorized to do so by its
constitution or by an ordinary resolution adopted by shareholders at a general
meeting. The authorization may be granted for a maximum period of five years,
at which point it may be renewed by shareholders by an ordinary resolution.
Accordingly, upon incorporation, the Avadel Constitution authorized the Board
to issue new ordinary and preferred shares without shareholder approval, subject
to the maximum authorized share capital contained in the Avadel Constitution,
for an initial period of five years from the date of adoption of the Avadel
Constitution, expiring on December 20, 2021. At the annual general meeting of
shareholders held on August 3, 2021, this authorization was renewed by
shareholders for a further period of five years expiring December 20, 2026. The
authority to issue new ordinary and preferred shares provides us with the
flexibility to consider and respond to future business needs and opportunities as
they arise from time to time, including in connection with capital raising,
financing and acquisition transactions or opportunities.

Under Delaware law, if the corporation’s charter or certificate of incorporation so
provides, the board of directors has the power to authorize the issuance of stock.
The board may authorize capital stock to be issued for consideration consisting
of cash, any tangible or intangible property or any benefit to the corporation or
any combination thereof. It may determine the amount of such consideration by
approving a formula. In the absence of actual fraud in the transaction, the
judgment of the directors as to the value of such consideration is conclusive.
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Liability of Directors and Officers To the fullest extent permitted by Irish law, the Avadel Constitution contains
indemnification for the benefit of our directors, company secretary and
executive officers. However, as to our directors and company secretary, this
indemnity is limited by the Irish Companies Act, which prescribes that an
advance commitment to indemnify only permits a company to pay the costs or
discharge the liability of a director or company secretary where judgment is
given in favor of the director or company secretary in any civil or criminal
action in respect of such costs or liability, or where an Irish court grants relief
because the director or company secretary acted honestly and reasonably and
ought fairly to be excused. Any provision whereby an Irish company seeks to
commit in advance to indemnify its directors or company secretary over and
above the limitations imposed by the Irish Companies Act will be void, whether
contained in its articles of association or any contract between the company and
the director or company secretary. This restriction does not apply to our
executive officers who are not directors, our company secretary or other persons
who would be considered “officers” within the meaning of the Irish Companies
Act.

We are permitted under the Avadel Constitution and the Irish Companies Act to
take out directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, as well as other types of
insurance, for our directors, officers, employees and agents. In order to attract
and retain qualified directors and officers, we expect to purchase and maintain
customary directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and other types of
comparable insurance.

Under Delaware law, a corporation’s certificate of incorporation may
include a provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a
director to the corporation and its stockholders for damages arising from
a breach of fiduciary duty as a director. However, no provision can limit
the liability of a director for:

• any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its
stockholders;

• acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

• intentional or negligent payment of unlawful dividends or stock
purchases or redemptions; or

• any transaction from which the director derives an improper
personal benefit.

Voting Rights Under the Avadel Constitution, each holder of our ordinary shares is entitled to
one vote for each ordinary share that he or she holds as of the record date for the
meeting. The holder of our deferred ordinary shares is not entitled to a vote. We
may not exercise any voting rights in respect of any shares held as treasury
shares. Any shares held by our subsidiaries will count as treasury shares for this
purpose, and such subsidiaries cannot therefore exercise any voting rights in
respect of those shares.

Delaware law provides that, unless otherwise provided in the certificate of
incorporation, each stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of capital
stock held by such stockholder.
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Shareholder Vote on Certain Transactions Pursuant to Irish law, shareholder approval in connection with a transaction
involving the Company would be required under the following circumstances:

• in connection with a scheme of arrangement, both a court order from the
Irish High Court and the approval of a majority in number representing
75% in value of the shareholders present and voting in person or by proxy
at a meeting called to approve such a scheme would be required;

• in connection with an acquisition of the Company by way of a merger with
an EU company under the EU Cross-Border Mergers Directive
2005/56/EC, (as replaced by Directive (EU) 2017/1132 of 14 June 2017),
approval by a special resolution of the shareholders would be required; and

• in connection with a merger with an Irish company under the Irish
Companies Act, approval by a special resolution of shareholders would be
required.

Generally, under Delaware law, unless the certificate of incorporation provides
for the vote of a larger portion of the stock, completion of a merger,
consolidation, sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of a corporation’s
assets or dissolution requires:

• the approval of the board of directors; and

• the approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
stock or, if the certificate of incorporation provides for more or less than
one vote per share, a majority of the votes of the outstanding stock of the
corporation entitled to vote on the matter.
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Standard of Conduct for Directors The directors of the Company have certain statutory and fiduciary duties as a
matter of Irish law. All of the directors have equal and overall responsibility for
the management of the Company (although directors who also serve as
employees may have additional responsibilities and duties arising under their
employment agreements (if applicable), and it is likely that more will be
expected of them in compliance with their duties than non-executive directors).
The Irish Companies Act provides specifically for certain fiduciary duties of the
directors of Irish companies, including duties:

• to act in good faith and in the best interests of the company;

• to act honestly and responsibly in relation to the company’s affairs;

• to act in accordance with the company’s constitution and to exercise
powers only for lawful purposes;

• not to misuse the company’s property, information and/or opportunity;

• not to fetter their independent judgment;

• to avoid conflicts of interest;

• to exercise care, skill and diligence; and

• to have regard for the interests of the company’s shareholders.

Other statutory duties of directors include ensuring the maintenance of proper
books of account, having annual accounts prepared, having an annual audit
performed, maintaining certain registers, making certain filings and disclosing
personal interests. Directors of public limited companies such as Avadel will
have a specific duty to ensure that the company secretary is a person with the
requisite knowledge and experience to discharge the role. Directors may rely on
information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and
other financial data, prepared or presented by (1) other directors, officers or
employees of the company whom the director reasonably believes to be reliable
and competent in the matters prepared or presented, (2) legal counsel, public
accountants or other persons as to matters the director reasonably believes to be
within their professional or expert competence, or (3) a committee of the board
of which the director does not serve as to matters within its designated authority,
which committee the director reasonably believed to merit confidence.

Delaware law does not contain specific provisions setting forth the standard of
conduct of a director. The scope of the fiduciary duties of directors is generally
determined by the courts of the State of Delaware. In general, directors have a
duty to act without self-interest, on a well-informed basis and in a manner they
reasonably believe to be in the best interest of the stockholders.

Directors of a Delaware corporation owe fiduciary duties of care and loyalty to
the corporation and to its shareholders. The duty of care generally requires that a
director act in good faith, with the care that an ordinarily prudent person would
exercise under similar circumstances. Under this duty, a director must inform
himself of all material information reasonably available regarding a significant
transaction. The duty of loyalty requires that a director act in a manner he
reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation. He must not
use his corporate position for personal gain or advantage. In general, but subject
to certain exceptions, actions of a director are presumed to have been made on
an informed basis, in good faith and in the honest belief that the action taken
was in the best interests of the corporation. However, this presumption may be
rebutted by evidence of a breach of one of the fiduciary duties. Delaware courts
have also imposed a heightened standard of conduct upon directors of a
Delaware corporation who take any action designed to defeat a threatened
change in control of the corporation.

In addition, under Delaware law, when the board of directors of a Delaware
corporation approves the sale or break-up of a corporation, the board of
directors may, in certain circumstances, have a duty to obtain the highest value
reasonably available to the shareholders.
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Shareholder Suits In Ireland, the decision to institute proceedings is generally taken by a
company’s board of directors, who will usually be empowered to manage the
company’s business. In certain limited circumstances, a shareholder may be
entitled to bring a derivative action on behalf of the company.

The central question at issue in deciding whether a minority shareholder may be
permitted to bring a derivative action is whether, unless the action is brought, a
wrong committed against the company would otherwise go un-redressed. The
principal case law in Ireland indicates that to bring a derivative action a person
must first establish a prima facie case (i) that the company is entitled to the
relief claimed and (ii) that the action falls within one of the five exceptions
derived from case law, as follows:

(1)    where an ultra vires or illegal act is perpetrated;

(2)    where more than a bare majority is required to ratify the “wrong”
complained of;

(3)    where the shareholders’ personal rights are infringed;

(4)    where a fraud has been perpetrated upon a minority by those in control; or

(5)    where the justice of the case requires a minority to be permitted to institute
proceedings.

Shareholders may also bring proceedings against the company where the affairs
of the company are being conducted, or the powers of the directors are being
exercised, in a manner oppressive to the shareholders or in disregard of their
interests. Oppression connotes conduct that is burdensome, harsh or wrong.

Conduct must relate to the internal management of the company. This is an Irish
statutory remedy and the court can grant any order it sees fit, usually providing
for the purchase or transfer of the shares of any shareholder.

Under Delaware law, a stockholder may initiate a derivative action to enforce a
right of a corporation if the corporation fails to enforce the right itself. The
complaint must:

• state that the plaintiff was a stockholder at the time of the transaction of
which the plaintiff complains or that the plaintiffs shares thereafter
devolved on the plaintiff by operation of law; and

• allege with particularity the efforts made by the plaintiff to obtain the
action the plaintiff desires from the directors and the reasons for the
plaintiff’s failure to obtain the action; or

• state the reasons for not making the effort.

Additionally, the plaintiff must remain a stockholder through the duration of the
derivative suit. The action will not be dismissed or compromised without the
approval of the Delaware Court of Chancery.
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American Depositary Shares

The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary, registers and delivers our ADSs. Each ADS represents one share (or a right to receive one share) deposited with The Bank of New York Mellon, acting through an office
located in the United Kingdom, as custodian for the depositary. Each ADS also represents any other securities, cash or other property which may be held by the depositary. The depositary’s office at which the ADSs will
be administered and its principal executive office are located at 240 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10286.

ADSs may be held either (A) directly (i) by having an American Depositary Receipt (an “ADR”), which is a certificate evidencing a specific number of ADSs, registered in the name of the holder, or (ii) by having
uncertificated ADSs registered in the name of the holder, or (B) indirectly by holding a security entitlement in ADSs through a broker or other financial institution that is a direct or indirect participant in The Depository
Trust Company, also called DTC. This description assumes you are an ADS holder, which is the case if the ADS is directly held. If the ADSs are indirectly held, holders must rely on the procedures of their broker or other
financial institution to assert the rights of ADS holders described in this section. We encourage all holders to consult with their broker or financial institution to find out what those procedures are.

ADS holders are not treated as one of our shareholders and do not have shareholder rights. Irish law governs shareholder rights. The depositary will be the holder of the shares underlying your ADSs. As a registered holder
of ADSs, you will have ADS holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the depositary, ADS holders and all other persons indirectly or beneficially holding ADSs sets out ADS holder rights as well as the rights and
obligations of the depositary. New York law governs the deposit agreement and the ADSs.

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the deposit agreement. This summary of the depositary agreement does not purport to be complete and is not intended to be a complete discussion of the respective
rights.

Dividends and Other Distributions

The depositary has agreed to pay or distribute to ADS holders the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on shares or other deposited securities, upon payment or deduction of its fees and
expenses. These distributions are to be made in proportion to the number of shares the ADSs represent.

Cash. The depositary will (if necessary) convert any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on the shares into U.S. dollars, if it can do so on a reasonable basis and can transfer the U.S. dollars to the United States.
If that is not possible or if any government approval is needed and cannot be obtained, the deposit agreement allows the depositary to distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS holders to whom it is possible to do
so. It will hold the foreign currency it cannot convert for the account of the ADS holders who have not been paid. It will not invest the foreign currency and it will not be liable for any interest.

Before making a distribution, any withholding taxes, or other governmental charges that must be paid will be deducted.

The depositary will distribute only whole U.S. dollars and cents and will round fractional cents to the nearest whole cent. If the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when the depositary cannot convert the foreign
currency, some value of the distribution may be lost.

Shares. The depositary may distribute additional ADSs representing any shares we distribute as a dividend or fee distribution. The depositary will only distribute whole ADSs. It will sell shares which would require it to
deliver a fraction of an ADS (or ADSs representing those shares) and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. If the depositary does not distribute additional ADSs, the outstanding ADSs will also
represent the new shares. The depositary may sell a portion of the distributed shares (or ADSs representing those shares) sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that distribution.

Rights to purchase additional shares. If we offer holders of our securities any rights to subscribe for additional shares or any other rights, the depositary may (i) exercise those rights on behalf of ADS holders, (ii)
distribute those rights to ADS holders or (iii) sell those rights and distribute the net proceeds to ADS holders, in each case after deduction or upon payment of its fees and expenses. To the extent the depositary does not do
any of those things, it will allow the rights to lapse and no value will be distributed. The depositary will exercise or distribute rights only if we ask it to and provide satisfactory assurances to the depositary that it is legal to
do so. If the depositary will exercise rights, it will purchase the securities to which the rights relate and distribute those securities or, in the case of shares, new ADSs representing the new shares, to subscribing ADS
holders, but only if ADS holders have paid the exercise price to the depositary. U.S. securities laws may restrict the ability of the depositary to distribute rights or ADSs or other securities issued on exercise of rights to all
or certain ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be subject to restrictions on transfer.

Other Distributions. The depositary will send to ADS holders anything else we distribute on deposited securities by any means it thinks is legal, fair and practical. If it cannot make the distribution in that way, the
depositary has a choice. It may decide to sell what we distributed and distribute the net proceeds, in the same way as it does with cash. Or, it may decide to hold what we distributed, in which case ADSs will also represent
the newly distributed property. However, the depositary is not required to distribute any securities (other than ADSs) to ADS holders unless it receives satisfactory evidence from us that it is legal to make that distribution.
The depositary may sell a portion of the distributed securities or property sufficient to pay its fees and expenses

 



in connection with that distribution. U.S. securities laws may restrict the ability of the depositary to distribute securities to all or certain ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be subject to restrictions on transfer.

The depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any ADS holders. We have no obligation to register ADSs, shares, rights or other securities under the
Securities Act. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the distribution of ADSs, shares, rights or anything else to ADS holders.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

The depositary will deliver ADSs if the holder or broker deposits shares or evidence of rights to receive shares with the custodian. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or
stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will register the appropriate number of ADSs in the requested names and will deliver the ADSs to or upon the order of the person or persons that made the deposit.

ADSs may be surrendered for the purpose of withdrawal at the depositary’s office. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will
deliver the shares and any other deposited securities underlying the ADSs to the ADS holder or a person the ADS holder designates at the office of the custodian. The depositary may charge a fee and its expenses for
instructing the custodian regarding delivery of deposited securities.

An ADR may be surrendered to the depositary for the purpose of exchanging an ADR for uncertificated ADSs. The depositary will cancel that ADR and will send to the ADS holder a statement confirming that the ADS
holder is the registered holder of uncertificated ADSs. Upon receipt by the depositary of a proper instruction from a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs requesting the exchange of uncertificated ADSs for certificated
ADSs, the depositary will executed and deliver to the ADS holder an ADR evidencing those ADSs.

Voting Rights

ADS holders may instruct the depositary how to vote the number of deposited shares their ADSs represent. If we request the depositary to solicit voting instructions (and we are not required to do so), the depositary will
notify ADS holders of a shareholders’ meeting and send or make voting materials available. Those materials will describe the matters to be voted on and explain how ADS holders may instruct the depositary how to vote.
For instructions to be valid, they much reach the depositary by a date set by the depositary. The depositary will try, as far as practical, subject to the laws of Ireland and the provisions of our articles of association or similar
documents, to vote or to have its agents vote the shares or other deposited securities as instructed by ADS holders. If we do not request the depositary to solicit voting instructions, ADS holders can still send voting
instructions, and, in that case, the depositary may try to vote as instructed, but it is not required to do so.

Except by instructing the depositary as described above, ADS holders will not be able to exercise voting rights unless they surrender their ADSs and withdraw the shares. However, there may not be enough advance notice
of a meeting to withdraw the shares in time. In any event, the depositary will not exercise any discretion in voting deposited securities and it will only vote or attempt to vote as instructed or as described in the following
sentence. If we asked the depositary to solicit voting instructions at least 30 days before the meeting date but the depositary does not receive voting instructions from an ADS holder by the specified date, this will be
considered authorization and direction to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by us to vote that number of deposited securities. The depositary will give a discretionary proxy in those circumstances to vote on
all questions at to be voted upon unless we notify the depositary that:

• we do not wish to receive a discretionary proxy;

• there is substantial shareholder opposition to the particular question; or

• the particular question would have an adverse impact on our shareholders.

We are required to notify the depositary if one of the conditions specified above exists.

We cannot assure that ADS holders will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that they can instruct the depositary to vote their shares. In addition, the depositary and its agents are not responsible for failing to
carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting instructions.

In order to give you a reasonable opportunity to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of voting rights relating to Deposited Securities, if we request the Depositary to act, we agree to give the depositary notice of any
such meeting and details concerning the matters to be voted upon at least 30 days in advance of the meeting date.
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Fees and Expenses

Persons depositing or withdrawing shares or
 ADS holders must pay: For:

$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs (or portion of 100 ADSs) Issuance of ADSs, including issuances resulting from a distribution of shares or rights or other property
Cancellation of ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal, including if the deposit agreement terminates

$.05 (or less) per ADS Any cash distribution to ADS holders
A fee equivalent to the fee that would be payable if securities distributed to you had been shares and the
shares had been deposited for issuance of ADSs

Distribution of securities distributed to holders of deposited securities (including rights) that are distributed
by the depositary to ADS holders

$.05 (or less) per ADS per calendar year Depositary services
Registration or transfer fees Transfer and registration of shares on our share register to or from the name of the depositary or its agent

when you deposit or withdraw shares
Expenses of the depositary Cable, telex and facsimile transmissions (when expressly provided in the deposit agreement) converting

foreign currency to U.S. dollars
Taxes and other governmental charges the depositary or the custodian has to pay on any ADSs or shares
underlying ADSs, such as stock transfer taxes, stamp duty or withholding taxes

As necessary

Any charges incurred by the depositary or its agents for servicing the deposited securities As necessary

The depositary collects its fees for delivery and surrender of ADSs directly from investors depositing shares or surrendering ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary
collects fees for making distributions to investors by deducting those fees from the amounts distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the fees.

The depositary may collect its annual fee for depositary services by deduction from cash distributions or by directly billing investors or by charging the book-entry system accounts of participants acting for them. The
depositary may collect any of its fees by deduction from any cash distribution payable (or by selling a portion of securities or other property distributable) to ADS holders that are obligated to pay those fees. The
depositary may generally refuse to provide fee-attracting services until its fees for those services are paid.

From time to time, the depositary may make payments to us to reimburse us for costs and expenses generally arising out of establishment and maintenance of the ADS program, waive fees and expenses for services
provided to us by the depositary or share revenue from the fees collected from ADS holders. In performing its duties under the deposit agreement, the depositary may use brokers, dealers, foreign currency dealers or other
service providers that are owned by or affiliated with the depositary and that may earn or share fees, spreads or commissions.
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The depositary may convert currency itself or through any of its affiliates and, in those cases, acts as principal for its own account and not as agent, advisor, broker or fiduciary on behalf of any other person and earns
revenue, including, without limitation, transaction spreads, that it will retain for its own account. The revenue is based on, among other things, the difference between the exchange rate assigned to the currency conversion
made under the deposit agreement and the rate that the depositary or its affiliate receives when buying or selling foreign currency for its own account. The depositary makes no representation that the exchange rate used or
obtained in any currency conversion under the deposit agreement will be the most favorable rate that could be obtained at the time or that the method by which that rate will be determined will be the most favorable to
ADS holders, subject to the depositary’s obligations under the deposit agreement. The methodology used to determine exchange rates used in currency conversions is available upon request.

Payment of Taxes

ADS holders are responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable on their ADSs or on the deposited securities represented by any of their ADSs. The depositary may refuse to register any transfer of ADSs
or withdrawal requests of the deposited securities represented by ADSs until those taxes or other charges are paid. It may apply payments owed to the ADS holder or sell deposited securities represented by the holder’s
ADSs to pay any taxes owed and the holder will remain liable for any deficiency. If the depositary sells deposited securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to ADS holders any
proceeds, or send to ADS holders any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes.

Tender and Exchange Offers; Redemption, Replacement or Cancellation of Deposited Securities

The depositary will not tender deposited securities in any voluntary tender or exchange offer unless instructed to do by an ADS holder surrendering ADSs and subject to any conditions or procedures the depositary may
establish.

If deposited securities are redeemed for cash in a transaction that is mandatory for the depositary as a holder of deposited securities, the depositary will call for surrender of a corresponding number of ADSs and distribute
the net redemption money to the holders of called ADSs upon surrender of those ADSs.

If there is any change in the deposited securities such as a sub-division, combination or other reclassification, or any merger, consolidation, recapitalization or reorganization affecting the issuer of deposited securities in
which the depositary receives new securities in exchange for or in lieu of the old deposited securities, the depositary will hold those replacement securities as deposited securities under the deposit agreement. However, if
the depositary decides it would not be lawful and to hold the replacement securities because those securities could not be distributed to ADS holders or for any other reason, the depositary may instead sell the replacement
securities and distribute the net proceeds upon surrender of the ADSs.

If there is a replacement of the deposited securities and the depositary will continue to hold the replacement securities, the depositary may distribute new ADSs representing the new deposited securities or request the
surrender of outstanding ADRs in exchange for new ADRs identifying the new deposited securities.

If there are no deposited securities underlying ADSs, including if the deposited securities are cancelled, or if the deposited securities underlying ADSs have become apparently worthless, the depositary may call for
surrender or of those ADSs or cancel those ADSs upon notice to the ADS holders.

Amendment and Termination

We may agree with the depositary to amend the deposit agreement and the ADRs without ADS holders’ consent for any reason. If an amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental
charges or expenses of the depositary for registration fees, facsimile costs, delivery charges or similar items, or prejudices a substantial right of ADS holders, it will not become effective for outstanding ADSs until 30 days
after the depositary notifies ADS holders of the amendment. At the time an amendment becomes effective, ADS holders, by continuing to hold ADSs, are considered to agree to the amendment and to be bound by the ADRs
and the deposit agreement as amended.

The depositary will initiate termination of the deposit agreement if we instruct it to do so. The depositary may initiate termination of the deposit agreement if

• 60 days have passed since the depositary told us it wants to resign but a successor depositary has not been appointed and accepted its appointment;

• we delist the ADSs from an exchange on which they were listed and do not list the ADSs on another exchange;

• we appear to be insolvent or enter insolvency proceedings

• all or substantially all the value of the deposited securities has been distributed either in cash or in the form of securities;
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• there are no deposited securities underlying the ADSs or the underlying deposited securities have become apparently worthless; or

• there has been a replacement of deposited securities.

If the deposit agreement will terminate, the depositary will notify ADS holders at least 90 days before the termination date. At any time after the termination date, the depositary may sell the deposited securities. After that,
the depositary will hold the money it received on the sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the deposit agreement, unsegregated and without liability for interest, for the pro rata benefit of the ADS holders that
have not surrendered their ADSs. Normally, the depositary will sell as soon as practicable after the termination date.

After the termination date and before the depositary sells, ADS holders can still surrender their ADSs and receive delivery of deposited securities, except that the depositary may refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose
of withdrawing deposited securities if it would interfere with the selling process. The depositary may refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose of withdrawing sale proceeds until all the deposited securities have been
sold. The depositary will continue to collect distributions on deposited securities, but, after the termination date, the depositary is not required to register any transfer of ADSs or distribute any dividends or other
distributions on deposited securities to the ADSs holder (until they surrender their ADSs) or give any notices or perform any other duties under the deposit agreement except as described in this paragraph.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability

Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADSs

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of the depositary. It also limits our liability and the liability of the depositary. We and the depositary:

• are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence or bad faith;

• are not liable if we are or it is prevented or delayed by law or circumstances beyond our or its control from performing our or its obligations under the deposit agreement;

• are not liable if we or it exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement;

• are not liable for the inability of any holder of ADSs to benefit from any distribution on deposited securities that is not made available to holders of ADSs under the terms of the deposit agreement, or for any
special, consequential or punitive damages for any breach of the terms of the deposit agreement;

• have no obligation to become involved in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to the ADSs or the deposit agreement on the ADS holder’s behalf or on behalf of any other person;

• the depositary has no duty to make any determination or provide any information as to our tax status, or any liability for any tax consequences that may be incurred by ADS holders as a result of owning or
holding ADSs;

• are not liable for the acts or omissions of any securities depository, clearing agency or settlement system; and

• may rely upon any documents we believe or it believes in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper person.

In the deposit agreement, we and the depositary agree to indemnify each other under certain circumstances.

Requirements for Depositary Actions

Before the depositary will deliver or register a transfer of ADSs, make a distribution on ADSs, or permit withdrawal of shares, the depositary may require:

• payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees charged by third parties for the transfer of any shares or other deposited securities;

• satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information it deems necessary; and

• compliance with regulations it may establish, from time to time, consistent with the deposit agreement, including presentation of transfer documents.
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The depositary may refuse to deliver ADSs or register transfers of ADSs when the transfer books of the depositary or our transfer books are closed or at any time if the depositary or we think it advisable to do so.

Right to Receive the Shares Underlying ADSs

ADS holders have the right to cancel their ADSs and withdraw the underlying shares at any time except:

• when temporary delays arise because: (i) the depositary has closed its transfer books or we have closed our transfer books; (ii) the transfer of shares is blocked to permit voting at a shareholders’ meeting; or (iii)
we are paying a dividend on our shares;

• when the ADS holder owes money to pay fees, taxes and similar charges; or

• when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental regulations that apply to ADSs or to the withdrawal of shares or other deposited securities.

This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

Direct Registration System

In the deposit agreement, all parties to the deposit agreement acknowledge that the Direct Registration System, also referred to as DRS, and Profile Modification System, also referred to as Profile, will apply to the ADSs.
DRS is a system administered by DTC that facilitates interchange between registered holding of uncertificated ADSs and holding of security entitlements in ADSs through DTC and a DTC participant. Profile is a feature
of DRS that allows a DTC participant, claiming to act on behalf of a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs, to direct the depositary to register a transfer of those ADSs to DTC or its nominee and to deliver those ADSs
to the DTC account of that DTC participant without receipt by the depositary of prior authorization from the ADS holder to register that transfer.

In connection with and in accordance with the arrangements and procedures relating to DRS/Profile, the parties to the deposit agreement understand that the depositary will not determine whether the DTC participant that
is claiming to be acting on behalf of an ADS holder in requesting registration of transfer and delivery as described in the paragraph above has the actual authority to act on behalf of the ADS holder (notwithstanding any
requirements under the Uniform Commercial Code). In the deposit agreement, the parties agree that the depositary’s reliance on and compliance with instructions received by the depositary through the DRS/Profile system
and in accordance with the deposit agreement will not constitute negligence or bad faith on the part of the depositary.

Shareholder communications; inspection of register of holders of ADSs

The depositary will make available for inspection at its office all communications that it receives from us as a holder of deposited securities that we make generally available to holders of deposited securities. The
depositary will send copies of those communications or otherwise make those communications available to ADS holders if we ask it to. ADS holders have a right to inspect the register of holders of ADSs, but not for the
purpose of contacting those holders about a matter unrelated to our business or the ADSs.

Jury Trial Waiver

The deposit agreement provides that, to the extent permitted by law, ADS holders waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they may have against us or the depositary arising out of or relating to our shares, the ADSs or
the deposit agreement, including any claim under the U.S. federal securities laws. If we or the depositary opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, the court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable in
the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with applicable case law.

ADS holders will not, by agreeing to the terms of the deposit agreement, be deemed to have waived our or the depositary’s compliance with U.S. Securities Act of 1933 or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
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CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD
LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED, AND HAS BEEN MARKED WITH “[***]” TO

INDICATE WHERE OMISSIONS HAVE BEEN MADE.

 

MANUFACTURING PREPARATION AND COMMERCIAL SUPPLY AGREEMENT

(Sodium Oxybate Beads)

This Commercial Supply Agreement is made as of this 29  day of March 2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Flamel Ireland Limited (DBA Avadel
Ireland), a corporation organized under the laws of Ireland, with a place of business at Block 10 – 1 Blanchardstown Corporate Park, Ballycoolin, Dublin 15 Ireland
(“Client”), and Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company having a place of business at 14 Schoolhouse Road, Somerset, New Jersey
08873, USA (“Catalent”).

RECITALS

A.    Client develops, markets and sells pharmaceutical products;

B.    Catalent is a leading provider of advanced technologies, and development, manufacturing and packaging services, for pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
consumer healthcare companies;

C.    Client desires to have Catalent provide the services set forth in this Agreement (as defined below) in connection with Client’s Product (as defined below),
and Catalent desires to provide such services, all pursuant to the terms and conditions in this Agreement.

    THEREFORE, in consideration of the circumstances described above and the mutual covenants, terms and conditions set forth below, the parties agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

The following terms have the following meanings in this Agreement:

1.1    “Acknowledgement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(B).

1.2    “Affiliate(s)” means, with respect to Client or any third party, any corporation, firm, partnership or other entity that controls, is controlled by or is under
common control with such entity; and with respect to Catalent, Catalent, Inc. and any corporation, firm, partnership or other entity controlled by it. For the purposes
of this definition, “control” means the ownership of at least 50% of the voting share capital of an entity or any other comparable equity or ownership interest.

1.3    “Agreement” means this document, including all its attachments and other appendices (all of which are incorporated by reference) and any amendment to any
of the foregoing made in accordance with Section 18.1.

1.4    “Annual Product Maintenance Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(C).
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1.5    “API” means the generic compound sodium oxybate, as further described in the Specifications. The parties acknowledge that API is a controlled substance
under Applicable Laws, including DEA regulations.

1.6    “Applicable Laws” means, with respect to Client, all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, currently in effect or enacted or promulgated during the Term,
and as amended from time to time, of each jurisdiction in which API or Product is produced, marketed, distributed, used or sold; and with respect to Catalent, all
laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, currently in effect or enacted or promulgated during the Term, and as amended from time to time, of the jurisdiction in which
Catalent Processes Product, including cGMP.

1.7    “Batch” means a defined quantity of Product that has been or is being Processed in accordance with the Specifications.

1.8    “Blended Beads Bonus” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.9    “Blended Beads Shortfall” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.10    “Capital Recovery Fee” has the meaning set forth in Attachment G.

1.11    “Catalent” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph, or any successor or permitted assign.

1.12    “Catalent Defective Processing” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.13    “Catalent Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.2.

1.14    “Catalent IP” has the meaning set forth in Article 11.

1.15    “Catalent Inventions” has the meaning set forth in Article 11.

1.16    “cGMP” means current Good Manufacturing Practices promulgated by the Regulatory Authorities in the jurisdictions included in Applicable Laws (as
applicable to Client and Catalent respectively). In the United States, this includes 21 C.F.R. Parts 210 and 211, as amended; and in the European Union, this includes
2003/94/EEC Directive (as supplemented by Volume 4 of EudraLex published by the European Commission), as amended, if and as implemented in the relevant
constituent country.

1.17    “Client” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph, or any successor or permitted assign.

1.18     “Client Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

1.19    “Client Inventions” has the meaning set forth in Article 11.

1.20    “Client IP” has the meaning set forth in Article 11.

1.21    “Client-supplied Materials” means any materials to be supplied by or on behalf of Client to Catalent for Processing, as described in Attachment B, including
API and reference standards.

1.22    “Commencement Date” means the first date upon which the FDA approves Catalent as a manufacturer of the Product and provides Regulatory Approval for
the Product.

1.23     “Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.



1.24    “Contract Year” means each 12-month period beginning on the Commencement Date or anniversary therefore, as applicable.

1.25    “CR Beads Bonus” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.26    “CR Beads Shortfall” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.27    “DEA” means the U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency.

1.28     “Defective Product” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.29    “Discloser” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

1.30    “Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

1.31    “Estimated Capital Outlay” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

1.32    “Exception Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.33    “Facility” means Catalent’s facility located in Winchester, Kentucky, USA, or such other facility in the United States as agreed by the parties in writing.

1.34    “FDA” means the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, inclusive of the Center for Veterinary Medicine, or any successor thereto.

1.35    “Firm Commitment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

1.36    “In-Process Defect” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.6.

1.37    “Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property (whether or not patented or patentable), including without limitation, patents, patent applications,
know-how, trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, inventions, designs, concepts, technical information, manuals, standard operating procedures, instructions,
specifications, processes and data.

1.38    “Invention” has the meaning set forth in Article 11.

1.39    “IR Beads Bonus” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.40    “IR Beads Shortfall” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.41     “Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

1.42    “Manufacturing Preparation” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

1.43    “Manufacturing Preparation Services” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

1.44    “Monthly Manufacturing Preparation Services Fee” has the meaning set forth in Attachment G.

1.45    “Monthly Suite Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(G).

1.46    “Partial Batch Cost” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5.



1.47    “Process” or “Processing” means the compounding, filling or tableting, encapsulating, producing and sachet-filling of Client-supplied Materials and Raw
Materials into Product by Catalent, in accordance with the Specifications and under the terms of this Agreement.

1.48    “Processing Date” means the day on which the first step of physical Processing is scheduled to occur, as identified in an Acknowledgement or as otherwise
communicated to the Client.

1.49     “Product” means the bulk pharmaceutical stick pack containing beads that include the API, as more specifically described in the Specifications.

1.50    “Product Bonus” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.51    “Product Shortfall” has the meaning set forth in Attachment I.

1.52    “Product Maintenance Services” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.

1.53    “Purchase Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(A).

1.54    “Quality Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.

1.55    “Raw Materials” means all raw materials, supplies, and packaging components, materials, and consumables necessary to Process and ship Product in
accordance with the Specifications, as provided in Attachment B, but excluding Client-supplied Materials.

1.56    “Recall” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.

1.57    “Recipient” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

1.58    “Regulatory Approval” means each approval, permit, product and/or establishment license, registration or authorization, including each approval pursuant to
U.S. Investigational New Drug Applications, New Drug Applications and Abbreviated New Drug Applications (or equivalent non-U.S. filings, such as European
marketing authorization applications), as applicable, of a Regulatory Authority that is necessary or advisable in connection with the development, manufacture,
testing, use, storage, exportation, importation, transport, promotion, marketing, distribution or sale of Product in the Territory.

1.59    “Regulatory Authority” means an international, federal, state or local governmental or regulatory body, agency, department, bureau, court or other entity in
the Territory that is responsible for (A) the regulation (including pricing) of any aspect of pharmaceutical or medicinal products intended for human use or (B) health,
safety or environmental matters generally. In the United States, this includes the FDA; and in Canada, this includes the Health Portfolio.

1.60    “Representatives” of an entity mean such entity’s duly authorized officers, directors, employees, agents, accountants, attorneys or other professional advisors.

1.61    “Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.62    “Rolling Forecast” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

1.63    “Shared/Unassigned Defect” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

1.64    “Specifications” means the procedures, requirements, standards, quality control testing and other data and the scope of services as set forth in Attachment B,
as modified from time to



time in accordance with Article 8. Such Specifications will comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, currently in effect or enacted or promulgated
during the Term, and as amended from time to time, of the Territory and (if different) the jurisdiction in which Catalent Processes Product.

1.65    “Success Milestone Fee” has the meaning set forth in Attachment G.

1.66    “Suite” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

1.67    “Suite Equipment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

1.68    [***]

1.69    [***]

1.70    [***]

1.71    [***]

1.72    [***]

1.73    [***]

1.74    [***]

1.75    [***]

1.76    “Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1.

1.77    “Territory” means [***], and any other country that the parties agree in writing to add to this definition of Territory in an amendment to this Agreement, but
excluding any countries that are targeted by the comprehensive sanctions, restrictions or embargoes administered by the United Nations, European Union, United
Kingdom, or the United States.

1.78    “Unit” has the meaning set forth on Attachment C.

1.79    “Unit Pricing” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(B)

1.80    “Validation Services” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.

1.81    “Vendor” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(B).

 
ARTICLE 2

MANUFACTURING PREPARATION, VALIDATION,
PROCESSING AND RELATED SERVICES

2.1    Manufacturing Preparation Services. Commencing on the Effective Date and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Catalent will build the
manufacturing space at the Facility (the “Suite”), procure and install the equipment set forth in Attachment E (the “Suite Equipment”), and implement the required
infrastructure at the Facility and within the Suite (collectively, the “Manufacturing Preparation”) necessary to Process the volume of Product set forth herein.
Catalent shall perform all services necessary to complete the Manufacturing Preparation (the “Manufacturing Preparation Services”) in accordance with the terms
set forth in this Agreement.



2.2    Ownership of the Manufacturing Preparation. Catalent shall own and have sole title to the Manufacturing Preparation and other assets acquired or otherwise
resulting from the Manufacturing Preparation. Processing of Product for Client shall be given first priority with respect to Catalent’s utilization of the Suite and Suite
Equipment.

2.3    Repair and Maintenance the Manufacturing Preparation. Catalent shall be responsible for the repair and maintenance of the Manufacturing Preparation, if and
as needed at Catalent’s sole expense.

2.4    Capital Outlay Estimate and Costs. The estimated capital outlay Catalent will spend to perform the Manufacturing Preparation Services (“the Estimated
Capital Outlay”) is set forth in Attachment F. Catalent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize the costs associated with the implementation of the
Manufacturing Preparation.

2.5    Monthly Reports. Catalent shall send to Client a monthly report describing the progress of each event of the Manufacturing Preparation and Manufacturing
Preparation Services.

2.6    Documents and Suite Inspection. Upon request by Client, Catalent shall provide Client with copies of relevant documentation with respect to the Manufacturing
Preparation. Client shall have the right to inspect the Manufacturing Preparation upon providing [***] prior written notice to Catalent and during normal business
hours.

2.7    Validation Services. Catalent shall perform the Product qualification, validation and stability services, if any, described in Attachment A (the “Validation
Services”).

2.8    Supply and Purchase of Product. Catalent shall Process Product in accordance with the Specifications, Applicable Laws and the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

2.9    Exclusivity.

A.    [***]

B.    Client Exclusivity. During the Term of this Agreement, Client shall purchase [***] of its annual requirements of Product from Catalent. With respect to
the previous sentence, Purchase Orders cancelled by Catalent except those cancelled under Section 4.3 below will count toward Client’s annual minimum purchase
requirements.

2.10    Product Maintenance Services. Catalent shall provide and Client will receive those product maintenance services specified in Attachment D (the “Product
Maintenance Services”).

2.11    Other Related Services. Catalent shall provide Product-related services, other than Validation Services, Processing or Product Maintenance Services, as either
specified in Attachment D or agreed in writing by the parties from time to time. Such writing shall include the scope and fees for any such services and be appended
to this Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall govern and apply to such services.

2.12    Affiliates and Facility. Catalent shall have the right to cause any of its U.S. Affiliates to perform any of its obligations hereunder, and Client shall accept such
performance as if it were performance by Catalent. Catalent shall not change the Facility without the written consent of Client.



ARTICLE 3
MATERIALS

3.1    Client-supplied Materials.

A.    Client shall supply to Catalent for Processing, at Client’s cost, Client-supplied Materials in quantities sufficient to meet Client’s requirements for
Product. Client shall deliver such items and associated certificates of analysis to the Facility no later than [***] before the Processing Date. Client shall be
responsible at its expense for securing any necessary DEA, export, import or other governmental clearance, permit or certification required in respect of such supply.
Catalent shall use Client-supplied Materials solely for Processing. Prior to delivery of any Client-supplied Materials, Client shall provide to Catalent a copy of all
associated material safety data sheets, safe handling instructions and health and environmental information and any governmental certification or authorization that
may be required under Applicable Laws relating to the API and Product, and thereafter shall provide promptly any update thereto.

B.    Catalent shall inspect all Client-supplied Materials received to verify their identity and conformance with certificates of analyses and the Specifications.
Catalent shall not be liable for any defect in Client-supplied Materials, or in Product as a result of defective Client-supplied Materials, unless Catalent did not
perform or was negligent in performing the foregoing obligations in accordance with the Specifications. Catalent shall follow Client’s reasonable written instructions
in respect of return or disposal of defective Client-supplied Materials, at Client’s cost.

C.    Client shall retain title to Client-supplied Materials at all times and shall bear the risk of loss of any such Client-supplied Materials. Client shall obtain
and maintain insurance for such items while at the Facility and in transit to and from any Facility in accordance with Article 15.

3.2    Raw Materials.

A.    Catalent shall be responsible for procuring, inspecting and releasing adequate Raw Materials as necessary to meet the Firm Commitment, unless
otherwise agreed by the parties in writing. Catalent shall not be liable for any delay in delivery of Product if (i) Catalent is unable to obtain, in a timely manner, a
particular Raw Material necessary for Processing and (ii) Catalent placed orders for such Raw Materials promptly following receipt of Client’s Firm Commitment. In
the event that any Raw Material becomes subject to purchase lead time beyond the Firm Commitment time frame, the parties will negotiate in good faith an
appropriate amendment to this Agreement.

B.    If Client requires a specific supplier, manufacturer or vendor (“Vendor”) to be used for Raw Material, then (i) such Vendor will be identified in the
Specifications and (ii) the Raw Materials from such Vendor shall be deemed Client-supplied Materials for purposes of the other Sections of this Agreement. If the
cost of the Raw Material from any such Vendor is greater or less than Catalent’s costs for the same raw material of equal quality from other vendors, Catalent shall
add or reduce the difference between Catalent’s cost of the Raw Material and the Vendor’s cost of the Raw Material to the Unit Pricing. Client will be responsible for
all costs associated with qualification of any such Vendor that has not been previously qualified by Catalent.

C.    In the event of (i) a Specification change for any reason, (ii) obsolescence of any Raw Material or (iii) termination or expiration of this Agreement, Client
shall bear the cost of any Raw Materials (including packaging) unusable for Processing or Product and unused by Catalent for another customer, so long as Catalent
purchased such Raw Materials in quantities



consistent with Client’s most recent Firm Commitment and the vendor’s minimum purchase obligations.

D.    Catalent will charge Client for the purchase of Raw Materials at an amount equal to [***]. The parties agree to collaborate to achieve optimal material
supply chain costs. In no event will Catalent mark up any Raw Materials more than [***].

3.3    Artwork and Labeling. Client shall provide or approve, prior to the procurement of applicable Raw Material, all artwork, advertising and labeling information
necessary for Processing, if any. Such artwork, advertising and labeling information is and shall remain the exclusive property of Client, and Client shall be solely
responsible for the content thereof. Such artwork, advertising and labeling information or any reproduction thereof may not be used by Catalent in any manner other
than performing its obligations hereunder without Client’s written consent.

ARTICLE 4
PURCHASE ORDERS & FORECASTS

4.1    Forecast. On or before [***], beginning at least [***] prior to the anticipated Commencement Date, Client shall furnish to Catalent a written [***] rolling
forecast of the quantities of Product that Client intends to order from Catalent during such [***] (the “Rolling Forecast”). The first [***]of each Rolling Forecast
shall constitute a binding order for the quantities of Product specified in such Rolling Forecast (the “Firm Commitment”) and the following [***]of the Rolling
Forecast shall be non-binding, good-faith estimates.

4.2    Purchase Orders.

A.    From time to time as provided in this Section 4.2(A), Client shall submit to Catalent a binding, non-cancelable purchase order for Product specifying the
number of Batches to be Processed, the Batch size (to the extent the Specifications permit Batches of different sizes) and the requested delivery date for each Batch
(each, a “Purchase Order”). Concurrently with the submission of each Rolling Forecast, Client shall submit a Purchase Order for the Firm Commitment. Purchase
Orders for quantities of Product in excess of the Firm Commitment shall be submitted by Client at least [***] in advance of the delivery date requested in the
Purchase Order.

B.    Within [***] following receipt of a Purchase Order, Catalent shall issue a written acknowledgement (each, an “Acknowledgement”) that it accepts or
rejects such Purchase Order. Each acceptance Acknowledgement shall either confirm the delivery date set forth in the Purchase Order or set forth a reasonable
alternative delivery date, and shall include the Processing Date. Catalent may reject any Purchase Order in excess of the Firm Commitment or otherwise not given in
accordance with this Agreement. If Catalent does not reject a Purchase Order during [***], the Purchase Order shall be deemed accepted as submitted including
acceptance of the delivery date set forth in the Purchase Order.

C.    Catalent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to supply Client with quantities of Product set forth in a Purchase Order which are up to [***] in
excess of the quantities specified in the Firm Commitment, subject to Catalent’s other supply commitments and manufacturing, packaging and equipment capacity.

D.    In the event of a conflict between the terms of any Purchase Order or Acknowledgement and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

4.3    Catalent’s Cancellation of Purchase Orders. Notwithstanding anything in Sections 4.2 and 4.4 to the contrary, Catalent reserves the right to cancel all, or any
part of, a Purchase Order



upon written notice to Client, and Catalent shall have no further obligation or liability with respect to such Purchase Order, if Client refuses or fails to supply
conforming Client-supplied Materials prior to the deadline set forth in Section 3.1. Any cancellation of Purchase Orders in accordance with this Section 4.3 shall not
constitute a breach of this Agreement by Catalent, and the parties will work together in good faith to set a new Processing Date and a new delivery date for the
Product quantity set forth in the cancelled Purchase Order.

4.4    Client’s Modification or Cancellation of Purchase Orders.

A.    Client may modify the delivery date or quantity of Product in a Purchase Order only by submitting a written change order to Catalent at least [***] in
advance of the earliest Processing Date covered by such change order. Such change order shall be effective and binding against Catalent only upon the written
approval of Catalent, and, notwithstanding any such written approval, Client shall remain responsible for the Firm Commitment.

B.    Notwithstanding any amount due to Catalent under Section 4.1, if Client fails to place Purchase Orders sufficient to satisfy the Firm Commitment, Client
shall pay to Catalent in accordance with Article 7 the Unit Pricing for all Units that would have been Processed if Client had placed Purchase Orders sufficient to
satisfy the Firm Commitment.

4.5    Unplanned Delay of Processing. Catalent shall provide Client with as much advance notice as practicable if Catalent determines that any Processing will be
delayed for any reason.

4.6    Observation of Processing. In addition to Client’s audit right pursuant to Section 9.4, Client may send up to [***] Representatives to the Facility to observe
Processing for a maximum of [***] (unless otherwise agreed by Catalent in writing), upon at least [***] prior notice, at reasonable times during regular business
hours. Catalent shall provide Client’s Representatives with applicable policies and procedures at the Facility prior to the start of an audit. Such Representatives shall
abide by all Catalent safety rules and other applicable employee policies and procedures, and Client shall be responsible for such compliance. Except to the extent
that any of the following arises out of or results from any negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement by Catalent, its Affiliates, and their respective
directors, officers, employees and agents, Client shall indemnify and hold harmless Catalent for any action, omission or other activity of its Representatives while on
Catalent’s premises for purposes of this Agreement. Client’s Representatives who are not employees of Client shall be required to sign Catalent’s standard visitor
confidentiality agreement prior to being allowed access to the Facility.

ARTICLE 5
TESTING; RELEASE

5.1    Batch Records and Data; Release. Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties during their ordinary course of dealings, after Catalent completes Processing of a
Batch, Catalent shall provide Client with copies of Batch records prepared in accordance with the Specifications; provided, that if testing reveals an out-of-
Specification result, Catalent shall provide such Batch records promptly following resolution of the out-of-Specification result. After Catalent completes Processing
of a Batch, quality review and Catalent release, Catalent shall also provide Client or its designee with Catalent’s certificate of analysis for such Batch. Issuance of a
certificate of analysis and certificate of conformance by Catalent constitutes release of the Batch by Catalent to Client. Client shall be responsible for final release of
Product to the market (at its cost and evidenced by Catalent’s receipt of a written notification for release for the particular Batch(es) from Client) in accordance with
the Quality Agreement.

5.2    Testing; Rejection. No later than [***] after Client’s or its designee’s receipt of the Batch (“Review Period”), Client shall notify Catalent whether the Batch
conforms to the Specifications. Upon receipt of notice from Client that a Batch meets the Specifications, or upon



failure of Client to respond by the end of the Review Period, subject to Section 5.7 (Latent Defects), the Batch shall be deemed accepted by Client and Client shall
have no right to reject such Batch. If Client timely notifies Catalent in writing (an “Exception Notice”) that a Batch does not conform to the Specifications or
otherwise does not meet the warranty set forth in Section 12.1(A) (“Defective Product”), and provides a sample of the alleged Defective Product, then Catalent shall
in good faith conduct an appropriate investigation to determine whether the Product is Defective Product and to determine the cause of any nonconformity. If, upon
its good faith efforts, Catalent agrees that Product is Defective Product and determines that the cause of nonconformity is attributable to Catalent’s negligence or
willful misconduct (“Catalent Defective Processing”), then Section 5.4 shall apply. If, upon its good faith efforts, Catalent agrees that Product is Defective Product
and determines that the cause of nonconformity is shared between the parties or cannot be determined or assigned (“Shared/Unassigned Defect”), then Section 5.5
shall apply.

5.3    Discrepant Results. If the parties disagree as to whether Product is Defective Product and/or whether the cause of the nonconformity is Catalent Defective
Processing, and this is not resolved within [***] of the Exception Notice date, the parties shall cause a mutually acceptable independent third party to review records,
test data and to perform comparative tests and/or analyses on samples of the alleged Defective Product and its components, including Client-supplied Materials. The
independent party’s results as to whether or not Product is Defective Product and the cause of any nonconformity shall be final and binding. The costs associated with
such testing and review shall be borne by [***]. The cost associated with such testing and review shall be shared equally by the parties in the event Product is
Defective Product and the cause of nonconformity is a Shared/Unassigned Defect. [***].

5.4    Catalent Defective Processing. If a Batch of Defective Product is attributable to Catalent Defective Processing, Catalent shall, at Client’s option, either (A)
Process, at Catalent’s cost another Batch of Product as a replacement for such Batch using Client-supplied Materials and reimburse Client for the cost of such Client-
supplied Materials subject to the limitations set forth in Article 14 or (B) subject to the limitations set forth in Article 14, credit any payment made by Client for such
rejected Batch and reimburse client for Client-supplied Materials expended making such rejected Batch of Defective Product. For the avoidance of doubt, in the
event the original Defective Batch has not been paid for by Client or has been credited back to Client by Catalent, Catalent will be entitled to charge Client for the
one replacement Batch that conforms with the Specifications and is released by Catalent in accordance with Section 5.1 above. THE OBLIGATION OF CATALENT
TO (i) REPLACE DEFECTIVE PRODUCT ATTRIBUTABLE TO CATALENT DEFECTIVE PROCESSING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFICATIONS
OR CREDIT/REIMBURSE PAYMENTS MADE BY CLIENT FOR DEFECTIVE PRODUCT SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE 14
AND (ii) PAY THE COST OF CLIENT-SUPPLIED MATERIALS LOST IN CATALENT DEFECTIVE PROCESSING, SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS SET
FORTH IN ARTICLE 14, SHALL BE, TOGETHER WITH CLIENT’S RIGHTS UNDER SECTIONS 3.1(B), 9.5, AND 13.1, CLIENT’S SOLE AND
EXCLUSIVE REMEDY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT FOR DEFECTIVE PRODUCT DUE TO CATALENT DEFECTIVE PROCESSING AND IS IN LIEU OF
ANY OTHER WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED.

5.5    Shared/Unassigned Defects. If the cause of nonconformity for a Batch of Defective Product is assigned Shared/Unassigned Defect, Catalent shall Process, at
Catalent’s cost, another Batch of Product as a replacement for such Batch using Client-supplied Materials paid for by Client. If the Batch of Defective Product was
not completed, and a replacement for such uncompleted Batch cannot be Processed by Catalent within [***] of the delivery date set forth in the original Purchase
Order due to reasons solely within Client’s reasonable control (i.e., not a force majeure event), then Client shall pay Catalent for the cost of the partial Batch
(“Partial Batch Cost”) as set forth in Attachment C. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event the original Defective Batch has not been paid for by Client, Catalent
will be entitled to charge Client for the



Processing of the one replacement Batch that conforms with the Specifications and is released by Catalent in accordance with Section 5.1 above. THE OBLIGATION
OF CATALENT TO REPLACE A BATCH OF DEFECTIVE PRODUCT WHERE THE CAUSE OF NONCONFORMITY FOR SUCH BATCH IS SHARED
BETWEEN THE PARTIES OR CANNOT BE DETERMINED OR ASSIGNED, SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE 14, SHALL BE,
TOGETHER WITH CLIENT’S RIGHTS UNDER SECTIONS 3.1(B), 9.5, AND 13.1, CLIENT’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT FOR DEFECTIVE PRODUCT HAVING SHARED/UNASSIGNED DEFECTS AND IS IN LIEU OF ANY OTHER WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR
IMPLIED.

5.6    In-Process Defects. If during, yet prior to completion of, the Processing of a Batch, Catalent determines the Batch is or will be defective (“In-Process Defect”),
then Catalent shall in good faith determine the cause of any nonconformity and share the results of such determination with Client in writing within [***] of making
such determination. If, upon its good faith efforts, Catalent determines the In-Process Defect is attributable to Catalent Defective Processing, then Section 5.4 shall
apply. If, upon its good faith efforts, Catalent determines the In-Process Defect is attributable to a Shared/Unassigned Defect, then Section 5.5 shall apply.

5.7    [***]

5.8    [***]

ARTICLE 6
DELIVERY

6.1    Delivery. Catalent shall deliver Product [***] (Incoterms 2010) the Facility by the sooner of (i) [***] following Client’s release of Product (i.e., following
Catalent’s receipt of a written certificate of release for the particular Batch(es) from Client per Section 5.1. above) or (ii) [***] following Catalent’s release of such
Product. Catalent shall segregate and store all Product until tender of delivery. To the extent not already held by Client, title to Product shall transfer to Client upon
Catalent’s tender of delivery. If Catalent provides storage services, title to such items shall pass to Client upon transfer to storage. Client shall qualify carriers to ship
Product and then designate the priority of such qualified carriers to Catalent. In the event Catalent arranges shipping or performs similar loading and/or logistics
services for Client at Client’s request, such services are performed by Catalent as a convenience to Client only and do not alter the terms and limitations set forth in
this Section 6.1. Catalent shall not be responsible for Product in transit, including any cost of insurance or transport fee for Product, or any risk associated with transit
or customs delays, storage and handling.

6.2    Storage Fees; Bill and Hold.

A.    If Client fails to take delivery of any Product within [***] of such Product being tendered for delivery, Catalent shall store such Product and have the
right to invoice Client monthly (prorate for partial months) following such scheduled delivery for storage costs of [***].

B.    From time to time, at Client's request, the agreed delivery date of the Purchase Order may be extended under a bill and hold arrangement as more fully
set forth below. For each such Batch of stored Product, Client agrees that: (A) Client has made a fixed commitment to purchase the Product, (B) risk of loss for such
Product passes to Client upon placement into storage, (C) such Product shall be on a bill and hold basis for legitimate business purposes, (D) the Client shall identify
a fixed delivery date for the Product and (E) Client agree to be invoiced and to pay such invoice in accordance with the Payment terms set forth in this Agreement.
Upon



making a request for a bill and hold arrangement, Client shall provide Catalent with a letter confirming items (A) through (E) of this Section for each Batch of stored
Product.

6.3    [***]

ARTICLE 7
PAYMENTS

7.1    Fees.

A.    Client shall pay to Catalent the fees for Validation Services, if any, set forth on Attachment A. Catalent shall submit an invoice to Client for such fees
upon the completion of the relevant phase of the Validation Services.

B.    Client shall pay Catalent the initial unit pricing for sodium oxybate beads set forth on Attachment C (together with any subsequent updates to pricing, the
“Unit Pricing”). Catalent shall submit an invoice to Client for such fees upon tender of delivery of corresponding Product incorporating such beads as provided in
Section 6.1.

C.    Client shall pay Catalent the Annual Product Maintenance Fee set forth on Attachment C for the Product Maintenance Services set forth on
Attachment D. Catalent shall submit an invoice to Client for such fees upon the Commencement Date and thereafter, upon the first day of each Contract Year.

D.    Client shall pay to Catalent during the time period of the Manufacturing Preparation Services and during the registration batch manufacturing the
Monthly Manufacturing Preparation Services Fees set forth in Attachment G.

E.    Client shall pay to Catalent the Capital Recovery Fee set forth in Attachment G.

F.    Client shall pay to Catalent the Success Milestone Fees set forth in Attachment G.

G.    Client shall pay to Catalent the Monthly Suite Fee set forth in Attachment H. Catalent will invoice Client for all additional activities necessitated by the
one-time dismantling of the Suite Equipment during the FDA review period (after registration manufacturing and prior to re-commissioning) and the re-installation
and re-qualification prior to the beginning of Process validation in advance of the Product launch.

H.    Client shall pay Catalent for all other fees and expenses of Catalent owing in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including pursuant to
Sections 2.11, 5.5, 6.2 and 16.3. Catalent shall submit an invoice to Client for such fees as and when appropriate.

7.2    Unit Pricing Adjustment. The Unit Pricing shall be adjusted [***], effective on [***], upon [***] prior written notice from Catalent to Client, to reflect
increases or decreases in, among other things, labor, utilities and overhead and shall be the change in the Producer Price Index (“PPI”), “Pharmaceutical Preparation
Manufacturing” (Series ID: PCU325412325412), not seasonally adjusted, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

7.3    Payment Terms. Payment to Catalent of all undisputed amounts invoiced to Client shall be due [***] after the date of invoice. If Client disputes any amount of
an invoice, it shall notify Catalent within [***] of its receipt of the invoice. The parties agree to negotiate in good faith and within a reasonable time period to resolve
any dispute concerning invoiced amounts. Once the parties resolve such a dispute, Client shall pay the new amount to Catalent by the later of the



original invoice due date or [***] after receiving a new invoice from Catalent reflecting such new amount. Client shall make payment in U.S. dollars, and otherwise
as directed in the applicable invoice. If any payment is not received by Catalent by its due date, then Catalent may, in addition to other remedies available at equity or
in law, charge interest on the outstanding sum from the due date (both before and after any judgment) at [***] until paid in full (or, if less, the maximum amount
permitted by Applicable Laws).

7.4    Advance Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if at any time Client’s credit is materially impaired, Catalent may
request further assurances before performing any further service under this Agreement, including any Processing, or making any further shipment of Product. If
Client shall fail, within a reasonable time, to make such further assurances, Catalent shall have the right, at its option, to suspend any further performance under this
Agreement until such assurances are provided.

7.5    Taxes. All taxes, duties and other amounts (excluding taxes based on net income and franchise taxes) assessed in respect of (i) Client-supplied Materials,
whether prior to or upon provision or sale, or (ii) Product supplied by Catalent to Client, upon provision or sale, in each case whether assessed on Catalent or Client,
are the responsibility of Client, and either Client shall reimburse Catalent for all such taxes, duties or other amounts paid by Catalent or such sums will be added to
invoices directed at Client. If any deduction or withholding in respect of tax or otherwise is required by law to be made from any of the sums payable hereunder,
Client shall be obliged to pay to Catalent such greater sum as will leave Catalent, after deduction or withholding as is required to be made, with the same amount as it
would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or withholding.

7.6    Client and Third-Party Expenses. Except as may be expressly covered by Product Maintenance Service fees, Client shall be responsible for one hundred percent
(100%) of its own and all third-party expenses associated with development, Regulatory Approval and commercialization of Product, including regulatory filings and
post-approval marketing studies.

7.7    Development Batches. Each Batch produced under this Agreement, including those necessary to support the validation portion of Client’s submissions for
Regulatory Approvals, will be considered to be a “development batch” unless and until Processing has been validated. Client shall be responsible for the cost of each
such Batch, even if such Batch fails to meet the Specifications, unless Catalent was grossly negligent or committed willful misconduct in the Processing of the out-
of-Specification Batch. Catalent and Client shall cooperate in good faith to resolve any problem causing the out-of-Specification Batch.

ARTICLE 8
CHANGES TO SPECIFICATIONS

All Specifications, and any change to the Specifications agreed by the parties from time to time, shall be in writing, dated and signed by the parties. Any change to
the Process shall be deemed a Specification change. No change in the Specifications shall be implemented by Catalent, whether requested by Client or requested or
required by any Regulatory Authority, until the parties have agreed in writing to such change, the implementation date of such change, and any increase or decrease
in costs, expenses or fees associated with such change (including any change to Unit Pricing). Catalent shall respond promptly to any request made by Client for a
change in the Specifications, and both parties shall use commercially reasonable, good-faith efforts to agree to the terms of such change in a timely manner. As soon
as practicable after a request is made for any change in Specifications, Catalent shall notify Client of the costs associated with such change and shall provide such
supporting documentation as Client may reasonably require. Client shall pay all costs associated with agreed changes to the Specifications. If there is a conflict
between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Specifications, this Agreement shall control. Catalent reserves the right to postpone effecting



changes to the Specifications until such time as the parties agree to and execute the required written amendment.

ARTICLE 9
RECORDS; REGULATORY MATTERS

9.1    Recordkeeping. Catalent shall maintain materially complete and accurate Batch records, laboratory data and other technical records relating to Processing in
accordance with Catalent standard operating procedures. Such information shall be maintained for a period of at least [***] from the relevant finished Product
expiration date or longer if required under Applicable Laws or the Quality Agreement.

9.2    Regulatory Compliance. Catalent shall obtain and maintain all permits and licenses with respect to general Facility operations required by any Regulatory
Authority in the jurisdiction in which Catalent Processes Product. Client shall obtain and maintain all other Regulatory Approvals required of Client by Applicable
Law with respect to Product or the services provided pursuant to this Agreement, including those necessary for Catalent to commence Processing. Client shall not
identify Catalent in any ANDA/NDA application or other such initial regulatory filing or submission without Catalent’s prior written consent. Such consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld and shall be memorialized in a writing signed by authorized Representatives of both parties. In the event identification of the Product
manufacturer is required by a Regulatory Authority for Regulatory Approval of the Product, Client shall be allowed to identify Catalent in such application/filing
without Catalent’s consent provided Client provides Catalent at least [***] prior written notice (unless regulatory requirements demand a shorter period) of such draft
filing and considers in good faith any additions or revisions Catalent suggests. Upon written request, and solely for the purpose of identifying Catalent for accuracy
purposes, Client shall provide Catalent with a copy of the relevant section(s) of each Regulatory Approval referencing Catalent that is required to distribute, market
or sell Product in the Territory. If Client is unable to provide such information, Catalent shall have no obligation to deliver Product to Client, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement. During the Term, Catalent will assist Client with all regulatory matters relating to Processing, at Client’s request and
expense. The parties shall cooperate to allow each party to satisfy their respective obligations under Applicable Laws relating to Processing under this Agreement.

9.3    Government/Regulatory Inspections and Requests. Catalent shall promptly advise Client if any Regulatory Authority (or agent acting on its behalf) notifies
Catalent that the Regulatory Authority intends to or does visit the Facility where at least one purpose relates to Processing. Upon request, Catalent shall provide
Client with a copy of any report provided to Catalent by such Regulatory Authority following such visit, which report may be redacted as appropriate to protect any
confidential information of Catalent or Catalent’s other customers; and Client shall provide Catalent with any material correspondence with such Regulatory
Authority, including FDA refusal to file, rejection or warning letters. Client acknowledges that it may not direct the manner in which Catalent fulfills its obligations
to permit inspection by and to communicate with Regulatory Authorities. Client shall reimburse Catalent for all reasonable and documented costs associated with
inspections by Regulatory Authorities in connection with Product, and pay the fees specified in Attachment C for the services specified in Attachment D, to the
extent applicable, only if such inspection(s) is(are) not incepted as a result of a failure by Catalent to follow regulatory requirements with respect to Catalent’s
Processing. Client may have its Representatives present at the Facility during a regulatory inspection but may not observe or participate in a regulatory inspection
unless the Regulatory Authority specifically requests Client’s participation. The presence of such Client Representative shall not constitute a Client facility audit
under Section 9.4 below, nor will such presence of such Client Representative constitute an observation of Processing visit under Section 4.6 above



9.4    Client Facility Audits. During the Term, Client’s Representatives shall be granted access upon at least [***] prior notice, at reasonable times during regular
business hours, to (A) the portion of the Facility where Catalent performs Processing, (B) relevant personnel involved in Processing and (C) Processing records
described in Section 9.2, in each case solely for the purpose of verifying that Catalent is Processing in accordance with cGMPs, the Specifications and the Product
master Batch records. Client may not conduct an audit under this Section 9.4 more than [***]; except that additional inspections may be conducted in the event there
is a material quality or compliance issue concerning Product or Processing. Audits and inspections shall be designed to minimize disruption of operations at the
Facility. The obligations of Client and its Representatives in Section 4.6 shall apply to all audits undertaken by Client and its Representatives pursuant to this Section
9.4.

9.5    Recall. If a Regulatory Authority orders or requires the recall of Product supplied pursuant to this Agreement or if either Catalent or Client believes a recall,
field alert, Product withdrawal or field correction (“Recall”) may be necessary with respect to Product supplied under this Agreement, the party receiving the notice
from the Regulatory Authority or that holds such belief shall promptly notify the other party in writing. With respect to any Recall, Catalent shall provide all
necessary cooperation and assistance to Client.  Client shall provide Catalent with an advance copy of any proposed submission to a Regulatory Authority in respect
of any Recall, such copy being provided no less than [***] prior to submission to a Regulatory Authority. Client shall consider in good faith any comments from
Catalent relating to such submission.  The cost of any Recall shall be borne by [***].

9.6    Quality Agreement. Within six (6) months after the Effective Date, and in any event prior to the first Processing of Product under this Agreement, the parties
shall negotiate in good faith and enter into a quality agreement (the “Quality Agreement”). The Quality Agreement shall in no way determine liability or financial
responsibility of the parties for the responsibilities set forth in that agreement. In the event of a conflict between any provision of this Agreement and the Quality
Agreement with respect to quality-related activities, including compliance with cGMP, the provisions of the Quality Agreement shall govern. In the event of a
conflict between any provision of this Agreement and the Quality Agreement with respect to any other matter, including allocation of risk, liability and financial
responsibility, the provisions of this Agreement shall govern.

9.7    Regulatory Authority Fees. Catalent reserves the right to charge Client for any Regulatory Authority fees that may be established by any Regulatory Authority,
which fees result directly from Catalent’s formulation, development, manufacturing, processing, filling, packaging, storing or testing of Client’s Product or Client-
supplied Materials in the Territory (including, for example, the Generic Drug User Fee Amendments of 2017, if applicable).

ARTICLE 10
CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-USE

10.1    Definition. As used in this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means all confidential information of the disclosing person of whatever type,
including all information furnished by or on behalf of Catalent or Client (as the case may be, “Discloser”), its Affiliates or any of its or their respective
Representatives, to the other party (for purposes of this Article 10, “Recipient”), its Affiliates or any of its or their respective Representatives, whether furnished
before, on or after the Effective Date and furnished in any form, including written, verbal, visual, electronic or in any other media or manner and information
acquired by observation or otherwise during any site visit at the other party’s facility. Confidential Information includes all proprietary technologies, know-how, trade
secrets, discoveries, inventions and any other Intellectual Property (whether or not patented), analyses, compilations, business or technical



information and other materials prepared by either party, their respective Affiliates, or any of its or their respective Representatives, containing or based in whole or
in part on any Confidential Information furnished by Discloser, its Affiliates or any of its or their respective Representatives. Confidential Information also includes
the existence and terms of this Agreement.

10.2    Exclusions. Notwithstanding anything in Section 10.1 to the contrary, Confidential Information does not include information that (A) is or becomes generally
available to the public or within the industry to which such information relates other than as a result of a breach of this Agreement, (B) is already known by Recipient
at the time of disclosure as evidenced by Recipient’s written records, (C) becomes available to Recipient on a non-confidential basis from a source that is entitled to
disclose it on a non-confidential basis or (D) was or is independently developed by or for Recipient without reference to Discloser’s Confidential Information as
evidenced by Recipient’s written records.

10.3    Mutual Obligation. Recipient (A) will keep confidential all Confidential Information, employing such protections as it would use for its own Confidential
Information of a similar type but in no case less than reasonable protections under the circumstances, (B) will not use Discloser’s Confidential Information except in
connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement and (C) will not disclose to any third party, without Discloser’s prior written consent,
Discloser’s Confidential Information, except that Recipient may disclose Discloser’s Confidential Information to any of its Affiliates and its or their respective
Representatives that (A) need to know such Confidential Information for the purpose of performing under this Agreement, (B) are advised of the contents of this
Article and (C) are bound to Recipient by obligations of confidentiality at least as restrictive as the terms of this Article. Each party shall be responsible for any
breach of this Article by its Affiliates or any of its or their respective Representatives.

10.4    Permitted Disclosure. Recipient may disclose Discloser’s Confidential Information to the extent required by law or regulation; provided, that prior to making
any such legally required disclosure, Recipient shall give Discloser as much prior notice of the requirement for and contents of such disclosure as is practicable under
the circumstances. Any such disclosure, however, shall not relieve Recipient of its obligations under this Agreement.

10.5    No Implied License. Except as expressly set forth in Section 10.1, Recipient will obtain no right of any kind or license under any of Discloser’s Confidential
Information, including any patent application or patent, by reason of this Agreement. Discloser’s Confidential Information will remain Discloser’s sole property,
subject to Article 11.

10.6    Return of Confidential Information. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, Recipient will (and will cause its Affiliates and its and their respective
Representatives to) cease its use and, upon written request, within [***] either return or destroy (and certify as to such destruction) all of Discloser’s Confidential
Information, including any copy of such information, except for a single copy, which may be retained for the sole purpose of ensuring compliance with its obligations
under this Agreement.

10.7    Survival. The obligations of this Article will terminate [***] from the expiration or termination of this Agreement, except with respect to trade secrets, for
which the obligations of this Article will continue for so long as such information remains a trade secret under law.

ARTICLE 11
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As used in this Agreement, “Client IP” means all Intellectual Property and related embodiments owned by or licensed to Client as of the Effective Date or developed
by Client other than in connection with this Agreement; “Catalent IP” means all Intellectual Property and related



embodiments owned by or licensed to Catalent as of the Effective Date or developed by Catalent other than in connection with this Agreement; “Invention” means
any Intellectual Property developed by either party or jointly by the parties in connection with this Agreement; “Client Inventions” means [***]; and “Catalent
Inventions” means [***]. [***]. The parties shall cooperate to achieve the allocation of rights to Inventions set forth in this Article 11 (including jointly-developed
Inventions), and each party shall be solely responsible for costs associated with the protection of its Intellectual Property.

ARTICLE 12
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

12.1    Catalent. Catalent represents, warrants and undertakes to Client that:

A.    At the time of delivery by Catalent as provided in Section 6.1, Product shall have been Processed in accordance with Applicable Laws and in conformity
with the Specifications and shall not be adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled within the meaning of Applicable Laws; provided, that Catalent shall not be liable for
defects attributable to Client-supplied Materials (including artwork, advertising and labeling);

B.    Catalent represents and warrants to Client that neither it nor any of its Representatives have been debarred, disqualified or restricted by any regulatory or
other government authority, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration pursuant to the Generic Drug Enforcement Act of 1992 or any other equivalent or
successor statutes, rules or regulations. In the event Catalent learns of any pending proceeding or threatened debarment or disqualification of Catalent or any of its
Representatives, Catalent covenants that it shall immediately notify Client in writing.

C.    Catalent shall not incorporate any Catalent IP into the Processing or Products contemplated by this Agreement;

D.    To its knowledge, there is (i) no patent owned by a third party related to the Catalent IP used to Process Product that would be infringed or misused by
performance under this Agreement, and (ii) no trade secret or other proprietary right of a third party related to the Catalent IP used to Process Product that would be
infringed or misused by performance under this Agreement.

E.    No transaction or dealing under this Agreement shall be conducted with or for an individual or entity that is designated as the target of any sanction,
restriction or embargo administered by the United Nations, European Union, United Kingdom, or United States. 

12.2    Client. Client represents, warrants and undertakes to Catalent that:

A.    All Client-supplied Materials shall have been produced in accordance with Applicable Laws, shall comply with all applicable specifications, including
the Specifications, shall not be adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled within the meaning of Applicable Laws, and shall have been provided in accordance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

B.    The content of all artwork provided by or on behalf of Client to Catalent shall comply with all Applicable Laws.

C.    All Product delivered to Client by Catalent shall be held, used and disposed of by or on behalf of Client in accordance with Applicable Laws, and Client
will otherwise comply with Applicable Laws relating to Client’s performance under this Agreement.



D.    Client will not release any Batch of Product if the required certificates of conformance indicate that Product does not comply with the Specifications or if
Client does not hold all necessary Regulatory Approvals to market and sell the Product.

E.    Client has all necessary authority to use and to permit Catalent to use for the purposes of this Agreement all Intellectual Property related to Product,
Client-supplied Materials (including artwork) or the Processing of either of them, including all applicable copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, patents, inventions
and developments.

F.    To its knowledge, there is (i) no valid patent owned by a third party related to the Client IP used to Process Product that would be infringed or misused by
performance under this Agreement and (ii) no trade secret or other proprietary right of a third party related to the Client IP used to Process Product that would be
infringed or misused by performance under this Agreement.

G.    To its knowledge, the services to be performed by Catalent under this Agreement will not violate or infringe upon any valid trademark, tradename,
copyright, patent, trade secret, or other right held by any third party.

H.    Client has (or will have prior to delivery) all authorizations and permits required to deliver (or have delivered) API to the Facility.

I.    No transaction or dealing under this Agreement shall be conducted with or for an individual or entity that is designated as the target of any sanction,
restriction or embargo administered by the United Nations, European Union, United Kingdom, or United States. 

12.3    Limitations. THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE ARE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES MADE BY EACH PARTY TO THE OTHER PARTY, AND NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY OTHER
REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY, NON-INFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

ARTICLE 13
INDEMNIFICATION

13.1    Indemnification by Catalent. Except to the extent that any of the following arises out of or results from any negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this
Agreement by Client, its Affiliates, and their respective Representatives (collectively, “Client Indemnitees”), Catalent shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless
Client Indemnitees from and against any and all suits, claims, losses, demands, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses and reasonable investigative costs) in connection with any suit, demand or action by any third party (“Losses”) arising out of, relating to or resulting from
(A) any breach of its representations, warranties or obligations set forth in this Agreement or (B) any negligence or willful misconduct by Catalent or its
Representatives.

13.2    Indemnification by Client. Except to the extent that any of the following arises out of or results from any negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this
Agreement by Catalent, its Affiliates, and their Representatives (collectively, “Catalent Indemnitees”), Client shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Catalent
Indemnitees from and against any and all Losses arising out of, relating to or resulting from (A) any breach of its representations, warranties or obligations set forth
in this Agreement, (B) any manufacture, packaging, sale, promotion, distribution or use of or exposure to Product or Client-supplied Materials, including product
liability or strict liability, (C) Client’s exercise of control over the Processing, to the extent that Client’s instructions or directions violate Applicable Laws, (D) the
conduct of any clinical trial



utilizing Product or API, (E) any actual or alleged infringement or violation of any third party patent, trade secret, copyright, trademark or other proprietary right by
Intellectual Property or other information provided by Client, including Client-supplied Materials, or (F) any negligence or willful misconduct by Client.

13.3    Indemnification Procedures. All indemnification obligations in this Agreement are conditioned upon the indemnified party (A) promptly notifying the
indemnifying party of any claim or liability of which the indemnified party becomes aware (including a copy of any related complaint, summons, notice or other
instrument); provided, however, that failure to provide such notice within a reasonable period shall not relieve the indemnifying party of its obligations under this
Article 13 except to the extent, if any, the indemnifying party is prejudiced by such failure, (B) allowing the indemnifying party to conduct and control the defense of
any such claim or liability and any related settlement negotiations (at the indemnifying party’s expense), provided, that the indemnifying party shall promptly provide
and continuously maintain such defense, (C) cooperating with the indemnifying party in the defense of any such claim or liability and any related settlement
negotiations (at the indemnifying party’s expense) and (D) not compromising or settling any claim or liability without prior written consent of the indemnifying party.

ARTICLE 14
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

14.1    EXCEPT FOR [***], CATALENT’S LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL IN NO EVENT EXCEED [***].

14.2    [***].

14.3    EXCEPT FOR [***], CATALENT’S TOTAL AGGREGATE LIABILITY OVER THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL CLAIMS
SHALL NOT EXCEED [***].

14.4    NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL
DAMAGES OR LOSS OF REVENUES, PROFITS OR DATA ARISING OUT OF PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER IN CONTRACT
OR IN TORT, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

ARTICLE 15
INSURANCE

Each party shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain in full force and effect during the Term the following: (A) Commercial General Liability and/or
Foreign Liability Insurance with a per occurrence limit of [***] or equivalent and an annual aggregate limit of [***] or equivalent; (B) Products and Completed
Operations Liability Insurance with a per occurrence limit of not less than [***] or equivalent covering each party’s own operations arising out of or connecting with
this Agreement, providing coverage for bodily injury and property damage claims; (C) Workers’ Compensation as required by any applicable law or regulation and in
accordance with the provisions of the laws of the nation, state, territory or province having jurisdiction over Customer’s employees. If any such jurisdiction has a
social scheme to provide insurance or benefits to injured workers, Customer must be in full compliance with the laws of such jurisdiction. Employer's Liability
insurance will be provided in amounts not less than the local currency equivalent of [***]) or equivalent per accident and [***] or equivalent per employee for
disease, provided that such coverage is available in the nation, state, territory or province having jurisdiction over Customer’s employees. If there is an exposure of
injury to Customer’s employees under the U.S. Longshoremen's and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act,



the Jones Act or under the laws, regulations or statutes applicable to maritime employees, coverage will be included for such injuries or claims; and (D) Auto
Liability insurance in a minimum amount of [***] or equivalent combined single limit for all vehicles used in connection with the performance of this contract.
Customer shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain in full force and effect during the Term, All Risk Property Insurance, including transit coverage, an
amount equal to the full replacement value of its property while in, or in transit to, or from, a Catalent facility. Customer shall obtain a waiver of subrogation clause
from its property insurance carrier in favor of Catalent. Customer shall not seek reimbursement from Catalent corporate affiliates, and their respective officers,
directors, employees, agents, successors and assigns for any property claim or portion thereof that is not fully recovered from Customer’s Property Insurance policy.
Each party shall be named as an additional insured within the other party’s General Liability and / or Foreign Liability insurance and Products Completed Operations
Liability policies; provided, that such additional insured status will apply solely to the extent of the insured party’s indemnity obligations under this agreement. The
policy(ies) under this Agreement will provide, by endorsement or otherwise, that Customer’s insurance will be primary insurance and that any other insurance
maintained by or otherwise afforded to Catalent, its corporate affiliates, and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, successors, and assigns will be
excess only and non-contributing except where prohibited by law. If any of the required policies of insurance are written on a claims made basis, such policies shall
be maintained throughout the Term and for a period of at least [***] thereafter. Each insurance policy that is required under this Agreement shall be obtained from an
insurance carrier with an A.M. Best or equivalent rating of at least A- VII or an S&P rating of A. Each party may self-insure all or any portion of the required
insurance as long as, together with its Affiliates, its US GAAP net worth is greater than [***] or equivalent or its annual EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization) is greater than [***] or equivalent. Waivers of subrogation and additional insured status obligations will operate the same whether
insurance is carried through third parties or self-insured. Upon the other party’s written request from time to time, each party shall promptly furnish to the other party
a certificate of insurance or other evidence of the required insurance. Customer certificates of insurance, which will include the Catalent affiliate contracting party of
this Agreement as the certificate holder, will be sent to the following contact:

Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC
Attn: Risk Management
14 Schoolhouse Rd
Somerset, NJ 08822

 
ARTICLE 16

TERM AND TERMINATION

16.1    Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until the end of [***], unless earlier terminated in accordance with Section
16.2 (such term, including any extension in accordance with this Section 16.1, the “Term”). Unless this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 16.2, the
Term shall automatically extend for [***] unless and until one party gives the other party at least [***] prior written notice of its desire to terminate as of the end of
the then-current Term.

16.2    Termination. This Agreement may be terminated immediately without further action:

A.    by either party if the other party files a petition in bankruptcy, or enters into an agreement with its creditors, or applies for or consents to the appointment
of a receiver, administrative receiver, trustee or administrator, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or suffers or permits the entry of any order
adjudicating it to be bankrupt or insolvent and such order is not discharged within [***], or takes any equivalent or similar action in consequence of debt in any
jurisdiction; or



B.    by either party if the other party materially breaches this Agreement and such breach is not cured within [***] after the giving of written notice requiring
the breach to be remedied; provided, and subject to Section 7.3 (Payment Terms), that in the case of a failure of Client to make undisputed payments in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, Catalent may terminate this Agreement if such undisputed payment breach is not cured within [***] of receipt of written notice of
non-payment from Catalent; or

C.    by either party if the Commencement Date does not occur within [***] of Client filing its New Drug Application with the FDA.

16.3    Effect of Termination. Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any right or obligation that accrued to the benefit of either
party prior to such expiration or termination. In the event of a termination of this Agreement:

A.    Catalent shall promptly return to Client, at Client’s expense and direction, any remaining inventory of Product and Client-supplied Materials; provided,
that all undisputed outstanding invoices regarding same have been paid in full;

B.    Client shall pay Catalent all undisputed, invoiced amounts outstanding hereunder, plus, within [***] of receipt of an undisputed invoice therefor, for any
(i) Product that has been shipped pursuant to Purchase Orders but not yet invoiced, (ii) Product Processed pursuant to Purchase Orders that has been completed but
not yet shipped, and (iii) in the event that this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than by Client pursuant to Sections 16.2(A) or (B) or Catalent pursuant
Sections 16.1 or 16.2(C), all Product being Processed pursuant to Purchase Orders;

C.    If this Agreement is terminated by Catalent under Sections 16.2(A) or 16.2(B), or is terminated by Client under Sections 16.1 or 16.2(C), Client shall pay
Catalent for all costs and expenses incurred, and all noncancellable commitments made, in connection with Catalent’s performance of this Agreement, including for
the Manufacturing Preparation Services, so long as such costs, expenses or commitments were made by Catalent (i) in good faith prior to receiving or giving any
notice of termination, and (ii) consistent with (a) the Manufacturing Preparation, or (b) Client’s most recent Firm Commitment and the vendor’s minimum purchase
obligations;

D.    If this Agreement is terminated by Client under Section 16.2(A) or (B) or is terminated by Catalent under Section 16.2(C), then Catalent shall work in
good faith with Client and any third party(ies) selected by Client (to the extent such third party(ies) allow Catalent to work with them) to transition processes
associated with compounding, producing and sachet-filling of Client-supplied Materials and Raw Materials into Product to Client and/or such third party(ies) as
determined by Client at Catalent’s expense (including up to [***]). In no event shall Catalent be obligated to disclose any Confidential Information, including
Catalent IP or Catalent Inventions, in such transfer; and

E.    All fees set forth in Section 7.1 shall terminate upon termination of the Agreement.

16.4    Survival. The rights and obligations of the parties shall continue under Articles 11 (Intellectual Property), 13 (Indemnification), 14 (Limitations of Liability),
17 (Notice), 18 (Miscellaneous); under Articles 10 (Confidentiality and Non-Use) and 15 (Insurance), in each case to the extent expressly stated therein; and under
Sections 6.2 (Storage Fees; Bill and Hold), 7.3 (Payment Terms), 7.5 (Taxes), 7.6 (Client and Third Party Expenses), 9.1 (Recordkeeping), 9.5 (Recall), 12.3
(Limitations), 16.3 (Effect of Termination) and 16.4 (Survival), in each case in accordance with their respective terms if applicable, notwithstanding expiration or
termination of this Agreement.



ARTICLE 17
NOTICE

All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given: (A) when delivered personally or by hand; (B) when
delivered by electronic mail (e-mail); (C) when received or refused, if sent by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), postage prepaid; or (D) when
delivered, if sent by express courier service; in each case to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like
notice; provided, that notices of a change of address shall be effective only upon receipt thereof):

To Client:    Flamel Ireland Limited (DBA Avadel Ireland)
Block 10 – 1 Blanchardstown Corporate Park
Ballycoolin, Dublin 15
Ireland
Attn: VP, Irish & European Operations
E-Mail: [***]

With a copy to:    Flamel Ireland Limited (DBA Avadel Ireland)
16640 Chesterfield Grove Road, Suite 200
Chesterfield, MO 63005
USA
Attn: VP, Deputy General Counsel
E-Mail: [***]

To Catalent    Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC
14 Schoolhouse Road
Somerset, New Jersey 08873
USA
Attn: General Manager
E-Mail: [***]

With a copy to:    Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC
14 Schoolhouse Road
Somerset, NJ 08873
USA
Attn: General Counsel (Legal Department)
E-Mail: [***]

ARTICLE 18
MISCELLANEOUS

18.1    Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement, together with the Quality Agreement, constitutes the entire understanding between the parties, and
supersedes any contract, agreement or understanding (oral or written) of the parties, with respect to its subject matter, including, for avoidance of doubt, the LOI. For
the avoidance of doubt, this Agreement does not supersede any existing generally applicable confidentiality agreement between the parties as it relates to periods
prior to the Effective Date or to business dealings not covered by this Agreement. No term of this Agreement may be amended except upon written agreement of both
parties, unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

18.2    Captions; Certain Conventions. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not to be interpreted or construed as a substantive part of this
Agreement. Unless



otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, (A) words of any gender include each other gender, (B) words
such as “herein”, “hereof”, and “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to the particular provision in which such words appear, (C) words
using the singular include the plural, and vice versa, (D) the words “include(s)” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “but not limited to”,
“without limitation” or words of similar import, (E) the word “or” shall be deemed to include the word “and” (e.g., “and/or”), (F) references to “Article,” “Section,”
“subsection,” “clause” or other subdivision, or to an Attachment or other appendix, without reference to a document are to the specified provision or Attachment of
this Agreement, and (G) subject to Applicable Laws, all references to liabilities or obligations of Catalent shall be subject to Article 14, regardless of whether the
particular provision includes a cross-reference to Article 14. This Agreement shall be construed as if it were drafted jointly by the parties.

18.3    Further Assurances. The parties shall execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments and take all such other incidental acts as may be reasonably
necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Agreement.

18.4    No Waiver. Failure by either party to insist upon strict compliance with any term of this Agreement in any one or more instances will not be deemed a waiver
of its rights to insist upon such strict compliance with respect to any subsequent failure.

18.5    Severability. If any term of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable by a court or other body of competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms of this
Agreement will continue in full force and effect.

18.6    Independent Contractors. The relationship of the parties is that of independent contractors, and neither party will incur any debt or make any commitment for
the other party except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to create or will be construed as creating between the
parties the relationship of joint venturers, co-partners, employer/employee or principal and agent. Neither party shall have any responsibility for the hiring,
termination or compensation of the other party’s employees or contractors or for any employee benefits of any such employee or contractor.

18.7    Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may
assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other party, except that either party may, without the other party’s consent (but
subject to prior written notice), assign this Agreement in its entirety to an Affiliate or to a successor to substantially all of the business or assets of the assigning party
or the assigning party’s business unit responsible for performance under this Agreement, and any assignment in violation of this Section 18.7 shall be void ab initio.

18.8    No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not confer any right or remedy upon any individual or entity other than the parties and their respective
successors and permitted assigns, except that the Client Indemnitees and the Catalent Indemnitees may invoke the benefits of the indemnification provisions of this
Agreement.

18.9    Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of New York, USA, excluding its conflicts of law provisions.
The United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods shall not apply to this Agreement.

18.10    Alternative Dispute Resolution. Any dispute arising between the parties in connection with this Agreement shall first be presented to the respective senior
executives of the parties for their consideration and resolution. If such parties’ executives cannot resolve such dispute within ninety (90) days, then such dispute may
be submitted by either party to arbitration by the



International Institute for Conflict Prevention and Resolution, 30 E. 33  Street, 6  Floor, New York, NY 10016 (“CPR”) by one arbitrator selected by the parties. If
no agreement on an arbitrator can be reached within thirty (30) days after the CPR offers names of potential arbitrators, then the CPR will choose one arbitrator
having reasonable experience in commercial transactions of the type described in this Agreement. The arbitration shall take place in the English language in New
York City, New York, in accordance with the CPR administered arbitration rules then in effect, and judgment upon any award rendered in such arbitration will be
binding and may be entered in any court having jurisdiction of the matter. The arbitration shall commence within sixty (60) days of the date on which an arbitrator is
selected. The arbitrator’s decision shall set forth a reasoned basis for any award of damages or finding of liability. The arbitrator shall not have power to award
damages in excess of actual compensatory damages and shall not multiply actual damages or award punitive damages. The arbitrator shall award to the prevailing
party, if any, its costs and attorneys’ fees and expenses reasonably incurred in connection with the arbitration, in accordance with Section 18.11.

18.11    Prevailing Party. In any dispute resolution proceeding between the parties in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to recover
its reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in such proceeding, including any subsequent or related enforcement proceeding, from the other party.

18.12    Publicity. Neither party will make any press release or other public disclosure regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without the
other party’s express prior written consent, except as required under Applicable Laws, by any governmental agency or by the rules of any stock exchange on which
the securities of the disclosing party are listed, in which case the party required to make the press release or public disclosure shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain the approval of the other party as to the form, nature and extent of the press release or public disclosure prior to issuing the press release or making
the public disclosure.

18.13    Right to Dispose and Settle. If Catalent requests in writing from Client direction with respect to disposal of any inventories of Product, Client-supplied
Materials, equipment, samples or other items belonging to Client and is unable to obtain a response from Client within a reasonable period no less than sixty (60)
days after making reasonable efforts to do so, Catalent shall be entitled in its sole discretion to (A) dispose of all such items and (B) set off any and all amounts due
from Client to Catalent or any of its U.S. Affiliates under this Agreement for the storage or destruction of any inventories of Product, Client-supplied Materials,
equipment, samples, or other items belonging to Client against any credits Client may hold with Catalent or any of its U.S. Affiliates under this Agreement.

18.14    Force Majeure. Except as to payments required under this Agreement, neither party shall be liable in damages for, nor shall this Agreement be terminable or
cancelable by reason of, any delay or default in such party’s performance hereunder if such default or delay is caused by events beyond such party’s reasonable
control, including acts of God, law or regulation or other action or failure to act of any government or agency thereof, failure to obtain manufacturing/procurement
quota, war or insurrection, civil commotion, any act of terrorism, destruction of production facilities or materials by earthquake, fire, flood or weather, labor
disturbances, epidemic or failure of suppliers, vendors, public utilities or common carriers; provided, that the party seeking relief under this Section 18.14 shall
promptly notify the other party of such cause(s) beyond such party’s reasonable control. The party that may invoke this Section 18.14 shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to reinstate its ongoing obligations to the other party as soon as practicable. If the cause(s) shall continue unabated for one hundred eighty (180)
days, then both parties shall meet to discuss and negotiate in good faith what modifications to this Agreement should result from such cause(s).

rd th



18.15    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original but all of which together will
constitute one and the same instrument. Any photocopy, facsimile or electronic reproduction of the executed Agreement shall constitute an original.

[Signature page follows]



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their respective duly authorized Representatives to execute this Agreement effective as of the Effective
Date.

CATALENT PHARMA SOLUTIONS, LLC    FLAMEL IRELAND UNLIMITED (DBA AVADEL IRELAND)

By: /s/ Thomas A. Yezza        By: /s/ Dhiren D’Silva    

Name: Thomas A. Yezza        Name: Dhiren D’Silva    

Title: Vice President & General Manager –        Title: VP, Irish & European Operations    
Oral Drug Delivery
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Avadel Code of Conduct



 

Dear Colleagues, At Avadel, the way we do business is as important as the results we achieve. In everything we do, we must live the Avadel Values, Relentless, Insights to Impact, Confidence with Humility, Togetherness, Courageous. Our continued success depends upon every one of us living the Avadel Values and acting with the best interests of our patients, customers, stakeholders and the public foremost in mind. We are pleased to introduce our revised Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code of Conduct” or “Code”), effective September 15, 2021. The Code will help you understand what Avadel expects of you and what our patients, customers, stakeholders and the public expect of us. The Code of Conduct is not an exhaustive list of every policy you need to know, but it is a good roadmap, and it remains supported by many other Avadel policies and procedures, as well as applicable laws, regulations and industry codes. Please read the Code of Conduct carefully. It embodies our ongoing commitment to operating with the highest sense of integrity, responsibility and transparency in order to improve the health of people around the world. Acting in a responsible and principled manner is the only way to earn and keep the confidence and trust of our patients, customers, stakeholders and the public we serve. Therefore, it is essential that everyone at Avadel fully understands and abides by both the letter and the spirit of the Code. We are committed to living the Avadel Values every day and in every way we do business. Thank you for ensuring that Avadel always pursues its mission the right way. Jerad G. Seurer, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary A MESSAGE FROM OUR LEGAL DEPARTMENT



 

Transforming Medicines to Transform Lives



 

4 At Avadel, the way we work is as important as the results we achieve. In everything we do, we live the Avadel Values.
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Introduction to the Code of Conduct



 

2 The Purpose of the Code of Conduct Our commitment to compliance goes beyond merely following the law. At Avadel, we are always expected to act with integrity and make ethical decisions in all aspects of our business. As a matter of course, it is important for us to be aware of and fully comply with all applicable laws, regulations and industry codes. We should keep in mind that we are part of a highly-regulated industry, in which our business and operations are subject to a wide variety of laws, regulations and industry codes. The Code of Conduct sets out our core standards for how we conduct business – every day, everywhere – over a broad range of subject areas. It is also intended to promote a culture of compliance throughout the Company and guide us to the right answers when we encounter ethical questions. The Code is not an exhaustive description of our expected behavior and is supported by additional Company policies and procedures, including those governing specific subjects or applying to specific locations or functions. The Code and other Company policies and procedures cover many issues related to our work. However, they cannot address every possible situation we may face. Therefore, each of us must also take personal responsibility to act with the highest sense of integrity, use good judgment and ask questions in areas of uncertainty. The Code of Conduct is an evolving document and may be updated from time to time to reflect changing laws or expectations of patients, customers, stakeholders or the public. Avadel reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to modify any aspect of the compliance program, including without limitation, the Code of Conduct and any Company policies and procedures, at any time, for any reason and with or without notice; provided, however, copies of any amendments or modifications to this Code of Conduct will be made available to all Avadel employees. If there is a conflict between the Code of
Conduct and any specific Company policy or procedure, the specific Company policy or procedure in effect will govern, and any such inconsistency should be immediately brought to the attention of the Legal Department. YOU MAY OBTAIN COPIES OF THE CODE FROM ANY OF THE FOLLOWING SOURCES: • The Legal Department; • The Human Resources Department; • The Company’s website at http://www.avadel.com. “ Avadel is committed to conducting business in accordance with the highest standards of ethics and integrity and in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and industry codes.” INTRODUCTION TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT



 

3 Who Needs to Follow Our Code of Conduct Avadel is committed to conducting business in accordance with the highest standards of ethics and integrity and in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry codes. The Code of Conduct applies to everyone who works for Avadel in any location around the world and in any capacity whatsoever as a director, officer, employee, temporary worker, consultant, contract worker or otherwise, whether full- time or part-time. Also, we inform and encourage third parties acting on behalf of Avadel to comply with all relevant standards described in the Code. In this Code, references to “Avadel” or the “Company” refer to Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc and all of its subsidiaries and affiliates worldwide. We have the responsibility to ensure that Avadel abides by the law in every country in which it conducts business. Adherence to the Code of Conduct is mandatory and is a condition of employment, retention or engagement for all personnel. Any person who violates this Code may be subject to potential disciplinary action in accordance with applicable laws, regulations and Company policies in his or her country of employment or assignment. Our Responsibilities We all have a responsibility to follow applicable laws, regulations, industry codes and Company policies as we conduct business on behalf of Avadel. We also have a responsibility to maintain fair relationships with our business partners, customers and stakeholders. While this Code of Conduct has been written to familiarize you with many of the policies and procedures that apply at Avadel, it does not supersede them or act as a substitute for reading each policy and procedure that applies to your specific job. All Avadel personnel need to understand the policies and procedures that apply to their work and roles. Check with your supervisor or manager to learn about any job-specific information that you need to know. Remember, no written policy or code
on its own can guarantee compliance with the law or ethical decision-making. Each of us must do our part. HERE ARE JUST A FEW WAYS YOU CAN DO THE RIGHT THING:



 

4 ACT WITH HONESTY AND INTEGRITY Conduct business with honesty, integrity and in a manner that protects Avadel’s public image and reputation, as well as those of its business partners, customers and stakeholders. FOLLOW THE RULES Follow the law and Avadel policies as you conduct company business. RESPECT OTHERS Respect fellow staff members, government officials, business partners and our competitors. ASK If you are unsure about what to do or have questions about law, policy, ethics or other compliance issues, ask your immediate supervisor or manager or consult the resources identified by this Code. DISCLOSE Immediately disclose to the Legal Department if you currently are on an Exclusion List or otherwise ineligible to participate in the federal health care programs or in federal procurement or non-procurement programs, or have been convicted of a criminal offense that would lead to you being on an Exclusion List. Please also disclose if you are aware of any business partners who may be on the Exclusion List or ineligible to participate in federal programs. “Exclusion Lists” mean: • the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Debarment List (Drug Product Applications); • the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)/Office of Inspector General (OIG) List of Excluded Individuals/Entities; or • the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) Excluded Parties Listing System. REPORT VIOLATIONS Promptly report all known or suspected violations of applicable law, regulations, industry codes, the Code of Conduct or Company policies through the appropriate channels. If someone asks you or pressures you to do something that might be a violation, report that also. Report such matters to your immediate supervisor or manager. However, if you are not comfortable bringing up a matter with your immediate supervisor or manager, you may also report the matter to: • The Legal Department; • The
Human Resources Department; or • The Lighthouse Reporting Tool. • 1-844-264-2273 • www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelUS • In Ireland, dial +353-768-887197 • www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelIreland COOPERATE WITH INVESTIGATIONS AND LITIGATION Fully cooperate with Company investigations into potential violations and with Avadel’s defense or prosecution of litigation. This includes, but is not limited to, being forthcoming and telling the truth.



 

5 Additional Responsibilities of Managers and Supervisors If you are a manager or supervisor, you have additional compliance and ethical responsibilities. You must take steps to promote compliance and prevent violations in the areas you manage or supervise. Lead by example. You must serve as a positive role model, personify the Avadel Values and encourage others to follow this Code and Avadel policies. What you do encourages others to do the same thing. Here are some specific ways you, as a manager, can fulfill these obligations: • Foster a culture of compliance and ethics through personal leadership. • Demonstrate the highest ethical standards and quality in your work every day and expect the same from the people who report to you. • Never give others the impression that it is acceptable to ignore Company policies or skip steps. Do not create or tolerate an environment where staff members feel pressured to bend rules. • Guide staff, consultants, contract workers and temporary staff. • Ensure that your direct reports complete all corporate and job-specific compliance training. On a regular basis, review with your direct reports the policies that apply to them. • Make sure vendors, consultants, contract workers and temporary staff working in your area act in a manner consistent with this Code and policies that apply to them. • Prevent and report problems. • Be proactive and take steps to prevent problems before they happen. Do not condone them when they do. • Respond to staff members who raise concerns in a way that makes them feel secure and at ease sharing their issues. • Be responsible for reporting violations you suspect or that others (not just your direct reports) share with you.



 

6 Reporting Concerns If you believe that your conduct or that of any other Company personnel has or may have violated the Code or any applicable law, regulation, industry code or Company policy, you have an obligation to report the matter. In addition, if you receive a report of a potential violation of the Code or any applicable law, regulation, industry code or Company policy from another source, you also have an obligation to report the matter. Generally, you should first raise the matter with your immediate supervisor or manager. Your immediate supervisor or manager may provide valuable insights or perspectives and encourage resolution of issues within the appropriate work unit. However, if you are not comfortable bringing up a matter with your immediate supervisor or manager or you do not believe your immediate supervisor or manager has dealt with a matter properly, you may also report the matter to: • The Legal Department; or • The Human Resources Department. If for any reason you are not comfortable contacting any of these departments directly, you are encouraged to contact the Compliance Hotline, Website or Email operated by Lighthouse Services. Lighthouse Services is a long-established company which provides secure and confidential reporting services on behalf of national and multinational organizations across the world. Avadel has retained Lighthouse Services to provide you with an additional, secure and confidential (where permitted under local law) way to report serious workplace concerns and to receive replies from senior management. For individuals in the European Union, please note that the Lighthouse Services program only allows the reporting of certain issues in order to remain compliant with local laws. The issues include financial, accounting, auditing, banking, anti-corruption, bribery and anti-competitive practices by an officer, director, employee or contract worker. Anti- discrimination, health and safety and
environmental protection issues are also allowed. Other matters may be reported internally as discussed above. “ Take action against improper conduct by reporting it. Let’s continue to ensure Avadel’s integrity and accountability to ourselves and to all of our stakeholders.” The Lighthouse Reporting Tool • 1-844-264-2273 • www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelUS • In Ireland, dial +353-768-887197 • www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelIreland INTRODUCTION TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT



 

7 There are three ways in which you can make reports using the Lighthouse reporting tool HOW TO MAKE A REPORT USING THE LIGHTHOUSE REPORTING TOOL 1.  Dial your country’s Toll-Free number • In the US, dial 1-844-264-2273 • In Ireland, dial +353-768-887197 2.  Send an email to TellAvadelUS@getintouch.com 3.  Submit your issue or concern via the web • For the US, visit http://www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelUS • For Ireland, visit http://www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelIreland Use of the Lighthouse Services program is optional and there is no consequence to employees for not using this tool as their selected avenue to report concerns or potential violations. However, failure to report wrongdoing at all in any venue is the basis for disciplinary action.



 

8 NON-RETALIATION POLICY The Company prohibits any form of intimidation or retaliation against anyone who in good faith: (i) voices a concern or reports a violation to the Company or any law enforcement or government agency; (ii) cooperates or helps with a government or internal investigation; (iii) conducts self-evaluations, audits, remedial actions or other activities in support of Avadel’s compliance program; or (iv) provides information to the government or the Company about a breach of the Code of Conduct or any law, regulation, industry code or Company policy. Any suspected retaliation should be reported immediately. Retaliation is subject to disciplinary measures. SUPPORT Employees who have questions concerning this policy are responsible for contacting the Legal Department. You may obtain copies of the Company’s Compliance Integrity Policy—Tell Avadel from any of the following sources: • The Legal Department; • The Human Resources Department; • The Company’s website at http://www.avadel.com. “Intimidation or retaliation is unethical and not permitted at Avadel. Everyone has the right and responsibility to report or voice any concern or violation, and Avadel supports just that.” INTRODUCTION TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT



 

9 Disciplinary Action Failure to comply with the Code, Company policies or applicable laws, regulations or industry codes will subject Avadel employees to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment, to the extent permitted by local laws. Disciplinary action may also be taken when managers ignore misconduct, or fail to correct it. In addition, Avadel may terminate the services or work engagement of non-employees who fail to comply with the Code, Avadel policies or applicable laws, regulations or industry codes. Nothing in the Code limits the Company’s ability to end the employment of an Avadel employee at any time and for any or no reason, with or without notice or cause, to the extent permitted by local laws. Amendments Avadel reserves the right to unilaterally amend the Code of Conduct or any Company policy in its entirety at any time, without prior notice. Certification Every director, officer and employee of Avadel must certify in writing that he or she has read the Code and that he or she, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, understands, has complied with and will continue to comply with the Code and all applicable laws, regulations, industry codes and Company policies. The Legal Department will provide the procedure for such certification and may require a similar certification upon the approval and adoption of amendments to the Code. You will also be required to complete annual and/or update compliance training as determined necessary by the Legal Department. If you have any issue with making the certification required above, contact: • Your immediate supervisor or manager; • The Legal Department; or • Human Resources Department



 

10 The Avadel Workplace The Avadel Workplace



 

11 Our Work Environment We all have a responsibility to follow all applicable laws, regulations and industry codes, observe the highest standards of professional behavior, exhibit integrity at all times, treat others with respect and comply with all Company policies. We are responsible for maintaining Avadel’s good reputation. With this in mind, never engage in any conduct or activity that could raise questions about Avadel’s honesty or integrity, or that might cause embarrassment to the Company. Ultimately, others judge Avadel by whether we live the Avadel Values. “Avadel is committed to facilitating an honest and productive work environment.” Compliance Tips • Follow all Company policies, including those discussed in this Code, and live the Avadel Values. • Be honest in your words and actions. • Act professionally and always adhere to accepted industry or professional standards that apply to you. • Take the right steps to safeguard Avadel property. EXTRA FOCUS It may seem that one person’s choices and actions will have little impact on a small, but growing company like Avadel. This is not true. Everything you do helps to build and sustain an environment that embraces the Avadel Values.



 

12 THE AVADEL WORKPLACE Non-Discrimination and a Harassment-Free Workplace Avadel is committed to fostering a diverse workforce and a culture of inclusion. A diverse workforce with varied backgrounds and ideas strengthens Avadel and allows us all to strive to do our best. Avadel pursues fair employment practices in every aspect of its business and is committed to a productive work environment for its employees. Avadel’s employment policies and procedures, such as the Equal Employment Opportunity Policy and the Anti- Harassment Policy, reflect these practices and commitment. These policies apply to every type of employment action, including recruitment, training and compensation. Employees may obtain copies of these policies and procedures from the Human Resources Department, and they are also contained within Avadel’s Employee Handbook. Employees are required to comply with these policies and procedures in all respects and failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. A violation of the Equal Employment Opportunity Policy or the Anti-Harassment Policy is a violation of the Code. Discrimination in any respect on the basis of race, color, religion, ethnic or national origin, gender, sexual orientation or identity, age, disability, veteran status, marital status or any other status protected by applicable law is prohibited. Harassment, including sexual harassment or other discriminatory harassment based on a status protected by applicable law, is also prohibited in any form. Discriminatory/harassing behavior violates the Code, Company policies and the Avadel Values. This behavior undermines our ability to work together in teams, and it is contrary to our belief in the importance of respecting each other. Retaliation in response to an employee’s complaint of such behavior or participation in an investigation is prohibited. Any concerns or complaints involving discrimination,
harassment or retaliation must be reported immediately to your immediate supervisor, manager or Human Resources. All complaints will be treated with sensitivity and discretion, to the extent practicable under the circumstances, and a prompt investigation will be conducted in accordance with Company policy. Should an investigation determine that harassment or discrimination occurred, Avadel will take prompt corrective action, which may include disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. Avadel strictly prohibits retaliation against an employee who, in good faith, makes such a complaint or participates in an investigation.



 

13 Compliance Tips • Never engage in any unlawful discrimination. • Discourage and report comments, jokes or epithets that are inappropriate, offensive or derogatory to others. • Never seek sexual favors in return for employment rewards. • Never take part in conduct that is hostile or threatening, nor encourage others to do so. EXTRA FOCUS Be aware that e-mails, posters, calendars, screen savers, photographs, cartoons, etc., which are inappropriate and offensive to others are prohibited and may rise to the level of being harassment. Making derogatory references concerning personal characteristics such as religion, race, gender, sexual orientation and identity, gender identity, ethnicity, national origin or disability, as well as inappropriate touching and personal threats, are also prohibited and violate Avadel’s policies.



 

14 THE AVADEL WORKPLACE Safe and Healthy Workplace HAZARDOUS OR TOXIC MATERIALS The safety and security of Avadel employees is vitally important. We have an obligation to our colleagues and to those who enter our premises to be sure work conditions meet our safety requirements. Avadel employees and staff must comply with all applicable environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and Company policies. It is your responsibility to understand and comply with such laws, regulations and policies that are relevant to your job, particularly if your job involves working with hazardous or toxic materials in any capacity or if your job involves the disposal of any Company product, material or equipment of any kind. Failure to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations can result in civil and criminal liability against you and Avadel, as well as disciplinary action by Avadel, up to and including termination of employment. You should contact the Legal Department if you have any questions about the laws, regulations and policies that apply to you. ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE Maintaining a productive work environment is the responsibility of both Avadel and its employees. We are committed to maintaining a drug-free work environment. All Avadel employees must strictly comply with our policies regarding the use and abuse of alcohol and the possession, sale and use of illegal substances in the workplace. Drinking alcoholic beverages is strictly prohibited while on duty or on any premises of Avadel, except at specified company-sanctioned events. Possessing, using, selling or offering illegal drugs and other controlled substances is prohibited under all circumstances while on duty or on the premises of Avadel. Likewise, you are prohibited from reporting for work or driving an Avadel vehicle or any vehicle on Avadel business, while under the influence of alcohol or any illegal drug or controlled substance
Failure to comply with Company policies on drug and alcohol use may result in disciplinary action by Avadel, up to and including termination of employment.



 

15 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE Avadel will not tolerate violence or threats of violence in, or related to, the workplace. Employees who experience, witness or otherwise become aware of a violent or potentially violent situation that occurs on Avadel property or affects our business must promptly report the situation to their immediate supervisor, manager or the Human Resources Department. Avadel does not permit any individual to have weapons of any kind on Avadel property or in Avadel vehicles, while on the job or off-site on Avadel business. This is true even if you have obtained legal permits to carry weapons. The only exception to this policy applies to security personnel who are specifically authorized by Avadel management to carry weapons. Failure to comply with Company policies on violence or threats of violence in, or related to, the workplace may result in disciplinary action by Avadel, up to and including termination of employment. Compliance Tips • Promptly report all environmental, health and safety issues including unsafe conditions, accidents, near misses, work related injuries and illnesses, and threatening or violent behavior; • Be responsible for any visitors you bring on site; • Know how to use and maintain equipment that you use in your job, and wear necessary personal protective equipment; • Know the health and safety rules for your site or area, including emergency response plans; and • Seek treatment for any substance abuse issues. EXTRA FOCUS On occasion, alcohol may be provided or available at some work-related or company-sponsored events. If you choose to drink at these events, we expect you to behave safely and responsibly. Supervisors or managers who organize these functions must ensure responsible alcohol distribution and use.



 

16 Patient and Product Safety



 

17 EXTRA FOCUS Good record keeping is an important part of good operating practices. Make sure you know the processes for proper documentation and record handling. Good Operating Practices Avadel strives to adhere to sound scientific and quality principles and ensure that these principles are reflected in our operations, including those in research, development, manufacturing and distribution. To uphold these principles, we comply with all applicable laws dealing with Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”), Good Clinical Practices (“GCP”), Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”) and Good Distribution Practices (“GDP”) (collectively, “Good Operating Practices” or “GxP”.) Since Avadel makes significant use of third party relationships in conducting its operations, we require that those third party relationships be in compliance with all applicable laws and operate according to Good Operating Practices in research laboratories, in clinical trials and in manufacturing plants and distribution centers. In order to ensure compliance and operations according to sound quality principles, we have adopted systems and internal controls for all GxP areas, including: • Corporate and functional area written policies and procedures with related training; • Mechanisms to assess compliance with applicable laws and Avadel policies; • Where appropriate, processes for reporting and investigating noncompliance with applicable laws or policies; • Processes for conducting and responding to audits; and • Processes for handling regulatory inspections and investigations. Compliance Tips • Know the relevant Company policies and procedures that apply to your GxP responsibilities. • Participate in GxP training. • Cooperate with all assessments and tests designed to ensure GxP compliance. “ Our careful attention to quality has a direct and substantial effect on our reputation and performance.”



 

18 PATIENT AND PRODUCT SAFETY Safety Information Collecting and Reporting Avadel is committed to collecting, evaluating and the timely reporting of product safety information to health authorities around the world in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. If any of us become aware of an adverse event or other safety information involving an Avadel product, we must promptly report it to the Medical Affairs or Quality Department in accordance with relevant Company policies and procedures. “Adverse Events” include any undesirable event occurring in a patient or caregiver using or exposed to our pharmaceutical product, no matter how minor the adverse reaction may be, whether or not a causal relationship between the drug and the event is certain. Timely reporting is essential as the Company needs to fulfill its worldwide safety reporting obligations within required deadlines. This policy applies to all Avadel employees and contract workers in all parts of the Company, not just those who work in functions that interact with patients and physicians. All Avadel employees and contract workers must report any Adverse Event that comes to their attention. Compliance Tips Prompt notification must be made if you become aware of an Adverse Event from any source involving an Avadel product. Adverse events may be reported via phone or email: Phone: 636-449-1830 Fax: 636-449-1850 Email: ProductSafety@avadel.com Serious adverse events should also be communicated to the Medical Affairs or Quality Department If you know that an Adverse Event has already been reported as part of a systematic data collection process (such as in a clinical trial), you do not need to report it. “ All Adverse Events that you become aware of must be reported—no matter how minor and regardless if the exact causal link to an Avadel product has not been established. Adverse Events must be reported promptly.”



 

19 Research and Development Avadel is committed to maintaining the highest scientific and ethical standards in its pharmaceutical research and development. Therefore, we must comply with applicable laws, regulations and industry standards for non-clinical and clinical research. We must design and conduct our research both scientifically and ethically in accordance with applicable Company policies and procedures. We ensure the scientific rigor of our non-clinical and clinical research by handling all data appropriately, keeping accurate and adequate records and properly managing bias and potential conflicts of interest. Fabrication, falsification and plagiarism of research results are strictly prohibited. In our clinical trials, we put the health and safety of trial subjects first. We also respect and protect human rights, including rights to dignity, self- determination, privacy and confidentiality of personal information. We obtain appropriate informed consent from everyone taking part in Avadel sponsored clinical trials. We monitor compliance with these requirements by Avadel employees and third-parties. We select clinical investigators based on appropriate criteria, such as their potential to recruit trial subjects and their ability to meet applicable legal, regulatory and industry standards. Clinical Trial Disclosure In the best interests of patients, the medical and scientific community and the public at large, Avadel is committed to making its important study findings publicly available. Therefore, we must disclose information about Avadel’s medical research in accordance with applicable laws, regulations, industry standards and Company policies and procedures. We take care to ensure that all information that we disclose is truthful, accurate, balanced and not misleading. Also, to address the issue of potential conflicts of interest with research investigators, if applicable, we fully disclose our funding and other support for Avadel sponsored research and related
publications. In our publication activities, we use due caution to protect the privacy and personal information of research subjects and to prevent copyright infringement and the premature disclosure of patentable information. “ In our clinical trials, we put the health and safety of trial subjects first. We also respect and protect human rights, including rights to dignity, self-determination, privacy and confidentiality of personal information.”



 

20 Avadel in the Marketplace



 

21 “Avadel will only engage in ethical and lawful competition.” Numerous laws govern our conduct in the marketplace. Retaining the trust of our patients, customers, stakeholders and the public depends on maintaining the highest level of ethical and legal conduct. We must always strive to act with the utmost integrity and fairness when conducting Avadel’s business. Fair Competition Antitrust and competition laws promote fair competition. These laws often focus on ways to ensure that businesses compete on the basis of quality, price and service. Avadel will not tolerate or participate in any business conduct, transaction or activity that violates the antitrust and competition laws of any country in which we do business. Avadel will engage only in appropriate competition. This means that we will not engage in any illegal or unethical practices, such as improperly obtaining proprietary information of a competitor or engaging in price-fixing, coercion or collusion with competitors. We are responsible for awareness of the antitrust, trade practices and competition laws and compliance with such laws. Because antitrust and competition laws are complex, personnel should seek guidance from the Legal Department whenever there is any question about whether a particular activity may involve anti-competitive conduct. Violation of the antitrust, trade and competition laws may result in criminal and civil penalties, both for those involved and for Avadel. Compliance Tips • Do not engage in discussions or make agreements with any actual or potential competitor about pricing policies, discounts or other terms of sale, or splitting markets or customers. • Do not engage in discussions or make agreements with any actual or potential competitor about the sale (or non-sale) of either our products or theirs. • Never bribe or attempt to bribe customers or suppliers to help our business or hurt our competitors.



 

22 AVADEL IN THE MARKETPLACE Competitive Information We will not attempt to improperly obtain or use a competitor’s proprietary information. This includes information pertaining to a competitor’s prices, bids or proposals in circumstances where there is reason to believe that the release of such information would be illegal or unauthorized. Often it will be clear from the face of the relevant documents and/or the circumstances that certain information is proprietary, and therefore, should not be used. For example, if you receive a competitor’s proposal in the mail from an unknown source, do not read it or use it. We are required to immediately turn over any such documents to the Legal Department. It is important to note that it is not illegal or unethical to obtain and use information obtained through public Web sites, brochures, articles, presentations, market research, etc. If you have a question regarding information that you have obtained, contact the Legal Department.



 

23 Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery We do not tolerate bribery or any other corrupt conduct that violates the anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws of any country in which we do business or applicable industry codes such as the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development’s Anti-Bribery Convention. We also do not tolerate bribery or other corrupt conduct by our business partners or any third party acting on our behalf. In addition, many countries have anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws that extend and apply outside their borders, including the UK Bribery Act and the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA). Corrupt conduct committed in one country may result in civil and/or criminal actions not only in that country, but also in another country. We comply with all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws wherever we do business. We do not, directly or indirectly, offer, promise or give any payment or other item of value to any person, whether a government official or private individual, for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or improperly influencing any decision or action of the recipient in our favor. We also comply with all applicable anti-kickback laws and laws regarding the submission of claims for payment, including the Anti-Kickback Statute and the False Claims Act. Even when no corrupt purpose is present, we seriously consider how our actions are perceived by others. We only provide gifts, meals or other items of value (whether tangible or intangible) if they are unsolicited, legal, modest in value, infrequent, part of commonly- accepted business or cultural practices and consistent with relevant laws, regulations, industry codes and Company policies. Similar restrictions are placed on us accepting items of value from third parties. Compliance Tips • Do not make, offer or promise any payment, gift, service, offer of employment or anything of value (directly or indirectly) that is intended to improperly influence
the actions of government personnel or private individuals to advance Avadel’s interests. • Do not provide anything of value, including grants, donations, and offers of employment or gifts, to encourage the recipient, either from the government or private sector, to use Avadel products. • Be aware that customs in one country, including gift giving, may not be lawful or appropriate elsewhere. “ Avadel prohibits any form of corruption or bribery. We are all responsible for ensuring employees and third parties acting on Avadel’s behalf comply with this prohibition.”



 

24 AVADEL IN THE MARKETPLACE Interaction with Healthcare Professionals Relationships between the pharmaceutical industry and healthcare professionals (including relevant decision- makers and other individuals of influence who are not necessarily healthcare professionals) are under constant public scrutiny. Avadel shall conduct all interactions with healthcare professionals with the utmost integrity, as well as in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry codes. While laws, regulations, industry codes or other Company policies may require the application of more specific definitions for these categories of individuals, we generally interpret the definition of healthcare professionals in a very broad sense to include any person in a position to prescribe, purchase, recommend, supply or administer Avadel products, or to otherwise influence the use of our products or the results of Avadel’s product- related medical research. EDUCATIONAL AND PROMOTIONAL MEETINGS Informational presentations and discussions by Avadel sales specialists are valuable tools used to provide scientific and clinical information about Avadel products. (See Section entitled “Advertising and Promoting Our Products”.) Presentations during healthcare professionals’ workday, including mealtimes, are permitted if limited to in-office or in-hospital settings. It is appropriate for modest meals to be offered in conjunction with the company-sponsored presentation as a business courtesy to the healthcare professionals as well as members of their staff attending presentations, so long as the presentations provide scientific, educational or a business value and the meals are: (a) modest as judged by local standards; (b) not part of an entertainment or recreational event; and (c) provided in a manner conducive to informational communication. PROHIBITION ON ENTERTAINMENT For the avoidance of doubt, it is never appropriate to fund any activities, meals, or
other expenses, for spouses/ partners or other company of a healthcare professional, whether in the framework of a meeting attendance, dinner reception, product presentation, or otherwise. Similarly, it is never appropriate to provide or pay for any entertainment or recreational activity or event for any healthcare professional. Such activities include, but are not limited to, theater, sporting events, golf, skiing, and leisure or vacation trips or the provision or purchase of sporting equipment. Such entertainment or recreational events, activities, or items may not be provided, regardless of (1) their value; (2) whether Company engages the healthcare professional as a speaker or consultant, and (3) even if accompanied by patient or physician education materials. Healthcare professionals may include any person in a position to: • Prescribe • Purchase • Recommend • Supply or administer Avadel products, or • Otherwise influence the use of our products or the results of Avadel’s product- related medical research.



 

25 Providing items of entertainment, including concert tickets or paying for other social or recreational events, as well as minimal value items such as pens and water bottles, may foster misperceptions that company interactions with healthcare professionals are not based on informing them about medical and scientific issues. Such entertainment or non- educational items should not be offered to healthcare professionals or members of their staff, even if they are accompanied by patient or physician educational materials. PRODUCT SAMPLES In markets where permitted, free samples of Avadel products may be provided to healthcare professionals via third party distribution for distribution by the prescriber to their patients. Samples of Avadel products may be provided to healthcare professionals in accordance with Company policies and applicable laws and shall not exceed the amount reasonably necessary for adequate evaluation of the sample products distributed. At no time shall samples be distributed by Avadel sales specialists directly to healthcare professionals. ENGAGEMENT WITH HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS Qualified healthcare professionals may be hired as consultants to provide bona fide services, such as assisting in the development of products or product claims, participating in clinical trials or other research, speaking at presentations or conferences or training Avadel colleagues. Such arrangements are designed to be in compliance with applicable laws and industry codes. In no instance will Avadel engage any healthcare professional, regardless of qualification, as an inducement for such healthcare professional to use, prescribe, purchase or recommend an Avadel product or to influence the outcome of a clinical trial. Avadel is committed to ensuring that its relationships with healthcare professionals are designed to comply with applicable laws and industry codes. All arrangements shall be periodically reviewed to ensure (i) they are se
out in writing; (ii) there is a legitimate need for the services; (iii) the services have been provided; (iv) compensation is at fair market value; and (v) all of the preceding facts are documented prior to payment. COMPLIANCE WITH TRANSPARENCY/DISCLOSURE RULES Interactions with healthcare professionals can give rise to apparent or actual conflicts of interest and because of this there is a growing public expectation that interactions between pharmaceutical companies and healthcare professionals should be transparent. It is necessary to disclose financial and other interests and relationships that may create apparent or perceived conflicts of interest in research, education or clinical practice. Pursuant to the Physician Sunshine Act and other U.S. state laws, Avadel is required to submit an annual report to Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services regarding information related to direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians and their immediate family members. Avadel has developed and currently maintains systems and processes to ensure timely, accurate and complete disclosures, which should be utilized by all Avadel employees and sales specialists.



 

26 AVADEL IN THE MARKETPLACE INDEPENDENT DECISION MAKING Nothing of value (e.g. grants, scholarships, payor coverage, subsidies, support, consulting contracts or educational or practice related items) should be provided or offered to a healthcare professional that would interfere with the independence of a healthcare professional’s decision making and methods of prescribing medication to his or her patients. Compliance Tips • Never promise or provide anything of value for the purpose of encouraging or inducing any healthcare professional to purchase, prescribe, use or recommend our products. • When compensating any healthcare professional for his/her services, the amount must be commensurate with the services provided and reflect fair market value. • You are required to collect and report any direct or indirect transfers of value including payments to healthcare professionals consistent with applicable laws, regulations and industry codes. Advertising and Promoting Our Products Good advertising and promotion activities are founded upon honesty and truthfulness, and this practice ultimately helps us sell our products. Avadel’s policy is to advertise, promote and market our products to healthcare professionals by providing substantiated information about the usage, safety, effectiveness and other aspects of the profile of our products. All product promotional materials must comply with FDA regulations and be truthful, fair balanced and not misleading. Promotional Materials must be used in the form and format in which they were approved with no additions or revisions. To ensure this Avadel has a process in place where representatives from Legal, Regulatory and Medical Affairs review all materials to ensure they conform with applicable laws, regulations and industry standards.



 

27 Interactions with healthcare professionals to promote Avadel products should be focused on informing such healthcare professionals about products, providing scientific and educational information and supporting medical education. Promotional materials provided to healthcare professionals by or on behalf of an Avadel sales specialist should: (a) be accurate and substantiated and not misleading; (b) not refer to off-label uses of the product; (c) make claims about a product only when properly substantiated; (d) reflect the balance between risks and benefits; and (e) be consistent with all applicable legal and regulatory standards, including any FDA-approved product labeling requirements governing such communications. When describing the uses and effectiveness of Avadel products to healthcare professionals, Avadel sales specialists must avoid promoting, directly or indirectly, any unlawful off-label use or any use that Avadel is not permitted to promote based on applicable laws and regulations or agreements with government agencies, as applicable. Also, we prohibit the use of unsubstantiated or misleading comparisons between our products and those of our competitors. When advertising and promoting Avadel products, Avadel personnel must know and understand their role in the product promotion process. If, for example, you work on research and development, you may interact with healthcare providers and/or purchasing decision- makers. It is important to be aware of the role you are playing and what activities are permitted in these different situations. There are a variety of non-promotional contexts in which we may legally present product- related information or materials to interested parties or the public at large. As we do with promotional information, we ensure that our non- promotional product-related communications are truthful, accurate, balanced, not misleading and supported by scientific evidence. Compliance Tips • Be sure your
promotional discussions and the promotional information you use or distribute are complete, accurate and not misleading when you are promoting Avadel’s products. • Never promote Avadel products off-label. All product claims must be consistent with approved labeling and prescribing information. • When discussing Avadel products, always provide fair balance – that is be sure to describe all safety information fully and accurately and never misrepresent or minimize it in any way. “ Avadel products must be presented in an accurate, truthful and balanced manner, consistent with all applicable laws, regulations and industry codes.”



 

28 AVADEL IN THE MARKETPLACE Interaction with Business Partners Avadel works with a variety of third-party business partners, and strong partnerships play a key role in our success. We are committed to dealing with all our business partners fairly, openly and with integrity. We expect high ethical standards from them, as well. Our business partners include, but are not limited to, service providers, contract research organizations, contract manufacturing organizations, contract sales organizations, research and development collaborators, co-promotion partners, licensed distributors and wholesalers. SELECTING BUSINESS PARTNERS APPROPRIATELY Avadel selects business partners based on appropriate criteria that are directly related to our business objectives, including, but not limited to, price and quality of goods or services, capability, reputation and past performance. We also take ethical considerations into account, including our partners’ commitment to anti-corruption, human and labor rights, environmental protection and other ethical and social responsibility standards, as well as their past conduct relating to these. We assess the suitability of our potential business partners, through appropriate levels of due diligence, in accordance with applicable Company policies and procedures. We do not put our personal interests ahead of Company interests when selecting business partners. We always exercise our professional judgment in the best interests of the Company and never seek personal gain as a condition of establishing or continuing a business relationship. (See Section entitled “Avoiding Conflicts of Interest”.) If you feel that you are being inappropriately pressured or influenced to do business by a third party or someone within the Company, you must notify your immediate supervisor, manager and/or the Legal Department immediately. PROPER DOCUMENTATION AND ETHICAL RELATIONSHIPS As a general rule, we ensure
that appropriate contracts or other comparable documents are in place for all business arrangements with third parties. Such documents must clearly set forth all material terms and conditions and never be created as a false record to pursue an improper purpose. (See Section entitled “Record Keeping”.) We negotiate in good faith with our potential business partners to ensure all compensation we pay for their goods or services is commensurate with the value they provide. If we find ourselves in a superior bargaining position, we do not impose unreasonable disadvantages on the other party by abusing our position.



 

29 Members of the Avadel team should never solicit or request (either explicitly or implicitly) any payment, gift, meal or other item of value (whether tangible or intangible) from our current or potential business partners. You are only permitted to accept these items if they are unsolicited, legal, modest in value, infrequent, part of commonly-accepted business or cultural practices and consistent with relevant Company policies and industry standards. Also, you are prohibited from accepting any item of value that is intended, or likely to be perceived as intended, to improperly influence your business decisions or actions. If you receive a gift that does not meet the permissible criteria, you must return it immediately. If returning it is impractical or would cause serious offense to the giver, you must promptly consult with your supervisor or manager and/or the Legal Department for guidance. Similar restrictions are placed on us providing items of value to third parties. (See Section entitled “Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption”.) AVADEL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR BUSINESS PARTNERS’ CONDUCT We recognize that any misconduct by our business partners could subject Avadel to liability and/or reputational harm. We do not direct, authorize or condone any illegal act by our business partners. We require their compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry codes, as well as their contractual obligations to Avadel. We will in appropriate circumstances conduct due diligence on our business partners to ensure that we retain only reputable, honest and qualified business partners. Such due diligence may include review of records of business partners to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations, industry codes and Company policies and procedures. If you have any compliance issue with a business partner, you must promptly report it to your supervisor or manager and/or the Legal Department. “ All business decisions must be based on Avadel’
best interests. You should avoid even the appearance of a conflict of interest.” Compliance Tips • Deal with suppliers, customers and everyone doing business with Avadel objectively, professionally and fairly. • Never seek or accept payments, fees, loans or services from any person or firm as a condition of doing business with Avadel. • Do not accept gifts from people or firms doing or seeking to do business with Avadel that give even the appearance of wrongful intention.



 

30 AVADEL IN THE MARKETPLACE Avoiding Conflicts of Interest All Avadel personnel are responsible for acting in the best interests of the Company and ensuring that their professional judgment or actions for the Company are not compromised by their own interests. We are all expected to avoid having any personal interest that could conflict with Company interests. Even when no actual conflict is intended, putting ourselves in such a situation might diminish our impartiality or dedication to our job duties and thereby damage the Company. Although it is impossible to describe every conflict of interest situation, there are some common areas where actual or potential conflicts may occur. These include: • Having a significant investment or ownership interest in competitors or business partners of the Company; • Serving as a director, officer, employee, consultant or advisor for competitors or business partners of the Company; • Engaging in outside activities that compete with the Company’s business or impair our ability to devote sufficient time and attention to our assigned jobs and responsibilities at the Company; • Doing business on behalf of the Company with related parties; and • Using corporate information, assets or opportunities, or our positions at the Company for personal benefit or for the benefit of others. While these rules may require us to strictly avoid certain conflicts of interest, there are many situations that can be resolved in an acceptable manner for both the individual and the Company. The key to addressing conflicts of interest is full disclosure. If you believe an actual or potential conflict exists or may arise, you must promptly disclose it to your supervisor or manager and/or the Legal Department, who will provide appropriate guidance. Further, all transactions with related parties, such as with family members or businesses in which we have a significant interest, must be approved pursuant to the Company policies. “ Full disclosure
is key to addressing actual or potential conflicts of interest.” Compliance Tips • Avoid situations where a reasonable person would question whether you were inappropriately influenced in making a business decision. • Make sure that related-party transactions are conducted as arm’s-length transactions and both parties are acting in their own self-interest and are not subject to any duress or pressure from the other party.



 

31 Export/Import Laws Avadel is a globally-operating company and its international activities are subject to numerous laws, regulations and industry standards all over the world, including trade control laws and regulations. Trade control laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit the import, export or domestic trade of our products and other items (which may include intangibles such as services, software or technology) for a variety of reasons (public health, foreign policy, national security or otherwise). The restrictions or prohibitions may depend on the nature of the item, the country of origin or destination or the identity of a party to the transaction. We are committed to complying with all relevant, import, export and other trade control laws and regulations. We ensure that all required licenses and permits are in place prior to the item being imported, exported or domestically transferred. We also make all proper declarations to relevant customs authorities with truthful, accurate and complete information on applicable items. The decision to expand our operations (including indirect operations through third parties) beyond those countries in which we are already qualified to conduct business may raise many legal, regulatory and tax implications. These activities must not be undertaken without prior consultation with legal, regulatory, tax and other experts. Any questions concerning export/import laws or these procedures should be directed to the Legal Department. Compliance Tips • In all international dealings, make sure you know and comply with all export and import controls and trade restrictions. • Know your location-specific procedures for shipping and other export or import activities.



 

32 Protecting and Managing Information



 

33 Protecting Personal Information We do not tolerate bribery or any other corrupt conduct that violates the anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws of any country in which we do business or applicable industry codes such as the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development’s Anti-Bribery Convention. We also do not tolerate bribery or other corrupt conduct by our business partners or any third party acting on our behalf. In addition, many countries have anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws that extend and apply outside their borders, including the UK Bribery Act and the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA). Corrupt conduct committed in one country may result in civil and/or criminal actions not only in that country, but also in another country. We comply with all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws wherever we do business. We do not, directly or indirectly, offer, promise or give any payment or other item of value to any person, whether a government official or private individual, for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or improperly influencing any decision or action of the recipient in our favor. We also comply with all applicable anti-kickback laws and laws regarding the submission of claims for payment, including the Anti-Kickback Statute and the False Claims Act. Even when no corrupt purpose is present, we seriously consider how our actions are perceived by others. We only provide gifts, meals or other items of value (whether tangible or intangible) if they are unsolicited, legal, modest in value, infrequent, part of commonly-accepted business or cultural practices and consistent with relevant laws, regulations, industry codes and Company policies. Similar restrictions are placed on us accepting items of value from third parties. Personal Information is information relating to an individual whose identity is known, or can be figured out from the information by direct or indirect means. This information can vary
by country and by local law. Compliance Tips • If you process an individual’s Personal Information, you must comply with all laws and Avadel governance documents in connection with the processing of such Personal Information. This may include providing the individual with proper notice and, if necessary, obtaining the individual’s consent pursuant to applicable laws, regulations and Company policies. • If you have access to Personal Information, you must safeguard it, use it only for lawful purposes and share it only with authorized people or entities. • You must comply with specific protocols or agreements with respect to how Avadel handles Personal Information. For example, commitments made in clinical trial patient informed consent forms or in an Avadel website privacy statement. • Laws vary by country. You must know your function’s policies and procedures for protecting Personal Information. Also be aware that special rules may apply to some types of Personal Information and certain processes that you may undertake.



 

34 PROTECTING AND MANAGING INFORMATION Safeguarding Company Information Confidential information must not be shared with others outside Avadel except pursuant to approved business relationships or legal requirements. The safeguarding of confidential information by employees is critical for strategic, competitive and legal reasons. Confidential information is information that is not generally known outside Avadel, including business plans, marketing and sales programs and data, customer information, product development plans, trade secrets and other intellectual property, undisclosed transactions, design and engineering specs, computer files, personal information about Avadel employees and other information about Avadel and its operations not within the public domain or that is specifically designated as “Confidential” by Avadel. You should never discuss Avadel’s confidential information with anyone outside the Company unless such disclosure has been approved in advance, as required by Company policy. Before sending confidential data to any outside companies, institutions or individuals, you need to obtain the appropriate corporate authorization. A written confidential disclosure agreement is also needed, except when the other party is a governmental regulatory authority or a non- governmental body working on behalf of a governmental authority. Compliance Tips • Never use Avadel’s confidential information for non-Avadel business or personal endeavors. • Never discuss Avadel’s confidential information with anyone outside the Company unless such disclosure has been approved in advance as required by Company policy. • When you have confidential third party information, respect its proprietary and/or confidential nature. Do not use or disclose this information in a way that violates any legal or contractual obligations with the third party. • Information is an especially important asset for a company like Avadel. It gives
us a key competitive advantage and must be protected. Information you create or receive on the job is the Company’s property, and you are responsible for safeguarding it. EXTRA FOCUS Confidential disclosure agreements protect a party’s disclosure of information by requiring the party that receives the information to use and handle it in a confidential way. Often, when two companies are considering doing business together, they sign such an agreement to share information that will enable a better understanding between them.



 

35 “ Avadel entrusts you with its assets and their proper use.” EXTRA FOCUS Examples of Company systems include Avadel’s computers, e-mail, voicemail, instant messages, telephone records, networks and Internet access. Use of Company Systems Company systems are corporate assets that generally should only be used for Company business. Personal usage can be tolerated subject to reasonable use in terms of frequency and duration. Generally, all Avadel systems and the records and information stored on them are the property of the Company, and you should not expect any confidentiality or privacy when using Company systems. Local laws in some countries, for example outside of the United States, may give you greater rights in terms of confidentiality if records and information are explicitly marked as personal. In any case, all files that you may store on Company systems and assets must be lawful and professionally appropriate. Where legally permitted to do so, Avadel may, at its sole discretion, inspect your files and messages or monitor your Internet usage at any time without advance notice or consent. Use of a Company system constitutes consent to inspection, monitoring and access by Avadel, as permitted by law. Where not permitted by law to inspect without notice or consent, the use of information system and IT resources provided to employees will be subject to controls and, in the event of disregard of rules or laws, sanctions may be applied. These controls can be done at different levels and on different kinds of equipment with or without a notice to you. Compliance Tips • Never create, send, display or receive inappropriate, offensive or disruptive material on any Company system. • To protect yourself and Avadel, you must not share your password for any Company system. • Do not expect confidentiality or privacy when using Company systems, except as provided by applicable law. • Return all Company property and equipment,
including all information and records stored on them, when your employment ends.



 

36 Record Keeping Proper record keeping is important to the successful management of our business and to maintaining public confidence in Avadel. We keep accurate and timely business records of the Company’s transactions and other activities in sufficient detail. We prohibit the intentional making of false or misleading entries in any corporate records for any reason. We have records and information management policies and procedures which are designed to help us satisfy business needs and comply with legal and regulatory requirements through the systematic control of our business records throughout their lifecycle (from creation through disposition). As a general rule, we require that all Company records (paper and electronic) be maintained and destroyed in accordance with applicable records and information management policies and procedures. LEGAL HOLD ORDER A specific Legal Hold Order may be issued by the Legal Department in connection with actual or potential litigation or government investigation relating to Avadel. A Legal Hold Order suspends the normal record retention rules and requires each recipient of the Legal Hold Order to take active steps to preserve all documents in any media (including electronic files and emails) covered by the Legal Hold Order. If we receive a Legal Hold Order, we must strictly comply with its terms unless and until a Legal Hold Order Lift Notice is issued by the Legal Department. Compliance Tips • Retain all records for the time needed to comply with applicable laws and Avadel’s policies. • If a Legal Hold Order is issued, do not destroy any records, information or data (regardless of its form, e.g., paper or electronic) that you are required to retain under that Legal Hold Order. • Never create, alter or destroy records or documents for the purpose of impeding the efforts of any governmental or regulatory agency. PROTECTING AND MANAGING INFORMATION



 

37 Financial Integrity Avadel employees and entities shall maintain complete, non- misleading, accurate and reliable Company records and accounts in all material respects. Doing so is necessary not only to comply with applicable laws, regulations and Company policies, but to ensure the integrity of our business operations. Accurate and reliable records are crucial to Avadel’s business. Our records are the basis of our earning statements, financial reports and other public disclosures and are the source of essential data that guides business decision- making and strategic planning. Our “Company Records” include booking information, payroll, time cards, travel and expense reports, accounting and financial data, measurement and performance records, customer and vendor records, design and engineering records (including facility and plant designs) and electronic data files and emails relating to the foregoing. There is never a reason to make or to allow false or misleading entries. Undisclosed or unrecorded transactions are inconsistent with our business practices and are prohibited. Compliance Tips • Keep Avadel records accurate, true and complete. • If you are involved in preparing reports and documents that Avadel submits to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, be sure that the content is full, fair, accurate, timely and clear. • Cooperate fully with Avadel’s independent public accountants and never take any action to coerce, manipulate or mislead them. EXTRA FOCUS Financial records are not only those records that we report publicly. Records containing financial information are found across the Company and form the foundation of our public disclosures. Every financial record in every function must be accurate, true and complete.



 

38 Inside Information and Insider Trading Many countries have laws regarding insider trading. In the United States, for example, you may not buy or sell any type of security while aware of material, non-public information relating to the company issuing the security, whether that company is Avadel or another company. You also may not share material, non-public information with others. Definition - Material, non-public information is any information that a reasonable investor would consider important in determining whether to buy, sell or hold a security and that has not yet been widely disseminated to the public with sufficient time for the financial market to become aware of it. Even if the activities prohibited under Avadel’s Insider Trading Policy are not illegal in the country where you are based, our Insider Trading Policy applies to you regardless of your location. Avadel’s policy requirements also apply to family (including spouses, minor children or any family member living in the same household) of Avadel staff. Compliance Tips • Never purchase or sell any type of security while you are aware of material, non-public information about Avadel or another company. • Do not directly or indirectly pass along (“tip”) material, non- public information about Avadel or another company to anyone who may trade securities while aware of such information. • Do not directly or indirectly participate in transactions in Avadel securities that are aggressive or speculative or may give rise to an appearance of impropriety. “ You must not buy or sell securities of Avadel, directly or indirectly, based on material, non- public information, or communicate such information to others for that purpose.” PROTECTING AND MANAGING INFORMATION



 

39 Investor and Media Relations As a publicly traded company, Avadel has a responsibility to maintain an orderly flow of information to the general public and to its investors. All of Avadel’s dealings with the investment community and the media, including reporters, must be properly managed to make certain that accurate and timely information is given to investors and the public. We also need to be careful to comply fully with all laws governing our disclosures. Reporters, media representatives, investors and investment analysts may try to solicit information directly from you. Only authorized members of senior management or designated Company spokespersons are authorized to speak to the news media. If you receive an inquiry about Avadel from an investor, financial analyst, the media or any other outside party, you should not respond to the request and you should notify Avadel’s Chief Financial Officer about the request. EXTRA FOCUS All media and investor relations inquires must be handled by the authorized spokespersons of the Company.



 

40 Government Inspections and Requests From time to time, we may be contacted by government authorities for information or other assistance (e.g., interviews or site visits) in connection with their inquiries or investigations. The government inquires may be routine or triggered by a specific reason. These government requests must be communicated to all relevant departments, including the Legal Department. Generally, it is the policy of Avadel to cooperate fully with any government inquiry or investigation. We respond appropriately to these inquiries and investigations with truthful and accurate information. We do not make any false or misleading statements to government representatives, or otherwise interfere with their work. We also do not cause or influence others to impede government inquiries or investigations. It is not acceptable to alter, destroy or conceal any related documents or records in any format (paper, electronic, etc.) in response to, or in anticipation of, any government inquiry or investigation, or litigation. We also fully comply with all Legal Hold Orders we may receive. (See Section entitled “Records Keeping”.) If an allegation is made against Avadel, we will assess its validity and defend our interests in a lawful manner. In these cases, we will take all appropriate actions to protect the interests of the Company in accordance with applicable laws, regulations and Company policies, while cooperating in good faith with government inquiries or investigations. Compliance Tips • Never make false or misleading statements to any government official. • Be familiar with your location’s procedure for complying with a request for access to Avadel’s premises or responding to an inquiry, subpoena or other legal request. PROTECTING AND MANAGING INFORMATION



 

Additional Information



 

42 Avadel’s Compliance Program The Legal Department oversees Avadel’s compliance program, which is driven by Avadel’s commitment to conducting business with integrity and in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry standards. We do this by informing and educating staff and others who conduct business on our behalf about the requirements and our expectations. We also regularly monitor our compliance program to identify any existing compliance-related issues, to determine whether the program is operating as intended and to identify potential improvements. The major features of our compliance program include: • A Legal Department head, who is responsible for making sure that the necessary elements of an effective compliance program are in place. • A Legal Department head who is also responsible for oversight of the compliance program. The Legal Department head and any Compliance personnel reporting to that individual report to the Board of Directors on compliance matters. • The Legal Department head will issue regular compliance reports to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors. The Legal Department head will report any financial misconduct to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. • Written policies and supporting documentation such as this Code of Conduct and our Company Policies. • Ongoing training and education of employees on our compliance program and its requirements. • A compliance hotline, website, and email through which anyone, internal or external to Avadel, can report misconduct without fear of retaliation. Callers may remain anonymous unless they are from countries where anonymity is discouraged or not permitted by law. • Routine monitoring of our compliance risks through normal processes embedded in our operations and audits that use a unified approach across our business activities. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION



 

43 Asking Questions and Getting Help Seek help when you need it. If the Code or other Company policies and procedures do not provide enough direction, ask your manager or the Legal Department for clarification. There are many resources available to help you when you have a question, or need additional guidance about the topics discussed in this Code or about compliance in general. They include: “ Many resources are at your disposal on a daily basis. If you have a question, ask. If you need confirmation, seek clarification.” Your Immediate Supervisor or Manager Refer to Avadel’s Corporate Directory Legal 636-730-1420 Human Resources 636-449-5878 Compliance Hotline 1-844-264-2273 email: TellAvadelUS@getintouch.com For the US, visit http://www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelUS For Ireland, visit http://www.intouchwebsite.com/TellAvadelIreland
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Exhibit 21.1

 
List of Subsidiaries

Name Jurisdiction
Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (the Registrant): Ireland
1) Avadel US Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Flamel US Holdings, Inc.) United States (Delaware)
B. Avadel Legacy Pharmaceuticals, LLC (f/k/a Éclat Pharmaceuticals LLC) United States (Delaware)
C. Avadel Management Corporation United States (Delaware)
D. Avadel CNS Pharmaceuticals, LLC United States (Delaware)
2) Flamel Ireland Ltd. (d/b/a Avadel Ireland) Ireland
3) Avadel Investment Company, Ltd. Cayman Islands
4) Avadel France Holding SAS France
A. Avadel Research SAS France
5) Avadel Finance Ireland Designated Activity Company Ireland
A. Avadel Finance Cayman Ltd. Cayman Islands



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-213154, 333-212585, 333-177591, 333-219016, 333-252956 and 333-263620 on Form S-8, and 333-183961, 333-
236258, 333-237962 and 333-267198 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 29, 2024 relating to the consolidated financial statements of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc and the effectiveness of
Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Deloitte and Touche LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 29, 2024



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Gregory J. Divis, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: February 29, 2024

 /s/    Gregory J. Divis
 Gregory J. Divis
 Chief Executive Officer

 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Thomas S. McHugh, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 29, 2024 /s/    Thomas S. McHugh
 Thomas S. McHugh
 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the annual report of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gregory J. Divis, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/    Gregory J. Divis  
Gregory J. Divis  
Chief Executive Officer  
Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc  
February 29, 2024  

 



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the annual report of Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas S. McHugh, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/    Thomas S. McHugh  
Thomas S. McHugh  
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc  
February 29, 2024  

 



AVADEL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

Adopted as of August 1, 2023

Avadel Pharmaceuticals plc, an Irish public limited company (the “Company”), has adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy (this “Policy”) as described below.

1.    Overview

The Policy sets forth the circumstances and procedures under which the Company shall recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation from Covered Persons (as defined
below) in accordance with rules issued by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), and the Nasdaq Stock Market. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given in Section 3 below.

2.    Compensation Recovery Requirement

In the event the Company is required to prepare a Financial Restatement, the Company shall recover reasonably promptly all Erroneously Awarded Compensation with
respect to such Financial Restatement.

3.    Definitions

a. “Applicable Recovery Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement Date for a Financial Restatement. In addition, in
the event the Company has changed its fiscal year: (i) any transition period of less than nine months occurring within or immediately following such three
completed fiscal years shall also be part of such Applicable Recovery Period and (ii) any transition period of nine to 12 months will be deemed to be a completed
fiscal year.

b. “Applicable Rules” means any rules or regulations adopted by the Exchange pursuant to Rule 10D-1 under the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or
regulations adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

c. “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

d. “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or, in the absence of such committee, a majority of independent directors serving on the Board.

e. “Covered Person” means any Executive Officer. A person’s status as a Covered Person with respect to Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be determined
as of the time of receipt of such Erroneously Awarded Compensation regardless of the person’s current role or status with the Company (e.g., if a person began
service as an Executive Officer after the beginning of an Applicable Recovery Period, that person would not be considered a Covered Person with respect to
Erroneously Awarded Compensation received before the person began service as an Executive Officer, but would be considered a Covered Person with respect to
Erroneously Awarded Compensation received after the person began service as an Executive Officer where such person served as an Executive Officer at any
time during the performance period for such Erroneously Awarded Compensation).
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f. “Effective Date” means October 2, 2023.

g. “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of any Incentive-Based Compensation received by a Covered Person on or after the Effective Date
during the Applicable Recovery Period and that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been received by the Covered Person had such compensation
been determined based on the restated amounts in a Financial Restatement, computed without regard to any taxes paid. Calculation of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Financial Restatement, shall be based on a reasonable estimate of
the effect of the Financial Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received, and the
Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the Exchange in accordance with
the Applicable Rules. Incentive-Based Compensation that is based on a Financial Reporting Measure is deemed received, earned or vested when the Financial
Reporting Measure is attained, not when the actual payment, grant or vesting occurs. Equity-based compensation that vests solely based on time-based vesting
criteria is deemed received, earned or vested when such time-based vesting criteria is satisfied.

h. “Exchange” means the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

i. An “Executive Officer” means any person who served the Company in any of the following roles at any time during the performance period applicable to
Incentive-Based Compensation such person received during service in such role: the president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there
is no such accounting officer the controller), any vice president in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or
finance), any other officer who performs a policy making function, or any other person who performs similar policy making functions for the Company.
Executive officers of parents or subsidiaries of the Company may be deemed executive officers of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for
the Company.

j. “Financial Reporting Measures” mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s
financial statements, any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures (including, for example, a non-GAAP financial measure), and stock
price and total shareholder return.

k. “Financial Restatement” means a restatement of previously issued financial statements of the Company due to the material noncompliance of the Company with
any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required restatement to correct an error in previously-issued financial statements that
is material to the previously-issued financial statements or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period.

l. “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is granted, earned, or
vested based, in whole or in part, upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

m. “Restatement Date” means, with respect to a Financial Restatement, the earlier to occur of: (i) the date the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board
concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare the Financial
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Restatement or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare the Financial Restatement.

4.    Exception to Compensation Recovery Requirement

The Company may elect not to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy if the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable, and
one or more of the following conditions, together with any further requirements set forth in the Applicable Rules, are met: (i) the direct expense paid to a third party,
including outside legal counsel, to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, and the Company has made a reasonable attempt to recover such
Erroneously Awarded Compensation; (ii) recovery would cause the Company to violate a law of Ireland that was adopted prior to November 28 2022, and the Company
obtains an opinion of Irish counsel that recovery would result in a violation of such country’s law and provides the opinion to the Exchange; or (iii) recovery would likely
cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan to fail to be so qualified under applicable regulations.

5.    Tax Considerations

To the extent that, pursuant to this Policy, the Company is entitled to recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is received by a Covered Person, the gross
amount received (i.e., the amount the Covered Person received, or was entitled to receive, before any deductions for tax withholding or other payments) shall be returned by
the Covered Person.

6.    Method of Compensation Recovery

The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recovering Erroneously Awarded Compensation hereunder, which may include, without limitation, any
one or more of the following:

a. requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid;

b. seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards;

c. cancelling or rescinding some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity-based awards;

d. adjusting or withholding from unpaid compensation or other set-off;

e. cancelling or offsetting against planned future grants of equity-based awards; and/or

f. any other method permitted by applicable law or contract.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Covered Person will be deemed to have satisfied such person’s obligation to return Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company if
such Erroneously Awarded Compensation is returned in the exact same form in which it was received; provided that equity withheld to satisfy tax obligations will be
deemed to have been received in cash in an amount equal to the tax withholding payment made.

7.    Policy Interpretation

This Policy shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the Applicable Rules and any other applicable law. The Committee shall take into consideration any
applicable interpretations and guidance of the SEC in interpreting this Policy, including, for example, in determining whether a
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financial restatement qualifies as a Financial Restatement hereunder. To the extent the Applicable Rules require recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation in additional
circumstances besides those specified above, nothing in this Policy shall be deemed to limit or restrict the right or obligation of the Company to recover Incentive-Based
Compensation to the fullest extent required by the Applicable Rules.

8.    Policy Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have such powers and authorities related to the administration of this Policy as are consistent with
the governing documents of the Company and applicable law. The Committee shall have full power and authority to take, or direct the taking of, all actions and to make all
determinations required or provided for under this Policy and shall have full power and authority to take, or direct the taking of, all such other actions and make all such
other determinations not inconsistent with the specific terms and provisions of this Policy that the Committee deems to be necessary or appropriate to the administration of
this Policy. The interpretation and construction by the Committee of any provision of this Policy and all determinations made by the Committee under this policy shall be
final, binding and conclusive.

9.    Compensation Recovery Repayments not Subject to Indemnification

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any agreement with, or the organizational documents of, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, Covered Persons are
not entitled to indemnification for Erroneously Awarded Compensation or for any claim or losses arising out of or in any way related to Erroneously Awarded Compensation
recovered under this Policy.
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